
 
 
 
 

 

 
Agenda 

 
 
 
 
 

City Executive Board 
 
 
 

Date: Thursday 2 April 2015 

Time: 5.00 pm 

Place: St Aldate's Room, Town Hall 

 
For any further information please contact:  

Sarah Claridge, Committee and Member Services Officer 

Telephone: 01865 252402 

Email: executiveboard@oxford.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record the meeting please let the 
Contact Officer know how you wish to do this before the start of the meeting. 
 
 



 

 

HOW TO OBTAIN A COPY OF THE AGENDA 

 

In order to reduce the use of resources, our carbon footprint and our costs we will no 
longer produce paper copies of agenda over and above our minimum internal and 
Council member requirement. Paper copies may be looked at the Town Hall 
Reception and at Customer Services, St Aldate’s and at the Westgate Library 

 

A copy of the agenda may be:- 

- Viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk 

- Downloaded from our website 

- Subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk 

- Sent to you in hard copy form upon payment of an annual subscription. 

 

 

 
 

City Executive Board 
 
Membership 
 
 
Chair Councillor Bob Price Corporate Strategy, Economic 

Development and Planning 
 
 Councillor Ed Turner Finance, Asset Management and 

Public Health 

 Councillor Dee Sinclair Crime and Community Response 

 Councillor Christine Simm Culture and Communities 

 Councillor Susan Brown Customer Services and Social 
Inclusion 

 Councillor Pat Kennedy Educational Attainment and Youth 
Ambition 

 Councillor Mark Lygo Sports, Events and Parks 

 Councillor Mike Rowley Leisure Contract and Community 
Partnership Grants 

 Councillor Scott Seamons Housing and Estate Regeneration 

 Councillor John Tanner Cleaner, Greener Oxford, Climate 
Change and Transport 

 
 
 
 

The quorum for this meeting is three, substitutes are not allowed. 
 
 
 
 
 
Future items to be discussed by the City Executive Board can be found on the Forward Plan which is 
available on the Council’s website 
 
 
 



 

AGENDA 
 

PART ONE 
PUBLIC BUSINESS 

 
 
  Pages 
   

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 

 

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

 

3 PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 

 

 When the Chair agrees, the public can ask questions about any item for 
decision at the meeting for up to 15 minutes.  Questions must have been 
given to the Head of Law and Governance by 9.30am one clear working day 
before the meeting (email executiveboard@oxford.gov.uk or telephone the 
person named as staff contact).  No supplementary questions or questioning 
will be permitted.  Questions by the public will be taken as read and, when 
the Chair agrees, be responded to at the meeting. 
 

 

4 SCRUTINY COMMITTEES - KEY ISSUES ARISING 

 

 

 The following scrutiny committee report will be submitted as a supplement to 
this meeting:- 
 
Fusion Lifestyle Annual Service Plan 2015/16 
 

 

5 COUNCILLOR ADDRESSES ON ANY ITEM FOR DECISION ON 

THE BOARD'S AGENDA 

 

 

 City Councillors may, where the Chair agrees, address the Board on an item 
for decision on the agenda (other than on the minutes). The member seeking 
to make an address must notify the Head of Law and Governance by no later 
than 9.30am at least one clear working day before the meeting. An address 
may last for no more than three minutes. If an address is made, the Board 
member who has political responsibility for the item for decision may respond 
or the Board will have regard to the points raised in reaching its decision. 
 

 

6 UNIVERSAL CREDIT DELIVERY PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT 

 

9 - 14 

 Lead Member: Councillor Brown,  Executive Board Member for  Customer 
Services and Social Inclusion 
 

 

 The Head of Customer Services has submitted a report which requests 
approval of the Delivery Partnership Agreement with the Department of Work 
& Pensions for the provision of services required as a consequence of the roll 
out of Universal Credit. 
 

 



 

 
Officer Recommendations: That the City Executive Board AUTHORISE the 
Executive Director for Organisational Development and Corporate Services 
to enter into these arrangements provided that she is satisfied that the full 
terms of the agreement are acceptable and properly reflect the principles set 
out in the report.  
 

7 FUSION LIFESTYLE - ANNUAL SERVICE PLAN 2015/16 

 

15 - 38 

 Lead Member: Councillor Rowley,  Executive Board Member for  Leisure 
Contract and Community Partnership Grants 
 

 

 The Head of Leisure, Parks and Communities has submitted a report which 
details Fusion Lifestyle’s Annual Service Plan for the management of the 
Council’s leisure facilities for 2015/16. 
 
Officer Recommendation: That the City Executive Board ENDORSE Fusion 
Lifestyle’s Annual Service Plan for 2015/16. 
 

 

8 HERITAGE PLAN FRAMEWORK 

 

39 - 74 

 Lead Member: Councillor Price  Executive Board Member for  Corporate 
Strategy, Economic Development and Planning 
 

 

 The Head of City Development has submitted a report which seeks 
endorsement of the Heritage Plan Framework. 
 
Officer Recommendation: That the City Executive Board ENDORSE the 
Heritage Plan Framework. 
 

 

9 NOMINATIONS FOR THE OXFORD HERITAGE ASSET REGISTER 

IN THE EAST AND WEST OXFORD PILOT AREAS 

 

75 - 314 

 Lead Member: Councillor Price,  Executive Board Member for  Corporate 
Strategy, Economic Development and Planning 
 

 

 The Head of City Development has submitted a report which details the 
registration of heritage assets identified through the character assessments 
and to consider the recommendation to make the process of identification, 
assessment and registration more efficient. 
 
Officer Recommendations: That the City Executive Board:  
 
1. AGREE the 70 Heritage Assets recommended for inclusion on the heritage 
assets register by the Review Panels for each ward.  
 
2. NOTE the two character studies will be material considerations in 
determining relevant planning applications against saved Policies HE.6 & 
HE.8 of the Adopted Local Plan 2001-2016 and Core Strategy Policy CS.18 
(or any subsequent replacement policy). 
 

 



 

10 APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2015/16 

 

315 - 352 

 Lead Member: Councillor Price,  Executive Board Member for  Corporate 
Strategy, Economic Development and Planning 
 

 

 The Head of Law and Governance has submitted a report to agree 
nominations to outside and other bodies for the 2015/2016 Council Year. 
 
Officer Recommendations: That the City Executive Board: 
 
1. Does not re-appoint to the Mortimer Hall Management Committee, Forest 
of Oxford and the Susan Kidd Charity  
  
2. Does not re-appoint to the Oxfordshire Partnership because the group is 
now less relevant to city issues. 
 
3. Reduce the number of representatives on the Alice Smith Trust and Sarah 
Nowell Educational Foundation to one. 
 
4. APPROVE appointments to outside bodies as shown in Appendix 3. 
 
5. AGREE that any appointments which need to be made during the course 
of the Council year 2015/16 shall be made by the Leader of the Council in 
consultation with other Group Leaders. 
 
6 NOTE that guidance for representatives on Outside Bodies will be provided 
by the Head of Law and Governance. 
 

 

11 GRANT ALLOCATION TO SOUTH OXFORD ADVENTURE 

PLAYGROUND 

 

353 - 354 

 Lead Member: Councillor Rowley,  Executive Board Member for  Leisure 
Contract and Community Partnership Grants 
 

 

 The Head of Leisure, Parks and Communities has submitted a report which 
seeks an increase of £2,500 to the 2015/2016 community and voluntary 
organisations (CVO’s) grant programme.  
 
Officer Recommendations: That The City Executive Board APPROVE an 
additional allocation of £2,500 to the community and voluntary organisations 
grant programme to increase the grant awarded to South Oxford Adventure 
Playground. 
 

 

12 MINUTES 

 

355 - 362 

 Minutes of the meeting held on 12 March 2015 
 
Recommendation: The City Executive Board NOTES the minutes of the 
meeting held on 12 March 2015 as a true and accurate record. 
 

 



 

DECLARING INTERESTS 
 
General duty 
 
You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item on the 
agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you. 
 
What is a disclosable pecuniary interest? 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for expenses 
incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your election expenses); 
contracts; land in the Council’s area; licences for land in the Council’s area; corporate tenancies; 
and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each councillor’s Register of Interests which 
is publicly available on the Council’s website. 
 
Declaring an interest 
 
Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, you must 
declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as the existence of 
the interest. 
 
If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you must not 
participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter 
is discussed. 
 
Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception 
 
Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of Conduct 
says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an 
advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that “you must not place yourself 
in situations where your honesty and integrity may be questioned”.  What this means is that the 
matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a whole and regard should 
continue to be paid to the perception of the public. 
 
*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself 
but also those of the member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or 
as if they were civil partners. 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
To:  City Executive Board  
 
Date: 2 April 2015    

 
Report of:  Head of Customer Services 
 
Title of Report: Universal Credit Delivery Partnership Agreement 
 

 
Summary and Recommendations 

 
Purpose of report:  To approve the Delivery Partnership Agreement with the 
Department of Work & Pensions for the provision of services required as a 
consequence of the roll out of Universal Credit. 
          
Key decision Yes 
 
Executive lead member: Cllr Susan Brown, Board Member for Customer 
Services and Social Inclusion 
 
Policy Framework:  
 
Recommendation: That the City Executive BoardAUTHORISE the Executive 
Director for Organisational Development and Corporate Services to enter into 
these arrangements provided that she is satisfied that the full terms of the 
agreement are acceptable and properly reflect the principles set out in the 
report.  
 

 
Appendix 
 
Appendix 1 – Risk Register 
 
Introduction 

1. On 16 February 2015, the national rollout of Universal Credit began. 
Universal Credit is a new benefit which amalgamates Jobseekers 
Allowance, Income Support, Employment & Support Allowance, 
Working Tax Credits, Child Tax Credits and Housing Benefit. The 
Government’s aim in rolling out Universal Credit is to simplify the 
benefits system and improve work incentives. 

 

 

7

Agenda Item 6



2. The Department of Work & Pensions (DWP) have committed to 
working with Local Authorities until 2020 to deliver Universal Credit. 
DWP will be administering Universal Credit from its regional service 
centres and supporting claimants to get into work through the 
Jobcentre Plus (JCP) network. Local Authorities (LA’s) have been 
asked to help support more vulnerable claimants with their claims, 
although this is not a statutory duty. 

 
3. DWP requires local JCP offices and LA’s to enter into local Delivery 

Partnership Agreements (DPA’s) These set out the roles of each 
organisation in delivering Universal Credit and provides for payments 
to be made to LA’s in respect of the activities they carry out to support 
the DPA. This report is seeking approval for the Council to enter into a 
Delivery Partnership Agreement with the local Job Centre Plus. 
 

Rollout 
4. Universal Credit was first announced in November 2010, and was 

intended to be rolled out nationally from October 2013. Difficulties in 
delivering an IT system which links Her Majesty’s Revenue and 
Customs earnings information with a new DWP infrastructure has led 
to a much slower rollout than originally planned.  
 

5. Universal Credit will be introduced in Oxford on 20 April 2015 for single 
claimants without children. The trigger for applying for Universal Credit 
will be the need to make a claim for Jobseekers Allowance, i.e. where 
someone loses their job, or leaves the education system. Where 
Universal Credit has been rolled out elsewhere, the majority of 
claimants are young (under 30) single men, a third of which have 
housing costs. 

 
6. The eligibility criteria for Universal Credit in Oxford in year one means 

that there will be a small number of claimants. DWP are forecasting up 
to 150 applications a month in Oxford, although experience in other 
areas shows that actual numbers of applications are much lower than 
those forecast. DWP estimates are based on the number of JSA claims 
made in December 2014. The improving job market means these 
figures are falling month on month. 

 
Provision of Services 

7. Schedule 1 of the Delivery Partnership Agreement outlines the 
responsibilities of the City Council. These include: 

• Providing support to the Universal Credit Service Centre on 
housing cost issues 

• Supporting customers to make claims online 

• Providing personal budgeting support to customers identified as 
having a need for it 

• Manually processing claims for Council Tax Reduction (as DWP 
will only be providing Universal Credit income information in a 
manual format until October 2015) 

• Supporting social landlords to prepare for Universal Credit 

8



• Providing Management Information to DWP  

• Supporting DWP with the evaluation of the first phase of national 
rollout 

 
8. Due to the anticipated low numbers of claimants in the first year, the 

Council’s Welfare Reform Team will provide personal budgeting 
support and help with making claims online. DWP have advised that 
they expect there to be fewerthan 10 customers per month requiring 
each type of support. Providing this support in-house will help inform 
the decision on how to provide these services if and when Universal 
Credit is rolled out to a wider customer base. 
 

9. The Council is well prepared to support customers migrating to 
Universal Credit following its involvement in two Universal Credit pilots. 
Learning from this work has informed the development of the services 
which are required under the Delivery Partnership Agreement.   

 
10. A project team has been assembled to manage the implementation of 

Universal Credit. This will carry out the development of any new 
processes required, ensure staff are adequately trained, and manage 
the communication of this work both internally and externally. Work to 
implement Universal Credit will be reported to the Organisational 
Development and Customer Services Board. 
 

11. The DWP will be providing named contacts to the City Council both 
locally at Oxford Jobcentre Plus, and at one of the Universal Credit 
Service Centres, where applications will be processed. This will ensure 
that any problems which arise can be resolved quickly. 

 
Risk 

12. An evaluation of the risks associated with the implementation of 
Universal Credit has been carried out. A detailed Risk Register is 
attached at Appendix 1. 

 
Environmental Impact 

13. No impact 
 
Equalities Impact 

14. No impact 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9



Financial Implications 
15. The Council will receive payments for undertaking the activity outlined 

in the Delivery Partnership Agreement as shown in the table below.  
 

Activity Payment 

Online support £1,400.00 

Budgeting Support £6,625.00 

Manual processing of 

Council Tax Reduction 

claims £5,580.00 

Support Universal Credit 

Service Centre £1,165.00 

Management Costs £25,644.00 

One off/set up costs £12,000.00 

  Total £52,414.00 

 
 

Legal Implications 
16. As stated above, the provision of the services under the DAP do not 

constitute a statutory obligation on the City Council. 
 

Name and contact details of author:- 
 
Paul Wilding 
Revenues & Benefits Programme Manager 
Customer Services 
Tel:  01865 252461  e-mail:  pwilding@oxford.gov.uk 

 
Background Papers: None 
 
 

10



Nos. Raised by Date Raised Probabilit
y

Impact Gross 
Risk 

Score

Proximity Description Mitigation Owner Target Date Revised 
Probabilit

y

Revise
d 

Impact

Residu
al Risk 
Score

Status Date last 
rev'd by 
board

Lists for 
validatio

n

001 Paul Wilding 20/01/2015 3 4

12

Imminent

Insufficient communication 
between Council and JCP, 
resulting in poor communication of 
project to partners and customers

Diarise regular meetings 
throughout project 
timeline, and agree 
escalation routes for 
communcation issues

Paul Wilding

13.2.15

2 4

8

Mitigation agreed 1 Imminent Open

002 Dave Lansley 20/01/2015 4 3

12

Short Term

Lack of escalation routes for 
support organisations to DWP 
required to raise queries on 
claims, resulting in excessive 
administration by escalating vis 
MP's etc.

Establish contacts at JCP 
and DWP that can be 
accessed, and provide list 
of contacts to relevant 
parties

Dave Lansley

20.4.15

4 3

12

Open 2 Short TermMitigation agreed

003 Mark Chandler 20/01/2015 4 4

16

Short Term

Customers receive incorrect 
advice on UC due to lack of ICT 
resource for making necessary 
changes to Lagan scripts, which 
would make it difficult for the 
contact centre to field UC 
enquiries

Flag up resource 
requirement to ICT as 
early, and plan the 
scripting work around 
resource availability

Mark Chandler

13.2.15

4 4

16

Open 3 Long Term Escalation agreed

004 Mark Chandler 20/01/2015 4 4

16

Short Term

Customers receive incorrect 
advice about UC due to training 
not being delivered as a result of 
the limited time people can be 
taken off the phones, esp due to 
end of year, and other training 
needs

Establish training needs 
and build training 
package at the earliest 
opportunity. Identify who 
requires the trianing and 
schedule this in.

Mark Chandler

27.2.15

4 4

16

Open 4 Closed

005 Paul Wilding 21/01/2015 3 4

12

Short Term

Customers fail to receive a 
consistent message about UC 
due to support organisations and 
Housing providers being excluded 
from implementation plans

Ensure the UC 
Communications Plan 
includes actions to 
engage all partners in the 
city

Helen Thompson

27.3.15

3 4

12

Open 5 Revised or to Review

006 James Pickering 21/01/2015 3 3

9

Short Term

Overpayments are raised for 
customers as a result of receiving 
both UC and HB payments for 
their Housing costs

Establish a process for 
avoiding duplicate 
payments including the 
Council, JCP and DWP 
processing centres, and 
ensure notifications about 
new UC claims are dealt 
with promptly Michele Baldrick

27.3.15

3 3

9

Open

007 James Pickering 21/01/2015 3 4

12

Short Term

Customers fall into rent arrears as 
they are not able to access 
personal budgeting support 
before they receive their first UC 
payment

Establish a process for 
referring customers for 
support, plan likely 
volumes and ensure there 
is sufficient resource to 
meet the need

Dave Lansley

11.4.15

3 4

12

Open

008 James Pickering 21/01/2015 4 3

12

Short Term

Customers risk eviction as UC 
cases with Houisng costs are not 
notified to OCC

Arrange for all UC cases 
with Housing costs to be 
referred by JCP

Dave Lansley

11.4.15

4 3

12

Open

009 James Pickering 21/01/2015 4 3

12

Short Term

Customers accrue Council Tax 
arrears as they are not advised to 
claim CTR separately

Ensure the UC 
application process 
makes it clear to 
applicants that they need 
to apply for CTR. Ensure 
this is a key message to 
customers and partners

Nick Gibb

27.3.15

4 3

12

Open

010 Paul Fleming 22/01/2015 3 3

9

Short Term

Lack of access to shared GCSX 
mailbox prevents team processing 
request from DWP

Work with service and 
County to get GCSX mail 
account setup early

Paul Fleming

30/01/2015

2 2

4

Open

011 David Rundle 23/01/2015 3 4

12

Long term

People unable to make claim for 
UC as they are not willing to enter 
personal data at public access 
points

Find out from other live 
sites whether this was a 
problem, and find out how 
it was addressed Dave Lansley

20.4.15

3 4

12

Open

11



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
To: City Executive Board  
 
Date: 2 April 2015    

 
Report of:  Head of Leisure, Parks and Communities  
 
Title of Report: Fusion Lifestyle’s 2015/ 2016 Annual Service Plan for the 

management of the Council’s leisure facilities 
 
 

 
Summary and Recommendations 

 
Purpose of report:  The report recommends that the City Executive Board endorse 
Fusion Lifestyle’s Annual Service Plan for the management of the Council’s leisure 
facilities for 2015/16. 
        
Key decision: Yes 
 
Executive lead member: Councillor Mike Rowley, Executive Member for Leisure 
Contract and Community Partnership Grants 
 
Policy Framework: Leisure and Wellbeing Strategy, 2015 to 2020 
                                 Strong and Active Communities 
Vibrant, Sustainable Economy 
Cleaner, Greener Oxford  
 
Recommendation:That the City Executive Board endorses Fusion Lifestyle’s Annual 
Service Plan for 2015/16. 
 

 
 
Appendices 
Appendix One Fusion Lifestyle’s Annual Service Plan summary 2014/2015 
Appendix Two – Risk register 
Appendix Three – Initial Equality Impact Assessment 
 
Background 
 
1. In March 2009 the Council entered into a contract with Fusion Lifestyle (Fusion) a 

social enterprise with charitable status to manage the Council’s Leisure Facilities. 
The contract was for ten years, with a five year extension clause. 
 

 

13

Agenda Item 7



2. The contract with a social enterprise whose sole focus and extensiveexpertise is 
operating leisure facilities has greatly improved the userexperience, alongside 
achieving savings of around £660,000 per year. Over this period facilities have 
been greatly improved with around £13.5 million of investment, which has in the 
main been funded by the contract savings. 

 
3. In February 2014 the City Executive Board agreed to extend the contract to for the 

development, management and operation of the City’s leisure centres for a five 
year period to April 2024. 

 
4. Fusion’s 2015/16 Annual Service Plan (Plan) builds on the Council’s approach to 

delivering world class leisure provision to Oxford residents. The plan is available on 
the City Council’s website. 
 

5. Leisure provision in the city is continuously improving since the collaboration with 
Fusion in 2009 and supports the Council’s strategic aims.  The achievements to 
date can be summarised as: 
 

• Usage has increased by 401per cent on pre contract levels, now totalling 
around 1.3million visits a year. 

• The main increase in usage is in our target groups (people from areas of 
deprivation, BAME people, older people, disabled people, women and girls 
and under-17s) which have increased by 82 per cent. 

• The net subsidy per user has reduced from over £2.14 to £0.47 and is on 
target to reduce to £0.08 per user subsidy by 2016, and break even by 2017. 

• Additional increases in the Oxford Living Wage and energy costs have been 
absorbed. 

• Very high customer satisfaction levels - 98 per cent satisfiedand 55 per cent 
rate the centres as excellent. 

• Quest (the sport and leisure industries quality and customer assurance 
scheme) has been achieved and maintained at all the centres. 

• Development on time and within budget of the Leys Pool and Leisure Centre. 
 
6. The 2015/16 Plan is focused on delivering the Council’s priorities in the most 

effective and efficient way and places significant focus upon: 
 

• Accessible and affordable leisure opportunities through pricing structures at 
appropriate and inclusive levels. 

• Improving health and well-being bypositively promoting and delivering the 
benefits of healthy living and active lifestyles. 

• Supporting the council’s Youth Ambition Programme  

• Tackling climate change and promote sustainable environmental resource 
management providing quality through continuous improvement. 

• Driving value for money by ensuring that the leisure offering is of a high 
standard and innovative. 

• Delivering Service Excellence by striving toachieve an excellent customer 
satisfaction rating of at least 60%. (Satisfaction targets were based on at least 
satisfactory, the plan strives to measure delivery of excellence). 
 

                                            
1
 Based on April 2014 to January 2015 visits 

14



7. This plan is presented following the successful enactment of the 2009 Leisure 
Facilities Strategy. The final part of the strategy was the completion of the Leys 
Pools and Leisure Centre which is proving to be a huge success with 50,000 visits 
taking place in the first month of opening. 

 
Development of the Annual Service Plan 
 
8. The 2015/16Plan was developed between Fusion and council officers and agreed by 

the Leisure Partnership Board. The Board consists of representatives from the 
following groups:  

 

• Customers  

• Older people  

• Young people  

• Executive and opposition member for leisure 

• Senior Council and Fusion Officers  
 

The function of the Board is to oversee the delivery of the city’s corporate 
objectives through the leisure contract.An effort has been made to broaden input 
into the Board and over the last year there has been more attendance and 
contribution from service users. 

 
9. Preparation of the 2015/16 Plan has incorporated:  
 

• Review of performance from contract commencement 

• Review of achievements in respect of national and industry relevant 
benchmarks 

• Commitments and intentions set out in Fusion Lifestyles tender submission 

• Liaison with stakeholders 

• Linkage to the Council’s corporate plan  
 
10. A summary document will clearly set out the Plan headlines and be available to 

customers, staff and other key stakeholders. The document will be printed in a 
format consistent to previous contract years. (Appendix Two, Fusion’s 2014/15 
Summary Plan). 

 
 
2015/16Performance Targets2 
 
11. Key targets committed to in the 2015 /16 Plan include:  
 
Key 2013/ 2014 objectives 2014/15 

target 
2015/16forecast 

target 

To reduce the subsidy per user in leisure 
facilities 

£0.47 £0.08 

Year-on-year increase in participation by 
users resident in the most deprived wards in 
the city 

110,000 
visits 

114,000 
visits 

Year-on-year increase in participation by 91,000 visits 94,000 

                                            
2
 Based on April 2014 to January 2015 visits 

15



users aged over 50 years of age 

Year-on-year increase in participation by 
Women and girls. 

452,000 
visits 

466,000 
visits 

Year-on-year increase in participation by 
users aged under 17 years. 

139,000 
visits 

143,000 
visits 

Year-on-year increase in participation by 
users from Black, Minority and Ethnic groups. 

85,000 visits 88,000 
visits 

Year-on-year increase in participation by 
disabled users. 

15,000 visits 16,000 visits 

To maintain customer satisfaction levels at 
leisure facilities above 95% (Good, 
Satisfactory, Excellent). 
 

98% At least 95% 

Striving for excellence with the aim on 
achieving an excellent customer satisfaction 
rating.3 

New  60% 

To retain Quest accreditation at five facilities 
at least “good” level  

5 facilities 5 facilities 
 

Reduce utility consumption against the 
2013/14 baseline. 

 
2 per cent 

 
2 per cent 

 
(Note: 2014/15 usage from Temple Cowley Pool and Blackbird Leys Pool will be added 
to the target for Leys Pools and Leisure Centre, 2015/16). 
 
Performance management  
 
12. There will be an on-going review and monitoring process for the plan. This will 

incorporate management scrutiny, monthly client performance reports, monthly 
meetings between key representatives of the Council and Fusion, quarterly Leisure 
Partnership Board meetings and a formal review in advance of the 2015/16 planning 
process. 

 
Legal Issues 
 
13. The Council has a contractual relationship under which the council’s leisure facilities 

are managed by Fusion. The Leisure Management Agreement sets out the range of 
contractual requirements with which Fusion must comply. Fusion’s delivery of the 
Service Plan is a contractual commitment. 

 
Financial Issues 
 
14. Savings from the contract with Fusion are already reflected in the council’s budget 

and the risk for achieving these isFusions. The management agreement also contains 
provisions to share profits that are made above those agreed when the contract was 
agreed. 

 
Environmental Impact 
 

                                            
3
 Satisfaction targets were based on at least satisfactory, the plan strives to measure delivery of 
excellence.This is a new objective, but represents an improvement from 55% excellent this year. 

16



15. The Plan has targets and actions that will have a positive environmental impact. 
These contribute to the Council’s commitment for tackling climate change, promoting 
sustainable environmental resources, and to the reduction of carbon and water. 
Actions within the Plan support the Council’s Carbon Management Plan. 

 
Level of Risk 

 
16. There is a medium level of risk to service provision. Descriptions and mitigation for 

this level of risk are demonstrated in the Risk Register, (Appendix Two).  
 

Equalities Impact 
 
17. Targets and actions within the Plan ensure equitable access to improved facilities and 

encourage increased usage for underrepresented and concessionary groups. , in 
accordance with the equalities impact assessments and action plan, (Appendix 
Three). 

 
 

Name and contact details of author:- 
 
Name Ian Brooke 
Job title Head of Leisure, Parks &Communities 
Service Area / Department: Leisure, Parks and Communities 
Tel:  01865 252705  e-mail:  ibrooke@oxford.gov.uk 
 

 
List of background papers:  
Fusion Lifestyle’s 2015/ 2016 Annual Service Plan 

17



This page is intentionally left blank



Fusion Lifestyle is a registered charity working in partnership with 
Oxford City Council to manage your local leisure facilities.

Annual Service Plan
2014/15

Fusion Lifestyle is a registered charity working in partnership with 
Oxford City Council to manage your local leisure facilities.

www.oxford.gov.uk/leisure
19



2 3

Annual Service Plan 
 
Oxford City Council and Fusion Lifestyle have a clear vision for a world class leisure 
service for everyone in the City. We aspire to ensure that the City’s leisure facilities 
are available to everyone and offer the highest possible standards.

In March 2009, Fusion Lifestyle commenced the management of the City Council’s 
seven leisure facilities - Barton Leisure Centre, Blackbird Leys Leisure Centre, 
Blackbird Leys Pool, Ferry Leisure Centre, Hinksey Outdoor Pool, Oxford Ice Rink 
and Temple Cowley Pools.

Fusion has developed an Annual Service Plan that describes the organisation’s 
performance against 2013/14 objectives and sets out Fusion’s targets for the 
delivery of leisure services in the year from April 2014 - March 2015.

This leaflet summarises Fusion’s Annual Service Plan and gives our customers, 
staff and stakeholders a clear idea of our objectives for the year ahead.

Performance Review 2013/14
 
The Performance Review element of the Annual Service Plan is a review of
performance against the 2013/14 Annual Service Plan. 

Financial:

• Subsidy per user has reduced from £2.14 in 2009 to £0.62 in 2014
• Bonus concessionary membership offer was held for a fifth consecutive year

 

 
Participation:

• Since starting the contract with Fusion the overall number of visits to leisure facilities 
has increased 42 per cent. Just less than 354,100 more visits when compared with 
the period prior to the transfer to Fusion.

•  Overall participation has increased year on year by 5,432 to 1,203,667 
• 12% increase in users aged over 50
• The delay in the new competition pool and the challenges in maintaining Temple 

Cowley Pools and Fitness Centre and Blackbird Leys Pool resulted in small (less than 
10%) falls in participation of disabled, under 16, black, minority & ethnic users.

Performance Review 2013/14

• 13% increase in 60+ swim participation
• 10% increase in women and girls participation
• 19% increase in under 17 swim participation 

Customer Satisfaction:

• Overall customer satisfaction of 96%
• User groups, customer forums and management forums embeded at each site

Health and Safety:

• Compliance scores: Barton Leisure Centre 99%, Blackbird Leys Leisure Centre
 89%, Blackbird Leys Pool 93%, Ferry Leisure Centre 93%, Hinksey Outdoor
 Pool 99%, Oxford Ice Rink 83%, Temple Cowley Pools 90%
• All Oxford sites fully compliant with Occupational Heath and Saftey Advisory services 

audit of health and safety management.

Facility Management:

• Maintained International Standards ISO 14001, 14002 and 9001 following
 external audit assessment
• 99% of Planned Preventative Maintenance undertaken
• Leisure industry quality standard Quest accreditation maintained at Barton Leisure
 Centre, Blackbird Leys Leisure Centre, Oxford Ice Rink and Ferry Leisure Centre at
 a rating of ‘Good’, and at Hinksey Outdoor Pool, a rating of ‘Satisfactory’

Staffing:

• Appraisals undertaken for all staff within Oxford leisure facilities
• Training plans in place for all staff
• Over 1,899 hours training delivered in all centres

20



4 5

2014/15 Objectives and Targets
Partnership Development:
• Full liaison and support with Oxford City Council in respect of the new
 competition pool development at Blackbird Leys Leisure Centre
• Agreed partnership funding to maintain Go Active programme in Oxford 
• Supported many partnerships including; GO Active, Get Healthy, get into Sport, 
 Active Women, Youth Ambition, Sportivate

Financial:

• to deliver a 10% year-on-year reduction in subsidy per user
•  to ensure that pricing structures and levels across the leisure facilities are 

appropriate and inclusive to support target groups

Participation:

• to deliver a 3% year-on-year increase in participation by target groups:
  - users from black, minority and ethnic groups
  - users resident in the more deprived wards in the City
  - users aged over 50
  -  users aged under 16 with increased emphasis on encouraging educational 

attainment
  - users with disabilities

• to deliver a 5% year-on-year increase in participation by target groups women 
and girls

• to deliver a 3% year on year increase in U17 swimming
• to deliver a 3% year on year increase in over 60 swimming
• to improve general access to all sites

Customer Satisfaction:

•  to maintain customer satisfaction levels at leisure facilities above 95%
•  to fully undertake Fusion’s customer relations programmes
•  to deliver a reduction of at least 5% in annual cancellation of memberships

Health and Safety:

• to ensure 100% compliance with Fusion health and safety policies and 
procedures

Performance Review 2013/14

Marketing:

• Total website visits over 300,000 and  visits up across all centres, Ferry 
Leisure Centre up 40%, Barton Leisure Centre up 41%, Oxford Ice Rink up 63%, 
Temple Cowley up 47%, Hinksey Heated Outdoor Pool up 52%, Blackbird Leys 
Leisure Centre up 40% and Blackbird Leys Pool 73%

• Successfully delivered communication and promotion plans for new first stage 
of redevelopment of Blackbird Leys Leisure Centre

• Reward Card holders (Pay As You Go loyalty card) holders now over 14,000 for 
the first time

• Social media continues to grow rapidly with 9,600 Facebook likes
• New external signage installed at Oxford Ice Rink
• New Swim School direct debit membership introduced

Sports And Community Development:

• Positive and proactive partnerships developed with key stakeholders 
including; Badminton England, Amateur Swimming Association, Oxford Sports 
Partnership, local sports clubs and schools

• Exercise and pool programmes reviewed, refreshed and implemented 
• Healthy living and active lifestyles promoted through; GP exercise referral 

action plan, Cardiac Rehabilitation at Blackbird Leys, Active Women and 
GO Active Get Healthy projects and support of the council ‘Youth Ambition 
Programme’

Facility Developments:

• First stage of redevelopment at Blackbird Leys completed with new studio, 
crèche and soft play area officially opened

21



6 7

2014/15 Objectives and Targets
Facility Management:

• to achieve average facility inspection scores of at least 95% across all facilities
• to engage fully with the Council’s priority, “to tackle climate change and 

promote sustainable environmental resource management,” and to contribute 
to the Council’s delivery of a 5% reduction in carbon emissions year-on-year

•  to reduce general refuse by 25% and to increase recycling waste by 25%
•  to ensure high standards of cleaning at all times
•  to ensure high standards of repair and maintenance at all times
•  to maintain Quest accreditation at a minimum ‘Good’ at Ferry Leisure Centre, 

Blackbird Leys Leisure Centre, Oxford Ice Rink, Barton Leisure Centre and 
Hinskey Outdoor Pool

•  to maintain quality ‘Integrated Management Systems’ procedures across all sites

Staffing:

• to ensure that the right people are in the right place at the right time
• to achieve over a 72% staff satisfaction level
• to ensure that the Fusion workforce in Oxford is as representative as possible of 

the local community

Marketing:

• to deliver a proactive and positive approach to Public Relations, such that facility 
and service successes are communicated and celebrated

• to deliver a 5% increase in total memberships
• to establish and maintain the highest standards of web and social media 

promotion
• to develop connections and outreach with local schools, youth clubs and under 

18’s with Sports & Community Development teams
• to launch new collateral designs and reduce print wastage
•  launch of the new competition pool at Blackbird Leys

2014/15 Objectives and Targets
Sports and Community Development:

•  to maintain  positive and productive partnerships with key local stakeholders and 
welcome stakeholder opportunities

•  to develop and maintain positive and proactive closer relationships with local 
sports clubs, community centres and groups

•  to ensure that all facility programmes are exciting, innovative and attractive to 
users and potential users

•  to maximise the benefits of sport participation following the 2014 Winter 
Olympics/ Paralympics and the Commonwealth Games

•  to explore relevant opportunities for external funding
•  to positively promote the benefits of healthy living and active lifestyles
• develop and maintain relationships with schools and educational groups

Facility Developments:

•  produce a programme of leisure facility development proposals and where 
agreed deliver these developments

• new competition pool at Blackbird Leys 

Partnership Development:

•  to ensure 100% compliance with all meeting, reporting and performance 
monitoring requirements

•  to explore opportunities for the Council and Fusion to extend their relationship in 
respect of other facilities in Oxford

•  to support the council in the delivery of a new competition pool
•  to optimise the benefits of the partnership between Fusion and Oxford City Council

22



In presenting this summary of the Annual Service Plan for 2014/15, we are keen 
to gain as much feedback as possible from customers, staff and other key 
stakeholders. 

We want to know if you think we are trying to do the right things, whether 
or not we are achieving our objectives and what key targets we should be 
considering when we start to prepare our next Annual Service Plan for 2015/16.

 
Thank you for taking the time to read this leaflet. Your opinion is valued 
and we look forward to hearing from you. 

If you need a translation, a LARGE PRINT version or a copy of this 
publication in another format, please contact us.

All feedback is gratefully received and there is a range of ways in which you 
can tell us what you think:

• talk to our staff
• complete one of our “Please Tell Us What You Think” comment 
   cards, available at each of the leisure facilities
• attend one of the Customer Forums that will be organised across 
   the facilities through the course of the year
• pass your comments to a representative of the User Groups that 
   meet at each facility
• attend one of our regular management surgeries that will be held 
   through the course of the year
• contact us by e-mail at blackbird@fusion-lifestyle.com
• write to Fusion’s Divisional Business Manager, c/o 
   Blackbird Leys Leisure Centre, Pegasus Road, Blackbird Leys, 
   Oxford, OX4 6JL

23



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix Two: Fusion Lifestyle 2015/ 2016 Annual Service Plan for the management of the Council’s leisure facilities. 
 
Risk Implications 

Risk Gross 
Risk 

Current 
Risk 

Residual 
Risk 

Description Cause Consequence Date 
raised 

I P I P I P Owner Control Description 

Dissatisfaction 
with delivery of 
leisure provision 

Lack of intrinsic linkage 
within the Plan to enable 
delivery of the Council’s 
Corporate Plan; Poor 
development of objectives 
and targets in respect of 
achieving the council’s 
aspirations and vision 
 

Stakeholder dissatisfaction, 
loss of income, reputation 
damage, loss of future 
opportunity 

09 Feb 15  
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 

1 

 
 
 
 

1 

 
 
 
 
Head of Service 

Establishment of a detailed Annual 
Service Plan that sets out the 
strategic objectives and required 
actions; with a comprehensive on-
going monitoring of performance in 
respect of key service criteria. 

 

The 2015/ 2016 
Annual Service 
Plan strategic 
aims do not reflect 
corporate 
priorities 

Lack of assimilation with 
the Councils Corporate 
Plan 

Value for money not 
achieved; failure to provide 
the aspiration of a World-
Class leisure service. 

09 Feb 15  
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Head of Service 

Strategic direction from the Leisure 
Partnership Board and Council 
Leisure Delivery Board; Effective 
engagement with representatives of 
the Leisure Partnership Board and 
other internal and external officers; 
Robust development process for the 
delivery of the 2015/ 2016 Fusion 
Lifestyle Annual Service Plan. 
 

Failure to achieve 
the commitment to 
accessible 
savings 
 

Lack of financial 
consideration and planning 
within the delivery strands 
of the 2015/ 2016 Annual 
Service Plan. 

Value for money not 
achieved. 
 

09 Feb 15  
 
 

3 

 
 
 

3 

 
 
 

3 

 
 
 

3 

 
 
 

3 

 
 
 

1 

 
 
Head of Service 

Robust performance and financial 
monitoring procedures to detect 
variations and put in mitigating 
actions. 

 

Business 
Continuity 
Planning 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Failure to maintain an up to 
date Business Continuity 
Plan. 

Leisure centres being 
unable to operate for a 
period of time. 

09 Feb 15  
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 

2 

 Regular review of current Business 
Continuity Plan and annual testing of 
plan. 

Reputational Risk  Failure to manage 
repercussions following a 
serious event at a centre 
 

Reputation loss of Oxford 
City Council  

09 Feb 15  
 

2 

 
 
3 

 
 

1 

 
 

2 

 
 

1 

 
 

2 

 Emergency Plan for control of media 
exposure. 
 
Health & Safety monitoring and 
reporting regime in place and 
externally audited. 

 

25



 
Appendix Three:  Fusion Lifestyle 2015/ 2016 Annual Service Plan for the management of the Council’s leisure facilities. 
 
Initial Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
       
                   

Service Area: 
Leisure, Parks 
and 
Communities 

Section:  
Leisure management contract 

Key person responsible for the 
assessment:  
Leisure and Performance  Manager 

Date of Assessment:  
9 February 2015 

Is this assessment in the Corporate Equality 
Impact assessment Timetable for 2013-
2015? 

Yes No 

Name of the Policy to be assessed: 
 

• Leisure and Wellbeing Strategy 2015 to 
2020 

 
Fusion Lifestyle’s 2015/ 2016 Annual Service 
Plan for the management of the Council’s 
leisure facilities. 

Is this a new or existing policy New 

26



1. Briefly 
describe the 
aims, 
objectives and 
purpose of the 
policy 

 
The overriding objectives of the leisure management contract are:  
 

• To develop world-class leisure facilities and to improve the value for money they offer; 
 

• To reduce the overall subsidy for leisure services, prior to 2009 the subsidy per user was one of the most 
expensive in the country; 

 

• Alongside the benefits of a successful contract such as increased participation, an upward cycle of 
continued improvement, and an improved public realm, there is also a surplus share arrangement that 
encourages the Council to support Fusion Lifestyle to exceed their contractual financial targets and provide 
further leisure investment. 

 
The quality and service standards are high and facilities will be accessible with diverse and with inclusive 
programmes.  
 

• Charging at market rate for those that can afford and running a highly cost effective service so that a 
surplus is created to fund a progressive concessions programme. 
 

• Central part of the Corporate Plan for 2015-2020 
 

The vision for delivery of leisure facility provision is to: 
 

• Continuously improve the service for all users 

• Reduce the subsidy per user 

• Have greater energy efficiency from the leisure facilities 

• Provide modern world-class leisure facilities to enhance the quality of life for everyone. 

27



2. Are there 
any 
associated 
objectives of 
the policy, 
please explain 

The Leisure Facility Review (May 2009) detailed the Councils strategic approach to developing a city wide leisure 
offer that includes all facilities irrespective of ownership across the city. The review detailed a sustainable way 
forward for our leisure facilities. 
 
The Leisure & Wellbeing Strategy 2015 to 2020 is the services overarching strategy; the delivery of the strategy is 
supported by the Green Space Strategy, the Playing Pitches Strategy and the Youth Ambition Strategy. The 
strategy has three priorities: 

 
Objective 1 – A world class leisure offer   
The leisure offer is anywhere sport and physical activity can take place. Alongside traditional facilities such 
as leisure centres it includes parks, community centres, waterways, children’s centres, business premises 
and community buildings such as churches and village halls.  

 
Objective 2 – Our focus sports 
This strategy continues to designate focus sports. The Sport Team will remain focused on creating 
innovative and inclusive sporting pathways that drive up participation through a joined up leisure offer. 

 
Objective 3 – Partnership working  
Much of the progress in recent years has been achieved through effective partnership working and 
taking a place leadership approach to increasing physical activity levels. The Council’s Sport and 
Leisure team have an excellent reputation; this has helped bring in external funding and resulted in 
far greater outcomes being achieved and this approach needs to be built on. 

 
 

3. Who is 
intended to 
benefit from 
the policy and 
in what way 

• Users of  all leisure facilities in Oxford; 

• Local tax payers; 

• Target Groups: Those under the age of 17 and over the age of 50 years; Black, Minority and Ethnic groups; 
those with disability; Women and girls; Those resident in the most deprived areas of the City; those on a 
low income (and their dependants). 

• City communities. 
 

28



4. What outcomes are wanted from this policy? 
 
The policy is intrinsically linked to enabling the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan, and has been developed to clearly set the 
objectives and targets in respect of achieving the council’s aspirations and vision for delivering modern world-class leisure services. 
 
The vision for delivery of leisure facility provision is to: 
 

• Continuously improve the service for all users 

• Reduce the subsidy per user 

• Provide greater energy efficiency from the leisure facilities 

• Offer modern world-class leisure facilities to enhance the quality of life for everyone. 

• Targeted improvements in use by under-represented groups, women, older people, BME. 
 

 5. What 
factors/forces 
could 
contribute/ 
detract from 
the 

 

• The general economic climate. 

• Competition from the wider leisure industry. 
 

 

6. Who are the 
main 
stakeholders 
in relation to 
the policy 

- Oxford City Council; 
- Councillors; 
- Fusion Lifestyle; 
- Facility users; 
- Residents; 
- Partners 

7. Who implements the policy 
and who is responsible for the 
policy? 

Leisure, Parks and Communities; Executive Director 
Community Services 

8. Are there 
concerns that 
the policy 
could have a 
differential 
impact on 
racial groups? 

 
Y 

 
No 

29



What existing 
evidence 
(either 
presumed or 
otherwise) do 
you have for 
this? 

A wide offer of inclusive membership options and concessionary prices are available supporting affordability and 
participation opportunity. 
 
Fusion Lifestyle shares the Council’s commitment to equality and diversity ensuring that services are reflective and 
responsive to local need. Their core charitable objectives focus on the provision of recreational and sporting 
services in the interests of social welfare; special facilities for target groups; and promoting community participation.  
 
Key elements of Fusions sports and community development plan are: 
 

• Research; Consultation; Programming; Pricing; Promotion; Partnerships. 
 
There is no pricing differentiation due to racial group. 
 
 

  

30



9. Are there 
concerns that 
the policy could 
have a 
differential 
impact due to 
gender? 

Y No 

What existing 
evidence (either 
presumed or 
otherwise) do 
you have for 
this? 

A wide offer of inclusive membership options and concessionary prices are available supporting affordability and 
participation opportunity. 
 
Fusion Lifestyle shares the Council’s commitment to equality and diversity ensuring that services are reflective and 
responsive to local need. Their core charitable objectives focus on the provision of recreational and sporting 
services in the interests of social welfare; special facilities for target groups; and promoting community participation.  
 
Key elements of Fusions sports and community development plan are: 
 

• Research; Consultation; Programming; Pricing; Promotion; Partnerships. 
 
There is no pricing differentiation due to gender.  
 
Active Women is a project being driven by Sport England to get more women from disadvantaged communities, and 
more women caring for children, playing sport. The sessions are specifically designed for local women and aim to 
make it as easy as possible to participate and provision includes tennis, jogging, football, netball, badminton, 
trampolining, basketball and swimming. 
 
 

  

31



10. Are there 
concerns that 
the policy could 
have a 
differential 
impact due 
disability? 

Y No 

What existing 
evidence (either 
presumed or 
otherwise) do 
you have for 
this? 

 
A wide offer of inclusive membership options and concessionary prices are available supporting affordability and 
participation opportunity. 
 
Fusion Lifestyle shares the Council’s commitment to equality and diversity ensuring that services are reflective and 
responsive to local need. Their core charitable objectives focus on the provision of recreational and sporting services 
in the interests of social welfare; special facilities for target groups; and promoting community participation.  
 
Key elements of Fusions sports and community development plan are: 
 

• Research; Consultation; Programming; Pricing; Promotion; Partnerships. 
 
Those entitled to disability benefits, and their dependants are entitled to excellent discounts through the Bonus 
concessionary membership scheme. 
 
Fusion Lifestyle has an active partnership with disability swimming group ‘Oxford Swans’ who hold sessions at Ferry 
Leisure Centre and Leys Pools and Leisure Centre. 
 
Facilities comply with DDA legislation and development schemes progressed in partnership with Fusion Lifestyle 
give full consideration to needs of this target group. 
 

  

32



11. Are there 
concerns that 
the policy could 
have a 
differential 
impact on 
people due to 
sexual 
orientation? 

Y No 

What existing 
evidence (either 
presumed or 
otherwise) do 
you have for 
this? 

 
A wide offer of inclusive membership options and concessionary prices are available supporting affordability and 
participation opportunity. 
 
Fusion Lifestyle shares the Council’s commitment to equality and diversity ensuring that services are reflective and 
responsive to local need. Their core charitable objectives focus on the provision of recreational and sporting services 
in the interests of social welfare; special facilities for target groups; and promoting community participation.  
 
Key elements of Fusions sports and community development plan are: 
 

• Research; Consultation; Programming; Pricing; Promotion; Partnerships. 
 
There is no pricing differentiation due to sexual orientation. 
 

  

33



12. Are there concerns that the 
policy could have a differential 
impact on people due to their 
age? 

Y No 

What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

 
A wide offer of inclusive membership options and concessionary prices are available supporting 
affordability and participation opportunity. 
 
Fusion Lifestyle shares the Council’s commitment to equality and diversity ensuring that services are 
reflective and responsive to local need. Their core charitable objectives focus on the provision of 
recreational and sporting services in the interests of social welfare; special facilities for target groups; 
and promoting community participation.  
 
Key elements of Fusions sports and community development plan are: 
 

• Research; Consultation; Programming; Pricing; Promotion; Partnerships. 
 
Concessionary fees and charges are available to these targeted groups. Additionally the Council 
continues to provide targeted free swimming and free swimming lessons for those aged under 17 
years of age and resident in the City. 
 
Fusion offer Primetime sessions for those aged 50 years and over. 
 

 
  

34



 
  

13. Are there concerns that the 
policy could have a differential 
impact on people due to their 
religious belief? 

Y No 

What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

 
A wide offer of inclusive membership options and concessionary prices are available supporting 
affordability and participation opportunity. 
 
Fusion Lifestyle shares the Council’s commitment to equality and diversity ensuring that services are 
reflective and responsive to local need. Their core charitable objectives focus on the provision of 
recreational and sporting services in the interests of social welfare; special facilities for target groups; 
and promoting community participation.  
 
Key elements of Fusions sports and community development plan are: 
 

• Research; Consultation; Programming; Pricing; Promotion; Partnerships. 
 
There is no pricing differentiation due to religious belief. 
 
Fusion activity programming includes ladies only sessions and swimming lessons (i.e. Barton 
Leisure Centre, Ferry Leisure Centre and Leys Pools and Leisure Centre). 
 

35



14. Could the differential 
impact identified in 8-13 
amount to there being 
the potential for adverse 
impact in this policy? 

Y No 

15. Can this adverse impact be justified on the grounds of promoting 
equality of opportunity for one group? Or any other reason 

Y No 

16. Should the policy 
proceed to a partial 
impact assessment? 

Y No 

If Yes, is there enough evidence to proceed to a full EIA: No 

Date on which Partial or Full impact assessment to be completed by n/a 

 
Signed (completing officer):  Lucy Cherry  Signed (Lead Officer)  Ian Brooke 
 
Team members and service areas that were involved in this process: 

 
Leisure, Parks & Communities:   People & Equalities: 
Head of Service     Organisational Development & Learning Advisor/ Equalities & Apprenticeships 
Leisure and Performance Manager    

 
 

17. Are there implications for the Service 
Plans?  

YES No 
18. Date the Service Plan will be 
updated 

April 
2015 

19. Date copy 
sent to 
Equalities 
Officer 
 

9 
February 

2015 

20. Date reported to Equalities Board:  n/a Date to Scrutiny and CEB 
2 April 
2015 

21. Date 
published 

TBC 

36



 

 

 
 
To: City Executive Board  
 
Date: 2 April 2015    

 
Report of:  Head of City Development 
 
Title of Report: Heritage Plan Framework 
 

 
Summary and Recommendations 

 
Purpose of report: Endorsement of the Heritage Plan Framework. 
          
Key decision No 
 
Executive lead member: Cllr Bob Price, Corporate Strategy, Economic 
Development and Planning 
 
Policy Framework: National Planning Policy Framework; Oxford Local Plan 
Core Strategy: Policy CS18 Urban Design and the Historic Environment. 
 
Recommendation: That the City Executive Board ENDORSE the Heritage 
Plan Framework.  
 
 

 
Appendices 
Appendix 1Heritage Plan Framework 
Appendix 2 Risk Register 
Appendix 3 Equalities Impact Assessment sreening 
 
Background 
 

1. The Heritage Plan is not one document, but a rolling programme of 
work. The Heritage Plan Framework providesan overarching strategy 
for the future management of the city’s heritage through the Heritage 
Plan. The intention of the Heritage Plan Framework is to assess what 
is included and what needs to be included in the Heritage Plan and to 
help coordinate on-going, planned and future studies. 
 

Consultations on what should be included in the Heritage Plan 
 

2. Consultation with key stakeholders helped develop an understanding of 
the way Oxford’s heritage is understood and how current guidance and 
advice is utilised. This has improved understanding of what the 

 

37

Agenda Item 8



Heritage Plan needs to do and this has informed development of the 
Heritage Plan Framework.  

 
3. A scoping assessment and consultation were carried out to assess 

existing policies and evidence base studies. The scoping report brings 
together existing information on Oxford’s heritage and assesses how 
heritage assets are valued at present. A number of consultation 
exercises were carried out to enable an assessment of the existing 
heritage evidence base and whether it is adequate. The consultation 
deepened understanding of the way Oxford’s heritage is understood 
and the way that current guidance and advice is accessed and utilised. 
 

4. The groups consulted were: Oxford heritage stakeholders; the Oxford 
Strategic partnership (OSP); Oxford City Council planning officers and 
heritage asset managers; and the public. The results of the 
consultation exercises are summarised in the Heritage Plan 
Framework. These consultation exercises helped inform the other 
sections of the Framework, including the Action Plan.  

 
 

Main content of the Heritage Plan Framework 
 

5. The document includes a section aimed at ensuring the integration of 
the heritage management with other strategies, an engagement 
strategy and an action plan.  
 

6. The section on integrating heritage with other strategies sets out what 
the heritage plan should do to help realise the full potential of this 
integration. It also lists elements of the heritage plan or other strategies 
that already exists that may help those working on other strategies to 
take account of heritage. 
 

7. The engagement strategy sets out existing toolkits to help 
understanding and engagement with heritage issues. It also suggests 
other strategies for engaging a wide range of stakeholders with 
heritage issues.  
 

8. The scoping, integration and engagement work informed the 
development of an action plan.  
 

Action Plan 
 

9. The Action Plan includes a list of initiatives to help deliver the vision 
and objectives of the heritage plan. It set out a programme of work as 
part of the Heritage Plan, which will be subject to periodic review. 
Consultation helped identify what documents should be included in the 
Heritage Plan programme. A particular need was identified for a 
document to set out and explain this work programme publicly, 
showing what documents are available as part of the Heritage Plan and 
what documents are being developed, hence the inclusion of the Action 

38



Plan in the Heritage Plan Framework and the request for endorsement 
at CEB. Much of the work listed in the Action Plan is on-going or 
complete. All documents identified as needed as part of the Heritage 
Plan are expected to be completed by the end of 2018.  

 
Legal Issues 
 

10. There are no legal implications of this report.  
 

Financial Issues 
 

11. The cost associated with work on the Heritage Plan so far has been 
met through funding from English Heritage and resources of the 
Planning Policy and Heritage teams and budgets. 
 

12. Some costs associated with the on-going work listed in the Action Plan 
will be met through the current resources and budgets of these teams. 
The conservation Area Appraisals will need other sources of funding. A 
programme for producing these is being developed currently.  
 

13. Other ‘desirable’ projects listed in the Action Plan are likely to need 
outside sources of funding or management in order for them to take 
place. 

 
Environmental Impact 
 

14. No specific environmental impacts identified  
 
 

Name and contact details of author:- 
 
Name: Sarah Harrison 
Job title: Senior Planner  
Service Area / Department City Development/ Planning Policy  
Tel:  01865 252015  e-mail:sharrison@oxford.gov.uk 
 

List of background papers:  None 

39



This page is intentionally left blank



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Heritage Plan Framework 2015 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

February 2015 

  

41



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

Contents 
INTRODUCTION .......................................................................................................................... 3 

WHAT IS THE HERITAGE PLAN AND THE HERITAGE PLAN FRAMEWORK? .. 3 

THE HERITAGE OF OXFORD ............................................................................... 3 

VISION AND OBJECTIVES ............................................................................................................ 5 

HERITAGE PLAN VISION ...................................................................................... 5 

HERITAGE PLAN OBJECTIVES ............................................................................ 5 

DEVELOPING THE HERITAGE PLAN FRAMEWORK .......................................... 6 

SCOPING ASSESSMENT SUMMARY ............................................................................................ 7 

INTEGRATING THE POSITIVE MANAGEMENT OF HERITAGE WITH OTHER STATEGIES 
(INTEGRATION FRAMEWORK) .................................................................................................... 9 

STRONG AND HEALTHY COMMUNITIES ............................................................ 9 

SAFE COMMUNITIES ...........................................................................................11 

ECONOMIC VIBRANCY ........................................................................................12 

CREATING A LOW CARBON ENVIRONMENT ....................................................13 

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY .................................................................................. 15 

DEVELOPING ENGAGEMENT IN HERITAGE MANAGEMENT ...........................15 

METHODS FOR ENABLING COMMUNITY AND DEVELOPER ENGAGEMENT IN 
HERITAGE MANAGEMENT ..................................................................................15 

TOOLKITS AND OTHER SUPPORT FOR LOCAL-LEVEL PLANNING, 
DEVELOPERS AND DECISION MAKERS ............................................................15 

SCHEMES TO FACILITATE ENGAGEMENT OF ALL HERITAGE MANAGERS ..16 

 

PRIORITIES AND PRINCIPLES .................................................................................................... 19 

ACTION PLAN ............................................................................................................................ 20 

MONITORING FRAMEWORK .................................................................................................... 22 

APPENDIX 1: CONSULTATION RESULTS .................................................................................... 24 

INVOLVEMENT OF OXFORD HERITAGE STAKEHOLDERS ..............................24 

OXFORD STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP (OSP) CONSULTATION EVENT ...........25 

WORKSHOP WITH OXFORD CITY COUNCIL PLANNING OFFICERS ...............25 

PUBLIC CONSULTATION .....................................................................................28 

 

42



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

WHAT IS THE HERITAGE PLAN AND THE HERITAGE PLAN FRAMEWORK? 

1. The Heritage Plan Framework will provide an overarching strategy for the future 
management of the city’s heritage through the Heritage Plan, with key principles established 
to inform decision-making. The intention of the Heritage Plan Framework is to assess what is 
included and what needs to be included in the Heritage Plan and to help coordinate and 
utilise on-going, planned and future evidence-gathering studies.  
 
2. The Heritage Plan for Oxford is not one single, static document. It is a series of 
strategies and documents designed to encompass the important aspects or immediate 
needs of managing Oxford’s heritage, produced over time and updated when necessary.  
 
3. Oxford’s Core Strategy 2026 set out the intention to draw up a Heritage Plan. This 
said (in paragraph 6.1.5): ”A heritage plan will be drawn up as a basis for decision-making 
and initiatives that will help ensure that development in Oxford sustains and enhances the 
archaeological, architectural and landscape resource in a manner compatible with its status 
as a historic city of international renown.“  
 
4. A Heritage Scoping Assessment and a consultation exercise to gauge current 
understanding of and future need in relation to heritage in the city have been undertaken. 
The results are summarised in this document (the consultation results and the implications 
for the Heritage Plan are reported in Appendix 1). The findings of these two assessments 
feed into the Heritage Plan Framework. Based on these assessments, the Heritage Plan 
Framework will set out what information, analysis, strategies and documents already exist 
and consider whether they are relevant, useable and up-to-date. Based on this and the 
priorities and principles for the Heritage Plan, recommendations for future work will be 
made. The Framework can be updated periodically. It will provide an overview of the 
complex set of documents and on-going work programme that will constitute the Heritage 
Plan.  

THE HERITAGE OF OXFORD  

5. Oxford is a world-renowned historic city with a rich and diverse built heritage. It has 
an enviable inheritance of historic buildings and other features of the built environment, 
with over 1,500 listed buildings and conservation areas that cover 17.3% of the total area of 
the city. It is one of the most photographed, filmed and written about cities in the world. 
These images are largely of historic Oxford, based around the colleges of one of the best-
preserved medieval universities in the world. This historic core of Oxford, based around the 
university colleges, is vital to the city’s tourist industry because it is this that tourists from 

43



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

around the world visit in their millions. It also makes Oxford an attractive and popular city in 
which to live and work.  
 
6. However, Oxford’s heritage is about more than the famous assets of the built 
environment. English Heritage (Conservation Principles, 2008) define heritage as “all 
inherited resources which people value for reasons beyond mere utility.” Heritage 
encompasses what is inherited from the past and how we use that today, as well as the 
heritage in the making of the developing city. It is about nature, people and events, local 
places, features and associations, viewpoints and open spaces. English Heritage describe the 
Historic Environment as: “all aspects of the environment resulting from the interaction 
between people and places through time, including all surviving physical remains of past 
human activity, whether visible or buried and deliberately planted or managed flora.” 
 
7. Different phases of growth have contributed to Oxford’s character as a whole, and 
created the diversity of townscapes and landscapes that make up today’s Oxford. Oxford’s 
urban origins lie in the late Saxon period. Its original street pattern and some of these 
earliest buildings and monuments still survive. The foundation and growth of the University 
transformed Oxford into an international seat of learning. Growth of Oxford took place 
beyond the historic core from the mid-19th century onwards, spurred by railway and 
improved river transport, the growth of the University and other educational establishments 
and the printing and publishing industry. This growth was further accelerated in the 20th 
century through car manufacturing and Oxford’s role as a regional hub of health services. 
The city retains distinctive physical characteristics that reflect these different strands of 
economic and social growth. 

 
  

44

http://www.english-heritage.org.uk/publications/conservation-principles-sustainable-management-historic-environment/


 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

VISION AND OBJECTIVES 
HERITAGE PLAN VISION  
 
8. The Heritage Plan for Oxford will follow an approach to heritage management that is 
strategic and informed by a robust evidence base, and that does more to engage with our 
local communities.   
 
9. The three main elements of the approach to heritage management that the Heritage 
Plan is intended to embrace and promote are: 
(1) providing a strategic and  evidence-based approach to  managing the  historic 
environment and guiding change; 
(2)  facilitating an integrated approach for the positive application of heritage to other areas 
of strategic planning; 
(3)  encouraging community (business, visitor and residential) ownership, responsibility for 
and engagement with the historic environment. 
 
10. The Heritage Plan for Oxford is intended to ensure people are aware of the city’s 
heritage as a world class resource that is a positive asset. This understanding will guide 
decision-makers, strategy planners and property owners to act as its guardians, getting the 
greatest sustainable benefit from the city’s heritage for its citizens and the wider 
community. It will involve local communities in identifying the value of their heritage and 
provide clear channels of communication for them to both engage in decision-making and to 
appreciate how their views have influenced the decisions that are made. 

HERITAGE PLAN OBJECTIVES 

11. This Heritage Plan Framework will set out how the Heritage Plan will be delivered and 
what it will include, based on the objectives of the Heritage Plan. Derived from the Vision, 
the specific objectives for the Heritage Plan are to:  
Objective 1. Identify Oxford’s heritage assets and assess the significance of them, their 

potential to contribute to the delivery of the key priorities for the city, their 
vulnerability to change and opportunities for their enhancement, using this 
understanding to establish key principles to inform decision-making;  

Objective 2. Facilitate greater integration between the management of the historic 
environment and strategies and policies from other sectors, with the intention 
of improving the quality of life and prosperity of the city’s population; 

Objective 3. Enable the involvement of the community in identifying, caring for and 
benefiting from our heritage;  

Objective 4. Ensure effective management of our heritage assets; 
Objective 5. Provide a framework for monitoring the heritage resource. 

45



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

DEVELOPING THE HERITAGE PLAN FRAMEWORK 

12. The Heritage Plan Framework brings together several strands of work to provide an 
overarching strategy for the future management of the city’s heritage through the Heritage 
Plan. The Framework provides an overview of the complex set of documents and on-going 
work programme that constitutes the Heritage Plan, set out in the Action Plan. k. 
 
13. The following work has been undertaken: 

• A Scoping Assessment and consultation has been carried out to assess existing work 
and evidence base studies. It brings together the existing information on Oxford’s 
heritage and assesses how heritage assets are valued at present. A number of 
consultation exercises have been carried out to enable an assessment of whether 
existing work and evidence base studies provide enough information about the value 
of heritage, risks to heritage and opportunities to utilise it for general benefit. This 
work has fed into the integration framework and engagement strategy;  

• An Integration Framework sets out how heritage is interlinked with other strategies, 
and assesses what is needed to achieve better consideration of heritage issues in 
other strategies;  

• An Engagement Strategy sets out toolkits that have been developed to enable wide 
engagement with heritage issues and also suggests other strategies for engaging a 
wide range of stakeholders with heritage issues.  

14. The following diagram summarises how the strands of work in this Heritage Plan 
Framework fit together. 

 

46



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

SCOPING ASSESSMENT SUMMARY 
 

15. Oxford City Council and Oxford Preservation Trust prepared a Scoping Assessment as a 
starting point for preparing the Heritage Plan. The Scoping Assessment includes an overview of 
Oxford’s heritage. It brings together the existing information on Oxford’s heritage and 
assesses how heritage assets are valued at present. It also assesses the existing evidence 
base and explains the policy context in which the management of Oxford’s historic 
environment relates to other sectors and strategies.  
 
Review of the Evidence Base 
16. The Scoping Assessment includes a review of the evidence base. To manage Oxford’s 
heritage successfully we need to maintain a data-set of evidence, which can be used by 
everyone with a responsibility for managing Oxford’s heritage to improve understanding of 
the value of Oxford’s heritage and to inform decisions when planning future initiatives. To be 
complete, this evidence base needs to cover many aspects of the heritage resource. The 
evidence base should provide clarity to existing policy but should also be broad enough in 
scope to help in the development of policy in future. It should be readily available and 
accessible to a wide range of users so that it can be used to guide decision making and 
planning in a timely fashion by all relevant stakeholders. 
 
17. While a part of this evidence base is managed by the City Council, other parts are held 
in the libraries and archives of other institutions. For example, Oxfordshire County Council 
has maintained the county’s Historic Environment Record (a database of archaeological 
information), in addition to the County Records Office and the County Local Studies Library 
Collection now held at the Oxfordshire History Centre. Oxford University and each of the 
colleges have maintained archives relating to their estates, which provide invaluable 
documentation of the development of the city from medieval times to the present, while the 
colleges’ libraries contain a resource of literature that is probably unmatched in any other 
city in Britain. Museums and Art galleries, and specifically the Ashmolean, provide collections 
that include paintings documenting the development of the city, while the city’s amenity, 
conservation and civic societies such as the Oxford Civic Society and the Oxford Preservation 
Trust have also amassed an array of information and documentation concerning the city’s 
heritage. 

 
Assessment of existing policies 
18. The Scoping Assessment reviews the existing suite of heritage policies contained in 
the Core Strategy and Local Plan. This concludes that the policies are traditional in their 
approach, based on the government’s stated objectives and broadly seek to preserve or 
enhance those aspects of the historic environment that have been identified as holding 
significance.  The Scoping Assessment suggests that policies do not explain how 

47



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

decisions should be made and can lead to conflict where there are competing views.  The 
Scoping Assessment also finds that policies do not easily cater for instances where the 
significance of a place is not understood or not known. The focus on designated assets 
makes it more difficult to manage effectively other aspects of the historic environment 
that are valued but for which there is an inadequate mechanism for sustaining that 
significance through change. 

  

48



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

INTEGRATING THE POSITIVE MANAGEMENT OF HERITAGE WITH 
OTHER STATEGIES (INTEGRATION FRAMEWORK)  

 
19. Consultation with stakeholders to inform development of the Heritage Plan helped to 
show how difficult it can be for heritage stakeholders to consider external sectors and their 
influence on heritage. The same difficulties are likely to be encountered when attempting to 
encourage external sectors to consider how heritage can reap potentially positive benefits in 
their areas of work. An important role of the Heritage Plan will be to make the world of 
heritage assets and themes accessible to those who have little knowledge or interest in 
them to date. Consultation with key sector champions from the Oxford Strategic Partnership 
has provided a clearer understanding of the range of strategies and projects that the 
Heritage Plan needs to engage with. The aim of this section is to discuss the links between 
heritage and important themes for the city, focusing on how the Heritage Plan can reinforce 
these links.  
  
20. The aims of the OSP and the City Council’s corporate priorities cover similar themes. 
These common themes and the implications for heritage in relation to these overarching 
strategies are considered below. A box under each theme shows the implications for the 
Heritage Plan. 

STRONG AND HEALTHY COMMUNITIES 

21. Eighteen of 85 areas in Oxford are among the most deprived in England. These areas 
have multiple levels of deprivation, with low skills, low incomes and high levels of crime. The 
Oxford Strategic Partnership’s Health and Social Inclusion Partnership Group work on 
addressing these issues and have adopted the principle that building capacity and self-
esteem in the community will enable people to enjoy better outcomes.  
 
22. The OSP objectives suggest that communities should be developed so that they can 
organise themselves in ways that respond to their needs, improve the quality of life locally 
and develop the potential of local people. The act of coming together to help identify 
important elements of their heritage could help to strengthen the local community in this 
way.  

 
23. Good management of important elements of our heritage can enhance their 
significance for the local communities and help ensure a sense of continuity and belonging. 
An understanding of historic buildings, sites and landscapes are of fundamental importance 
to telling our story, establishing community identities and creating a sense of place, helping 
ensure an attractive place to live and work, and adding to community wellbeing.  

 

49



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

24. Identifying the heritage of an area is likely to lead to greater understanding of its 
significance and more motivation to protect it. Thus, facilitating community involvement is a 
vital part of good heritage management; it also brings benefits in return to the local 
community.  

 
25. There is a strong link between heritage and health and wellbeing of communities and 
also of individuals. Remembering that heritage is the result of interaction between people 
and their environment and that heritage is as much about people as it is about places makes 
it easier to understand the relationship between heritage and health. The determinants of 
health suggest surroundings and lifestyle have a direct impact on health and wellbeing. 
Heritage and the historic environment can be seen to be beneficial to our health under a 
number of categories - lifestyle, community, local economy, activities and built and natural 
environment. Having places to exercise, socialise, communicate and share experiences helps 
people to have a positive approach to life and to enjoy their surroundings. 
 
26. Consultation has suggested that a number of key cultural, educational and socially 
important heritage assets are not being utilised by the health sector. Heritage assets such as 
museums and archives, literature and the arts and libraries and Oxford’s natural 
environment and green spaces have a role in creating a sense of place, increasing social 
cohesion of Oxford’s communities and providing areas to exercise and places to be proud of. 

 
27. How consideration of heritage can help deliver strong and healthy communities: 

 
How heritage is linked to the strategic objective: 

The act of coming together to help identify important elements of their heritage could help 
to strengthen the local community to improve community engagement in regeneration and 
increase the number of people who are satisfied with their local area and Oxford as a whole 
and are able/willing to participate in local planning and projects. 

An understanding of historic buildings, sites and landscapes is of fundamental importance to 
telling our story, establishing community identities and creating a sense of place. 

The determinants of health suggest surroundings and lifestyle have a direct impact on health 
and wellbeing. Heritage and the historic environment can be seen to be beneficial to our 
health under a number of categories - lifestyle, community, local economy, activities and 
built and natural environment. 

To help realise full potential of integration the Heritage Plan should: 

Facilitate community involvement and ownership in identifying and caring for significant 
aspects of their heritage. Heritage strategies and documents that are closely linked to 
strong, active and safe communities should be clearly identifiable. Relevant information 
about the significance of heritage assets should be accessible. This may include continuing 

50



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

work through case study projects that demonstrate how heritage is a resource that can help 
strengthen communities. 

Existing relevant elements of the Heritage Plan/other information sources: 

Heritage Portal- especially information on link between health and heritage.  

Oxford Open Doors, organised by the Oxford Preservation Trust, is an annual event that has 
been successful in helping local people to enjoy and celebrate everything that makes the city 
special. Everyone can share in the heritage of the city, in particular many of the University-
owned buildings in the centre of Oxford that may otherwise seem to some as being ‘gown’ 
rather than  ‘town’ and not part of their Oxford.  

Historic Environment Record (HER) is available to the public by appointment (although its 
use may require some expert knowledge). The City Council’s Urban Archaeological Database 
(UAD) contains records of archaeological remains in the city centre as well as reports of 
archaeological research and investigations from across the city.  

SAFE COMMUNITIES 

28. Consultation to inform development of the Heritage Plan identified that those 
responsible for safer communities can feel there is a conflict between heritage and achieving 
their goals because the high heritage value of the environment and local or national 
designations can make it difficult to follow ‘safer by design’ guidance. However, the history 
of the city and its communities is used regularly by those responsible for a safer, stronger 
and more cohesive city to better understand the changing dynamics of the city and to 
improve communication, community interaction and to decrease anti-social behaviour. In 
order to provide a safer, stronger community it is important to understand the difficulties 
that some individuals or groups may experience, due to language barriers, cultural 
differences, employment issues or financial concerns and to minimise the way the 
environment aggravates these.  
 
29. Increased knowledge of what heritage assets are and their individual values is helpful 
in planning for a safer community. An understanding of the heritage values of specific 
buildings and areas is essential in order to provide a secure environment that does not 
damage the value of the place. An understanding of a community’s histories and university 
histories also improves communication and relationships between the policy and various 
groups, making it easier to achieve strategic aims. 

 
30. How consideration of heritage can help deliver safe communities: 

How heritage is linked to the strategic objective: 

‘Safer by design’ initiatives could have an impact on heritage. It is important that this is 
understood. Building understanding of the heritage values of buildings and areas is essential 

51



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

in order to provide a secure environment that does not damage the value of the place. The 
act of coming together to help identify important elements of their heritage could help to 
improve communication and community interaction, which may decrease anti-social 
behaviour. 

To help realise full potential of integration the Heritage Plan should: 

Heritage strategies and documents that are closely linked to safe communities should be 
clearly identifiable. Relevant information about the significance of heritage assets should be 
accessible.  

Existing relevant elements of the Heritage Plan/other information sources: 

Heritage Portal 

 

ECONOMIC VIBRANCY 

31. Oxford is an economic hub with a world class knowledge economy, a major tourist 
destination with a significant manufacturing sector, as well as a regional centre for shopping 
and culture. It was the sixth fastest growing city in the country by population in 2013 (Centre 
for Cities Report, Cities Outlook, 2013).  The historic environment has an important role in 
ensuring a strong economy.  Its historic environment creates an attractive place for people 
to live and work in. The Universities contribute to the world-class knowledge economy. 
Heritage assets provide buildings to be reused, create a quality environment and boost 
business confidence, creating jobs and providing places where people live and work. People 
want to live here because of its heritage.  
 
32. Effective management of Oxford’s heritage will be important for the successful 
delivery of the Oxford Economic Growth Strategy 2012 to 2022, which contains the 
economic vision for Oxford. Included in this vision is that Oxford should remain a strong 
international tourist destination. Careful management of the heritage will be key to the on-
going success of the tourism sector. The economic vision for the city also recognises that 
Oxford should demonstrate how to promote economic growth while being a truly 
sustainable city. Conservation of heritage is a core part of achieving sustainable 
development.  
 
33. How consideration of heritage can help deliver economic vibrancy: 

 
How heritage is linked to the strategic objective: 

The historic environment has an important role in ensuring a strong economy by 
contributing so strongly to the tourist industry, providing buildings to be reused, creating a 
quality environment and boosting business confidence . 

52



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

To help realise full potential of integration the Heritage Plan should:  

Ensure that background information relating to heritage is clear and accessible, improving 
knowledge of the significance of heritage assets and the value they hold. This will include 
continuing work through case study projects that demonstrate how heritage is a resource 
that can help achieve economic aims, rather than an issue that can be sacrificed for ‘the 
greater good’.  

Provide the means for sufficient thought to be given to how the historic environment and 
heritage assets can provide evidence and understanding to inform new development that 
draws from the resource and enhances it, in particular regeneration projects.  

An SPD to support development and manage change could be beneficial. 

Existing relevant elements of the Heritage Plan/ other information sources: 

Heritage Portal. 

 The West Oxford Historical Context Study provides an evidence base to inform the design of 
new development that will be delivered as part of the West End regeneration.  

 
CREATING A LOW CARBON ENVIRONMENT 

34. The historic environment has a significant role to play in maximising energy 
efficiency. ”It must always be remembered that any historic building represents a significant 
past investment of energy and materials. Demolition and replacement means not only losing 
all of the resources embodied in the original buildings, but also the investment of more 
energy for demolition, the creation and delivery of new construction materials, the building 
process itself, and the disposal of the resulting waste.” (Climate Change and the Historic 
Environment, English Heritage). Furthermore, many historic buildings can perform well in 
terms of energy efficiency. The green spaces that we inherit will also have an important role 
in helping us adapt to climate change. It is important that guidance highlights these 
important elements of our heritage, so that it is understood that these existing buildings and 
spaces can be efficient in terms of carbon consumption, not least because of their embodied 
energy.  
 
35. The Oxford Strategic Partnership have launched Low Carbon Oxford, which is a city-
wide programme of collaboration between private, public and non-profit organisations with 
the aim of ensuring oxford’s future as a sustainable and low carbon city. This aims to reduce 
overall carbon emissions by 3% year on year. Success can only be achieved by working 
together and drawing on the strengths of different sector organisations. In terms of heritage, 
the focus should be on enabling people to better understand the benefits of heritage in 
creating a low carbon environment, so that it is not automatically assumed that the historic 
environment and heritage assets are less energy efficient that a modern building would be.  

53



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

 
36. The early stakeholder engagement on the Heritage Plan lead to an understanding of 
the need for tools to enable people to identify how they could improve the energy efficiency 
of their building without damaging its features of heritage significance without causing long-
term damage to the fabric of the building. Older buildings  may have different requirements 
in terms of insulation, for example, than a more modern building. There needs to be an 
improved awareness of the range of energy efficiency measures that are available and 
information to enable people to select the most appropriate of these for their building. 
There also needs to be a cultural shift in the way we occupy and use buildings, changing 
habits to reduce the demand for energy. 

 
37. The identification of this need lead to the development of Oxford’s Heritage and 
Energy Efficiency Tool (HEET) by a successful partnership of  Oxford City Council, Local 
Carbon Oxford, Oxford Preservation Trust and the Building Research Establishment (BRE). 
This is a very positive tool, enabling resource efficiency and heritage interests to be 
considered together.  
 
38. To help create a low carbon environment in Oxford, the Heritage Plan should: 

 
 
How heritage is linked to strategic objective: 

Existing buildings and spaces can be efficient in terms of carbon consumption, not least 
because of their embodied energy. 

To help realise full potential of integration the Heritage Plan should:  

Make information available and accessible that allows people to understand the broad range 
of alternative energy saving options that are available and how this can be selected to avoid 
damaging the significance of a heritage asset. 

Background work should show the possible benefits of heritage assets to reducing climate 
change, in particular in terms of using the embodied energy in the historic environment.   

Existing relevant elements of the Heritage Plan: 

The Heritage Energy Efficiency Tool (HEET) helps owners of historic buildings to understand 
the heritage value of their building, undertake a ‘health check’ to see how well it is working 
and explore the wide range of options for enhancing a historic building’s energy efficiency.  

 
 
 
 

54



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY 
 
DEVELOPING ENGAGEMENT IN HERITAGE MANAGEMENT 

39. Heritage management is often considered the realm of special interest groups, city 
and county council planners and museum services. But wider participation is needed to 
achieve good heritage management that makes the best use of the dividend that heritage 
brings to the city. Those responsible for the maintenance or use of heritage assets should 
have the tools to enable them to consider both the need to sustain the significance of the 
city’s heritage and the opportunities to achieve the strategic objectives that make Oxford a 
sustainable city. Existing planning policies must be set in a context of understanding that 
helps to guide development proposals to sustain the significance of heritage assets and push 
to use heritage assets to enhance the quality of development. 
 
40. The engagement methods suggested in this section are intended to ensure we 
provide information about the value of heritage and ways of making good use of it, raise 
awareness of everyone’s role in managing heritage and provide tools for improving 
management of our heritage. Some of the methods and strategies outlined in the following 
section are already in place; others are ideas that will rely on the identification of additional 
resources before they can be implemented. The status of the tool mentioned is made clear.  

 
METHODS FOR ENABLING COMMUNITY AND DEVELOPER ENGAGEMENT IN 
HERITAGE MANAGEMENT 

 
41. The Council will support developers, architects, decision makers and the city’s diverse 
communities by: 

• Providing toolkits – character assessment, building assessment, health check, HEET; 
• Supporting neighbourhood planning – character assessment, OHAR, Tree Strategy; 
• Supporting schemes to turn issues into grant aided projects in partnership with 

funding bodies and other partners; 
• Providing an evidence base and making it available: 

o Using the heritage policies framework – see Oxford Heritage Plan SPD; 
o Providing training in use of toolkits to aid design and to manage engagement 

with the public (the second client). 
 
TOOLKITS AND OTHER SUPPORT FOR LOCAL-LEVEL PLANNING, DEVELOPERS 
AND DECISION MAKERS 
 
42. A Character Assessment Toolkit has been developed to provide a framework for 
gathering evidence on the character and significance of an area, enabling identification of 

55



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

the features most important in contributing positively to its character. This toolkit can be 
used by developers to ensure the context of the area they wish to develop in is properly 
understood, it can be used by those making a decision about new development or those 
wishing to comment on it, and it can also be used when undertaking new conservation area 
appraisals and to help the formulation of new planning policies.  
 
43. Work has commenced on the Oxford Heritage Asset Register. A form and criteria for 
nominations were adopted by the City Council in December 2012. The Heritage Asset 
Register will provide a more robust basis for decisions about heritage assets that are not on 
a statutory list. Nominated assets that are assessed by the review panel as meeting the 
specified criteria will be adopted by Council.  

 
44. The register will be compiled by local residents in collaboration with council officers 
and other stakeholders. Pilot studies have been carried out in East Oxford and West Oxford. 
Residents helped prepare character statements to highlight the key features of the local 
historic environment of each area. These were used to identify heritage assets for the 
register. 

 
45. The Heritage Energy Efficiency Tool (HEET) will help owners of historic buildings 
understand the heritage value of their building, undertake a ‘health check’ to see how well it 
is working and explore the wide range of options for enhancing a historic building’s energy 
efficiency. HEET assessment tools are already available on the City Council’s website. Over 
time it is expected that work with building owners will provide positive case study examples 
and promote officer confidence in promoting best practice.  

 
46. The heritage plan portal has been developed to enable easy access to the heritage 
evidence base. These toolkits are available on the portal, as is background evidence and links 
to other work to support heritage policies such as conservation area appraisals. On-going 
work is needed to keep it up-to-date, to raise awareness of it and to consider whether it 
could make a greater amount of evidence available, accessible and usable.  

 
SCHEMES TO FACILITATE ENGAGEMENT OF ALL HERITAGE MANAGERS 

 
47. Consideration of best practice in other aspects of managing change in Oxford has led 
to the following suggestions for raising awareness of heritage as an important resource 
amongst the wide and diverse groups who can be defined as heritage managers, and also 
ensure positive management of the heritage asset. None of these schemes are in place. 
Implementation of these schemes relies on the identification of additional resources. The 
schemes are linked; the Heritage Partnership Panel would be responsible for providing 
accreditation of Heritage Champion organisations and for maintaining the Heritage 
Management Register. 

56



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

Potential 
scheme 
aspired to 

Purpose How it would work 

Oxford 
Heritage 
Partnership 
Panel 

 

To provide a forum for representatives of 
groups within the city’s community to 
highlight issues affecting the management of 
heritage and to provide advice and feedback 
on proposals and projects. The Heritage 
Partnership would be responsible for 
providing accreditation of Heritage Champion 
organisations and for maintaining the 
Heritage Management Register. 

 

Membership would be by invitation and 
should include a range of stakeholders, 
chosen with reference to the original 
stakeholder event that has informed the 
Heritage Plan Framework. It would need to 
include local civic societies and other interest 
groups, the county and city council OAHS, 
University and college representatives and 
professionals from RIBA, RTPI. The scheme 
would work well if administered by a local 
civic group, for example the Oxford 
Preservation Trust.  
A review meeting would be held annually for 
the group to discuss heritage management 
issues and successes across the city in the 
previous twelve months. The City Council 
would then assist in production of an annual 
report of the Heritage Partnership Panel. The 
Panel may also consider or be responsible 
the following two potentially linked 
initiatives.  
 

Oxford 
Heritage 
Champions 
Scheme 

 

To facilitate the engagement of organisations 
in the management of their heritage assets. 
Membership of the Oxford Heritage 
Champions scheme would be available to 
organisations who are the owners of heritage 
assets.  

Being part of the scheme would help 
organisations to demonstrate they are 
actively/responsibly managing their heritage 
assets and that their decision making is based 
on understanding of the value of the 
resource. This will in turn help to provide 
certainty in the planning process. Using their 
understanding of the value of their assets will 
enable them to unlock their value by using 
them more effectively. It will also enable 
successful sustainable management 
programmes that help conserve assets and 
reduce the need for expensive remedial 
works. 

 

Organisations to work towards diamond 
status as the highest level of membership 
demonstrating proactive positive 
management to sustain and enhance the 
significance of their heritage assets.  
However, lower levels of membership (gold, 
silver and bronze) would also be available to 
encourage organisations to start engaging in 
management of their heritage assets.  

 

57



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

Heritage 
Management 
Register 

 

This would be a public record of where the 
greatest need for pro-active heritage 
management is required, designed to raise 
awareness of issues affecting the historic 
environment, build consensus on the need 
for positive action, galvanise action and 
generate creative thinking on how to resolve 
issues. 

Inclusion of sites, buildings or projects on the 
register would not represent censure of 
actions by any individual or party but would 
be seen as recognition that action is required 
to prevent loss of significance and to 
highlight positive measures that could be 
taken to minimise any loss of significance in 
the short term and to establish positive 
management. 

 

A citywide register would be maintained that 
identifies areas of risk as well as 
opportunities for major projects or 
programmes to help sustain and enhance the 
city’s heritage and to boost their contribution 
to meeting the city’s strategic objectives. 

The register would be maintained by the 
Heritage Partnership Panel. It will be divided 
into two categories: 

• Heritage at Risk - which will include 
Heritage Assets identified by English 
Heritage or the community as at 
risk, pending review by the panel; 
and 

• Projects and Programmes - which 
will identify projects with the 
potential to have an impact on the 
significance of the city’s historic 
environment and provide a forum 
for considering how potential for 
loss of significance can be 
minimised. 

Items on the Heritage at Risk Register will be 
classified depending on level of risk and 
monitored.  

 

  

58



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

PRIORITIES AND PRINCIPLES 
 

 
48. The priorities and principles for the Action Plan are determined by considering the 
Heritage Plan objectives, the Scoping Assessment, the community engagement exercise and 
the integration framework. These have shown which heritage assets are most valued and 
which are under threat or most in need of management, the successes and challenges for 
management of Oxford’s heritage and how heritage management can meet the key 
objectives of other strategies in Oxford. 

The principles for the Action Plan are considered to be: 
 

• Ensuring that information about heritage is accessible, useable and robust;  
• Central Oxford and the green setting of Oxford have a particularly high heritage value 

and should have particular focus. Schemes affecting these will be subject to wide 
consultation and use of review panel encouraged. Conservation areas across the city 
have particular heritage importance and impacts on these areas must be carefully 
considered. However,  areas outside of these should not be dismissed as being of 
potential heritage importance; 

• Decision makers need to be aware of what information is available so that they can 
use it, making sure that the importance of heritage and opportunities for 
enhancement are not overlooked;  

• Heritage significance must be understood to enable informed decisions in all areas 
linked to management of change of heritage assets. 
 

 To meet these principles, the most important priorities for the action plan will be: 

1. Updated guidance on heritage significance 
2. Better understanding of what information is available 
3. Improved accessibility of information 
4. Guidance on how to apply information to inform decisions 
5. Provide support for community involvement  
6. Completion of evidence base studies and review of needs 

 
 
  

59



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

ACTION PLAN 
 

The Action Plan prioritises the initiatives that will help deliver the vision and objectives of the 
Heritage Plan to form a programme of work and process implementation. The progression of 
the Action Plan initiatives will be subject to resource availability and is subject to review 
periodically. 

The Action Plan 
List of main 
projects 

Key principles of the 
heritage plan contributed 
to 

Timescale. Is the initiative: 

Ongoing/planned work 

Recommended for earliest possible start (subject to 
resources) 

Desired 

Oxford Character 
Appraisals and 
Character 
Appraisal toolkit 

1, 3, 4, 5 The toolkit is published. Work on appraising the character 
of different areas is on-going and will depend on identified 
need.  

Conservation area 
appraisals 

1, 3, 4, 5 On-going. Conservation Area Appraisals have been 
consulted on, endorsed and published for 12 of the city’s 
conservation areas. 2 conservation areas have had no work 
done towards a conservation area appraisal: Central and 
Temple Cowley. Of the other 4, Old Marston has had an 
appraisal draft and public consultation has taken place, so 
this should be close to being ready to take to committee for 
endorsement. North Oxford Victorian Suburb and Walton 
Manor both have draft conservation area appraisals, but 
these need revisiting and consulting on. Background 
research to inform a Binsey conservation area appraisal has 
been undertaken, but a report has not yet been drafted. The 
intention is to agree a project plan by 31st March 2015, with 
appraisals to be completed by 31st March 2018 at the latest.  

Oxford Heritage 
Asset Register 
(OHAR) 

1, 3, 4, 5 On-going. A form and criteria for nominations were both 
adopted in December 2012. Pilot studies have been carried 
out in East and West Oxford. Local people helped prepare 
character statements that highlight the key features of the 
local historic environment of each area, which led to the 
identification of heritage assets. A process for identifying 
and registering local heritage assets in the rest of the city 
needs to be established.  

Oxford 
Archaeological 

1, 2, 3, 4, 5 This is published and was reported to committee. 
Information in it could be used to inform a heritage planning 

60



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

Plan SPD/advice note. 

Oxford Landscape 
Character 
Assessment  

 This is complete. Information in it should be used to inform 
a heritage planning SPD/advice note. 

Planning guidance 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 Work on the Scoping Assessment and consultation exercise 
identified a need for a document to help make information 
about heritage and its significance more easily accessible, 
and to give better guidance on how policies should be 
applied. This will be in the form of a Supplementary Planning 
Document and potentially Technical Advice Notes.  Work on 
the SPD is ongoing, with consultation on the scope taking 
place during March and April 2015. It is planned that a draft 
document will be consulted on in late 2015.  

Oxford Views 
Study 

1, 4, 5 Ongoing- public consultation took place in June and July 
2014. The document and consultation statement are being 
prepared to take to committee for endorsement.   

Other work related to heritage that may inform the Heritage Plan 

Community 
Engagement 
Strategy (as set out 
in this document) 

Desired.  

An outreach 
strategy to 
encourage the use 
of heritage as an 
educational 
resource 

Desired 

Heritage Routes Desired. This would require work from partner organisations, building on existing 
initiatives to promote a number of heritage walking routes, runs and rides, promoting 
exercise and using historic sites and places to add interest.   

Oxford Tree 
Strategy 

Desired. Part 1 will be an iTree Survey.  The project is part funded and initial stages will 
start in Spring 2015. 
Part 2 is the Corporate Tree Strategy. A Project Plan to determine resources and timings 
will be produced in March 2015.  

Heritage Energy 
Efficiency Tool 
(HEET) 

 Complete  

The Oxford 
Heritage 
Statement 

Complete. It has been used to inform the Heritage Plan Framework and should be used 
to inform other documents in the Heritage Plan.  

The Oxford 
Heritage Portal 

Ongoing. Information about the heritage plan should be available in a clear format on 
the website. This is an important way for stakeholders to understand and access heritage 
information that is relevant to them.  

61



MONITORING FRAMEWORK 
 

The Heritage Plan should provide a framework for monitoring the heritage resource, not only in 
terms of the condition of physical resources, but also in terms of its contribution to enhancing 
the quality of life and prosperity of Oxford’s citizens and reviewing the Heritage Plan itself. It 
will assess how Oxford’s heritage assets are valued and how effective the local authority has 
been in sustaining the heritage significance of those assets. 

It is important that the monitoring framework assesses how effectively the Heritage Plan: 

• Is built on an understanding the needs of Oxford’s Heritage; 
• Enables emerging issues and opportunities to be identified; 
• Enables effective management regimes; 
• Responds to public feedback- it should be recorded, mediated and responded to. 

Review needs to be a long-term process and some benefits of heritage management 
may not be apparent for some time. 
 

Aim Demonstrated by Target 

Implementation of the Heritage 
Action Plan.  

 

Conservation area appraisals 
updated to new style. 

Progress made in updating most 
out-of-date to a newer more 
meaningful style.  

TANs/SPDs to support Heritage 
Plan. 

TANs/SPDs introduced in 
accordance with the Action Plan. 

Assets registered in OHAR project A procedure for encouraging 
nominations from across the city to 
be developed.  

Improvements to the heritage 
portal 

The website to be kept up-to-date. 

Ensure policies and details in the 
Heritage Plan are in place to 
encourage and enable effective 
management of heritage assets. 

Number of heritage assets at risk. Decrease in heritage assets at risk 
or no net increase in heritage 
assets at risk.  

Number of application approvals 
involving total or substantial 
demolition or partial demolition of 
a listed building. 

0% Listed Building Consents or 
planning permissions involving 
demolition of a listed building 
approved by the City Council.  

Number of application approvals 
involving total or substantial 
demolition of a building or 
structure that contributes to the 

0% of Conservation Area Consents 
approved by the City Council 
contrary to Officers’ and English 

62



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area.  

Heritage’s recommendations.  

Number of application approvals 
for felling of trees with tree 
preservation orders. 

0% of applications approved by the 
City Council contrary to Officers’ 
recommendations. 

Success at of appeals where 
conservation policies cited as 
reason for refusal. 

80% of appeals dismissed. 

Process of change to achieve a 
more beneficial scheme. 

The return of vitality to areas 
(economic and social benefits) as a 
result of the management of 
change.  
 

 

The scale of change or the reuse of 
heritage assets that has been 
achieved without harm to their 
significance. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

63



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

APPENDIX 1: CONSULTATION RESULTS 
 
49. Several Groups were identified as appropriate to consult in order to fully investigate and 
understand the way that Oxford’s heritage is understood and the way that current guidance 
and advice is accessed and utilised. The results of these consultation exercises are summarised 
here. The groups consulted were: 

• Oxford heritage stakeholders; 
• The Oxford Strategic Partnership (OSP);  
• Oxford City Council Planning Officers and Heritage Asset Managers; 
• The Public. 

 
50. A summary of the findings from each consultation exercise follows, with conclusions 
regarding the implications for the Heritage Plan at the end of the section. 

INVOLVEMENT OF OXFORD HERITAGE STAKEHOLDERS  

51. The aim of this consultation was to engage a steering group made up of heritage 
focused individuals and organisations to use their expertise and local knowledge to define the 
heritage of Oxford in its broadest sense, and to create a baseline from which to consider the 
types, areas and specifics of information to be captured and disseminated to the public in the 
next stages. 
 
52. The Oxford Heritage Statement provided the foundation and framework for this 
consultation. Attendees discussed the Statement. Attendees were able to suggest additional 
detail to be included in a review of the Heritage Statement, including highlighting: 

 
• The significance of waterways;  
• The contribution of trees and open spaces;  
• The significance of the impact of the growth of the Universities; 
• Heritage of scientific discovery in Oxford and the importance of intangible heritage and 

culture in the city; 
• The value of people in the city, the diversity of communities and the contributions they 

make to, and benefits they get from, the city’s heritage; 
• Oxford’s special status as a focus of medieval and later college and University 

architecture; 
• The importance of the city’s archaeological resource.  

 
53. Attendees went on to consider the impact and potential benefits heritage has on the 
wider environment in Oxford. Using five target areas from the Oxford Strategic Partnership, the 
groups were asked to consider the Heritage resources important to their designated topic area. 
Stakeholders in this session were not used to identifying how heritage benefitted the city 
beyond their specific interest area.  An important role of the Heritage Plan will be to make the 

64



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

world of heritage assets and themes accessible to those who have little knowledge, or interest, 
of them to date.  
 

OXFORD STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP (OSP) CONSULTATION EVENT 

54. This consultation stage involved one-to-one interviews with a number key sector 
champions from the Oxford Strategic Partnership. The Oxford Strategic Partnership was 
founded in 2003 with the intention of promoting joined-up approaches for improving the 
quality of life in the city. It helps to provide a direction for the city’s future. 
 
55. A structured questionnaire was used to develop understanding of how work in these 
sectors has involved use of heritage to date and the possible positive contributions that 
heritage can make in each sector.   
 
56. This consultation stage highlighted the variety of ways in which the term ‘heritage’ is 
defined and understood by the various sectors within the city. Each sector champion was asked 
to consider ‘their perception of Oxford’s heritage in view of their specialist area’ and all sectors 
found this connection difficult to make initially. This consultation phase provided a positive 
opportunity for open dialogue with these sector groups and the discussions themselves 
resulted in a better understanding of how heritage plays a role in achieving the key objectives, 
and areas where it could potentially prove more beneficial.  
 
57. The results of this consultation provide evidence to support the need for the heritage 
plan and suggest that one of its key aims should be to improve the accessibility of information 
and open dialogues with different strategic sectors.  

WORKSHOP WITH OXFORD CITY COUNCIL PLANNING OFFICERS 

58. Oxford’s planners play one of the most significant roles in managing the physical, built 
heritage of the city. The city’s planning team include policy makers, development control 
decision makers, heritage specialists and economic development managers. A workshop in 
November 2013 was designed to engage this group in the preparation of the Heritage Plan in 
order to access their experience of planning for and managing the process of change in the city.  
They have unique access to understanding the decision-making processes including expertise in 
the framework of policy, guidance and evidence that guides the decisions that are made. 
Through working with landowners, developers and communities they also have a unique 
perspective on the impacts and pressures for change that affect the city’s heritage assets. 
 
59. The group considered what heritage the Heritage Plan should aim to manage and what 
its objectives should be. In considering what heritage the plan should aim to manage the 
following assets were identified: 

65



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

 
• Information about what makes the heritage significant – including historic maps and 

photographs that help us to manage the physical environment; 
• Buildings that provide the city’s ‘heritage dividend’; 
• Historic Areas – including identifying opportunities to make better use of each area’s 

heritage by understanding what has been lost and reintroducing links to the past where 
necessary (referred to as opportunities for rediscovery);  

• The quality of the wider environment as a whole, rather than the sum of its parts. This 
reflects an emerging concept of the city of Oxford as a single landscape level heritage 
asset; 

• The setting of the City. 
 
60. Key objectives for heritage management identified were: 

 
• Providing clarity for owners and decision makers; 
• Striking a balance / achieving harmony between different values; 
• Enabling/facilitating the positive management of change; 
• Well informed and responsible management of change. 

 
61. Looking at the resources needed to deliver positive management of change the group 
identified the following requirements: 

• Heritage assets (the vital ingredient of heritage management); 
• Information  (including knowledge of existing information sources and  how to access  

them; 
• Help for decision makers, including expert guidance; 
• Tools to work through (extract information) from the evidence base; 
• Easy access for both of the above, to empower decision makers by providing more 

influence; 
• Familiarity – building up a personal knowledge base of both the heritage assets and the 

management of change is useful for decision makers. Having an area based workload 
can help decision makers build familiarity more rapidly. This helps to develop 
understanding of the interrelationship between heritage assets, people and the local 
context, as well as understanding of the impact of cumulative change within an area 
over a period of time; 

• Awareness of existing skills, experience and strategies; 
• Finance; 
• Wider knowledge and approach – Bringing in external expertise from time to time to 

provide awareness of alternative approaches, skills and strategies for managing change. 
This might be developed through more cross regional working with other city planning 
teams but needs include a cross section of management levels to ensure dissemination 
and positive implementation; 

• Urban design expertise – the Council currently lacks direct access to these specialist 
skills; 

• Co-ordination – an overview to ensure a consistent approach; 

66



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

• Wider understanding of archaeology – possibly through up-skilling staff through 
dissemination of the archaeological plan; 

• The Heritage Plan Website – An important single point of access for information, which 
needs to include technical information used by decision makers. 

 
62. During the workshop a number of high profile examples of success and failure in 
heritage management were identified that should inform development of our approach to 
heritage management. The identification of drivers of successes and sources of failures was 
enlightening.  

Drivers of success: 
• Working effectively in partnership both within the Council and with our external partner 

organisations or applicants; 
• A proactive approach to managing change, with individuals or teams taking 

responsibility for ensuring a positive outcome. 
 
Sources of failure: 

• Competing priorities and a reactionary approach favouring short terms wins over long 
term benefits of improved design or conservation or sticking to the development plan; 

• Lack of appropriate consultation or this taking place too late in the process and not 
informing design or consideration of use; 

• Absence of understanding across the Council of the significance of the Local Plan as the 
Council’s document – not the planning department’s; 

• Lack of communication between teams or between those planning change and those 
making decisions; 

• Lack of understanding, awareness or monitoring of cumulative impacts. 
 
63. Some key challenges were identified for management of the city’s heritage in the next 
ten years, including: 
 

• Intensification – we need to make the most out of each piece of development because 
our available land is a dwindling resource; 

• Understanding the economic value of heritage;  
• Within the city centre – continuing competition (arms race) between colleges to 

provide facilities and imposition of building height control pushing development down 
and resulting in rapid loss of the archaeological resource or infilling of the distinctive 
skyline. However, maintaining the strength of these institutions is seen as a priority for 
the city and the maintenance of their heritage assets; 

• The urban fringe – is going to be the focus of future development. It is sensitive because 
of the impact on the green belt and key green spaces and we need an approach that 
means we can manage change to be positive; 

• Pressures in the suburbs; 
• Development of the highways infrastructure.  

 

67



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

64. The group identified elements as part of a vision for heritage management in the city for 
the next ten years, including: 

• Within Conservation Areas – develop conservation management plans to set an agenda 
and a clear approach for sustaining and enhancing the heritage of these priority areas 
that provides certainty for developers and residents; 

• The City Centre  - sustain the quality of its heritage whilst development is facilitated to 
respond to the changing needs of the city; 

• Within the suburbs – recognise the importance of these areas as the places where most 
of the city’s residents live and the need for a high quality environment to which heritage 
makes an important contribution. Specific actions identified included maintaining or 
restoring the green character of front gardens and the ‘urban forest’ of garden and 
street trees that make an important contribution to the health of residents and the local 
economy; 

• Working with partner organisations – such as the highways planners to provide a high 
quality public realm that responds to the quality and use of the historic buildings and 
spaces of the city.  

 
PUBLIC CONSULTATION  

65. A comment form was available on the City Council’s website from 27th January 2014- 
24th February 2014. The questionnaire was intended to help understand how consultees 
consider heritage contributes to the city, what threats there are to heritage management and 
what opportunities exist. 
 
66. Consultees were asked whether they consider there to be areas/suburbs of Oxford 
where strengthening heritage management through information or designations should be a 
priority (other than existing conservation areas, listed buildings, scheduled ancient monuments 
and registered parks and gardens). A few respondents said that the focus should be on existing 
designations and should not be diluted further, or perhaps that some conservations areas could 
be extended to include late 19th century or early 20th century suburbs if this does not affect 
protection of existing conservation areas and listed buildings. However, there were many 
respondents who mentioned other areas such as 20th century suburbs as being of importance 
and warranting strengthened heritage management. Quite a few respondents mentioned 
specific places they thought could benefit from strengthened heritage management and 
information, including Cowley, Botley, Binsey, Cutteslowe/Cutteslowe Wall, North Hinksey, 
Northway and Quarry.  

 
67. Consultees were asked to comment on how heritage assets contribute to achieving the 
city’s sustainable community objectives. In terms of improving health and social inclusion quite 
a few respondents consider there to be no strong link between heritage assets and 
achievement of this aim. However many said that the opportunity for a healthy lifestyle should 
be available to all, with many noting heritage assets as being important to wellbeing, with 
examples given including the ice rink, museums and public libraries and in particular green 

68



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

open spaces. Open space was seen as having an intrinsic value that helps improve wellbeing 
and it was also pointed out that much work is done in green spaces by volunteers, increasing 
social cohesion.  

 
68. Another sustainable community objective is economic regeneration- raising the rate of 
sustainable growth. Several respondents consider that heritage assets attract tourists and also 
encourage businesses by making Oxford an attractive place for employees to live. Regeneration 
is important in areas that have been allowed to deteriorate or were built with poor quality 
housing to give the whole city a sense of pride. Support and promotion of the industrial (eg car 
production) history of the city was seen as important. There may also be opportunities to adapt 
and preserve heritage assets that were used for employment as new employment sites. 
However, there was also a worry that growth and regeneration are not helping pockets of 
poverty and that growth is a threat to the quality of existing heritage and to quality of life 
overall. Overall, preservation and enhancement of the historic character of the city was seen as 
the best way to contribute to collective quality of life.  

 
69. Increasing affordable housing is another sustainable community objective. While many 
respondents agreed that this is an important aim, the strength of a link with heritage was 
questioned. A few thought that run down and abandoned property that may be heritage assets 
could be converted to provide affordable housing. More generally, new housing was seen as a 
potential threat to heritage assets in various ways, for example by increasing flooding, 
increasing pollution or being crammed into limited space.  

 
70. In terms of the climate change aim of making Oxford a carbon neutral city, many 
respondents saw a link with heritage assets, mainly in terms of the potential threat to heritage 
assets of from flooding. A few respondents noted that flood plains are an important heritage 
asset that also play a vital role in protecting the city from flooding. There were no other 
comments about the importance of heritage assets in dealing with climate change or achieving 
the aim of a carbon neutral city.  

 
71. Respondents were able to comment on where they consider heritage management by 
the City Council has been successful, where it has failed and how it could be improved. Some 
respondents gave specific examples of where heritage management has failed, which included 
Roger Dudman Way, the Blavatnik Centre, the existing Westgate, the modern buildings of 
Hertford College at Folly Bridge, a missed opportunity at the Radcliffe Infirmary site, which has 
uninspiring buildings and failure to properly protect natural heritage assets such as the SSSI at 
Lye Valley. Listed successes included Bonn Square (also listed as a failure), Gloucester Green 
and the maths building on Woodstock Road. One respondent thought that the scheme at 
Jericho Canalside looked like it was going to be successful because of the design brief and 
wondered why no such document was in place for other areas, for example Westgate, where it 
looks like the new development may be overbearing and out-of-scale with its surroundings.  

 

69



 Appendix 1 
 

 
 

72. The biggest general threat to heritage was seen to be traffic, with a failure to manage 
traffic successfully to reduce its negative impact on heritage assets in the city centre. The need 
to ensure there is not a preoccupation with obviously important buildings and areas that lead 
to lower standards in less beautiful areas, which are in fact where most people live, was noted. 
A failure of process was considered to be the time taken in approving major applications, which 
can involve years of debate and resubmission. It was questioned whether this was because of 
developers attempting to get cheaper solutions approved or because of a lack of guidance on 
which to base plans in the early stages.  

 
Key Conclusions from the Consultation Exercise: 
 

• The city will continue to change as a perpetual process of modernisation to which the 
heritage will need to be adapted. Heritage needs to be introduced as a developing 
resource that will have different meanings for different audiences and that may have 
both negative and positive associations. 

• The Heritage Plan needs to highlight the need to take a long-term approach to 
heritage management, including sustaining the city’s heritage dividend through 
maintaining the highest standards of change.  

• The heritage plan should enable consideration of how use of buildings may or may 
not be compatible with sustaining their significance as part of a process of change 

• The heritage plan should include guidance on taking the opportunity to reintroduce 
links to the past.  

• The Heritage Plan should reflect the emerging concept of the city as a single 
landscape level heritage asset.  

• The importance of facilitating consultation to encourage positive management of 
change needs to be highlighted. The role of the local plan as the City Council’s key tool 
for planning change in the local environment should also be highlighted.  

• The Heritage Plan should consider what may be less obvious heritage assets outside 
of the city centre, including natural environment assets.  

• Information should be collated and made accessible via the Heritage Plan website. An 
awareness raising campaign should be considered. Guidance should be available to 
ensure good designs in the first instance. Dissemination of the Heritage Plan 
Framework, drawing attention to the Integration Framework and Community 
Engagement Strategy may help to achieve this.  

• The Heritage Plan Framework provides a useful review of the resources the Council 
needs to provide or have access to, to facilitate good heritage management through 
planning and managing the city’s environment, which should be reflected in the 
Heritage Plan. 

 

70



Title Risk description Opp/ threat Cause Consequence I P I P I P Control description Due date Status Progress % Action Owner

Appropriate 
Resources

On-going work listed in 
the Action Plan cannot 
be completed by 
deadlines because of 
a reduction in 
resources, or 
requirement for more 
resources than 

T The risk of national or 
local changes to 
resourcing. 

The Action Plan is not 
implementated. 

Michael Crofton-
Briggs

3 2 3 2 3 2 Accept Michael Crofton-
Briggs

Current Residual Comments Controls

Appendix 2: Risk Register

Date Raised Owner Gross

71



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
To: City Executive Board  
 
Date: 2 April 2014    

 
Report of:  Head of City Development 
 
Title of Report: Nomination of Heritage Assets for inclusion on the 
 Oxford Heritage Assets Register: East and West 
 Oxford Pilot Studies 
 

 
Summary and Recommendations 

 
Purpose of report:  Registration of heritage assets identified through the 
character assessments and to consider the recommendation to make the 
process of identification, assessment and registration more efficient.  
          
Key decision No 
 
Executive lead member: Cllr Bob Price, Corporate Strategy, Economic 
Development and Planning 
 
Policy Framework: National Planning Policy Framework; Oxford Local Plan 
Core Strategy: Policy CS18 Urban Design and the Historic Environment; 
Saved Local Plan Policy HE.6 Buildings of Local Interest; and Policy HE.8 
Important Parks and Gardens.  
 
Recommendations: That the City Executive Board:  
 
1.AGREE the 70 Heritage Assets recommended for inclusion on the heritage 
assets register by the Review Panels for each ward.  
 
2.NOTE the two character studies will bematerial considerations in 
determining relevant planning applications against saved Policies HE.6 & 
HE.8 of the Adopted Local Plan 2001-2016 and Core Strategy Policy CS.18 
(or any subsequent replacement policy).  
 
 

 
Appendices to report – list here by Appendix number and description 
Appendix 1OHAR Process 
Appendix 2 Risk Register 
Appendix 3 Equalities Impact Assessment screening 
Appendix 4 Nomination Forms East Area 
Appendix 5 Nomination Forms West Area 
 

 

73

Agenda Item 9



Background 
 

1. English Heritage has funded the preparation of two trial studies to 
contribute to the development of the Oxford Heritage Assets Register. 
Community groups and stakeholders were involved in the preparation 
of the criteria; nomination form and; identification and review process, 
which was adopted by Full Council in December 2012. 
 

2. The Council adopted three processes by which heritage assets could 
be added to the register1.  Registration of heritage assets could occur:  
 
a. Within the context of a planning application  
b. Within the context of a programme of area studies 
c. After the completion of the pilot studies  

 
Consultation on the Character Statements and the Candidates for 
Heritage Assets  
 

3. Consultation on the Character Statements (prepared for East and West 
Oxford) took place from 18 December 2014 until 23 January 2015.   
 

4. At the same time as the consultation on the character statements, the 
nominated heritage assets were also consulted upon.  Owners of 
nominated heritage assets were notified by post with an invitation to 
submit comments on the potential registration of their property as a 
heritage asset.  The general public were also consulted.   
 

Review of candidate heritage assets  
 

5. Review panels were established for each applicable ward in order to 
determine the heritage asset nominations.  The Review Panels were 
made up of the Ward Members.   
 

6. Comments received as part of the consultation were forwarded to the 
review panels along with the nomination forms, the relevant character 
study and the recommendations of the City Council’s officers.   
 

7. Each review panel was asked to accept, reject, or defer each 
nomination.   
 

Recommendations for registration of heritage assets2 
 

8. Following consideration by each of the review panels, 70 potential 
Heritage Assets have been recommended for registration on the 
Oxford Heritage Asset Register; 7potential Heritage Assets have been 
identified as not meriting registration on the Oxford Heritage Asset 
Register.  

                                            
1
 More information about this process can be found in Appendix 1 

2
 Details of which Heritage Assets were registered can be found in Appendix 1 

74



 
 
Legal Issues 
 

9. There are no legal implications of this report.  
 
Financial Issues 
 

10. Much of this project has been funded by English Heritage.  
 
Environmental Impact 
 

11. No specific environmental impacts identified 
 
 
 

Name and contact details of author:- 
 
Name: Richard Wyatt/ Sarah Harrison 
Job title: Planner/ Senior Planner  
Service Area / Department City Development/ Planning Policy  
Tel:  01865 252704  e-mail:rwyatt@oxford.gov.uk/sharrison@oxford.gov.uk 
 

 
Background Papers 
1: East Oxford Character Study 
2: West Oxford Character Study 
 
 
 

75



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

The OHAR Process 
 

1. This document sets out in detail the process undertaken in order to register 
heritage assets. It also sets out which heritage assets were recommended for 
registration by the review panels and the process for the creation and 
consultation of the character assessments.   

 
2. English Heritage funded the preparation of two trial studies to contribute to the 

development of the Oxford Heritage Asset Register.  The trial, or pilot studies 
were undertaken as a means of developing good practice for involving 
communities in planning for the historic environment.  The pilot studies also 
looked at developing good practice in how to identify heritage assets and how 
best to assess their significance.   

 
Working with community groups to prepare character statements  
 

3. Character studies were prepared for each of the study areas. Community 
groups and stakeholders were involved in their preparation through 
participatory workshops and field study.  The character studies cover two 
large areas of the city outside the city’s conservation areas.   

 
4. Funding for the Oxford Heritage Asset Register Project by English Heritage 

was dependent on making the process as inclusive as possible for local 
communities.  This allowed local communities to contribute to the process of 
assessment of significance in the historic environment both to identify heritage 
assets and to develop an understanding of character.  

 
5. For both character studies, the process started by forming a steering group of 

local residents, including representatives of residents associations as well as 
local history experts. These groups helped identify key themes contributing to 
the character of each area, which were then explored through a literature 
search, as well as through filed survey.   

 
Consultation on character statements and candidate heritage assets  
 

6. The City Council completed the pilot studies for the “East Oxford Victorian and 
Edwardian Suburb” and the “St Ebbe’s and St. Thomas’ Suburb” areas of 
West Oxford.  The pilot studies were completed with assistance from English 
Heritage and Oxford Preservation Trust.  

 
7. The Character Studies (prepared in partnership by the City Council and 

Oxford Preservation Trust with the assistance of various community groups) 
used findings from previous studies and involved the use of the City Council’s 
award winning character assessment toolkit.   

 
8. Members of local residents’ associations were given training in the use of the 

Oxford Character Assessment toolkit either through the OHAR project by the 
City Council’s Conservation Officers or, as part of the development of the 
West End Context Study by Oxford Preservation Trust.  Where possible the 
community representatives prepared their own character statements.  These 

77



Appendix 1 

informed the preparation of the character statements, or the results of their 
assessment were used to prepare statements with opportunity to comment on 
the draft statements.   

 
9. The West Oxford Character Statement was prepared with reference to several 

earlier projects, including the West End Context Study (prepared by Oxford 
Preservation Trust with Oxford Archaeology and through consultation with 
community groups including the St. Ebbe’s New Development Residents 
Association).  The West Oxford report by the Oxfordshire Building Survey (a 
voluntary organisation) also provided a useful source of information, which 
was supplemented by information from local historian, Liz Wooley.   

 
10. The East Oxford Character Statement (Our East Oxford) received input from 

representatives of Divinity Road Residents Association; St. Mary’s Road 
Residents Association; Stockwell Street Residents Association; Hill Top Road 
Residents Association; Friends of SS Mary and John’s Churchyard; as well as 
Oriel College; Christ Church College; St. John’s Home; and East Oxford 
Primary School.  Residents from Cowley Road; Hurst Street; Marston Street; 
Stanley Road and a number of City Councillors also had an input.  As part of 
the consultation process, the City Council’s Conservation Officer ran an 
information stall at the East Oxford Farmer’s Market.  The process of research 
also included a literature review with a particular emphasis on the work of 
local residents.  Local historian, Anne Skinner provided information to support 
the character statement.   

 
11. Working in partnership with Oxford Preservation Trust, the City Council has 

completed the Characters Statements which were subject to public 
consultation from 19th December 2014 to 23rd January 2015.  The Character 
Statements were made available online on the City Council’s website and at 
the City Council Offices.  A basic questionnaire was provided online, which 
could be completed for either statement.  

 
12. A total of 19 responses were received for the consultation on the East Oxford 

Character Statement and 10 were received on the West Oxford Character 
Statement.  

 
Identification of Heritage Assets  
 

13. Nominations for Heritage Assets demonstrate that outside the city’s 
designated conservation areas, the older suburbs contain important heritage 
of local value.  This local heritage merits positive management due to its 
contribution to local character even where it may not meet the requirements 
for statutory designation.   

 
14. Heritage Assets have been reviewed by review panels of Ward Councillors, 

who have been asked to make recommendations to City Executive Board.  
These recommendations have been made, having regard to the City Council’s 
adopted criteria on whether to register the heritage assets of local interest, not 
to recommend them to City Executive Board, or to defer making a decision 
until further information is received.   

78



Appendix 1 

 
15. With regard to the registration of heritage assets, the conservation officer’s 

report identified heritage assets into three categories:  
 

i. High priority – these assets make a high level of contribution to the 
character and identity of an area.  

ii. Medium priority – these assets meet the criteria 
iii. Low priority – the heritage significance of these assets is less clear/ 

additional information requested.   
 

16. The review panels had access to the conservation officer’s identifications of 
priority for heritage assets.  

 
Panel recommendations 
 

17. The following table shows whether or not the Panels agree that the nominated 
heritage asset should be added to the Oxford Heritage Asset Register:  

 
WEST OXFORD 
 
Carfax Ward  

Heritage Asset Nomination Panel Recommendation  

St Thomas’ Suburb 

Former Cantay Depository 

37-39 Park End Street 

 

Agree  

Victoria Buildings 

18-22 Park End Street 

 

Disagree 

Former Castle Hotel 

Park End Street 

 

Agree 

24-28 Park End Street 

 

Disagree 

The Royal Oxford Hotel 

Holly Bush Row 

 

Agree 

The Maroon Public House 

(Formerly the Chequers)  

St Thomas Street 

 

Agree 

Former crèche and invalid 

kitchen 

1 Woodbine Place 

 

Disagree 

Oxpens 

Former Underhills Hide and Skin 

Market 

Ovada, 14a Osney Lane 

 

Disagree  

79



Appendix 1 

Oxpens Road Bridge 

 

Agree 

Oxpens Meadow 

 

Agree 

Oxford Station and Railway Lands 

Osney Lane Footbridge 

 

Disagree  

St Ebbe’s Suburb 

The Wharf House 

13 Thames Street 

 

Agree  

 
 
Hinksey Park Ward 

Heritage Asset Nomination Panel Recommendation 

Former Gas Works Pipe Bridge 

 

Agree  

Former Gas Works Rail Bridge 

 

Agree 

 
 
Jericho and Osney Ward 

Heritage Asset Nomination Panel Recommendation  

Rewley 

Former Boatman’s Chapel 

Hythe Bridge Street 

 

Agree  

Sheepwash Chanel 

 

Agree (board member recommendation as Ward members 

did not agree) 

New Osney 

The Former Oxford Electric 

Lighting Power Station, Arthur 

Street 

 

Agree  

The River Hotel 

Botley Road 

 

Agree 

The One (Former Botley Road 

Turnpike Tollhouse) 

2 Botley Road 

 

Agree 

The Kite Public House  

Mill Street 

 

Agree 

The River Thames and Towpath 

from Four Streams Junction to 

Osney Bridge 

 

Agree (board member recommendation as Ward members 

did not agree) 

29 Abbey Road 

 

Agree 

80



Appendix 1 

 
EAST OXFORD 
 
St. Clement’s Ward 

Heritage Asset Nomination Panel Recommendation  

Cowley Road 

Rectory Road Halls of Residence 

(Formerly Nazareth House) 

 

Agree  

East Oxford Community Centre, 

Princes Street 

 

Agree 

The Corridor Public House, 119 

Cowley Road 

 

Agree 

East Oxford First Estate 

Jeune Hall 

Jeune Street (former Methodist 

Sunday School) 

 

Agree  

Union Street to Manzil Way 

East Oxford Primary School Main 

Building 

 

Agree  

Oxford Central Mosque 

 

 

Agree 

Asian Cultural Centre (Former 

workhouse chapel) 

 

Agree 

Divinity Road Area 

46 Hill Top Road 

 

Agree  

8 Hill Top Road 

 

Agree 

Divinity Walk 

 

Disagree 

Hill Top Road properties 

 

Disagree 

The Morrell Avenue Estate 

Upper Morrell Avenue Agree  

 
 
St. Mary’s Ward  

Heritage Asset Nomination Panel Recommendation 

Cowley Road 

The Cowley Retreat Public House 

 

Agree  

Former Co-operative Hall Agree  

81



Appendix 1 

 

211-215 Cowley Road 

 

Disagree  

The Old Vicarage 

276 Cowley Road 

 

Agree 

The City Arms 

Cowley Road 

 

Agree 

118 Cowley Road 

 

Agree 

The Old Music Hall 

108 Cowley Road and offices 

above 104-110 

 

Agree 

Vietnamese Temple Mural  

49 Cowley Road 

 

Agree 

The Triangle 

The Temple Lounge 

Temple Street 

 

Agree  

Garden Wall at 40 Stockmore 

Street 

Agree 

4 Marston Street (Formerly 

dispensary and church) 

Agree 

9 and 10 Marston Street 

 

Agree 

Oxford Blue 

Marston Street 

 

Agree 

Jingle Cottage 

49 Marston Street 

 

Agree 

50 and 51 Marston Street 

 

Agree 

55-63 Marston Street 

 

Agree 

Sundial 

35 Marston Street 

 

Agree 

Central East Oxford 

The James Street Tavern 

 

Agree  

The Black Swan Public House 

11 Crown Street 

 

Agree  

Former Boot Repairing 

Department 

 

Agree 

Green Street Bookbinders Agree 

82



Appendix 1 

 

Former Furniture Factory 

55 Randolph Street 

 

Agree 

Craft building and store at St 

John’s Home St Mary’s Road 

(formerly St Mary’s Infant’s and 

Girls’ School) 

Agree 

The Robin Hood Area 

Magdalen Road Church 

49a Magdalen Road 

 

Agree  

Shopfront at 39 Magdalen Road 

(Oxfork) 

 

Agree 

The Rusty Bicycle Public House, 

28 Magdalen Road 

 

Agree 

The Mission House 

14 Magdalen Road 

 

Agree 

Iffley Road Sports Ground 

Roger Bannister Running Track 

 

Agree  

Green Spaces 

SS Mary and John’s Churchyard 

 

Agree  

Long Meadow 

 

Agree 

 
Iffley Field’s Ward 

Heritage Asset Nomination Recommendation for nomination to be on register  

The Robin Hood Area 

Irving Building, SS Mary and John 

Primary School, Hertford Street 

 

Agree  

147-151 Howard Street 

 

Agree 

Old Church Hall and 60 Percy 

Street 

 

Agree 

St Alban’s Church 

Charles Street 

 

Agree 

91-97 (odds) Howard Street 

(Former House of Compassion) 

 

Agree 

Former Prince of Wales Public 

House, Charles Street 

 

Agree 

83



Appendix 1 

Iffley Fields 

Convent of the Incarnation  

Parker Street 

Agree  

Old Builders Merchant’s 

Workshop 

 

Agree 

The Motz House 

16 Bedford Street 

Agree 

The Chester Arms 

Chester Street 

 

Agree 

Green Spaces  

East Ward Allotments 

 

Agree  

Aston’s Eyot 

Jackdaw Lane 

 

Agree 

The Kidney’s 

Meadow Lane 

 

Agree 

SS Mary and John’s CoE School 

Field 

Meadow Lane 

 

Agree 

 
 

18. The pilot studies have allowed thorough testing of the process (i.e. identifying, 
assessing and registering heritage assets through the preparation of 
character statements).  The process followed was designed to encourage 
community participation, be robust and, to provide accountable decision-
making.  The value of the nomination form and criteria adopted by Oxford City 
Council, have been tested.   

 
19. The nomination assessment and registration of Oxford Stadium, Sandy Lane 

and No. 333 Banbury Road also provided experience of using the Council’s 
adopted process.   

 
20. The registration of No. 333 Banbury Road by the West Oxford Planning 

Committee was a relatively rapid process.  However, the route adopted for the 
pilot studies has taken considerable time and effort.  It involved community 
capacity building as well as reporting the findings of the assessment to three 
different council panels or committees.  It also required additional 
administrative procedures, including the addition of items to the forward plan.  
The funding of the project by English Heritage was on the basis of testing 
such procedures as recommended in national guidance.  These findings are 
useful and will be reported to inform the development of future guidance.  As 
such, a number of improvements are recommended for the development of 
the heritage assets register going forward.  

 

84



Appendix 1 

a. In future the review panel and nomination to City Executive Board stages 
should be replaced by reporting to the relevant area planning committee.  This 
would streamline the process to a single decision regarding whether to 
register one or more candidate heritage assets while having regard to the 
Council’s adopted set of criteria.  This should be added to the terms of 
reference for these committees.   

 
 Reason:  To reduce the number of steps in the process of nomination, 
 assessment, registration and review.  To use the existing expertise and cross-
 party public representation of the area planning committees to ensure 
 decisions are made efficiently and transparently.  
 

b. Given the above change, it is recommended that nomination of heritage 
assets by the area planning committee can be made by officers or ward 
members outside the specific circumstances of a planning application.  Ward 
members would be expected to follow a similar process to requesting a call-in 
for a planning application.  In such cases the owner should be notified by 
letter, at least three weeks before the publication of the agenda for the 
committee at which the nomination will be considered.  The nomination form 
and any comments received from the owners should form a part of the 
publicly available agenda along with an officer’s report.   

 
 Reason: To allow periodic and regular updating of the heritage assets 
 register in a responsive manner that enables communities to be fore involved 
 in planning, including working with their elected representatives and ensuring 
 stakeholders are properly consulted and decisions are made transparently.  
 

c. That members are made aware of the potential to request call-in of a planning 
application where they believe a heritage asset may be affected.  This is in 
order for due consideration to be given of its potential for registration as a 
heritage asset prior to determination of the application.  

 
 Reason:To support the proper consideration of non-designated heritage 
 assets within the planning decision-making process.  
 
 

85



This page is intentionally left blank



Title Risk description Opp/ threat Cause Consequence I P I P I P Control description Due date Status Progress % Action Owner

Planning Policies 
become out of date

Planning policies 
under which the 
Oxford Heritage Asset 
Register is based 
become out-of-date or 
are altered through 
changes to national 
guidance 

T The cause is the risk of 
changes to national 
policy and legislation 
affecting the planning 
system. 

Processes and 
procedures that may 
not fully comply with 
current legislation/ 
national policy.  
Potential difficulties in 
implementation 

01/04/2015 Michael Crofton-
Briggs

2 3 2 2 2 2 Mitigation proposed is to 
provide timely review of 
relevant Local Plan 
Documents and set out 
details of processes in 
documents can be 
easily updated (e.g., 
Heritage Plan/ SPD/ 

When the 
Oxford 

Heritage Asset 
Register is 

updated, and 
continuning 

review 
thereafter 

Michael Crofton-
Briggs

Appendix 2: Risk Register

Date Raised Owner Gross Current Residual Comments Controls

87



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 

  

 
Initial Equalities Impact Assessment OHAR 
 

1. Within the aims and objectives of the policy or strategy which group (s) of 
people has been identified as being potentially disadvantaged by your 
proposals? What are the equality impacts?  

 

 
None groups of people have been identified as being potentially 
disadvantaged by the proposals to register heritage assets in the pilot areas.  
 
There are no anticipated equality impacts on the proposals.  
 

 
 

2. In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your current or proposed 
new or changed policy, strategy, procedure, project or service to minimise or 
eliminate the adverse equality impacts?  

 
Please provide further details of the proposed actions, timetable for  
making the changes and the person(s) responsible for making the  
changes on the resultant action plan 

 

 
No equality impacts have been identified.  As such, no changes are proposed.  
The proposal to register heritage assets is based on criteria previously 
adopted at Full Council.   
 

 

 
3. Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed changes and 

if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale behind that decision.  
 
Please note that you are required to involve disabled people in   
decisions that impact on them 
 
 

 
As there are no identified equalities impacts in relation to the 9 protected 
characteristics, no consultation on proposed changes are proposed.   
 
It is worth noting that consultation on the character studies for the pilot areas 
and nominations has taken place.  This consultation used the City Council’s e-
consult software and was approved by the Consultation Board prior to the 
start of the consultation.  
 

 
 

89



Appendix 3 

  

4. Can the adverse impacts you identified during the initial screening be justified 
without making any adjustments to the existing or new policy, strategy, 
procedure, project or service?  
 

Please set out the basis on which you justify making no adjustments 
 

 
Due consideration was given to the 9 protected characteristics by officers and 
it was concluded that the pilot study did not impact on them.   
 
As such no adjustments have been considered.  
 

 
5. You are legally required to monitor and review the proposed changes after 

implementation to check they work as planned and to screen for unexpected 
equality impacts.  

 
Please provide details of how you will monitor/evaluate or review your  
proposals and when the review will take place 

 
 
 
On-going monitoring will take place through the planning committee process.  
If equality impacts are raised through that process, we will review our 
approach and make any necessary adjustments.  
 
 

 

90



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

 1 

Rectory Road Hall of Residence, Oriel College, Rectory Road. Formerly Nazareth 

House. 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y Goldie 

Wing, 

Larmenier 

House and 

Boundary 

Walls 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space) y garden 

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest? 

Historical Interest: The two surviving buildings of the former Home of the Poor Sisters of 

Nazareth who ran a home for children and the elderly here from 1875. The high boundary wall 

surrounding the garden reflects the character of the complex as a religious community and 

contributes to the tranquillity of the gardens, set on the busy Cowley Road frontage.  

91



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

 2 

Architectural Interest: Larmenier House has the appearance of a town house of the later 19th 

century and may already have existed.  The Goldie Wing was more certainly built as part of the 

religious use of the site to provide accommodation for homeless children in 1901/2.  The building 

has a bold Jacobean Revival style in red brick with well –preserved stone detailing to windows and 

doors including a niche with religious sculpture over the main door. Both buildings have been 

remodelled internally to serve as college accommodation. Nevertheless they maintain their 

external appearance including their relationship with the large garden space that occupies the 

corner of the site.   

A chapel and wash houses also existed but were demolished  in the 1990s, allowing the 

construction of the new James Mellon Hall as part of the reuse of the site by Oriel College. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and Illustration: The buildings illustrate the development of East Oxford as a focus 

for the settlement of communities of religious in the late 19th century (a feature that continues 

elsewhere in the suburb to the present), often choosing this part of Oxford because of the  social 

issues and potential for benevolent missionary work.  It also illustrates the history of the provision 

of health care and social welfare facilities that is an important theme in the history of the Victorian 

and Edwardian suburb.   

Aesthetics: The Goldie Wing stands out as a high quality building on Cowley Road. 

Communal: There is potential that the buildings have a communal value for people who were 

cared for within the institution as children. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y1 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y2 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y3 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y1 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value? 

Age: The buildings contribute to the Victorian  and Edwardian character of the East Pxford 

Suburb 

Rarity: This is the only surviving Victorian orphanage in East Oxford and possibly in Oxford as a 

whole. 

Integrity: Externally both Larmenier House and the Goldie Wing are well preserved, buildings 

retaining many of their historic architectural details and attractive qualities. They retain their 

relationship with the courtyard garden and high boundary wall that makes the site a tranquil 

enclave within the suburb. However the loss of he chapel and other buildings is considered to have 

detracted from the overall integrity of the site. 

92



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

 3 

Group Value: The buildings contribute to the value of buildings and sites across the East Oxford 

suburb that record the provision of health care and social welfare from the middle ages into the 

20th century. 

 

93



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

East Oxford Community Centre, Princes Street 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y1 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y2 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

y3 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The building was built as St Johns Boys School in 1866 with support from 

Father Richard Meux Benson (the Vicar of the Parish of Cowley St James and later Cowley St 

John) and the Society of St John the Evangelist as one of the earliest examples of the involvement 

of religious communities and the church in the development of education institutions across the 

East Oxford suburb. 

It remained a school until the reorganisation of the education system in Oxford from a three to 

two school system in the 1970s.  The school buildings were reused as a centre for the arts and 

other community uses. As such it has been an important venue for music in particular, as well as 

the Bloomin’ Arts Group who were influential in the development of Cowley Road Carnival. 

Architectural interest: The main school building as an interestingly designed building, possibly 

94



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

by the Diocesan architect G.E. Street, with roof top lantern vent cupola and end chimney stacks 

with tumbled brickwork.  Windows retain stone transoms and mullions, although the detailing is 

otherwise simple, reflecting the charitable status of the school. 

 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y1 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y1 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y3 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y2 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and illustration: The building is associated both with the locally significant person 

of Father Benson, who made a significant contribution to the development of health, welfare and 

education services across the early suburb, as well as the religious community of the Cowley 

Fathers. The building provides a highly visible symbol of the involvement of religious people and 

organisations in the provision of education in the area. 

Aesthetics: The good quality architecture of the building makes an important contribution to the 

Victorian and Edwardian character of Cowley Road and Princes Street, which is emphasised by its 

position on a corner plot. 

Communal: As a school used within living memory the building has a communal value for former 

pupils who remain in the area. 

Communal: The use as a community centre has been highly successful creating a centre for 

performance as well as the visual arts that supports community cohesion and interaction and now 

contributes to the identity of the people of East Oxford. 

 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: The main building dates from the first two decades of the development of the suburb and, as 

such , would be considered early in this setting. 

Integrity: The building retains much of its Victorian and appearance and character. The large 

kitchen extension on the Princes Street side has unfortunately hidden some of the original 

architectural detailing however. 

Group value: The Building has communal value as one of a series of buildings that chart the 

development of education facilities for the growing suburb between the mid 19t and early 20th 

century, often with charitable support from the church or other organisations. 

 

Oxford’s Identity: The use of the former school building as a community centre has led to the 

95



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

development of cultural activities that have drawn the community together and supported the 

development of East Oxford’s reputation as a part of the city with a particularly rich cultural life 

that promotes a diverse community that is nevertheless well intergrated, contributing significantly 

to the identity of East Oxford.  

 

 

96



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Corridor Public House, Cowley Road (formerly the New Inn)  

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: Built as the New Inn and recorded in Kelly’s Directory of 1877.  It was 

brewery pub owned by Samuel Allsopp and Sons. Allsopp’s were a very large Burton on Trent 

brewery in the late 19th century who made use of the developing railway system to establish a 

network of public houses across England. 

Architectural interest: The pub was either rebuilt or refronted in 1916 by the architects Eadle 

and Meyers, and retains an attractive frontage to the street including parapet gabled returns to the 

street and faience clad pub frontage.  
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

97



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and Illustration: Cowley road developed as the local centre serving the growing 

working class suburb of East Oxford in the later 19th century and became a focus of public houses, 

although these are also found on many of the side street. The larger breweries sought to attract 

customers by using architects to make their buildings more attractive and distinctive in the street 

scene. The former New Inn provides a good example of one of these buildings that both illustrates 

the character of the suburb as an artisan community for whom public houses were an important 

resource for socialising, as well as the impact of the railways on the development of commerce 

and architecture. Its continued use as a bar provides a strong connection with the past of the 

building and Cowley Road as a place of relaxation and social life for the suburb. 

Aesthetics: The building occupies a street corner plot and stands out in views along Cowley 

Road. Whilst it might be regarded as ‘masculine’ the building has attractive architectural detailing 

that was designed historically to both stand out and attract customers. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: Dating from the mid 1870s the pub provides evidence of the early development of Coewley 

Road as the social and commercial focus of the East Oxford Suburb, as well as the influence of the 

development of rail transport on the character of the commerce within the city, which also 

affected its architecture. 

Integrity: The building is well preserved externally, including its distinctive faience pub frontage.  

Group value and Oxford’s identity:  The building is one of a series of pubs along Cowley Road 

and in back street areas that, together help to illustrate the historic character of the East Oxford 

Suburb as a working class community for whom public houses provided an important venue for 

entertainment and socialising.  

 

 

98



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Cowley Retreat 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: Built c.1870 as the Ampney Cottage Public House. A purpose designed public 

house built as part of the growth of the suburb southward along Cowley Road.  The building has 

undergone many changes of ownership, being infamous as the Hobgoblin but is now the Cowley 

Retreat. 

Architectural interest: the pub retains the 19th century character of the original public house, 

including retained two-over-two pane sash windows and dormer windows with decorative 

bargeboards with the added interest of the early 20th century pub frontage. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

99



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The buildings illustrates the process of development of the suburb in the late 19th 

century as a residential area in which public houses played an important role as social venues and 

places of entertainment. It also illustrates the development of Cowley Road as the commercial and 

social focus of the suburb as early as the 1870s. 

Aesthetics: The architecture of the original building retains distinctive late 19th century features 

that contribute to the character of Cowley Road as an area of Victorian development with a 

distinctive architectural character. 

Communal: The public houses on Cowley Road provide an important space for people to 

socialise and are an important part of the social infrastructure of the suburb.. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age and Integrity: The building provides evidence of the progress of development along Cowley 

Road, retaining architectural features that are distinctive of the 1870s. 

Group value and Oxford’s identity: The Cowley Retreat is one of a number of public houses 

across the East Oxford Suburb that jointly provide evidence of the historic importance of  pubs to 

the community of East Oxford as a place for socialising and entertainment. They make an 

important contribution to the historic character of the East Oxford suburb as an area of 

predominantly working class housing. 

 

100



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Former Co-operative Hall at No. 190 – 194 Cowley Road (02 

Academy)

 
 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 
●1 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 
●2 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Local music and events venue and formerly Oxford’s main co-operative stores.  The building was 

designed by Henry Wilkinson Moore and has a long frontage preserving its Edwardian redbrick 

character above ground floor level, including surviving stone architectural detailing to the façade. 

The hall above the ground floor shopping arcade provided the venue for concerts and dances that 

formed an important element of the neighbourhood’s social life and, subsequently has been a 

venue for the more successful bands that emerged in Oxford in the  later 20th century.  It has also 

provided the venue for many political meetings, often forming the starting point for rallies and 

protests that continued outside the building.  The combination of shops developed as a mutual 

101



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

enterprise and the meeting and entertainment space above is interesting as a combination that was 

a part of the social mission of its builders.   

 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 
●2 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 
●1 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 
●4 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 
●3 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

The former co-operative store and halls is a local landmark in the history of Oxford’s socialist 

movements. It illustrates the impact of the co-operatives movement in Oxford as part of a wider 

national political movement, but is also an early example of the political activism that is part of the 

character of the East Oxford suburb.   

The architecture of the building, built in 1907 and preserving a large part of its Edwardian 

character above ground floor makes an important  contribution to the Victorian and Edwardian 

character of the area. The association with the locally significant architect Henry Wilkinson 

Moore. The Edwardian architecture and architectural detailing also makes a positive contribution 

to the appearance of Cowley Road that stands out from the surrounding buildings. 

The use of the hall for concerts and dances stretches back over a century and has continued to 

the present day making the building a social hub that contributes to the cultural life of the city and 

providing a sense of community. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? ● 
Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 
● 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? ● 
Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 
● 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 
● 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?   

One of Oxfords main music venues and has been since it was built. It’s past use makes it one of  

Oxford’s cultural landmarks, as well as a building that has played an important role in the history 

of political activism that has been a part of East Oxford’s identity since the early 20th century – 

partly due to the presence of many car factory workers, and later, students.  As such the building 

makes an important contribution to the identity of East Oxford in particular as a place of political 

action and popular culture. 

Above the ground level frontage, which has been replaced recently, the Edwardian frontage is well-

preserved or has been sensitively restored (integrity), providing evidence of the early 20th century 

development of Cowley Road as a commercial centre for the East Oxford suburb. 

The building is a rare, if not unique, example of a building built for the co-operative movement in 

Oxford, originally with an unusual historic plan of ground floor shops and hall above.   

102



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

 

The Criteria: 

Registered Heritage Assets must meet all of the four following criteria: 

Criterion 1. They must be capable of meeting the government’s definition of a 

heritage asset.   

Demonstrate that your candidate is able to fall within the government’s definition of a 

heritage asset; i.e. a building, monument, site, place, area or landscape.  

Criterion 2. They must possess heritage interest that can be conserved and 

enjoyed.  

Identify the properties of your candidate asset that need to be cared for as heritage – this is 

its heritage interest.  This might include physical things like its appearance and materials, as 

well as associations with past people or events. Consider whether the physical features of 

the candidate asset help to illustrate its associations. The four types of heritage interest 

listed are recognised in national planning policy.  

Criterion 3. They must have a value as heritage for the character and identity of 

the city, neighbourhood or community because of their heritage interest beyond 

personal or family connections, or the interest of individual property owners. 

Tell us why or how the heritage interest you identified in your answer to Question 2 is of 

local value - this is its heritage value. The types of heritage value suggested on the nomination 

form are based on national guidance by English Heritage. 

Criterion 4. They must have a level of significance that is greater than the 

general positive identified character of the local area.  

Tell us what raises your candidate’s heritage value to a level that merits its consideration in 

planning. Many features of the historic environment are a valued part of local character that 

should be managed through policies relating to townscape character in the local plan. 

Registered heritage assets should stand out as of greater significance than these features for 

their heritage value. The suggested options listed on the nominations form are based on 

national best practice. If you think your candidate asset has special local significance for 

another reason please state what it is. 

 

Criteria adopted By Oxford City Council 17.12.12 

103



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Nos 211 – 215 Cowley Road  

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Architectural interest: This is a row of three purpose-built shops with flats above built with a 

mixture of Gothic and Queen Anne Revival detailing and preserving substantial elements of three 

19th century shopfronts.  Details include ornamental ridge tiles, large half dormer windowswith 

steeply pitched gables with a central one projecting over a large Venetian bay window, timber-

framed vertically sliding sash windows, and green glazed tiled pilasters supporting substantial stone 

consoles to the shop fascias. 

Historic interest: The building stood at the terminus for the horse drawn trams that ran from 

Cowley road into the city centre and would have marked the southern limit of Cowley Road’s 

Victorian commercial area.   

 

104



Nominate a Heritage Asset 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y2 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y1 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Aesthetics: These buildings were designed to stand out in the street scene and to include 

attractive shopfronts along with domestic elements. As late Victorian structures with a range of 

architectural detailing, including surviving elements of the shopfronts, these contribute to the 

architectural character of Cowley Road as a Victorian and Edwardian area of shops and public 

buildings interspersed with surviving Victorian housing. 

Illustration: The buildings reflect the development of Cowley Road as a commercial area by the 

end of the 19th century, forming the centre for services for the suburb that was well established by 

that time. The purpose designed commercial buildings, provide a contrast with the earlier shops 

built onto the front of older houses. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age and Integrity: These buildings date from the period when Cowley Road’s character was 

becoming established as the commercial and social focus of the suburb – a significant period in the 

development of the neighbourhood. It is well preserved, including the survival of the attractive 

elements of the shopfronts (although other elements of the shopfronts have been lost). 

Group value and Oxford’s identity: These buildings have group value with a number of other 

historic shops and commercial buildings on Cowley Road that retain their historic architectural 

detailing either as purpose built commercial buildings or as earlier town houses that had 

shopfronts added in the 19th century, together reveal the street’s character as the historic 

commercial centre of the East Oxford Suburb, which makes an important contribution to the 

identity of the suburb as a self-contained community. 

 

 

105



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Old Vicarage, Cowley Road 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y2 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y1 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest? 

Historic interest: Built in 1901 to serve as the vicarage and standing next to the church and 

parish hall ( both of which are listed buildings separately). 

Architectural interest: Designed by Bucknall and Sir Ninian Comper in a Jacobean Revival style 

with a strong arts and crafts influence, including rendered facades with stone detailing, including 

stone mullioned windows, capped parapet gables and corner buttresses and bridled plain tile roof. 

This is a large building set behind the main Cowley Road frontage but seen in views from the 

churchyard along side the church. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally Tick / Rank 

106



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

for any of the following reasons? 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y2 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y1 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y1 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and Illustration:  The building has strong associations with the Anglican 

community in East Oxford at the turn of the 20th century and illustrates the work of two notable 

architects.  

Aesthetics: The building is highly competent, illustrating the influence of the Arts and Crafts 

movement in Oxford in the early 20th century. It has some fellow value with other early 20th 

century buildings in the suburb, such as the former Elm Tree Public House (now The Big Society) 

and housing in the Divinity Road area just to the north east. It makes an important contribution to 

the Victorian and Edwardian architectural character of the suburb. 

 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y3 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y2 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y1 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Group Value: The building forms part of a group of ecclesiastical buildings designed for the 

parish of St John, Cowley, by William Bucknall and Sir Ninan Comper, which provide a strong 

character and high architectural value within the suburb (other part of the group include St John’s 

Home and Chapel, St Mary’s Road, The Irving Building and The Comper School, Hertford Street). 

Integrity: Recent renovation has sustained and enhanced the exteror appearance of the building, 

which retains its original appearance outwardly. 

Age: The building dates from the period at the turn of the 20th century when Cowley Road was 

becoming established as the social, civic and commercial focus of the East Oxford suburb.  

 

 
Sources 

Graham, M., 1987, On Foot in East Oxford (Oxfordshire County Council)  

 

107



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The City Arms, Cowley Road 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: A public House called the University and City Arms was recorded at this 

location in Kelly’s Directory of 1876 and is shown on the Ordance Survey map of 1878. The 

present building was constructed in the late 1930s as an ‘improved public house’.   

Architectural interest:  The building was rebuilt in the early 20th century with an attractive double 

fronted Jacobean Revival design that falls within the pattern established for ‘improved public 

houses’ built during the Inter-War years. It is built in red brick with prominent parapeted gabled 

returns to the street and stone transoms, mullion and surrounds to windows. The front door is 

set at the street corner and also has an attractive stone surround and overlight. This is one of 

several pubs of Hall’s Oxford Brewery Ltd (see also Donnington Arms and possibly the former 

Prince of Wales, Charles Street). 

108



Nominate a Heritage Asset 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association: The City Arms is one of a number of public houses that provide a connection with 

the area’s past as a working class suburb where pubs were an important venue for socialising and 

entertainment. A pub has stood on this site since the 1870s, providing a considerable continuity 

with the past, whilst this has served as a building where the community have come together, 

building cohesion and a sense of identity. This also helps to illustrate the long continuity of Cowley 

Road as a focus of entertainment and social activity for the suburb.  

Illustration: The architecture illustrates the development of the ‘improved public house’ as a type 

of building found within Oxford, paid for by the brewery companies. It represents a shift in 

attitudes towards frequenting public houses and drinking beer in the early 20th century as a 

recreational activity among the increasingly affluent working class communities and the response of 

brewery companies in seeking to raise the perceived status and respectability of their premises. 

Aesthetics: The building has attractive features that complement the detailing the nearby late 

Victorian and Edwardian Church Hall and Vicarage. Contributing to the creation of an area of 

particular visual interest.  The design of the building is an important element of its heritage value, 

providing evidence of the intention of the pub company to make the use of their premises an 

aspirational activity, that is both respectable and part of an historic tradition in order to draw in 

the more affluent residents in the Inter-War period. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Integrity: The building is well preserved externally retaining its early 20th century character and 

appearance, including many of its attractive architectural details 

Group value: The building forms a group with a number of focal buildings that cumulatively make 

this area an important gateway to the commercial area of Cowley Road, these include: The former 

Regal Cinema, Ss Mary and John’s Church (with the churchyard) and former vicarage and church 

hall, and the Victorian parade of shops at Nos. 2011-2015 Cowley Road.  

Group value and Oxford’s identity: This is one of a group of public houses spread across the 

East Oxford Suburb and particularly concentrated in the streets between Iffley Road and Cowley 

Road that preserve evidence of developments in the retailing of beer during the mid and late 19th 

and early 20th century, including the use of architecture to create messages about the status of 

pubs and their clientele. These buildings provided an important venue for socialising and 

109



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

entertainment for the residents’ of these areas in the past and form an important element of its 

Victorian and Edwardian working class character, which is an important part of its identity.  The 

later, Inter-War period ‘improved public houses’ are notable for the high quality of architecture 

they present, adding to the architectural interest of the suburb as a whole and providing important 

landmarks on many streets.  

 

 

110



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

No.118 Cowley Road (formerly Lipton’s Tea Shop) 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 
a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 
y2 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 
y1 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Architectural interest: This small late 19th century shop has a well preserved 19h century 

shopfront with stall riser, recessed lobby entrance, engaged pilaster with consoles, a broad canted 

fascia with cornicing and cast iron window surrounds with broom-handle pilasters and a decorated 

transom vent and brackets with cast iron flower motifs. Despite one extensive refit, the shop 

interior retains the original wooden cased shelving, tiling (partly covered by later paint) and marble 

111



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

shelves designed to keep cold goods fresh in the days before refrigeration. 

Historic interest: The former Lipton’s Tea shop was developed as a ground floor extension to 

an older mid 19th century cottage on Cowley Road as a purpose built commercial outlet for a 

national chain selling tea, as well as cakes and other groceries.  

 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 
y3 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 
y2 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 
y1 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Aesthetics: The well-preserved shopfront makes an important contribution to the character of 

Cowley Road as a Victorian commercial centre with detailed historic frontages, including 

decorative elements designed to contribute to the positive appearance of the street as a place to 

shop. 

Association and Illustration: The building helps to illustrate the process of development of 

shops on Cowley Road as a second stage of development through the extension of buildings atr 

ground floor level over their former garden spaces.  The association with an historically important 

national brand provides evidence of the process of Cowley Road’s commercial development, 

which was both through local enterprise and the investment of national corporations such as 

Lipton’s (who owned over 500 shops by the late 1880s).  
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y2 
Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 
y3 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y2 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 
y1 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age, Integrity and Oxford’s identity: No. 118 Cowley Road provides the best example of a 

late a 19th century shopfront and interior on Cowley with potential for enhancement through 

repair and maintenance and stripping away some of the unfortunate alterations that occurred in 

the 20th century. A such it makes an important contribution to the character and identity of 

Cowley Road as the commercial heart of the Victorian East Oxford Suburb. 

Rarity: The vast majority of the historic shopfronts along Cowley Road have been significantly 

altered from the earliest form, making No. 118 a rare survival, whilst the surviving remains of its 

19th century interior appear to be unique on Cowley Road. 

 

 

112



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

No. 49 Cowley Road (Vietnamese Temple Mural) 

  
 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

y 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Artistic interest: 

 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

113



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The mural commemorates the home country of the owners of the restaurant and 

helps to highlight one of the many ethnic communities who have made East Oxford a home. This 

helps to illustrate the historical process of migration and settlement of diverse communities in East 

Oxford that has resulted in its distinctive character. 

Aesthetics: The mural is very attractive and makes a positive contribution to the streetscene. 

Communal: The bright and colourful murals along Cowley Road contribute to the identity of the 

community as an artistic and expressive people. Whilst some murals may simply be an expression 

of individual personality and political views, others such as the Temple mural contribute to the 

wider identity of Cowley Road by providing attractive landmarks that have become a part of the 

familiar and cherished scene. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Group value and Oxford’s Identity: The mural is one of a series of high quality art works found 

along Cowley Road and in some side streets that create a distinctive sense of place within the 

neighbourhood, representing an artistic and culturally diverse but integrated community who are 

celebrate their identity but also use art as a vehicle for political activism. 

 

 

114



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

 1 

The Old Music Hall at No. 108 Cowley Road (including the offices above Nos. 104 – 

110 Cowley Road) 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 
y1  

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 
y2  

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

 Former Conservative Club with hall, designed by Henry Wilkinson Moore and built in 

1896, using a number of Queen Anne Revival motifs, later reused as a music hall and early 

cinema and subsequently as offices of Basil Blackwell’s.  

 The building is a good example of late Victorian Architecture and has a strong presence in 

the street scene.  

 Despite conversion of the former hall for offices it is reported that elements of the stage 

and ‘flies’ have been preserved. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally Tick / Rank 

115



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

 2 

for any of the following reasons? 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 
y2  

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 
y1  

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

y4 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 
y3  

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

 The building makes an important contribution to the Victorian and Edwardian character of 

Cowley Road’s architecture (aesthetics) illustrating the development of Cowley Road as a 

district centre in the late 19th and early 20th century, serving the growing suburb 

(illustration). 

 Its former use as conservative club offices and hall forms an element of the history of East 

Oxford as a focus of the city’s political activity (association). 

 The secondary use as a music hall and later cinema is part of the history of Cowley Road 

as a place of diverse entertainment venues serving the social life of the community. This is 

an important feature of the early 20th century history of the provision of leisure activities 

and entertainment of working class people in Oxford, responding to a period of increased 

leisure time. As such it contributes to the East Oxford’s historic character as a suburb of 

the more affluent artisans of the city. 

 The building has an association with an historic company and industry (Blackwell’s and 

publishing) that is an important part of Oxford’s identity. 

 The history of the adoption of emerging forms of entertainment is particularly interesting. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 
y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value? Contributes towards place identity. 

 The building helps to illustrate the period in the late 19th and early 20th century when 

Cowley Road was emerging as the commercial and social centre for the East Oxford 

suburb (Age).  

 As a surviving music hall it is a rare building in the suburb, whilst it maintains integrity in 

the architecture of the frontage range (Integrity). There is some suggestion that the 

preservation of elements of the stage and theatre machinery also contribute to the 

building’s integrity. 

 The building has group value with the collection of historic buildings surrounding the 

junction with Jeune Street, including the Ultimate Picture Palace (which had a similar 

history of use as an early cinema), and former Elm Tree Public House as a group of 

buildings that provide a strong sense of place and have associations with the history of 

Cowley Road as a place of leisure and entertainment in the late 19th and early 20th century 

(Group Value).  

 The building contributes to the identity of East Oxford as cultural hub for the city, well 

116



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

 3 

known for its history as the focus of entertainment venues. 

 

117



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Jeune Hall, Jeune Street (The former Methodist Church Sunday School) 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use  

118



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: Built in 1904 at the same time as the adjacent church but in a strongly 

contrasting style the former Sunday School was built to accommodate 500 pupils.  Both were built 

as a response to the popularity of Methodism in Oxford and the growth of the East Oxford 

Suburb. Oxford has a particular significance to Methodism as the place of education of John, 

Charles and Samuel Wesley, the founding fathers of the church, who preached often in the city. 

Architectural interest: The former Sunday School was designed by Stephen Salter FRIBA is a 

large yellow and red brick building now converted into flats but retaining its historical frontage, 

which is a large Dutch gabled elevation with buttresses to the corner and at the centre and rows 

of arch headed first and ground floor windows with timber sliding sashes. The central portion 

features panels of red brick, which help to divide up the frontage with an oculus above providing a 

familiar motif used for chapels and other religious buildings.  
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and Illustration:  

The building illustrates the role of religious organisations in the provision of education in East 

Oxford as a working class suburb in the early 20th century.  This is an important theme of the 

area’s history. 

Doors to the left and right of the frontage, would originally have been intended to provide 

separate entrances for girls and boys, illustrating Edwardian concerns for propriety 

Aesthetics:  

The building is an attractive feature in the street due to its interestingly varied colour brickwork 

and decorative features, such as the large Dutch gable to the road and ball finials. It complements 

the Edwardian character of the other buildings on Jenue Street, whilst standing out for its different 

use and design. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Group value: The building has group value with the adjacent listed Methodist church, illustrating 

another aspect of Methodists in early 20th century East Oxford as champions of education for the 

masses. It also contributes to the collection of buildings created for education by religious 

organisations across the suburb which is an important positive historic characteristic of the 

119



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Victorian and Edwardian that has had an important impact on its architecture.  The building also 

forms a group with the other prominent historic buildings at the junction of Jeune Street and 

Cowley Road, including the Oxford Picture House, Cowley Road Methodist Church, former Elm 

Tree public House (The Big Society) and the Old Music Hall., contribution to the creation of an 

area of great architectural interest with a distinctive character. 

Integrity: Despite conversion for residential use it has retained its outward appearance as an 

Edwardian Sunday School building providing evidence  of the former use as part of the area’s 

character. 

Oxford’s identity: The building contributes to the character of East Oxford as a focus of non-

religious non-conformism and religious diversity in the early 20th century, which is continues as a 

characteristic of the area to the present. 

 

 

120



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Temple Lounge (formerly the Temple Inn), Temple Street 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Architectural interest: An historic public house built as a double-fronted house in a style often 

associated with small ‘Wellington’ houses purposely built after the 1830 Beerhouse Act for the 

sale of beer normally brewed on the premises.  

Historical interest: These were an important element of urban life during the mid and later 19th 

century, providing an important social venue and an alternative to the temptations of ‘hard liquor’.   
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

121



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The role of public houses as social venues that have contributed to the interaction 

and coherence of the community of East Oxford is an important theme in the area’s history that 

makes a significant contribution to its  current  character. The Temple Inn is a good example of 

these facilities, maintained in a comparable use as a restaurant, providing a degree of continuity  

Aesthetics: The building stands out in the streetscene for its additional width but is otherwise in 

keeping with the general scale and design of buildings in the street and, indeed in the East Oxford 

Second Suburb Neighbourhood. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: The building has been in use as a public house, bar or café since its construction in the 

1860s. providing a considerable continuity of use.  

Integrity: The building retains its external appearance as is recognisable as a ‘Wellington House’ 

with a typical double fronted design. 

Oxford’s Identity: The presence of public houses is characteristic of the housing areas that 

developed for artisans in the mid 19th century and is part of the distinctive character of the East 

Oxford suburb as a whole. 

 

 

122



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Name and location of your candidate heritage asset (please provide a photograph and a 

map showing its location):  Boundary Wall of the Former Iron Church at Nos. 36, 38 and 44 

Stockmore Street (photo shows Nos 42 (left) and 44 (right). 

 
 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space) y 

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The limestone walls, partly rebuilt is all that remains of the former St John the 

Evangelists Church, built by Father Benson in 1859. 

 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

123



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and Communal: Father Benson was an individual who had a significant impact on 

the identity and community of East Oxford. The ‘iron church’ on Stockmore Street was the main 

Anglican place of worship built for the growing community for approximately 16 years. Nothing 

now remains of the church except these sections of wall recorded in Taunt’s photograph of the 

church taken in (1896), shortly before its demolition. The wall contributes to the memory of the 

church as an early focus for the spiritual life of the developing community. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: The walls date from an earlier phase of Stockmore Street’s development than the early 20th 

century houses for which they are now garden boundaries.  

Oxford’s identity: As evidence of the location of Father Benson’s East Oxford church they 

contribute to the wider identity of the East Oxford, through its association with this prominent 

figure. 

 

 

124



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

No. 4 Marston Street, Formerly the Cutler Boulter Dispensary and Russian Orthodox 

Church 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y1 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y2 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

125



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic Interest. This is a later 19th century dispensary built in 1892 to replace the apothecary 

and almshouses of the Cutler Boulter Charity on St Clement’s Road and remaining in use until 

1948, when the NHS act made the provision of such charitable care unnecessary. It was one of 

two dispensaries built in Oxford by the charity, the other at Gloucester Green has since been 

demolished. Medical care was provided in return for a regular affordable subscription, whilst those 

who could not afford the subscriptions could resort to the Parish relieving officer for support. It 

provided the main medical provision within the suburb until 1948. 

Historic Interest. From 1948 the building served as a Russian Orthodox Church and was owned 

by Charles Gibbs, the tutor to the Russian royal family from 1908 until 1918 and was for several 

years a museum exhibiting his collection of mementoes of his time with the Romanovs. 

Architectural Interest. The building stands out as distinct from the adjacent houses in the 

street scene due to its later 19th century architecture and ornamental stone detailing including sill 

and lintel string courses, and moulded architraves with rusticated keystones and brick platt bands. 

The large double doors to the street also have a non-domestic character. Two dormer windows 

above are a recent addition following conversion of the building into flats in the late 1980s. 

Surviving internal features relating to the use as a dispensary include the preservation of the 

receptionists hatch in the ground floor foyer. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y1 and 3 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y1 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

y2 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y3 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y5 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration and Association: This building illustrates an aspect of the provision of health care 

and social welfare facilities in Victorian and early 20th century East Oxford, which is an important 

theme in the history of the East Oxford suburb. 

Evidence: The survival of internal features relating to the past use as a dispensary provides 

evidential value that could be combined with further study to provide understanding of how the 

building was used in the past. 

Association and Communal: The Association with Charles Gibbs provides a connection with a 

locally notable individual. His use of the building as a church provides communal value for the 

Russian and Serbian religious community in Oxford who may have worshipped there. 

Aesthetics: The building is attractive, retaining much of its 19th century design and makes a 

distinctive contribution to the Victorian character of the street that is greater than the general 

positive character of the mid and late 19th century houses of the street. 

Association: The building formed part of the civil protection infrastructure of Oxford during the 

Second World War when it was used as the Air Raid Precaution  (ARP) Post with soldiers billeted 

upstairs, whilst remaining in use as a dispensary. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y1 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y1 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y2 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or y1 

126



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

communal association? 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Rarity: This is the only known 19th century dispensary in Oxford. The other known example at 

Gloucester Green having been demolished.  

Age: the building illustrates the period at the end of the 19th century when various public services 

were being developed in East Oxfrod in response to the growth of the population and their 

various needs it forms an integral element of the wider Victorian and Edwardian character of the 

suburb. 

Integrity: Albeit with the addition of dormer windows, the late 19th century character of the 

building has been well preserved, including the numerous architectural details that distinguish it 

from the surrounding houses.  

Group value: The dispensary is one of a small group of buildings in East Oxford that relate to the 

provision of health care and social welfare that together chart the development of faciltieis for the 

sick and poor (others include St Barnabas Chapel and Farmhouse, the Stone’s Almshouses, St 

John’s Home, the former chapel of the New Union Workhouse (now the Asian Cultural Centre, 

Manzil Way) and Nazareth House (now James Mellon Hall, Rectory Road). 

 

 

 

Sources 

Courtney-Thompson, F. 1997, Just by Chance: The story of Marston Street and the 

growth of the East Oxford Suburb (Privately Publiches).

127



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Welcome to the nominations form for the Oxford Heritage Assets Register 
What the form is for 

The nomination form asks you to demonstrate how your candidate asset meets the criteria 

for inclusion on the Oxford Heritage Assets Register (the criteria are set out on the next 

page). The criteria ensure registration as a heritage asset is the most appropriate means to 

manage your valued feature of the environment. 

Registration does not mean an asset will be preserved in its current state in perpetuity. 

Planning policy allows change to heritage assets that conserves or better reveals their 

significance or, where change requires their loss, replaces the benefit to the public that they 

provide. The information provided in support of your nomination will help determine what 

forms of change might be acceptable. Saying “it’s important and must never change” won’t 

tell us what we need to know to manage your heritage asset in the future. 

Tick or rank? 

In answers to Questions 2 – 4 you can rank the interests, values and significance your 

candidate asset provides to show which you consider the most and least important to its 

significance; i.e. 1st  (most important) – 4th (least important). 

Alternatives 

If your candidate asset does not have significance that merits inclusion on the register but 

does contribute to the valued character of the local environment, consider preparing a 

character statement for the area using the Oxford Character Assessment Toolkit.  This 

identifies features that contribute positively to local character and opportunities for 

enhancement. It may help to identify other ways that change can contribute to the quality of 

the local environment and its sense of place. 

Where the use of land, buildings or places now or in the recent past, furthers the social 

wellbeing or social interests of the local community (and this is not an ancillary use), it may 

be considered to be an asset of community value (community asset), for which the 

government has made provision in the Localism Act 2011.  Regulations give communities the 

opportunity to identify assets of community value and have them listed and, when they are 

put up for sale, more time to raise finance and prepare to bid for them. The Council is 

maintaining a list of community assets. Nevertheless, there may be examples where land is 

considered to both qualify as a community asset and heritage asset, in which case it will be 

necessary to distinguish which features of their value and significance are relevant to each 

designation.  

Sites and buildings in conservation areas 

Conservation Areas are ‘designated heritage assets’ as defined by the government’s planning 

policy and receive a higher level of protection than locally registered heritage assets, 

including legal restrictions on demolition and some permitted development rights. 

Nevertheless, they are designated locally and reflect the local value of these areas as heritage 

assets. Features of the historic landscape within conservation areas that would be 

considered to have a significance meriting consideration in planning decisions would be 

128



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

considered to contribute to the significance of a conservation area and therefore are 

considered to be part of a designated heritage asset.  As such, we will not consider them for 

inclusion on the Oxford Heritage Assets Register. 

What happens next? 

We will prepare a list of candidate heritage assets, which will be presented to the public 

(including the owners of candidate heritage assets) for consultation. Any responses received 

from the public will be placed with the nomination form and will be included in the report 

made to the review panel. 

A panel of councillors, council officers and local experts will review the candidate assets 

nominated to ensure they meet the criteria. The information you provide in answering the 

questions will be essential for the panel’s consideration of your candidate’s significance. If 

they are uncertain, you may be asked to provide further information. Where the panel 

consider that a candidate has met the criteria they will recommend that the Council include 

them on the Oxford Heritage Asset Register.  

In some instances the review panel may decide that the candidate does not meet the criteria 

to be included as a heritage asset but might be appropriate for consideration as a community 

asset. If this is the case, you will be asked to consider making an application for the inclusion 

of your asset on the Council’s list of community assets, which may require additional or 

different information. 

129



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Criteria: 

Registered Heritage Assets must meet all of the four following criteria: 

Criterion 1. They must be capable of meeting the government’s definition of a 

heritage asset.   

Demonstrate that your candidate is able to fall within the government’s definition of a 

heritage asset; i.e. a building, monument, site, place, area or landscape.  

Criterion 2. They must possess heritage interest that can be conserved and 

enjoyed.  

Identify the properties of your candidate asset that need to be cared for as heritage – this is 

its heritage interest.  This might include physical things like its appearance and materials, as 

well as associations with past people or events. Consider whether the physical features of 

the candidate asset help to illustrate its associations. The four types of heritage interest 

listed are recognised in national planning policy.  

Criterion 3. They must have a value as heritage for the character and identity of 

the city, neighbourhood or community because of their heritage interest beyond 

personal or family connections, or the interest of individual property owners. 

Tell us why or how the heritage interest you identified in your answer to Question 2 is of 

local value - this is its heritage value. The types of heritage value suggested on the nomination 

form are based on national guidance by English Heritage. 

Criterion 4. They must have a level of significance that is greater than the 

general positive identified character of the local area.  

Tell us what raises your candidate’s heritage value to a level that merits its consideration in 

planning. Many features of the historic environment are a valued part of local character that 

should be managed through policies relating to townscape character in the local plan. 

Registered heritage assets should stand out as of greater significance than these features for 

their heritage value. The suggested options listed on the nominations form are based on 

national best practice. If you think your candidate asset has special local significance for 

another reason please state what it is. 

 

Criteria adopted By Oxford City Council 17.12.12 

130



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Nos. 9 and 10 Marston Street  

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: No. 9 Marston Street was purchased in 1894 by the Sisterhood of the Holy 

Childhood, an order of Protestant Nuns who taught at Sister Alice’s School on Marston Street. 

No. 10 was purchased soon after by the Cowley Fathers and leased to the sisters.  A chapel at the 

rear was built in 1898.  The order left the buildings in the 1950s after which the Cowley Fathers 

used them to accommodate visitors and religious guests. 

Architectural interest: The small chapel at the rear of the building provides evidence of the 

former use of the building as a small convent and is identifiable as a result of the distinctive gothic 

traceried windows. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important y 

131



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

contribution to its identity or character 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and Illustration: These two buildings are associated with both the Sisters of the 

Holy Childhood and the Society of Saint John the Evangelist (The Cowley Fathers). Both of these 

religious orders made important contributions to the welfare of the community of the suburb, 

whilst the chapel as a distinctive feature of the building provides evidence of their presence.  
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Rarity: This small, back garden chapel is an extremely unusual feature not seen elsewhere in the 

Suburb. 

Integrity: The chapel, in particular, remains identifiable due to its distinctive architectural details, 

whilst the houses retain much of their Victorian character. 

Group value and Oxford’s identity: The buildings with a history of use as a convent and the 

small chapel are part of a range of buildings across the suburb that have associations with the 

religious orders. The development of the East Oxford suburb as a focus for these communities in 

the mid and later 19th century is an important feature of the character of suburb, as well as being 

an element of the identity of Oxford as a whole reflecting its importance in the Oxford Movement 

– the Anglo-Catholic Revival of the mid and late 19th century. 

 

 

132



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Oxford Blue (formerly Swann Inn), Marston Street 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings   

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

  

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

  

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic Interest: Meeting place and social focal point, identifies with East Oxford community 

history dating from the very earliest development of the suburb in the 1860s, when it was 

recorded as the Swan Inn. 

Architectural interest: Edwardian frontage on extended Victorian building is of architectural 

interest.  
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

133



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

  

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

  

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

  

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The pub is an important part of social history of East Oxford as a focal meeting 

point, important to the identity of the area as a working class suburb in which public houses 

provided an space for socialising and entertainment. 

Aesthetics: The well preserved Edwardian frontage is unique in the local area, forms part of 

Marston Street’s diverse architecture, which makes the street a focal point of the ‘Triangle’. 

Communal: Since its recent renovation, the public house once again performs a function as a 

popular social space for the local community. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?   

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?   

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

  

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Integrity: The exterior character and appearance is well preserved with interesting architectural 

features.  

Age: the use as a public house dates from at least the 1860s and therefore forms part of the early 

development of the suburb providing a connection with the earliest days of its occupation. 

Oxford’s Identity: The Oxford Blue (Swan Inn) is a good example of one of the many public 

houses that typified the densely developed East Oxford Suburb and formed part of its historic 

working class character.  

 

134



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Jingle Cottage, No. 49. Marston Street 

 
 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: This is reported to have been first building constructed on Marston Street. 

Architectural interest: The building is a small, detached worker’s cottage built in the 1850s 

with a simple form of construction in brick with pitched slate and including unusual pattern of 

vertical sliding sash windows. It represents a good example of the workers’ cottages, built to 

house the early occupants of East Oxford. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

135



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The building illustrates the earliest phase of the National Freehold Land Society’s  

Second Estate as homes for labourers who were anticipated to be liberal voters. The building’s 

simple form, scale and detailing reflect the status of its builder.  

Aesthetics: The relatively large plot has also been maintained as garden providing green 

surroundings that retain a sense of the more open rural character of the area when the house was 

built.  Both the house and garden make a strong fortuitous contribution to the aesthetic quality of 

Marston Street. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?   

Age and Integrity: Although houses of similar vintage are seen on Circus Street and James 

Street to the north and south, Jingle Cottage stands out in the context of Marston Street as the 

earliest building and for the integrity of its architecture, including the unusual windows with 

narrow side panes and split leaf front door. 

Oxford’s identity: The cottage illustrates the simple dwellings built for the suburbs first 

occupants and contributes to the historic identity of East Oxford as a community of artisans.  

 

 

136



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Nos. 50 and 51 Marston Street 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

y 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Architectural and Artistic interest: These two houses were designed by the locally notable 

architect H. G. W. (Harry) Drinkwater, who was diocesan architect as well as working for several 

of the local breweries as a designer of public houses, which are seen across the city.  They were 

built in 1879 in red brick and of three storeys they stand at the bend in the street and have access 

from porches at the side and distinctive frontages with box-bay windows to the front with 

substantial brick mullions separating two-over two pane sash windows first floor windows have 

low itched gables over. A large chimneystack rises from the crest of the roof on the party wall and 

is an eye-catching feature. Drinkwater’s style isn’t particularly refined but takes on elements of the 

Queen Anne Revival style which was starting to replace Gothic Revival as the most popular style 

in Oxford’s suburbs.  

137



Nominate a Heritage Asset 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage? 

Aesthetics: These two houses stand out in the streetscene for the quality of the architectural 

composition and interesting decorative details.  

Illustration: Drinkwater’s use of Queen Anne Revival style motifs illustrates the development of 

the architecture of the Oxford, particualry when seen in contrast to 53-65 Marston Street, just 

east built only two years earlier in a strident Gothic Revival style. 

 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Integrity: Both buildings retain their original appearance to the front providing a high degree of 

integrity. 

Age and Oxford’s Identity: The Victorian architecture of Drinkwater’s houses contributes well 

to the identity of East Oxford as a Victorian and Edwardian suburb that includes individual 

development fo architect designed housing alongside the more numerous mass built houses of 

speculative developers.. 

 

138



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Nos. 55-66 Marston Street 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y2 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y1 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Architectural interest: The buildings were designed G. T. Sessions a local architect who 

designed several groups of buildings as well as individual town houses around the East Oxford 

Suburb and in the adjoining area of St. Clement’s. They are in matching buff coloured brick forming 

a long frontage with division between properties marked by rainwater goods.  Window and door 

openings have steeply pointed arched openings as part of Gothic Revival style scheme, whilst the 

ground floor bay windows have substantial brick mullions and central pilasters. 

Historic Interest: These houses were built by the Oxford Provident and Industrial Land and 

Building Society in 1878, an organisation who played a prominent role in the development of 

Oxford’s suburbs normally by developing land that was then sold or lease to speculative 

developers under strict covenants. In this instance it appears they undertook the development 

139



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

themselves. 

 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The building illustrates the contrition of the Oxford Provident and Industrial Building 

Society to the rapid development of the suburb but also their use of architects who would add to 

the interest of the environment.  

The building also illustrate the spread of the Gothic Revival style across the city as a distinctive 

style embraced in Oxford, where it contributes to the long history of Gothic architecture seen in 

the colleges and buildings of the University. 

Aesthetics: This is an attractive and distinctive row of buildings that add considerably to the 

positive character of East Oxford Second Suburb Area and to Marston Street in particular. The 

uniformity of architecture and good state of preservation, albeit with many replacement windows 

makes an important contribution to the building’s high aesthetic value 

 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Integrity: The building is well preserved, with detailing and materials contributing to the strong 

unified character and aesthetic appeal created by G. T. Sessions strongly expressed but still 

restrained Gothic revival design.  

Group value: These buildings form part of a group of work y G. T. Session in the local area that 

also includes No. 17 Iffley Road and Terraces at London Place and Glebe Street (all within the St 

Clement’s and Iffley Road Conservation Area), as well as the combined shops and flats at Nos. 

211-215 Cowley Road. Throughout Sessions retained his distinctive Gothic revival motifs making a 

striong contribution to the character of the area. 

Oxford’s identity: These buildings have a strongly expressed late 19th century character, using 

the severe Gothic Revival style that was particularly popular in Oxford in the 1860s and ‘70s. As 

such they make a strong contribution to the distinctive character of East Oxford and are 

representative of the positive historic character of the 19th century suburbs of Oxford as a whole. 

 

140



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Sundial at No. 35 Marston Street 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

y 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Artistic interest: The sundial is an original artwork commissioned for No. 35 Marston Street 

and dependant for its function on its location. 

 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

141



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Aesthetics: The sundial adds to the aesthetic value of Marston Street by design as an attractive 

and thought provoking artwork. 

 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Oxford’s identity: Artwork added to buildings has been noted as a theme of East Oxford’s 

character. This example reflects the creativity and intellectual pursuits of Marston Streets recent 

occupants. 

 

 

142



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

James Street Tavern (formerly Red White and Blue), James Street 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: Built as part of the early development of James Street (sold off in lots between 

1861 and 1864) as three small cottages that were joined together to create this public house as 

one of many that typified the streets of East Oxford between Cowley Road and Iflfey Road. 

Architectural interest: The public house frontage was added in 1908 (designed by J.G.T. West), 

with bay windows and transom and mullion windows that are designed to provide a Jacobean 

character as an early example of the ‘improved’ public house, designed to reflect the coaching inns 

of the 17th century.  The large vitriolite plaque over the door makes a prominent statement about 

the character of the building as a public house with a strong Edwardian character, as well as 

identifying the historic owners as Moorland and Co. Fine Ales and Stouts.. 
 

143



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The building illustrates the historical role of public houses as an important place of 

socialising and entertainment in the East Oxford suburb, as part of its historical development as a 

working class area. 

Aesthetics: The public frontage was designed to provide an attractive outward appearance to the 

building that provided a positive expression of its use as a public house and making reference to 

historic coaching inns. It makes a  positive contribution to the appearance of the street, adding to 

the variety of architecture and detailing, as well as forming a part of its Edwardian and Victorian 

character. 

Communal: Historically public houses like the James Street Tavern provided important social 

spaces that contributed to the cohesion of the community. The James Street Tavern continues to 

provide an important social space that draws together the local community – particularly as a 

focus of live music. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Integrity: The public house frontage is well preserved, retaining its late Edwardian character as an 

important feature of the streetscene 

Group value and Oxford’s Identity: The James Street Tavern is one of a group of 19th and 

early 20th century public houses spread throughout the suburb that make an important 

contribution to the historic character of the East Oxford suburb as a working class area, in which 

pubs provided an important focus for entertainment and socialising 

 

 

144



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Black Swan St. Mary’s Road 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 
a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 
y1 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 
y2 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The Black Swan is first recorded at the corner of Cross Street and St Mary’s 

Road in Kelly’s Directory in 1895, when the license was transferred from another Back Swan at 

George Street. IT was built at the same time as the surrounding housing providing an important 

social facility for the developing residential area around it. 

Architectural interest: The pub is a striking late Victorian building of two storeys in red brick, 

built as a public house on a prominent street corner site with large canted bay window and robust 

stone detailing to windows and doors, and more delicate stone string course, as well as a hipped 

corner to the roof and pyramid roof over the bay window toped with terracotta finials. The tall 

chimneys in ornamental brickwork. The historic timber-framed sash windows have been preserved 

to the first floor and the fixed pub windows with transom lights to the ground floor. The building 

is designed to be impressive and eyecatching,with detailing that makes it distinct from surrounding 

145



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

houses, whilst the ground floor windows in particular help to reveal its use. 

 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 
y2 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 
y1 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 
y4 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 
y3 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The building’s architectural detailing helps to reveal its age as well as that of the 

surroudngin development, whilst its obvious design as a public house illustrates the combination of 

uses that were developed to create the Victorian suburb, including places to socialise, as well as 

housing. 

Associaton and Communal: The building is associated with the community of the surrounding area 

but is also an important focus for the area’s Irish community.  

Aestheitics: The building contributes to the late Victorian character of the area’s architecture, 

adding details that contrast with the housing. 

 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 
Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 
y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 
y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age and Integrity: The building is part of the original development of Crown Street and St 

Mary’s Road and retains its late Victorian appearance as a purpose-built public house.  

Group value and Oxford’s identity: This is one of a group of public houses spread across the 

East Oxford Suburb and particularly concentrated in the streets between Iffley Road and Cowley 

Road that preserve evidence of developments in the retailing of beer during the mid and late 19th 

and early 20th century, including the use of architecture to create messages about the status of 

pubs and their clientele. These buildings provided an important venue for socialising and 

entertainment for the residents’ of these areas in the past and form an important element of its 

Victorian and Edwardian working class character, which is an important part of its identity.  The  

 

 

146



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Former Boot Repairing Department, No. 104 St Mary’s Road 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: Built as the Oxford Co-operative Society Boot-Repairing Department in 1933 

near the end of the Great Depression and possibly forming part of a labour scheme for the 

unemployed as well as reducing the cost of footware. 

Architectural interest: An industrial character building with a large Dutch gabled frontage with 

the bearing the inscription which reveals its purpose and date of construction. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

147



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association/Illustration: This building reveals part of the work of the co-operative movement 

in East Oxford during the economically difficult years of the 1930s within the East Oxford 

heartland. The building also illustrates the historically mixed, residential, commercial and industrial 

character of the streets that lay between Cowley Road and Iffley Road (Central East Oxford and 

the Triangle: East Oxford Second Estate). 

Aesthetics: despite its utilitarian function the builders of the factory nevertheless invested in 

giving the building an attractive appearance. This element of the building has been preserved 

throughout its recent redevelopment as flats. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Rarity and Group value: The building is one of a small number of surviving industrial buildings in 

the East Oxford suburb that illustrate its history as a mixed residential and working 

neighbourhood. These buildings are generally under threat from redevelopment for more 

progitable housing uses. In this case reuse for housing has successfully retained the character of 

the building, sustaining its contribution to the value of this group of buildings. 

Oxford’s identity: The building contributes both to the identity of East Oxford as a suburb 

which historically was a place of work and industry, as well as a residential area and to its 

connection with the work of the co-operative society and trade Union movements – which has 

contributed to the theme of collective activism, protest, which is an important part of the 

neighbourhood’s (and community’s) identity. 

 

 

148



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Green Street Bookbinders 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: “The site was first developed in or around 1988 as an additional stable block 

for the horses of the City of Oxford & Tramways Co. Ltd. Becoming, with the arrival of 

motorbuses in 1914, the principle coach-building body and repair shop for what became the City 

of Oxford Motor Services Ltd., the current Oxford Bus Company. It was vacated by them in 1929 

when the operational base was moved to the new depot at 395 Cowley Road. … It became a hand 

bindery in 1962 and was altered for that use. The bindery was operated by Blackwells.  …The 

premises were sold by Blackwells to the current owner, Green Street Bindery, in 1982. The 

adjoining building was acquired by the current owner for the expansion of the Bindery business. At 

a later stage, offices were constructed within the building envelope at the front of the building on 

the first floor.” (JPPC, 2013, Planning and Heritage Statement , 15-16) 

 

Architectural interest: Architectural interest comprises the building’s industrial character 

which provides evidence of its past use for multiple industrial purposes including its form, 

materials, scale and detailing. This is limited to the large brick built shed that occupies the majority 

of the site. The later addition to the property, a single storey flat roofed shed is not considered to 

contribute to the architectural interest of the site. 

 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

y 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association: The building is associated with two businesses that are recognised as Oxford Bus 

Company and Blackwells that have made an important contribution to the character and 

development of Oxford.  

Illustration: The buildings illustrate the development of public transport in Oxford from the days 

149



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

of horse drawn trams to the introduction of buses. The survival of such buildings provides 

evidence of the development, economy and society of the suburb. Public transport played an 

important role in the development of the city suburbs, making it possible for people to work in 

the city centre. The Oxford Bus Company played an important part in this process and remains a 

prominent feature of the city, competing with the buses of national companies. The development 

of the bus company followed the resistance of the University and Colleges to the introduction of 

overhead wires for electric trams along the High Street.  

Aesthetics: The building may not be comely but contributes to the mixed architectural character 

of the streets of Central East Oxford neighbourhood, which typically include a scatter of light 

industrial buildings, in addition to houses and buildings of other uses. Its architecture and materials 

reflect its lat e 19th or early 20th century origins.  This variety is an important element of the 

appearance of the suburb, whilst the potential for employment uses in the otherwise largely 

residential areas provides opportunities for activity in the streets. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Rarity and integrity: The building is considered to be unique in Oxford as a surviving tram 

depot and has largely retained it early 120th century architectural character.  

Group value and Oxford’s identity: The building is one of a small number of industrial 

buildings in the immediately surrounding streets that illustrate the presence of industrial acrtivity 

within the suburb in the late 19th and early 20th century. The combination of industry and 

residential use is an important feature of the historical character and identity of the East Oxford 

suburb. The type of industry that is represented reflects the history of Oxford as a centre of 

motor engineering in the past, as well as learning and production of books in Britain.  

 

Sources: 

JPPC Chartered Town Planners, 2013, Planning and Heritage Statement; Site: 9 Green 

Street, Oxford, OX4 1YB  

150



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Old Furniture Factory, No. 55 Randolph Street  

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The site includes buildings constructed in the late 19th and early 20th century 

and used for a number of light industrial activities including manufacturing furniture, latterly 

cabinets for televisions and radios.  

Architectural interest: The buildings have non-domestic architecture and features reflecting 

their past use, including the large, part-glazed frontages facing onto an inner courtyard. Their 

architecture reflects their period of development and is substantially intact on the exterior. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

y 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The building’s architecture and features illustrate the past development of the area 

as a mixed residential and industrial suburb, whereas the area has become increasingly residential 

in nature.   

Evidence: How the factory buildings were each used is not known whilst the integration of the 

furniture factory with the many furniture shops that once stood on Cowley Road would also be of 

interest in understanding the functioning of the suburb’s economy. 

Aesthetics: The buildings contribute to the Victorian and Edwardian architectural character of 

the suburb but add to its variety by adding the industrial elements, as well as a greater scale and 

the enclosed courtyard. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once  

151



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

common? 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Integrity: The buildings have retained their industrial character, as well as the Edwardian 

architectural details that provide evidence of their age. The building retains (externally) a significant 

level of its historic detailing, including fragments of an original wall-painted sign, that indicates its 

original appearance and subsequent development and use.   

Group value and Oxford’s identity: This is one of a number of similar buildings that illustrate 

the industrial past of the suburb, which is an important element of its 19t and early 20th century 

character and identity.  

 

 

152



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Craft building and Store at St John’s Home, St Mary’s Road (formerly St Mary’s 

Infant’s and Girls’ School)  

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: This small school was established on land bought by Father Richard Meux 

Benson for the Church in Cowley in 1868. It was run in part by All Saints’ Sisters of the Poor. In 

the evenings it served as a reading room, to encourage the education of working men from the 

suburb.  After the infants’ school was replaced by the Comper Building at Hertford Street the 

buildings of the school were taken into the wider precinct of St John’s Home. Latterly the earliest 

part of the building was demolished, although the attractive roadside range, added in 1881 has 

been retained. 

Architectural interest: The surviving element of the school was built in the locally 

manufactured yellow stock brick, to the roadside (matching the materials of the St John’s Home 

153



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

boundary wall, but is in red brick on its other frontages. It was designed in the Gothic Revival style 

with sharply pointed lancet windows and two-centred arched doorway to the road and has a 

steeply pitched slate roof.  The building’s north east wall and roof slope have been completely 

replaced, following the demolition of the earlier range. Internally the building retains a blocked 

window to the north west frontage, which is covered by an early 20th century store building.  
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association/Illustration: The building provides a connection with Father Benson (an individual 

who made a considerable contribution to the social welfare of the people of the suburb during the 

mid 19th century) and illustrates involvement of the religious organisations of the suburb in the 

provision of education during the early history of the suburb. 

Aesthetics: from the roadside this is an attractive small building, retaining its late Victorian 

character and contributing to the overall character of East Oxford as a Victorian and Edwardian 

suburb. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: This building dates illustrates a use of the site that began in the early years of the suburb’s 

development, although the present structure was not built until some 20 years later (at least).  

Integrity: From the road and from the interior the building retains its historic appearance, although 

it is in fact a fragment of a much larger structure and includes building elements that have been 

replaced in the past twenty years. 

Group value: The building contributes to both the group of buildings across the suburb 

associated with Father Benson ant he Cowley Fathers and to the buildings illustrating the 

development of education provision in the Victorian and Edwardian periods, including the 

involvement of church organisations in this process. These are both important themes in the 

history of the East Oxford Suburb.  

Oxford’s Identity:  The school was known as the Robin Hood School, referring to the identity 

of the area between Magdalen Road and Howards Street, which it served until the early 20th 

century and therefore contributes to the identity of this neighbourhood within the suburb. 

The building illustrates the involvement and presence of many religious communities within East 

Oxford since the early development of the suburb and continuing to the present is a part of the 

subrub’s character and identity. 

154



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Welcome to the nominations form for the Oxford Heritage Assets Register 
What the form is for 

The nomination form asks you to demonstrate how your candidate asset meets the criteria 

for inclusion on the Oxford Heritage Assets Register (the criteria are set out on the next 

page). The criteria ensure registration as a heritage asset is the most appropriate means to 

manage your valued feature of the environment. 

Registration does not mean an asset will be preserved in its current state in perpetuity. 

Planning policy allows change to heritage assets that conserves or better reveals their 

significance or, where change requires their loss, replaces the benefit to the public that they 

provide. The information provided in support of your nomination will help determine what 

forms of change might be acceptable. Saying “it’s important and must never change” won’t 

tell us what we need to know to manage your heritage asset in the future. 

Tick or rank? 

In answers to Questions 2 – 4 you can rank the interests, values and significance your 

candidate asset provides to show which you consider the most and least important to its 

significance; i.e. 1st  (most important) – 4th (least important). 

Alternatives 

If your candidate asset does not have significance that merits inclusion on the register but 

does contribute to the valued character of the local environment, consider preparing a 

character statement for the area using the Oxford Character Assessment Toolkit.  This 

identifies features that contribute positively to local character and opportunities for 

enhancement. It may help to identify other ways that change can contribute to the quality of 

the local environment and its sense of place. 

Where the use of land, buildings or places now or in the recent past, furthers the social 

wellbeing or social interests of the local community (and this is not an ancillary use), it may 

be considered to be an asset of community value (community asset), for which the 

government has made provision in the Localism Act 2011.  Regulations give communities the 

opportunity to identify assets of community value and have them listed and, when they are 

put up for sale, more time to raise finance and prepare to bid for them. The Council is 

maintaining a list of community assets. Nevertheless, there may be examples where land is 

considered to both qualify as a community asset and heritage asset, in which case it will be 

necessary to distinguish which features of their value and significance are relevant to each 

designation.  

Sites and buildings in conservation areas 

Conservation Areas are ‘designated heritage assets’ as defined by the government’s planning 

policy and receive a higher level of protection than locally registered heritage assets, 

including legal restrictions on demolition and some permitted development rights. 

Nevertheless, they are designated locally and reflect the local value of these areas as heritage 

assets. Features of the historic landscape within conservation areas that would be 

considered to have a significance meriting consideration in planning decisions would be 

155



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

considered to contribute to the significance of a conservation area and therefore are 

considered to be part of a designated heritage asset.  As such, we will not consider them for 

inclusion on the Oxford Heritage Assets Register. 

What happens next? 

We will prepare a list of candidate heritage assets, which will be presented to the public 

(including the owners of candidate heritage assets) for consultation. Any responses received 

from the public will be placed with the nomination form and will be included in the report 

made to the review panel. 

A panel of councillors, council officers and local experts will review the candidate assets 

nominated to ensure they meet the criteria. The information you provide in answering the 

questions will be essential for the panel’s consideration of your candidate’s significance. If 

they are uncertain, you may be asked to provide further information. Where the panel 

consider that a candidate has met the criteria they will recommend that the Council include 

them on the Oxford Heritage Asset Register.  

In some instances the review panel may decide that the candidate does not meet the criteria 

to be included as a heritage asset but might be appropriate for consideration as a community 

asset. If this is the case, you will be asked to consider making an application for the inclusion 

of your asset on the Council’s list of community assets, which may require additional or 

different information. 

156



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Criteria: 

Registered Heritage Assets must meet all of the four following criteria: 

Criterion 1. They must be capable of meeting the government’s definition of a 

heritage asset.   

Demonstrate that your candidate is able to fall within the government’s definition of a 

heritage asset; i.e. a building, monument, site, place, area or landscape.  

Criterion 2. They must possess heritage interest that can be conserved and 

enjoyed.  

Identify the properties of your candidate asset that need to be cared for as heritage – this is 

its heritage interest.  This might include physical things like its appearance and materials, as 

well as associations with past people or events. Consider whether the physical features of 

the candidate asset help to illustrate its associations. The four types of heritage interest 

listed are recognised in national planning policy.  

Criterion 3. They must have a value as heritage for the character and identity of 

the city, neighbourhood or community because of their heritage interest beyond 

personal or family connections, or the interest of individual property owners. 

Tell us why or how the heritage interest you identified in your answer to Question 2 is of 

local value - this is its heritage value. The types of heritage value suggested on the nomination 

form are based on national guidance by English Heritage. 

Criterion 4. They must have a level of significance that is greater than the 

general positive identified character of the local area.  

Tell us what raises your candidate’s heritage value to a level that merits its consideration in 

planning. Many features of the historic environment are a valued part of local character that 

should be managed through policies relating to townscape character in the local plan. 

Registered heritage assets should stand out as of greater significance than these features for 

their heritage value. The suggested options listed on the nominations form are based on 

national best practice. If you think your candidate asset has special local significance for 

another reason please state what it is. 

 

Criteria adopted By Oxford City Council 17.12.12 

157



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

East Oxford Primary School Main Building, Union Street 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y1 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y2 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The School was built by the Local Board of Education in 1898 to replace the 

earlier non-denominational school of the British and Foreign School Society for the Education of 

the Labouring and Manufacturing Classes of Society of Every Religious Persuasion, built in 1882.  

Architectural interest the building is constructed of a mixture of red and grey brick with 

prominent gabled returns at either end of a central range that contains the main school hall. 

Numerous later additions at the front and rear have sought to maintain the overall character of 

the main building, 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or  

158



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

character of the area 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y1 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y3 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y2 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration and Association: The building helps to illustrate the development of education for the 

growing suburb in the late 19th century, partly through the expanded role of local government as 

well as through charitable organisations. In this case the involvement of the British and Foreign 

School Society represented a particular intention to avoid affiliation to any particular religious 

organisation, an early example of the activism that has been a feature of the East Oxford 

community. 

Communal: The school has brought together the community for over a century as pupils from 

different areas are taught and play together and parents participate in the governance of the school 

and the organisation of activities. The school is used by the community for other activities 

including  public meetings and the regular farmers’ and community markets.    

Aesthetics: The school building retains an attractive quality despite later additions to the original 

block, largely through the use of a consistent palette of materials. These provide a shared range of 

colour and texture to surrounding areas of housing, helping to unite the building with its 

surroundings. 

 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: The building is now over a century old and contributes to the landscape of late Victorian  and 

Edwardian buildings that help to illustrate the development of the suburb into a well developed 

community with its own services and infrastructure. 

Group Value: The school building is one of a group of educational buildings that chart the 

development of provision of public education across the suburb in the 19th and early 20th century, 

contributing to an important theme of the area’s history. 

Oxford’ Identity: The building has provided a focus of community life within the East Oxford 

Suburb and contributes to the sense of identity of this neighbourhood within the city, as well as 

the coherence and interaction of its community. 

 

 

159



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Oxford Central Mosque, Manzil Way 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: Since the mid 1950s East Oxford has served as the home of a growing south 

Asian community, mainly comprised of immigrants from Pakistan but also with a substantial 

Bangladeshi element. The first mosque in Oxford was established in Bath Street in 1968 by the 

Oxford Mosque Society. Since then further mosques have been established through the 

conversion of existing building. The Oxford Central Mosque  was the first purpose built mosque in 

Oxford representing a considerable investment in the devotional space of part of Oxford’s Muslim 

community, providing both an expression of faith as well as a symbol of the communal identity. 

Architectural Interest: The Central Mosque building makes use of a number of familiar 

architectural forms that represent its function, including the minaret at the front, slim corner 

turrets with dome caps and a large central dome. The use of red, blue and buff-coloured brick 

160



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

provides detail and to the frontage, including outlining the window openings. These materials also 

help to unite the mosque with the surrounding housing, including the later 20th century housing at 

Cosins Close.  

 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The mosque illustrates the development of a self-aware and confident Muslim 

community in East Oxford as part of the area’s cultural diversity. 

Aesthetics: The building’s architectural features are designed to express its purpose and 

advertise its presence to a wide area, providing an image that is familiar to users. It is considered 

to be a successful addition to East Oxford’s townscape. That makes a positive contribution to 

many views through the area, where the dome and minaret are often glimpsed between buildings 

or over rooftops. 

Communal: The mosque provides a symbol of the identity of a large Muslim community based 

both within East Oxford and across the city. It provides a devotional space that is important to the 

religious practice of this community and for which it has been purposefully designed. It also 

supports the coherence and interaction of this community and a place for education.  

 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Group value: The Oxford Central Mosque is one of four mosques across east Oxford serving 

different groups within the Sunni Islamic tradition.  

Oxford’s Identity: The mosque is important to both the identity of its own community of 

worshippers and as a symbol of East Oxford’s Culturally diverse and integrated community. 

 

 

161



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

 1 

Asian Cultural Centre, Manzil Way (formerly the chapel of the New Oxford City 

Workhouse and Cowley Road Hospital)  

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

y 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The building represents the last structural evidence of the former New Union 

Workhouse built on Cowley Road in the 1860s to provide accommodation for the poor of the 

city under the New Poor Law (introduced in 1834) and replacing thre former workhouse at ‘Rats 

and Mice Hill’  (now Wellington Square).  The Workhouse was in fact a complex of buildings set 

well back from the road with a ling drive (now Manzil Way) running through extensive gardens, 

presumably cultivated by the inmates. IT was built to serve people from within the city but was 

actually built outside the city’s then boundary. Residents of the suburb, ironically would have had 

to go the the Headington Union Workhouse which was located on London Road. In later years 

the workhouse provided residential care for the aged infirm of Oxford and was known as Cowley 

Road Hospital. Most of the buildings were demolished soon after the hospitals closure in 1984.  

Archaeological interest: 

There remains potential for the survival of structural evidence of the former workhouse as 

subsurface archaeological remains. There is also some potential that the area near to the chapel 

could have been used as a burial ground for the workhouse. 

Architectural interest: As the last remaining element of the workhouse the chapel has 

162



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

 2 

architectural interest as a fragmentary survival the workhouse which can provide an impression of 

the larger building’s appearance. The building is designed as a simple Gothic revival chapel in the 

buff brick that was produced locally and typifies large parts of the East Oxford Suburb  

 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y2 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y1 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

y4 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y3 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association/Illustration:  The solitary building illustrates the earliest use of this land for a social 

welfare function (albeit one that is often viewed negatively), which has continued to the present 

day with the reuse of the land of the former workhouse for a geriatric hospital, day care, hospital, 

and the present suite of health care uses that include the Manzil Resource Centre, Restore, St 

Bartholomew’s Medical Centre, and the East Oxford Health Centre as well as Manzil Gardens, 

representing a continuity of this land for over 150 years. 

It contributes to the wider historic theme of the provision of health care and social welfare 

facilities in the east Oxford Suburb, which was partly due to the area’s position outside the city.  

Aesthetics: The building is an attractively designed Gothic revival chapel that contributes to the 

Victorian architectural character of the East Oxford Suburb. 

Evidence: The potential of the area’s archaeological interest to reveal more about the history of 

the workhouse and the people who lived within it is of great interest as a resource to investigate 

the history of Oxford in the mid and later 19th century. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: The building dates from the earliest period of the suburb’s development, preceding the 

surrounding housing developments and originally representing a development in the open fields 

outside the town  

Rarity: As a surviving element of one of Oxford’s workhouses the building is a rare survival in the 

city. Only one other purpose built workhouse building is known to survive  in Oxford (part of 

Summer Fields School in Summertown), although other buildings in the city were used as 

workhouses, or parish poor houses at various times. 

Integrity: The original architectural scheme of the chapel is appreciable and well preserved 

externally, although it has been altered inside. 

Group Value: The building is one of a group of buildings that chart the history of the provision of 

health care and social welfare facilities in East Oxford from the medieval period u into the 20th 

century as an important them of the area’s development.  

163



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

 3 

Welcome to the nominations form for the Oxford Heritage Assets Register 
What the form is for 

The nomination form asks you to demonstrate how your candidate asset meets the criteria 

for inclusion on the Oxford Heritage Assets Register (the criteria are set out on the next 

page). The criteria ensure registration as a heritage asset is the most appropriate means to 

manage your valued feature of the environment. 

Registration does not mean an asset will be preserved in its current state in perpetuity. 

Planning policy allows change to heritage assets that conserves or better reveals their 

significance or, where change requires their loss, replaces the benefit to the public that they 

provide. The information provided in support of your nomination will help determine what 

forms of change might be acceptable. Saying “it’s important and must never change” won’t 

tell us what we need to know to manage your heritage asset in the future. 

Tick or rank? 

In answers to Questions 2 – 4 you can rank the interests, values and significance your 

candidate asset provides to show which you consider the most and least important to its 

significance; i.e. 1st  (most important) – 4th (least important). 

Alternatives 

If your candidate asset does not have significance that merits inclusion on the register but 

does contribute to the valued character of the local environment, consider preparing a 

character statement for the area using the Oxford Character Assessment Toolkit.  This 

identifies features that contribute positively to local character and opportunities for 

enhancement. It may help to identify other ways that change can contribute to the quality of 

the local environment and its sense of place. 

Where the use of land, buildings or places now or in the recent past, furthers the social 

wellbeing or social interests of the local community (and this is not an ancillary use), it may 

be considered to be an asset of community value (community asset), for which the 

government has made provision in the Localism Act 2011.  Regulations give communities the 

opportunity to identify assets of community value and have them listed and, when they are 

put up for sale, more time to raise finance and prepare to bid for them. The Council is 

maintaining a list of community assets. Nevertheless, there may be examples where land is 

considered to both qualify as a community asset and heritage asset, in which case it will be 

necessary to distinguish which features of their value and significance are relevant to each 

designation.  

Sites and buildings in conservation areas 

Conservation Areas are ‘designated heritage assets’ as defined by the government’s planning 

policy and receive a higher level of protection than locally registered heritage assets, 

including legal restrictions on demolition and some permitted development rights. 

Nevertheless, they are designated locally and reflect the local value of these areas as heritage 

assets. Features of the historic landscape within conservation areas that would be 

considered to have a significance meriting consideration in planning decisions would be 

164



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

 4 

considered to contribute to the significance of a conservation area and therefore are 

considered to be part of a designated heritage asset.  As such, we will not consider them for 

inclusion on the Oxford Heritage Assets Register. 

What happens next? 

We will prepare a list of candidate heritage assets, which will be presented to the public 

(including the owners of candidate heritage assets) for consultation. Any responses received 

from the public will be placed with the nomination form and will be included in the report 

made to the review panel. 

A panel of councillors, council officers and local experts will review the candidate assets 

nominated to ensure they meet the criteria. The information you provide in answering the 

questions will be essential for the panel’s consideration of your candidate’s significance. If 

they are uncertain, you may be asked to provide further information. Where the panel 

consider that a candidate has met the criteria they will recommend that the Council include 

them on the Oxford Heritage Asset Register.  

In some instances the review panel may decide that the candidate does not meet the criteria 

to be included as a heritage asset but might be appropriate for consideration as a community 

asset. If this is the case, you will be asked to consider making an application for the inclusion 

of your asset on the Council’s list of community assets, which may require additional or 

different information. 

165



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

 5 

The Criteria: 

Registered Heritage Assets must meet all of the four following criteria: 

Criterion 1. They must be capable of meeting the government’s definition of a 

heritage asset.   

Demonstrate that your candidate is able to fall within the government’s definition of a 

heritage asset; i.e. a building, monument, site, place, area or landscape.  

Criterion 2. They must possess heritage interest that can be conserved and 

enjoyed.  

Identify the properties of your candidate asset that need to be cared for as heritage – this is 

its heritage interest.  This might include physical things like its appearance and materials, as 

well as associations with past people or events. Consider whether the physical features of 

the candidate asset help to illustrate its associations. The four types of heritage interest 

listed are recognised in national planning policy.  

Criterion 3. They must have a value as heritage for the character and identity of 

the city, neighbourhood or community because of their heritage interest beyond 

personal or family connections, or the interest of individual property owners. 

Tell us why or how the heritage interest you identified in your answer to Question 2 is of 

local value - this is its heritage value. The types of heritage value suggested on the nomination 

form are based on national guidance by English Heritage. 

Criterion 4. They must have a level of significance that is greater than the 

general positive identified character of the local area.  

Tell us what raises your candidate’s heritage value to a level that merits its consideration in 

planning. Many features of the historic environment are a valued part of local character that 

should be managed through policies relating to townscape character in the local plan. 

Registered heritage assets should stand out as of greater significance than these features for 

their heritage value. The suggested options listed on the nominations form are based on 

national best practice. If you think your candidate asset has special local significance for 

another reason please state what it is. 

 

Criteria adopted By Oxford City Council 17.12.12 

166



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Magdalen Road Church (formerly Magdalen Road Mission Hall) 

 
 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The Magdalen Road Mission Hall was built in 1901 and replaced the Magdalen 

Road Workman’s Hall (recorded in1879). 

Architectural interest: The building has the appearance of a medium-sized non-conformist 

chapel set gable-end to the street with a central porch and oculus above and tall pointed gothic 

window and door openings built in yellow brick of the type used for many of the surrounding 

houses with red brick and stone detailing. The windows in particular retain attractive timber 

frames with arched glazing bars. 

 
 

167



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and illustration: The building illustrates the role of religious organisations in 

undertaking charitable work with the suburb of East Oxford , particularly in the Robin Hood Area, 

to provide Health and Social Welfare, prior to the development of the Welfare State.  That 

historic association of the site with a workmen’s hall suggest an early example of the type of 

communal enterprise and political activism that has come to be associated with East Oxford. 

Aesthetics: although a relatively humble building the church was built with decorative features to 

ensure it made a positive contribution to the appearance of the street.  The building now 

contributes features to the Victorian and Edwardian character of the area that are not provided by 

the surrounding houses. 

Communal: The hall has historically provided an important resource that has brought the 

community together, building community cohesion and identity, as well as providing for spiritual 

activity including active Christian mission.  It is now the home to an evangelical church who 

continue this tradition and to whom the building also now has a communal value as part of their 

identity. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y3 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y2 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y1 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y1 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Oxford’s identity: The building provides evidence of the Robin Hood area’s past as one of the 

poorer areas of the East Oxford suburb in the late 19th and early 20th century, which attracted the 

charitable organisations to undertake mission work. As a non-sectarian religious building it also 

reflects the religious diversity of the community of the East Oxford Suburb during the late 19th and 

early 20th century, which continues to be an important feature of its character and identity. 

Integrity: The building retains its outward late Victorian appearance and can be readily discerned 

as an historic building with a religious association due to its architectural detailing. 

Age: The building is now over a hundred years old and represents a use of the site that reaches 

back yet further into the area’s past.  

 

 

168



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

39 Magdalen Road (Oxfork) 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: This has been a shop since the late 19th century. 

Architectural interest: Th ebuuilding has a large and well preserved late 19th century shopfront 

built as an extension to an earlier, mid19th century cottage. It retains the characteristic details of a 

shopfront of its date. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and illustration: The building provides a connection with the past of Magdalen Road as 

a focus of commercial activity within the East Oxford Suburb and illustrates the late Victorian 

development of this aspect of the area through the style and detailing of the shopfront. 

Aesthetics: The well preserved shopfront provides an attractive detail that adds to the 

architectural variety of the Magdalen Road streetscene, whilst maintaining its Victorian character. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

169



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age and Integrity:  The shopfront is a particularly well-preserved example of its kind within the 

context of the suburb where few original shopfronts have survived. It dates from a period when 

the suburb was becoming well established as a residential area with developing needs for local 

shops and services. 

Oxford’s identity: The shop, which is now a well used café, preserves the character of Magdalen 

Road as an historic commercial area, reflecting the mixed character of uses seen within East 

Oxford, which is far from being a dormitory suburb. 

 

 

170



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Rusty Bicycle, 28 Magdalen Road 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 
a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 
y2 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 
y1 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest? Local public house that makes up part of the 

area’s character.  

Historic interest: This has been the site of a public house since, at least, 1879. 

Architectural interest: This is a late example of the ‘improved public houses’ built by the breweries 

in the Inter-war years. In this case, whilst maintaining some of the characteristic features, such as 

transom and mullion windows and prominent bay windows, the building also shows evidence of 

modernist influence in the straight lines of the cast concrete door surrounds. 

 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

171



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 
y2 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 
y1 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 
y4 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 
y3 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration and Association: The building illustrates the development of public houses as a 

characteristic feature of the East Oxford Suburb, particularly in the streets between Magdalen 

Road and Iffley Road, as important places for socialising and entertainment.  Their redevelopment 

as ‘improved public houses’ illustrates changing attitudes towards public houses and drinking 

amongst working people in the early 20th century and the response of the breweries through 

investment in architecture to enhance the perception of public houses as venues for socialising, 

drawing on themes such as the coaching inns of the 17th century, as well as new architectural 

styles to portray public houses as a part of modern life. 

Aesthetics: The building adds architectural interest to the streetscene 

Communal value: The public house has provided an important venue for social interaction, 

contributing to community cohesion an, following a recent renovation, continues to do so. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 
y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 
y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value? Represents part of the area’s history and culture. 

Contribute towards place identity. 

Group value and Oxford’s identity: The Rusty Bicycle is one of a group of pubs across East 

Oxford that contribute to the historic character of the suburb as an area of predominantly artisan 

housing where pubs played an important cultural role as the venues for socialising and 

entertainment. This communal history is an important aspect of the area’s history that contributes 

to the identity of the East Oxford Suburb.  The redevelopment of many of these public houses in 

the Inter-war years adds further to this story by reflecting the changing attitudes of the area’s 

community, perhaps partly due to the availability of other forms of entertainment and increased 

affluence, and the response of the breweries to this with enhancement of the architecture leading 

to a group of buildings of architectural interest as characteristic features of the East Oxford 

streetscene 

Integrity: The building retains much of its historic appearance externally  

 

 

172



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Nos. 109 – 111 Magdalen Road (Chudry Jewellers, The Magic Café and the Inner 

Bookshop +accommodation over. 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Architectural interest: A building containing three terraced properties with shops to ground 

floor, retaining elements of historic Victoria or Edwardian shopfronts, with the first and second 

floors above in yellow brick with red brick banding and quoins. The first foors are lit by matching 

oriel windows with slate roofs.  The second-floor lit by half dormer windows with gothic two-

centre arched heads set in pairs under steeply pitched gables with intricate bargeboards and 

containing red-brick diapers.  
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

2 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

3 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

1 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

2 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Aesthetics: The buildings contribute interesting architectural detailing to views along Magdalen 

Street and down Hurst Street, for which they provide an endstop. The steeply pitched gables, 

gothic windows, decorative brick detailing and historic style shopfronts contribute to the aesthetic 

value of the building and add detail and interest in the streetscene.  

Communal and Illustration: These buildings provide a focus for the commercial area on 

Magdalen Road, including evidence of its longevity, contributing to the role of Magdalen Road as a 

focus for the communal life of the suburb. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

173



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Integrity: The buildings are well preserved, retaining much of their historic architectural detailing. 

Oxford’s identity: The buildings make an important contribution to the character and identity of 

Magdalen Road as an historic commercial area within the suburb. 

 

 

174



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Nos. 109 – 111 Magdalen Road (Chudry Jewellers, The Magic Café and the Inner 

Bookshop +accommodation over. 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Architectural interest: A building containing three terraced properties with shops to ground 

floor, retaining elements of historic Victoria or Edwardian shopfronts, with the first and second 

floors above in yellow brick with red brick banding and quoins. The first foors are lit by matching 

oriel windows with slate roofs.  The second-floor lit by half dormer windows with gothic two-

centre arched heads set in pairs under steeply pitched gables with intricate bargeboards and 

containing red-brick diapers.  
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

2 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

3 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

1 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

2 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Aesthetics: The buildings contribute interesting architectural detailing to views along Magdalen 

Street and down Hurst Street, for which they provide an endstop. The steeply pitched gables, 

gothic windows, decorative brick detailing and historic style shopfronts contribute to the aesthetic 

value of the building and add detail and interest in the streetscene.  

Communal and Illustration: These buildings provide a focus for the commercial area on 

Magdalen Road, including evidence of its longevity, contributing to the role of Magdalen Road as a 

focus for the communal life of the suburb. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

175



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Integrity: The buildings are well preserved, retaining much of their historic architectural detailing. 

Oxford’s identity: The buildings make an important contribution to the character and identity of 

Magdalen Road as an historic commercial area within the suburb. 

 

 

176



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Mission House, No. 14 Magdalen Road  

 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

Y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

Y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The mission house is associated with the Community of St. John the Baptist (the 

Clewer Sisters) who provided care for the sick poor in their homes from 1904 until 1936. It has 

subsequently been used by the Parish.  It is an interesting building, standing out in the Magdalen 

Road streetscene, double-fronted with the front door between three-storey box-bays with 

windows openings formed by moulded brick in Tudor arches. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and Illustration: The building has a strong association with the religious orders 

who came to East Oxford in the late 19th and early 20th centuries as a result of the development of 

the Oxford movement.  As such its survival illustrates the presence of communities of Anglican 

nuns in the community and their work to provide for the health and welfare of the suburb’s 

community. 

Aesthetics: The building is particularly attractive and has survived in a largely complete state 

externally, including its fine brickwork detailing and timber-framed windows including arch-headed 

vertically sliding sash windows. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

177



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Integrity: The building is well preserved (see above) providing evidence of its date of 

construction.  

Group value and Oxford’s identity: It has value as part of a larger group of buildings 

associated with religious orders in the suburb, which, together, make an important contribution to 

the historic identity of the suburb. 

 

 

178



Name and location of your candidate heritage asset
 SS Mary & John Primary School, Hertford Street, Oxford:

The Irving building (part of SS Mary & John School) from the Essex Street playground, 
c.1912

179



The building is as marked by the blue triangle

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following? Tick
a building or group of buildings –
A series of school buildings.

√ 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 
other than a building)
a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)
a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 
centre, village, suburb or field system)

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?  Tick / Rank
Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, 
episode of history, or local industry:

The School complex is made up of two principal buildings.

The Comper building was designed and built W Bucknell and JN Comper in 
1904. A proponent of the ‘Oxford Movement’, John Ninian Comper was a 
Victorian ecclesiastical architect and fellow tractarian of John Keeble.  This is a 
listed building as indicated on the National Heritage List for England 
(http://www.english-
heritage.org.uk/professional/protection/process/national-heritage-list-for-
england). 

Alongside it and within  the same curtilage lies the Irving Building, built in 
1896.

SS Mary & John School, once known as the Robin Hood School or St Mary's 
Road School, was opened in October 1868 and was housed in a small 
building in St Mary's Road. This school, along with junior classes from St 
Mary's Road School, transferred to a new building in Hertford Street in 1896, 
which was extended in 1899.  This building (now called the Irving Building) 
was restored after a serious fire in 1991.  A new Infants' school, designed by 
Sir John Ninian Comper (1864-1960) and described by Bishop Paget as 'an 
infants' palace', was built on the site and opened in 1904. John Irving was 
headmaster from April 1895 until he retired in 1932.

√

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about 
the human past through further study
Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 
particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials

The school is built in Victorian red brick. Comper building was described as 
an infant’s Palace by Bishop Paget. The following description is taken from 
the National Heritage List for England:
 
Red brick with dormers of roughcast and imitated half timbering. Tiled roofs.  

√

180



Windows throughout have Tudor arches and single chamfer, heavy wooden 
casements with all glazing bars. Facade to Hertford Street: Gabled wings with  
round coping and three stepped windows. The centre is of six bays with  
crenellated parapet and buttresses with two setbacks. Two large triangular  
dormers centred over second and fifth bays. On central buttress a small cusped 
stone niche with figure of St. Mary and foundation stone with worn applied 
lettering. Asymmetrical end facades, each with Tudor lancets under central  
gable and plank door with ornamental hinges to right hand side. Rear facade 
of five gables, the three in centre over triple windows. Two dormers as at front.

Interior. Central hall with wide pointed wooden tunnel vault, brought to seven 
corbels on each side by small cross vaults above large glazed partitions which 
light the classrooms on east, and windows on west. Vault defined by delicate  
roll-moulded ribs on arises and perpendicular to the ridge, painted brown, dark  
blue and gold (said to reproduce the original scheme). Classrooms under tunnel  
vaults running out from walls of hall.

Victorians believed architecture could have meaning and influence beyond 
bricks and mortar, in the realm of education among others. In common with 
many other school buildings of that period, the key features of the Irving 
building - its high facades, large windows and polychromic brickwork, as well 
as the provision, internally, of a multi-purpose, open-plan hall and, externally, 
open space for planting and play - help to form a building with substantial 
street presence.

This helps to mark its own importance as a community asset, but in addition 
its association with the adjacent Comper building marks it out as a heritage 
asset and  merits its consideration in planning.

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or 
use of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest? 

WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally for 
any of the following reasons?

Tick / Rank

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 
character of the area

The buildings together continue to house a school in the heart of East 
Oxford, and have provided the local community this vital function for c. 110 
years 

√

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 
contribution to its identity or character

√

181



The school’s buildings provide continuity for a diverse local community to a 
tradition of education for all, the value and importance of inclusivity, and a 
symbol of local connection and togetherness.

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about 
the area’s history

By virtue of its continued status as an educational establishment, the 
buildings act as a reminder of the importance of local schools acting as 
mediating and bonding features of local communities.

√

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the 
area either by design or fortuitously

The buildings, and their surrounding open spaces, afford the local community 
a balance to the constraints of an otherwise densely populated area; their 
variety of scale and features also provide the area with an important 
architectural landmark.

√

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory 
of all or part of the community

Across the community there are families from diverse social and economic 
backgrounds and ethnicity who have one thing in common: their children or 
grandchildren having been educated in the Comper and Irving buildings. For 
these families, significant in their number, the school, and in particular its 
buildings, has been a point of connection, cohesion and belonging. 

√

Heritage: How is the asset locally valued as heritage?

By continuing to perform their original function as an educational establishment, and 
through the focus within the curriculum on the history of the school, the buildings act as a 
constant physical reminder of their heritage.

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 
following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out 
above the surrounding environment?  

Tick

Age … 108-116 years √
Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was 
once common?

√

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? √
Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 
communal association?

√

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 
particular part of it?

√

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value? √

182



How does this contribute to its value?

Alongside the school, Gibbons Bakery ('Di's Breadshop') has acted as the nexus for the local 
community - to gather together, to form ties and bonds, to share and receive information, 
and to buy bread (and sweets!); for generations of families living locally, the common 
threads in their lives have been school and the morning visit to the 'bread shop'.

183



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

No. 147-151 Howard Street, Donnington Arms Public House, Howard Street 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic Interest: A former public house and now a restaurant, The Donnington Arms was built 

for Halls’ Brewery in 1935 and is a good example of an ‘Improved Public House’.  This part of the 

Robin Hood Area was developed from 1878, partly by the speculative developer John Galpin. 

However an early reference to the Donnington Arms survives from Kelly’s Directory of 1876, 

when the proprietor was recorded as Mrs Hebborn, who was also a cab proprietor.  

Architectural interest: A good example of the ‘improved Public House’ style produced in the 

Inter-War years, in this case by Halls Brewery. The style was intended to change the perception of 

public houses, by making them more aspirational destinations to eat and drink and using 

architectural motifs that referenced coaching inns of the 17th century. The building has prominent 

canted bay windows with 17th century style transom and mullion windows with stone detailing set 

against red brick .  
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and Communal:  The Donnington Arms is one of a number of public houses that 

provide a connection with the area’s past as a working class suburb where pubs were an important 

venue for socialising and entertainment. A pub has stood on this site since the 1870s, providing a 

considerable continuity with the past, whilst this has served as a building where the community 

have come together, building cohesion and a sense of identity. 

Illustration: The architecture illustrates the development of the ‘improved public house’ as a type 

of building found within Oxford, paid for by the brewery companies. It represents a shift in 

attitudes towards frequenting public houses and drinking beer in the early 20th century as a 

recreational activity among the increasingly affluent working class communities and the response of 

brewery companies in seeking to raise the profile of their buildings. 

184



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Aesthetics: The building has attractive features that contrast with the older Victorian and 

Edwardian character of the houses in the street, providing variety and interest. 

 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: The use of this site as a public house can be traced to the very earliest days of development 

on Howard Street and in the Robin Hood area of the East Oxford Suburb, although the present 

building is a later rebuilding of the premises. 

Integrity:  The historic appearance of the building as a public house has been preserved whilst its 

use as a restaurant preserves the character of the building as a place for socialising and 

entertainment, although not perhaps as communal in use as it once was. This sustains 

understanding of its historic function and relevance to the area and the attractive details of its 

Inter-War design. 

Group Value and Oxford’s Identity: This is one of a group of public houses spread across the 

East Oxford Suburb and particularly concentrated in the streets between Iffley Road and Cowley 

Road that preserve evidence of developments in the retailing of beer during the mid and late 19th 

and early 20th century, including the use of architecture to create messages about the status of 

pubs and their clientele. These buildings provided an important venue for socialising and 

entertainment for the residents’ of these areas in the past and form an important element of the 

Victorian and Edwardian working class character of the area, which is an important part of its 

identity.  The later, Inter-War period ‘improved public houses’ are notable for the high quality of 

architecture they present, adding to the architectural interest of the suburb as a whole and 

providing important landmarks on many streets.  

 

 

185



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Old Church Hall and No. 60 Percy Street 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The church hall was built in 1898 as the Church of the Divine Love by the 

independent church’s minister U. V. Herford. The adjacent house was built for a quasi- Franciscan 

religious order named The Order of the Christian Faith. Both buildings were bought in 1913 as a 

parsonage and church hall for St Alban’s Church. 

Architectural interest: The church building was designed as a small Gothic Revival style chapel 

with steeply pitched arched door opening that is a familiar feature from religious buildings, helping 

to convey the building’s use. The house rises to three storeys with distinctive late-Victorian  

polychromatic brickwork to the arched heads of the windows which retain their timber framed 

sash windows. The decorative bargeboards to the gables are also a feature that is distinctive of 

better quality later Victorian and Edwardian houses within the suburb. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and Illustration: The building provides an association with one of the many small 

religious orders who made East Oxford their home in the late 19th and early 20th century, whilst 

the small church illustrates their activity as a building designed to have the appearance as a place of 

worship. 

Aesthetics: The buildings are of a similar later 19th century character to the surrounding 

townscape but are of high quality with well preserved decorative features, that are also intended 

to convey make them attractive features of the townscape and convey meaning about the historic 

use of the church hall. 

 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the Tick 

186



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Rarity, Group value and Oxford’s identity: The buildings are a rare example of an independent 

church chapel associated with a small non-denominational religious order, which are nevertheless 

two  buildings that contribute to the wider distinctive character of the East Oxford suburb as an 

area that became the focus of religious communities in the late 19th and early 20th century. This 

also reflects the role of Oxford as a focus of the Anglo-Catholic Oxford Movement in the mid and 

later 19th century.  

Integrity: The buildings retain much of their historic appearance including their decorative 

detailing. 

 

187



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

St. Alban’s Church, Charles Street  
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

y 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: A church was built to serve the southern area of the East Oxford Suburb 

between Magdalen Road and Howard Street (known as the Robin Hood Area) and was built in 

1889, replacing a small mission room that had been built two years earlier. This doubled as a boys’ 

school until the completion of the Irving Building at Hertford Street in 1896. A new church was 

begun in 1928 and consecrated in 1933.  

Architectural interest: The present church is of an unusual design, with a long, low profile from 

the street accentuated by semi-circular arched windows, framed in red brick. Whilst this may be 

an unassuming building reflects developing taste in the late 1920s with Italianate influences, which 

are characteristic of the work of T. Lawrence Dale (the Diocesan Architect). These details include 

the arcaded windows, pantile roof, bell-cote and bas-relief decoration to the Tympanum of the 

main door. 

Artistic interest – contains 12 stations of the Cross by Eric Gill. Angels and chalice over the 

entrance are by John Henry Brookes (Principal of Oxford College of Technology, Art and 

Commerce – after whom Oxford Brookes is named)  

 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y4 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y3 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y2 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y1 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Communal: The church provides an important centre for worship for the Anglican community in 

the Robin Hood Area, contributing to their sense of identity and cohesion. It is also used by the 

community for events, which include art exhibitions that also help to showcase church’s own 

artworks. 

Aesthetics: The design of the building is particular to the influences of the architect although this 

could be seen as following in the Italianate tradition used in of St Barnabas’ Church in Jericho, 

reflecting the status of the community in both areas.  It is nevertheless an attractive building that 

188



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

suits the scale of the surrounding suburb. 

Illustration: The building illustrates the missionary work of the church in this area of the suburb, 

which historically was one of the city’s poorer communities.  

Association:  Through the continued use the site and understated ecclesiastical architecture the 

building maintains a connection to the earlier church and mission hall that stood on this site and 

were the location where the church provided for the education of children in the Robin Hood 

area. 

The association with John Henry Brookes contributes to the wider history of the development of 

public education in Oxford from the establishment of the Ruskin School of Art to the foundation 

of Oxford Polytechnic (now Oxford Brookes University), to which J.H> Brookes made a 

significant contribution that has had a major impact on the cty.  
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y1 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y3 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y1 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Oxford’s Identity: This building stands out as a focus for the identity of the Robin Hood Area of 

East Oxford, built to serve its Anglican Community and to provide a space for mission work to 

support the community in general. As such, it makes an important contribution to the identity of 

this neighbourhood within the suburb and helps to tell the story of the suburb as a whole within 

the 19th and early 20th century when this was a far from affluent area, where the church provided 

for both the spiritual and physical needs of the community. 

Group value and Integrity: The church contains one of two sets of Stations of the Cross by 

Eric Gill within the city (the other is in T. Lawrence Dale’s Church of St Francis in Cowley). Eric 

Gill left a legacy of artwork across the city, in college chapels, convents , churches and public 

places. The stations of the cross were designed for St Albans Church and reflect the Anglo-

Catholic influences of T. Lawrence Dale. 

Integrity: The building is well preserved retaining its original appearance and detailing as a good 

example of the architect’s work responding to the limits of its site and the scale of surrounding 

development. 

 

 
Graham, M., 1987, On foot in East Oxford (Oxfordshire County Council) 

Huxley, S. (with Edith Golnast), 2011, Eric Gill in Oxford (Huxley Scientific Publishing

189



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Welcome to the nominations form for the Oxford Heritage Assets Register 
What the form is for 

The nomination form asks you to demonstrate how your candidate asset meets the criteria 

for inclusion on the Oxford Heritage Assets Register (the criteria are set out on the next 

page). The criteria ensure registration as a heritage asset is the most appropriate means to 

manage your valued feature of the environment. 

Registration does not mean an asset will be preserved in its current state in perpetuity. 

Planning policy allows change to heritage assets that conserves or better reveals their 

significance or, where change requires their loss, replaces the benefit to the public that they 

provide. The information provided in support of your nomination will help determine what 

forms of change might be acceptable. Saying “it’s important and must never change” won’t 

tell us what we need to know to manage your heritage asset in the future. 

Tick or rank? 

In answers to Questions 2 – 4 you can rank the interests, values and significance your 

candidate asset provides to show which you consider the most and least important to its 

significance; i.e. 1st  (most important) – 4th (least important). 

Alternatives 

If your candidate asset does not have significance that merits inclusion on the register but 

does contribute to the valued character of the local environment, consider preparing a 

character statement for the area using the Oxford Character Assessment Toolkit.  This 

identifies features that contribute positively to local character and opportunities for 

enhancement. It may help to identify other ways that change can contribute to the quality of 

the local environment and its sense of place. 

Where the use of land, buildings or places now or in the recent past, furthers the social 

wellbeing or social interests of the local community (and this is not an ancillary use), it may 

be considered to be an asset of community value (community asset), for which the 

government has made provision in the Localism Act 2011.  Regulations give communities the 

opportunity to identify assets of community value and have them listed and, when they are 

put up for sale, more time to raise finance and prepare to bid for them. The Council is 

maintaining a list of community assets. Nevertheless, there may be examples where land is 

considered to both qualify as a community asset and heritage asset, in which case it will be 

necessary to distinguish which features of their value and significance are relevant to each 

designation.  

Sites and buildings in conservation areas 

Conservation Areas are ‘designated heritage assets’ as defined by the government’s planning 

policy and receive a higher level of protection than locally registered heritage assets, 

including legal restrictions on demolition and some permitted development rights. 

Nevertheless, they are designated locally and reflect the local value of these areas as heritage 

assets. Features of the historic landscape within conservation areas that would be 

considered to have a significance meriting consideration in planning decisions would be 

190



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

considered to contribute to the significance of a conservation area and therefore are 

considered to be part of a designated heritage asset.  As such, we will not consider them for 

inclusion on the Oxford Heritage Assets Register. 

What happens next? 

We will prepare a list of candidate heritage assets, which will be presented to the public 

(including the owners of candidate heritage assets) for consultation. Any responses received 

from the public will be placed with the nomination form and will be included in the report 

made to the review panel. 

A panel of councillors, council officers and local experts will review the candidate assets 

nominated to ensure they meet the criteria. The information you provide in answering the 

questions will be essential for the panel’s consideration of your candidate’s significance. If 

they are uncertain, you may be asked to provide further information. Where the panel 

consider that a candidate has met the criteria they will recommend that the Council include 

them on the Oxford Heritage Asset Register.  

In some instances the review panel may decide that the candidate does not meet the criteria 

to be included as a heritage asset but might be appropriate for consideration as a community 

asset. If this is the case, you will be asked to consider making an application for the inclusion 

of your asset on the Council’s list of community assets, which may require additional or 

different information. 

191



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Criteria: 

Registered Heritage Assets must meet all of the four following criteria: 

Criterion 1. They must be capable of meeting the government’s definition of a 

heritage asset.   

Demonstrate that your candidate is able to fall within the government’s definition of a 

heritage asset; i.e. a building, monument, site, place, area or landscape.  

Criterion 2. They must possess heritage interest that can be conserved and 

enjoyed.  

Identify the properties of your candidate asset that need to be cared for as heritage – this is 

its heritage interest.  This might include physical things like its appearance and materials, as 

well as associations with past people or events. Consider whether the physical features of 

the candidate asset help to illustrate its associations. The four types of heritage interest 

listed are recognised in national planning policy.  

Criterion 3. They must have a value as heritage for the character and identity of 

the city, neighbourhood or community because of their heritage interest beyond 

personal or family connections, or the interest of individual property owners. 

Tell us why or how the heritage interest you identified in your answer to Question 2 is of 

local value - this is its heritage value. The types of heritage value suggested on the nomination 

form are based on national guidance by English Heritage. 

Criterion 4. They must have a level of significance that is greater than the 

general positive identified character of the local area.  

Tell us what raises your candidate’s heritage value to a level that merits its consideration in 

planning. Many features of the historic environment are a valued part of local character that 

should be managed through policies relating to townscape character in the local plan. 

Registered heritage assets should stand out as of greater significance than these features for 

their heritage value. The suggested options listed on the nominations form are based on 

national best practice. If you think your candidate asset has special local significance for 

another reason please state what it is. 

 

Criteria adopted By Oxford City Council 17.12.12 

192



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

No. 91 – 97 Howard Street (odds) (Formerly the Home of Compassion) 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: This short row of cottages were the first built on Howards Street shortly 

after the laying out of the road after enclosure of the Cowley open fields in 1852.  They were 

bought in1866 by the Sisters of Compassion to provide care for mothers and their babies within 

the Robin Hood Area of the suburb, although they only remained in this use until 1870. 

Architectural interest: This is a row of four cottages built of Headington Stone 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

193



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The stone buildings stand out in contrast to the later brick buildings surrounding 

them, illustrating their place as the earliest buildings constructed on the street.  

Association: The buildings are associated with one of the religious orders contributing to the 

character of East Oxford as an area that attracted religious orders in the 29th century. The work 

of the Sisters of Compassion also provides an association with the conditions of the suburb and 

the Robin Hood area in particular. 

Aesthetics: The stone buildings contribute to the overall positive character of Howards Street as 

an area of mid and later1 19th century housing 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age and Rarity: This small group of cottages stand out as being considerably earlier than the 

surrounding buildings (in 1878 they were still four of only nine houses on Howard Street). The 

contrast of their materials, which has rural character associated with the small villages surrounding 

Oxford, with the brick of the more familiar urban housing surrounding them serves to highlight 

their early date. 

Group value and Oxford’s identity: These buildings contribute to the group value of buildings 

across the East Oxford Suburb that provide associations with the religious orders who 

contributed to the distinctive character of East Oxford as an area that became a focus for these 

communities in the mid and late 19th century. The charitable work of the Sisters of Compassion 

also contributes to our understanding of the historic character of the Robin Hood Area as a part 

of the suburb that suffered as a focus of poverty in the mid and later 19th century. 

 

194



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

No. 6a Charles Street, formerly the Prince of Wales Public House 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The Prince of Wales Public House is first recorded in the 1876 Kelly’s 

Directory, with the Landlord recorded as William Williams, Beer Retailer.  

Architectural interest: It appears the building was rebuilt in the early 20th century with an 

attractive double fronted Jacobean Revival design that falls within the pattern established for 

‘improved public houses’ built during the Inter-War years. It is built in red brick with prominent 

parapeted gabled returns to the street and bay windows with stone transoms, mullions and 

surrounds either side of the central front door which is surrounds by a stone doorcase. Attractive 

cast iron rainwater goods have been preserved along with the pubs fascia/signboard. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The building retains its distinctive character as an historic public house, preserving 

evidence of the tradition of the site’s use stretching back to the 1870s when the area was first 

developed, and the role of public houses as the main social and entertainment venue in the area.  

The architecture is designed to provide a respectable image of the public house as a social venue 

and represents a change in the marketing of beer in the Inter-War years and perhaps in working 

class attitudes to its consumption and the reputation of these back street pubs. 

Aesthetics: The building is attractively designed and makes an important contribution to the 

positive character of the street that provides a contrast with the older Victorian and Edwardian 

terraced cottages. 

Communal: The former public house has had an important role in the past as a social venue that 

served the neighbourhood. It no longer provides this function but the memory of its use remains a 

part of its significance. 
 

195



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: The use of this site as a public house can be traced to the very earliest days of development 

on Charles Street and in the Robin Hood area of the East Oxford Suburb, although the present 

building is a later rebuilding of the premises. 

Integrity:  The historic appearance of the building as a public house has been preserved despite 

its conversion for use as flats, sustaining understanding of its historic function and relevance to the 

area and the attractive details of its Inter-War design. 

Group Value and Oxford’s Identity: This is one of a group of public houses spread across the 

East Oxford Suburb and particularly concentrated in the streets between Iffley Road and Cowley 

Road that preserve evidence of developments in the retailing of beer during the mid and late 19th 

and early 20th century, including the use of architecture to create messages about the status of 

pubs and their clientele. These buildings provided an important venue for socialising and 

entertainment for the residents’ of these areas in the past and form an important element of the 

Victorian and Edwardian working class character of the area, which is an important part of its 

identity.  The later, Inter-War period ‘improved public houses’ are notable for the high quality of 

architecture they present, adding to the architectural interest of the suburb as a whole and 

providing important landmarks on many streets.  

 

 

196



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Convent of the Incarnation, Parker Street (formerly Fairacres House and gardens)  - 

Nominated by Iffley Fields Residents’ Association 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space) y 

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

y 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic Interest: Originally Fairacres House, an early 19th century country house built in the 

1830s for Charles Daubeny, a noted scientist and the curator of the University Botanical Gardens, 

outside the built up area of the city of Oxford. It became the Convent of the Incarnation, home to 

the Sisters of the Love of God in the early 20th century. 

Architectural interest: The original building is an attractive Regency style country house that 

preserves it outward character despite much further building for the convent. 

Archaeological interest:  Daubeny used the grounds of Fairacres House to undertake 

experiments associated with his role at the Botanical Gardens. There is potential for the grounds 

to reveal some evidence of Daubeny’s planting. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Aesthetics: This is a large site of 2.1 hectares (5.1 acres) much being open grounds containing 

many fine specimen tree. It provides a quiet hinterland to all houses in Bedford Street and many of 

these in Fairacres Road. In addition, there are views into the grounds from the adjacent Kidneys 

Nature Reserve. 

The enclosure, greenery and tranquillity of the grounds are an important element of the site’s role 

as an enclosed religious community and a spiritual retreat. 

Illustration: The house and ground provide a good illustration of the early process of 

development of the suburb, in this case through the acquisition of a large plot for a single villa, 

providing an attractive rural home for one of Oxford’s leading academics.  The reuse of the 

building provides an illustration of the development of East Oxford as a focus for religious 

communities in the late 19th and early 20th century, which is a distinctive characteristic of the area 

197



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Communal: The convent buildings and grounds have communal value as a shared place of 

worship and retreat for the community and their visitors with a history f such use for over a 

century and therefore of significance to a considerable body of people.  

 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

The site pre-dates the surrounding residential development (AGE) yet remains complete 

(INTEGRITY) and forms a quiet green oasis within the developed area (RARITY) 

Age: The building and grounds of Fairacres House were laid out well before the wider 

development of the East Oxford Suburb following the enclosure of the Cowley Open Fields to the 

north and east in the 1850s. Indeed development of the surrounding Iffley Fields area did not begin 

until the 1890s  As such it is particularly old in the context of the surrounding area, providing 

evidence of the landscape preceding the wider housing developments. 

Integrity: Inspite of the later additions for the convent, the house and gardens maintain their 

relationship with each other, whilst the house retains its character as an early 19th century villa, 

externally at least. 

Oxford’s identity and Group value: The continued use by the convent  for over a century 

contributes to the distinctive character of East Oxford as an area that has been home to many 

religious orders. The green oasis of the convent also makes a positive contribution to the Iffley 

Fields neighbourhood as a green part of the suburb, despite the otherwise dense development of 

housing on the surrounding streets. 

198



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Welcome to the nominations form for the Oxford Heritage Assets Register 
What the form is for 

The nomination form asks you to demonstrate how your candidate asset meets the criteria 

for inclusion on the Oxford Heritage Assets Register (the criteria are set out on the next 

page). The criteria ensure registration as a heritage asset is the most appropriate means to 

manage your valued feature of the environment. 

Registration does not mean an asset will be preserved in its current state in perpetuity. 

Planning policy allows change to heritage assets that conserves or better reveals their 

significance or, where change requires their loss, replaces the benefit to the public that they 

provide. The information provided in support of your nomination will help determine what 

forms of change might be acceptable. Saying “it’s important and must never change” won’t 

tell us what we need to know to manage your heritage asset in the future. 

Tick or rank? 

In answers to Questions 2 – 4 you can rank the interests, values and significance your 

candidate asset provides to show which you consider the most and least important to its 

significance; i.e. 1st  (most important) – 4th (least important). 

Alternatives 

If your candidate asset does not have significance that merits inclusion on the register but 

does contribute to the valued character of the local environment, consider preparing a 

character statement for the area using the Oxford Character Assessment Toolkit.  This 

identifies features that contribute positively to local character and opportunities for 

enhancement. It may help to identify other ways that change can contribute to the quality of 

the local environment and its sense of place. 

Where the use of land, buildings or places now or in the recent past, furthers the social 

wellbeing or social interests of the local community (and this is not an ancillary use), it may 

be considered to be an asset of community value (community asset), for which the 

government has made provision in the Localism Act 2011.  Regulations give communities the 

opportunity to identify assets of community value and have them listed and, when they are 

put up for sale, more time to raise finance and prepare to bid for them. The Council is 

maintaining a list of community assets. Nevertheless, there may be examples where land is 

considered to both qualify as a community asset and heritage asset, in which case it will be 

necessary to distinguish which features of their value and significance are relevant to each 

designation.  

Sites and buildings in conservation areas 

Conservation Areas are ‘designated heritage assets’ as defined by the government’s planning 

policy and receive a higher level of protection than locally registered heritage assets, 

including legal restrictions on demolition and some permitted development rights. 

Nevertheless, they are designated locally and reflect the local value of these areas as heritage 

assets. Features of the historic landscape within conservation areas that would be 

considered to have a significance meriting consideration in planning decisions would be 

199



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

considered to contribute to the significance of a conservation area and therefore are 

considered to be part of a designated heritage asset.  As such, we will not consider them for 

inclusion on the Oxford Heritage Assets Register. 

What happens next? 

We will prepare a list of candidate heritage assets, which will be presented to the public 

(including the owners of candidate heritage assets) for consultation. Any responses received 

from the public will be placed with the nomination form and will be included in the report 

made to the review panel. 

A panel of councillors, council officers and local experts will review the candidate assets 

nominated to ensure they meet the criteria. The information you provide in answering the 

questions will be essential for the panel’s consideration of your candidate’s significance. If 

they are uncertain, you may be asked to provide further information. Where the panel 

consider that a candidate has met the criteria they will recommend that the Council include 

them on the Oxford Heritage Asset Register.  

In some instances the review panel may decide that the candidate does not meet the criteria 

to be included as a heritage asset but might be appropriate for consideration as a community 

asset. If this is the case, you will be asked to consider making an application for the inclusion 

of your asset on the Council’s list of community assets, which may require additional or 

different information. 

200



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Criteria: 

Registered Heritage Assets must meet all of the four following criteria: 

Criterion 1. They must be capable of meeting the government’s definition of a 

heritage asset.   

Demonstrate that your candidate is able to fall within the government’s definition of a 

heritage asset; i.e. a building, monument, site, place, area or landscape.  

Criterion 2. They must possess heritage interest that can be conserved and 

enjoyed.  

Identify the properties of your candidate asset that need to be cared for as heritage – this is 

its heritage interest.  This might include physical things like its appearance and materials, as 

well as associations with past people or events. Consider whether the physical features of 

the candidate asset help to illustrate its associations. The four types of heritage interest 

listed are recognised in national planning policy.  

Criterion 3. They must have a value as heritage for the character and identity of 

the city, neighbourhood or community because of their heritage interest beyond 

personal or family connections, or the interest of individual property owners. 

Tell us why or how the heritage interest you identified in your answer to Question 2 is of 

local value - this is its heritage value. The types of heritage value suggested on the nomination 

form are based on national guidance by English Heritage. 

Criterion 4. They must have a level of significance that is greater than the 

general positive identified character of the local area.  

Tell us what raises your candidate’s heritage value to a level that merits its consideration in 

planning. Many features of the historic environment are a valued part of local character that 

should be managed through policies relating to townscape character in the local plan. 

Registered heritage assets should stand out as of greater significance than these features for 

their heritage value. The suggested options listed on the nominations form are based on 

national best practice. If you think your candidate asset has special local significance for 

another reason please state what it is. 

 

Criteria adopted By Oxford City Council 17.12.12 

201



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Old Builders Merchant’s Workshop, Rear of No. 60 Warwick Street 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest? 

Historic interest: The building was a builders’ merchants warehouse, built in the early 20th 

century at the same time as the development of the surrounding street. 

Architectural:  The Building has a plain, industrial appearance in red brick with a slate roof and 

sliding doors to the ground floor. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The building provides illustration of the development of the area as a working area 

rather than a purely residential suburb and reflects the a pattern of development of the suburb by 

numerous small, speculative builders with their own yards set amongst the suburban streets. 

Aesthetics: The building’s industrial aesthetic provides a contrast to the more flamboyant 

domestic architecture of the Edwardian frontages in this area. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

202



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Rarity, Group value and Oxford’s identity: This is one of a small number of industrial 

buildings that illustrate the working past of the suburb and that are generally under threat from 

development for housing.  The larger builders’ yard of the firm of Benfield and Loxley at Bullingdon 

Road for example was been lost through redevelopment for housing during the 1970s. Together 

these buildings contribute to the character and identity of the East oxford suburb as an area that 

developed with a mixture of uses that contribute to a more varied environment.  

Integrity: Despite its conversion for housing, the building still has the outward appearance of a 

structure that has survived a more industrial purpose in the past, adding to the variety of 

architecture within the suburb. 

203



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Welcome to the nominations form for the Oxford Heritage Assets Register 
What the form is for 

The nomination form asks you to demonstrate how your candidate asset meets the criteria 

for inclusion on the Oxford Heritage Assets Register (the criteria are set out on the next 

page). The criteria ensure registration as a heritage asset is the most appropriate means to 

manage your valued feature of the environment. 

Registration does not mean an asset will be preserved in its current state in perpetuity. 

Planning policy allows change to heritage assets that conserves or better reveals their 

significance or, where change requires their loss, replaces the benefit to the public that they 

provide. The information provided in support of your nomination will help determine what 

forms of change might be acceptable. Saying “it’s important and must never change” won’t 

tell us what we need to know to manage your heritage asset in the future. 

Tick or rank? 

In answers to Questions 2 – 4 you can rank the interests, values and significance your 

candidate asset provides to show which you consider the most and least important to its 

significance; i.e. 1st  (most important) – 4th (least important). 

Alternatives 

If your candidate asset does not have significance that merits inclusion on the register but 

does contribute to the valued character of the local environment, consider preparing a 

character statement for the area using the Oxford Character Assessment Toolkit.  This 

identifies features that contribute positively to local character and opportunities for 

enhancement. It may help to identify other ways that change can contribute to the quality of 

the local environment and its sense of place. 

Where the use of land, buildings or places now or in the recent past, furthers the social 

wellbeing or social interests of the local community (and this is not an ancillary use), it may 

be considered to be an asset of community value (community asset), for which the 

government has made provision in the Localism Act 2011.  Regulations give communities the 

opportunity to identify assets of community value and have them listed and, when they are 

put up for sale, more time to raise finance and prepare to bid for them. The Council is 

maintaining a list of community assets. Nevertheless, there may be examples where land is 

considered to both qualify as a community asset and heritage asset, in which case it will be 

necessary to distinguish which features of their value and significance are relevant to each 

designation.  

Sites and buildings in conservation areas 

Conservation Areas are ‘designated heritage assets’ as defined by the government’s planning 

policy and receive a higher level of protection than locally registered heritage assets, 

including legal restrictions on demolition and some permitted development rights. 

Nevertheless, they are designated locally and reflect the local value of these areas as heritage 

assets. Features of the historic landscape within conservation areas that would be 

considered to have a significance meriting consideration in planning decisions would be 

204



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

considered to contribute to the significance of a conservation area and therefore are 

considered to be part of a designated heritage asset.  As such, we will not consider them for 

inclusion on the Oxford Heritage Assets Register. 

What happens next? 

We will prepare a list of candidate heritage assets, which will be presented to the public 

(including the owners of candidate heritage assets) for consultation. Any responses received 

from the public will be placed with the nomination form and will be included in the report 

made to the review panel. 

A panel of councillors, council officers and local experts will review the candidate assets 

nominated to ensure they meet the criteria. The information you provide in answering the 

questions will be essential for the panel’s consideration of your candidate’s significance. If 

they are uncertain, you may be asked to provide further information. Where the panel 

consider that a candidate has met the criteria they will recommend that the Council include 

them on the Oxford Heritage Asset Register.  

In some instances the review panel may decide that the candidate does not meet the criteria 

to be included as a heritage asset but might be appropriate for consideration as a community 

asset. If this is the case, you will be asked to consider making an application for the inclusion 

of your asset on the Council’s list of community assets, which may require additional or 

different information. 

205



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Criteria: 

Registered Heritage Assets must meet all of the four following criteria: 

Criterion 1. They must be capable of meeting the government’s definition of a 

heritage asset.   

Demonstrate that your candidate is able to fall within the government’s definition of a 

heritage asset; i.e. a building, monument, site, place, area or landscape.  

Criterion 2. They must possess heritage interest that can be conserved and 

enjoyed.  

Identify the properties of your candidate asset that need to be cared for as heritage – this is 

its heritage interest.  This might include physical things like its appearance and materials, as 

well as associations with past people or events. Consider whether the physical features of 

the candidate asset help to illustrate its associations. The four types of heritage interest 

listed are recognised in national planning policy.  

Criterion 3. They must have a value as heritage for the character and identity of 

the city, neighbourhood or community because of their heritage interest beyond 

personal or family connections, or the interest of individual property owners. 

Tell us why or how the heritage interest you identified in your answer to Question 2 is of 

local value - this is its heritage value. The types of heritage value suggested on the nomination 

form are based on national guidance by English Heritage. 

Criterion 4. They must have a level of significance that is greater than the 

general positive identified character of the local area.  

Tell us what raises your candidate’s heritage value to a level that merits its consideration in 

planning. Many features of the historic environment are a valued part of local character that 

should be managed through policies relating to townscape character in the local plan. 

Registered heritage assets should stand out as of greater significance than these features for 

their heritage value. The suggested options listed on the nominations form are based on 

national best practice. If you think your candidate asset has special local significance for 

another reason please state what it is. 

 

Criteria adopted By Oxford City Council 17.12.12 

206



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

has since been replaced by the modern school. 

 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Rarity: The building is thought to be the only example of Goldfinger’s work in Oxford, if not in 

the county, whilst a number of buildings of similar scale in the Chilterns have recently been 

criticised for the loss of key elements of their Goldfinger designs through subsequent alterations. 

As such it is one of a diminishing number of well-preserved small-scale works by the architect. 

Integrity: The building appears to be well preserved (externally), although it is not known 

whether it has received any significant alteration internally.  A minor alteration has been the 

conversion of the former car port into a habitable room. 

Oxford’s identity and Group value: In addition to its more historic architecture Oxford is 

notable for the range and quality of its post-war modernist architecture, numerous examples of 

college and university buildings that exhibit the work of many of the country’s leading later 20th 

century architects.  As a domestic building by an architect of particular note No. 16 Bedford Street 

is an important addition to this wider group of buildings and contributes to the identity of Oxford 

as a centre for architectural quality and innovation. 

 

Sources: 

Warburton, N, 2003, Ernö Goldfinger: The Life of an Architect (Routledge) 

207



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

‘The Motz House’ No. 16 Bedford Street 

 

 
 

 
 

208



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Architectural Interest:  This house, built in 1963 for the Motz family was designed by the nationally 

renowned architect Erno Goldfinger, who is well known as the architect of tower blocks but also 

produced numerous smaller houses, offices and school buildings in an unashamedly modernist style 

making use of reinforced concrete structures to create light and open interiors, whilst his 

exteriors are characterised by simple lines with high quality materials.  The plans reveal that the 

Motz house was constructed of handmade brick with a reinforced concrete mono-pitch roof by 

the equally ground breaking modernist partnership of the Tecton Group. The interior was 

designed with Goldfinger’s typical qualities including a dining room open to the roof and viewed 

from a gallery to the first floor sitting room that had large picture windows providing vistas across 

the meadows to the west. A separate block provided a washhouse and car port at ground floor 

level with a studio above reached via a footbridge from the sitting room. This arrangement of 

separate accommodation and service blocks connected by footbridges recalls the similar 

arrangement of Balfron and Trellick Towers (commissioned in 1966) been seen here on a smaller 

suburban scale. 

Further detailing includes the attractive wave forms created in the brick walls that provides the 

property’s boundary to Meadow Lane, demonstrating an attention to detail that goes beyond the 

construction of the housing to the aesthetics of minor structures in its curtilage.. 

 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The building provides illustration of the development of Goldfinger’s style and 

influence of the modernist movement on British suburban housing in the later 20th century. 

Aesthetics: The house provides a strong contrast to the surrounding red brick Edwardian 

housing. It includes attractive detailing although externally it would easily be overlooked as 

‘another’ late 20th century suburban infill house.  The building is designed to make the most of its 

setting by, originally, providing views over the green setting of meadows to the west (although this 

209



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

has since been replaced by the modern school. 

 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Rarity: The building is thought to be the only example of Goldfinger’s work in Oxford, if not in 

the county, whilst a number of buildings of similar scale in the Chilterns have recently been 

criticised for the loss of key elements of their Goldfinger designs through subsequent alterations. 

As such it is one of a diminishing number of well-preserved small-scale works by the architect. 

Integrity: The building appears to be well preserved (externally), although it is not known 

whether it has received any significant alteration internally.  A minor alteration has been the 

conversion of the former car port into a habitable room. 

Oxford’s identity and Group value: In addition to its more historic architecture Oxford is 

notable for the range and quality of its post-war modernist architecture, numerous examples of 

college and university buildings that exhibit the work of many of the country’s leading later 20th 

century architects.  As a domestic building by an architect of particular note No. 16 Bedford Street 

is an important addition to this wider group of buildings and contributes to the identity of Oxford 

as a centre for architectural quality and innovation. 

 

Sources: 

Warburton, N, 2003, Ernö Goldfinger: The Life of an Architect (Routledge) 

210



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Chester Arms, Chester Street 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space) y 

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The Chester Arms was built as part of the development of houses on both 

sides of Chester Street, which formed the first phase of the development of Iffley Fields area in the 

1890s. It has remained a public house to the present.  

Architectural interest: This is a relatively simple late 19th century public house building with a 

double frontage to Chester Street, built in yellow brick with red brick detailing to windows and 

quoins and preserving vertical sliding sash windows.  The centrally positioned door has an 

attractive decorative doorcase, whilst the ground floor windows are divided by large stone 

mullions with matching heavy stone lintels.  
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally Tick / Rank 

211



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

for any of the following reasons? 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The pub’s integration with the planned street illustrates the intention to develop an 

area with its own facilities in the late 19th century (other buildings included shops and a bake 

house). This reflects the status of the early stages of development of Iffley Fields as an area of  

working class housing , although this changed to more upmarket middle class houses as the 

development progressed in the Edwardian period. Its design and materials reflect the late Victorian 

date of construction and a notable for being simpler than the more elaborate Edwardian houses 

that were built in the area subsequently 

Aesthetics: The building’s design is complementary to the design of Chester Street as a whole 

but is clearly differentiated as a building with a different purpose by the large front doors and 

position directly at the edge of the pavements, as well as the large double frontage. It also forms 

the corner to Argyle Street, and as such, occupies a prominent position in the street scene.  

Aesthetics: The large garden at the rear (subdivided for development in 2014) provides 

considerable greenery that is appreciated as an attractive addition to the streetscene, including a 

large Beech tree that is protected by a Tree Preservation Order. 

Communal: The pub was designed to provide a social focus for the new community a role that it 

continues to provide  
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value? 

Age and Integrity: The building was one of the first constructed on Chester Street and in the 

Iffley Fields Neighbourhood as a whole and has preserved much its external appearance. 

Group value and Oxford’s identity: This is one of a number of public houses set across the East 

Oxford suburb and reflects the need for social venues and entertainment if the working class 

community who settled in this area.  The building was built as an integral part of the street to 

provide one of the range of services it was anticipated its residents would need. Despite the later 

upgrading of Iffley Fields through building of larger houses in the early 1900s, it appears to have 

remained successful and continues to be appreciated by the local community. As such it 

contributes to the wider character of the East Oxford Suburb. 

 

212



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Roger Bannister Running Track, University Sport Complex, Iffley Road 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings  

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space) y 

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The University established a running track at Iffley Road in 1876, adjacent to 

Christ Church’s Cricket Field and on land that had been bought by Christ Church to preserve the 

green outlook from the college and its meadow parkland. The running track replaced an earlier 

track at Marston Road that was subject to repeated flooding. In 1954 this was the location where 

Roger Bannister broke set the first recorded time of less than four minutes to run a mile.  
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

213



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and illustration:  The site provides a tangible connection with Rogert Bannister’s 

great achievement. In the atmosphere of the 1950s, just after the suspension of post-war austerity 

and during the process of the British Empire dissolution the achievement by a Briton made a great 

contribution to national pride. 

The desire to  provide sports facilities for scholars also provides an illustration of mid-Victorian 

consciousness about the physical heath of young men and its association with the moral health. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Oxford’s identity and Integrity: The surface of the running track has been changed on at least 

two occasions since Roger Bannister made his world record breaking run. Nevertheless the 

running track occupies the same footprint as the one where Roger Bannister made his record 

breaking one and provides a connection with the event that contributes to the identity of Oxford 

as the city where this occurred and that has supported many athletes.  The importance of the site 

has been commemorated through the erection of a blue plaque as well as a signboard. 

 

214



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

No. 46 Hill Top Road 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic Interest: This large house was built as the home of William Charles Walker, a former 

Mayor of Oxford who was a partner, director and governing director of the building firm of 

Benfield and Loxley, a position he worked his way up to from starting as a builder’s labourer in 

1912. He was a friend of William Morris (later Viscount Nuffield) and helped him to purchase the 

site for the Cowley Car Works and subsequently as a director of Benfield Loxley oversaw its 

construction. Benfield Loxley, under walker’s directorship also built Headington School and the 

Churchill Hospital and many of the University buildings including the Radcliffe Science Library, the 

New Bodleian Library and Nuffield College. Walker was later awarded an OBE.  

Architectural Interest: The William Walker built as his family home at Hilltop Road occupies a 

double width plot and takes the form of a Georgian Mansion in red brick of three two-window 

bays with the central bay recessed. The corners are detailed with rusticated brick quoins whilst 

215



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

ground floor windows have low arched brick heads. A brick platt-band separates the ground and 

first floor, whilst the eaves are supported on a dentilled cornice. The central front door is picked 

out by a moulded stone door case with an oval oculus above.  The building has recently undergone 

extensive renovation including the construction of a single storey extension to the side, which, 

however has been designed to preserve the site of mature trees in the extensive grounds beyond. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association/Illustration:  The building has strong associations with n individual who had a 

significant impact on the development and character of Oxford as a builder, business man and 

politician. 

Illustration:  The building illustrates the development the development of this part of East Oxford 

as a desirable location for middle class residents, above the more compact suburb further down 

the hill.  

Aesthetics: 

Within Hill Top road it stands out however, for the boldness of its design and scale and attention 

to detailing. 

 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Oxford’s Identity: The house provides a connection with an individual who made a significant 

contribution to the development of the city in the Inter-War period and to the development of its 

character. The house also makes an important contribution to the character of Hill Top Road as a 

building of architectural quality that stands out within its surroundings. 

Age: The construction of No. 46 Hill Top Road in 1922 is late in the development of the suburb 

and relates to a period of increasing affluence in the suburb as it became more of a focus for 

middle class housing with access to the city centre via the developing bus services. 

Integrity: The main frontage of the building has retained its architectural detailing, maintaining the 

attractive quality of the building, and has not been negatively affected by the  

 

 

216



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

No. 8 Hill Top Road 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings  

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

217



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Architectural interest: The building was constructed in 2011/12 and designed by Adrian James, a 

local Oxford Architect with a distinctive modernist style using contrasting modern materials to 

create strong geometric forms that are bold and uplifting, making interesting use of light and  

avoiding architectural clichés.  The building sits in a narrow plot between two earlier Edwardian 

style houses, matching their proportions but uses concrete in highly polished precast panels for all 

of the main structural elements. From the street, the most striking elements are the continuous, 

ribbed roof and wall surface, large square dormer window and boxed oriel window.   The building 

won the Concrete Awards 2013 Overall Winner (i.e. the best concrete building completed in the 

country in 2012) and was placed on the shortlist for the RIBA Downland Prize 2012 and the RIBA 

Stephen Lawrence Prize 2012 (awarded to the best building in the country costing less than £1m).  
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Aesthetics: This is a unique building of a notably high standard of design and construction. It has 

been carefully designed to fit within the proportions of the street in which it stands but makes a 

high quality contribution as a modern addition to its architectural character. Not all viewers will 

share the owners’ taste and love of the materials used but it has been recognised by several bodies 

as attaining a high standard of design and finish. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Group value and Oxford’s identity: This is one of a small number of high quality post-war 

architect designed houses across the city that stand out as examples of the highest quality of 

architectural design, both by local and nationally renowned architects. These make an important 

contribution to Oxford’s reputation as a centre for excellence in modern architecture and the 

development of new and ground-breaking technologies.  These buildings stand alongside the larger 

University and college buildings as the architectural legacy that Oxford will leave in the late 20th 

and early 21st century to stand alongside the great buildings of earlier decades and centuries.  

 

218



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Divinity Walk 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings  

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space) y 

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: Divinity Walk lay on the south eastern edge of Cheney Farm (the farmland 

associated with St Clements’ Parish south of Headington Road) and was used by the Scholars of 

All Soul’s College to walk to Bartlemas Chapel (presumably by a circuitous route) after attending a 

service on Ascension Days, a practice that is though to go back, at least to the 17th century. From 

the 1870s it formed the boundary of the parkland created by the Morrells over the former farm to 

protect the setting of their country home at Headington Hill Hall. The tree line on its edge is likely 

to date from this period, forming part of the boundary planting to the parkland and is recorded on 

the 1st Edition 25” to the mile Ordnance Survey map. When the Council purchased a part of the 

Morrell’s parkland to build the Morrell Avenue estate, the tree line was preserved, marking the 

historic course of Divinity Walk and adding to attractive surroundings of the new housing. 

Artistic interest: The trees that have survived as evidence of the former course of Divinity Walk 

are thought to represent part of the parkland planned and laid out by the Morrell Family in the 

1870s. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

y 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration, Evidence and Aesthetics: The tree line illustrates the past development of the 

area, including a route that has now otherwise vanished, as well as the enhancement of the 

landscape through tree planting by 19th century landowners to create Arcadian surroundings for 

their country home.  The mature tree line now provides an attractive element of the landscape in 

this residential area. 

 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

Tick 

219



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

surrounding environment?   

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: The former route and tree line provide an early landscape feature that date from before the 

setting out of the present streets of housing. 

 

 

220



HILL TOP ROAD HERITAGE STATEMENT

Hill Top Road is a very distinctive and unique part of East Oxford, set next to the
green open spaces of Warneford Meadow, Southfield Golf Course and Oriel Wood,
yet less than two mifes from the centre of Oxford. It was built in two parts on
Southfield Farm, a farm of 202 acres that once formed the southern open field of
Headington parish. The north-western part, being part of the Southfield Estate,
was built from 1902, while the south-eastern part which formed the Southfield
Hill Estate was built from 1910, set further back from the road with many houses
in wider more spacious plots.

Whilst individual houses have their own character, it was a requirement,
embodied in a covenant to the deeds of each property, that each "shall
correspond in character with other houses on the Southfield Estate". This means
that whilst there are properties varying in plot and house size, they all reflect a
particular historical period. The different house sizes also distinguish the road
from other more uniform developments in Oxford.

Notable features of the houses include illustrations of the Arts & Crafts
movement, stone mullions, sash windows, handmade and early machine made
roofing tiles, 'cat-slide' roofs and a particular form of stone-dashing of the period.
Of particular note, William Walker, Mayor of Oxford and partner of builders
Benfield & Loxley, built No. 46 on a grand scale with fine features inside and out.
The Oxford architect Thomas Rayson designed two other houses with distinctive
features. A local builder, Harry Smith, built and lived at No 59 Hill Top Road and
built two other houses in the road (Nos 31 and 33). No 61 was required by
special covenant to be set back some 39 feet from the pavement creating yet a
further distinctive aspect of the south-eastern part of the road.

Together the houses that comprise Hill Top Road are truly part of the heritage of
Oxford. Thus, whilst there are distinctive individual houses, the whole provides a
unique and irreplaceable asset that merits the special status of a 'Heritage
Asset', one of great value to Oxford.

221



Nominate a Heritage Asset

Name and location of your candidate heritage asset (please provide a photograph and
a map showing its location): H»i-L7oP (ZoAD &,£TiO£e«o

I. Is it one of the following? WHAT IS I' Tick
a building or group of buildings •S'
a monument (a structure that is not a building)
a park, garden or natural space
a part of the streetscape (surface, square, vista) S
a landscape (view?)

2. Is it interesting in any of the following ways? WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Tick
Historic interest - a well documented association with a person, event or
episode of history
Archaeological interest - firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the
human past through further study
Architectural interest - an example of an architectural style, a building of
particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials
Artistic interest - It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use
of design to enhance appearance
What is it about the asset that provides this interest?

a /3-

3. Is the interest of the asset valued locally for any of the following reasons? Tick
WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED ?
Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or
character of the area
Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area's past that makes an important /
contribution to its identity or character
Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the
area's history
Aesthetics: It stands or makes an important contribution to the positive look of /
the area
Community: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of /
all or part of the community
How is the asset locally valued as heritage? ft {c<.rc# /\u«JbeJ 5j /Mo*l« Oc-W Hill

A tAa^-gc'^ft-j h> r>\

4. Do any of the following features add to the importance of the asset? ANY Tick
OTHER FEATURES OF INTEREST?
Age ... Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?
Rarity ... Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once
common?
Integrity ... Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?
Group value ... Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or
communal association?
How does this contribute to its value?

\

222



Hill Top Road Heritage Asset
shown in green

536 538

223



536 537 THE WARNEFORD HOSPI

224



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Upper Morrell Avenue  (Nos. 177 –219 (odds) and Nos. 120 – 146 (evens) Morrell 

Avenue with Nos. 1 and 2 Stone Street) 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space) y 

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: Morrell Avenue was laid out on land taken from the Morrell family’s parkland 

covering the former Cheney Farm. It was established in 1929 by the City Council as part of a 

programme to build high quality council housing, part funded by the Labour and Liberal coalition 

government of Ramsay MacDonald and David Lloyd-George government of Stanley Baldwin. The 

quality of the housing at the east end of the street is seen to differ significantly from the terraced 

housing at the west end which lack the fine detailing of the former. This may have been a result in 

the los of the initial funding as a result of the Great Depression in 1931. 

Architectural interest: The houses were built between 1929 and 1931 to designs by Kellett 

Ablett (of the City Engineers Dept.). Nos. 177 –219 (odds) and Nos. 120 – 146 (evens) Morrell 
Avenue with Nos. 1 and 2 Stone Street have more impressive stone doorcases and lintels with 
raised keystones that are very distinguished and provide a stylistic link with houses in the Gipsy 
Lane Estate to the north.  A number still retain the three light sash windows, which would have been 
a conservative detail when built, reflecting the Neo-Georgian style of the stonework used.  They are 
built in a single colour brick, increasing their unified character  although there is some variation in 
the use of single-storey bay windows that avoids the creation of a monotonous frontage. Given the 
steep slope of the hill at this point, front and side roofslopes are prominent in views and currently 
maintain a high level of uniformity.    
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally Tick / Rank 

225



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

for any of the following reasons? 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and Illustration:  The avenue of houses built as social housing of a very high 

standard illustrate the movement instigated by national government in the years after the First 

World War to build ‘homes for heroes’. The quality of houses built reflects the high status among 

working people that attaining the tenancy of a council house represented in the early 20th century 

(something that was perhaps lost in the later 20th century. 

Aesthetics: The buildings are well designed and attractive, whilst the setting of green gardens, 

with generous set backs and the tree lined road, with its curving line climbing the hill, provides a 

highly attractive environment that is now a desirable residential area. The combination of the 

houses and the design of the road, planting and green space is a successful designed aesthetic 

impact. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: The development represents a significant period in the development of the city, as the 

council played a more significant role to provide public housing in response to the overcrowded 

conditions of the city’s older suburbs, as well as responding to the national ‘homes for heroes’ 

Integrity and Group value:  The houses are well preserved, whilst the planting and landscaping 

of the road and gardens has matured positively to create an attractive townscape. 

 

 

 

226



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Ss Mary and John’s Churchyard, Cowley Road 

 
 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings  

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

y 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space) y 

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

y 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest:  

The churchyard was bought for the people of the East oxford suburb by Father Richard Meux 

Benson as apart of a large plot intended for the construction and support of a church. It was 

consecrated in 1878 and included space for non-conformists and atheists, as well as the Anglican 

Community of the church. 

The graveyard provided a place of burial for a large part of  the suburb’s community in the late 

19th and early 20th century. It continues to have an important role as a pace of meeting and 

commemoration within the suburb, retaining the memorials of numerous citizens of the suburb 

who contribute to its historic interest. These include (among many others) the memorial to the 

Cowley Fathers and Father Benson, as well as the members of the suburbs other religious orders 

227



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

and locally notable politicians such as the builder Thomas Gray. A community website provides 

considerable detail about the identity and monuments erected to those buried in the graveyard, 

which is a fascinating resource for local history. 

In opening the graveyard the Lord Bishop of Oxford described its design which had been laid out  

“…with so much care and taste, ... [so that] those who lived about it [could] make it a place of 

resort.” 

Artistic interest: 

The artistic interest of the graveyard is formed both by the design of monuments and in the lay 

out of the graveyard as a public space, including its historic tree planting a and the arrangement of 

paths that provide a series of routes through it. This has been added to over the years with 

dedicated areas of remembrance including seating and other garden features. 

 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Communal: The graveyard has an important communal value in providing a space and individual 

memorials to many past residents of the East Oxford Suburb, many of whom had an important 

influence on the character of the suburb. It was designed as a space for the use of the people of 

the suburb for relaxation, reflection and peaceful enjoyment, which it continues to do to this day. 

It has an important role in the spiritual life of the community, and is regularly used as a space for 

Evensong services. 

Aesthetics: The graveyard retains many elements of the formal plan that was created in the 

1870s, whilst the maturing of the tree planting provides an attractive sylvan character to the 

southern half of the area in particular. The tall trees also contribute to the character of 

surrounding streets. The green space with attractive planting is part of the curtilage of the listed 

church of Ss Mary and John, providing it with an attractive green setting. The many gravestones 

and memorials also contribute to the aesthetic value of the area 

Illustration: The many memorials to the members of Religious orders in particular help to 

illustrate the role of these communities in the early development of the suburb and the distinctive 

character of East Oxford as a focus in the city for those wishing to live a religious life. 

Association: The churchyard has a strong connection with Father Benson in particular as an 

individual who made a major contribution to the landscape and community of East Oxford in the 

mid and late 19th century. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

228



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Oxford’s Identity: The churchyard is a focal space for the suburb, commemorating many of 

those who contributed to the growth of the suburb and who forged its identity as a distinct 

district within (and originally largely outside) the city.  It continues to function as an important 

meeting place and a focus of community endeavour to maintain an attractive environment for the 

people of the suburb. As surviving element of the Victorian landscape of the suburb, which was 

designed to accommodate the needs of a diverse community with many differing religious beliefs it 

makes a strong contribution to the character of the East Oxford Suburb. 

Age and Integrity:  The churchyard was developed during the early development of the East 

Oxford Suburb, at a time when many of the surrounding streets of housing had not been built and 

therefore represents an early element of the suburb’s landscape.  It has retained many of the 

designed features laid out in the 1870s. 

Rarity: The graveyard is a rare green open space within the heart of the suburb (although there 

are a number of green spaces around its edges. 

Group value: The graveyard is part of a group of features that are associated with Father Benson 

as a notable individual within the suburb’s history and with the several Religious Orders who made 

East Oxford their home in the late 19th century, as such it contributes to the combined interest 

and contribution to the character of the suburb of the heritage assets associated with both of 

these themes. 

 

229



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Welcome to the nominations form for the Oxford Heritage Assets Register 
What the form is for 

The nomination form asks you to demonstrate how your candidate asset meets the criteria 

for inclusion on the Oxford Heritage Assets Register (the criteria are set out on the next 

page). The criteria ensure registration as a heritage asset is the most appropriate means to 

manage your valued feature of the environment. 

Registration does not mean an asset will be preserved in its current state in perpetuity. 

Planning policy allows change to heritage assets that conserves or better reveals their 

significance or, where change requires their loss, replaces the benefit to the public that they 

provide. The information provided in support of your nomination will help determine what 

forms of change might be acceptable. Saying “it’s important and must never change” won’t 

tell us what we need to know to manage your heritage asset in the future. 

Tick or rank? 

In answers to Questions 2 – 4 you can rank the interests, values and significance your 

candidate asset provides to show which you consider the most and least important to its 

significance; i.e. 1st  (most important) – 4th (least important). 

Alternatives 

If your candidate asset does not have significance that merits inclusion on the register but 

does contribute to the valued character of the local environment, consider preparing a 

character statement for the area using the Oxford Character Assessment Toolkit.  This 

identifies features that contribute positively to local character and opportunities for 

enhancement. It may help to identify other ways that change can contribute to the quality of 

the local environment and its sense of place. 

Where the use of land, buildings or places now or in the recent past, furthers the social 

wellbeing or social interests of the local community (and this is not an ancillary use), it may 

be considered to be an asset of community value (community asset), for which the 

government has made provision in the Localism Act 2011.  Regulations give communities the 

opportunity to identify assets of community value and have them listed and, when they are 

put up for sale, more time to raise finance and prepare to bid for them. The Council is 

maintaining a list of community assets. Nevertheless, there may be examples where land is 

considered to both qualify as a community asset and heritage asset, in which case it will be 

necessary to distinguish which features of their value and significance are relevant to each 

designation.  

Sites and buildings in conservation areas 

Conservation Areas are ‘designated heritage assets’ as defined by the government’s planning 

policy and receive a higher level of protection than locally registered heritage assets, 

including legal restrictions on demolition and some permitted development rights. 

Nevertheless, they are designated locally and reflect the local value of these areas as heritage 

assets. Features of the historic landscape within conservation areas that would be 

considered to have a significance meriting consideration in planning decisions would be 

230



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

considered to contribute to the significance of a conservation area and therefore are 

considered to be part of a designated heritage asset.  As such, we will not consider them for 

inclusion on the Oxford Heritage Assets Register. 

What happens next? 

We will prepare a list of candidate heritage assets, which will be presented to the public 

(including the owners of candidate heritage assets) for consultation. Any responses received 

from the public will be placed with the nomination form and will be included in the report 

made to the review panel. 

A panel of councillors, council officers and local experts will review the candidate assets 

nominated to ensure they meet the criteria. The information you provide in answering the 

questions will be essential for the panel’s consideration of your candidate’s significance. If 

they are uncertain, you may be asked to provide further information. Where the panel 

consider that a candidate has met the criteria they will recommend that the Council include 

them on the Oxford Heritage Asset Register.  

In some instances the review panel may decide that the candidate does not meet the criteria 

to be included as a heritage asset but might be appropriate for consideration as a community 

asset. If this is the case, you will be asked to consider making an application for the inclusion 

of your asset on the Council’s list of community assets, which may require additional or 

different information. 

231



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Criteria: 

Registered Heritage Assets must meet all of the four following criteria: 

Criterion 1. They must be capable of meeting the government’s definition of a 

heritage asset.   

Demonstrate that your candidate is able to fall within the government’s definition of a 

heritage asset; i.e. a building, monument, site, place, area or landscape.  

Criterion 2. They must possess heritage interest that can be conserved and 

enjoyed.  

Identify the properties of your candidate asset that need to be cared for as heritage – this is 

its heritage interest.  This might include physical things like its appearance and materials, as 

well as associations with past people or events. Consider whether the physical features of 

the candidate asset help to illustrate its associations. The four types of heritage interest 

listed are recognised in national planning policy.  

Criterion 3. They must have a value as heritage for the character and identity of 

the city, neighbourhood or community because of their heritage interest beyond 

personal or family connections, or the interest of individual property owners. 

Tell us why or how the heritage interest you identified in your answer to Question 2 is of 

local value - this is its heritage value. The types of heritage value suggested on the nomination 

form are based on national guidance by English Heritage. 

Criterion 4. They must have a level of significance that is greater than the 

general positive identified character of the local area.  

Tell us what raises your candidate’s heritage value to a level that merits its consideration in 

planning. Many features of the historic environment are a valued part of local character that 

should be managed through policies relating to townscape character in the local plan. 

Registered heritage assets should stand out as of greater significance than these features for 

their heritage value. The suggested options listed on the nominations form are based on 

national best practice. If you think your candidate asset has special local significance for 

another reason please state what it is. 

 

Criteria adopted By Oxford City Council 17.12.12 

232



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

East Ward Allotments, Cricket Road (including the Boundary Brook Nature Reserve) 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings  

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space) y 

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The allotments at Cricket Road are first recorded on the 1899 Ordnance 

Survey Map. Whilst it was expanded in the early 20th century the new areas were later developed 

for schools with playing fields and housing, leaving the original 19th century area. In 1990 

community volunteers created a nature reserve in the west of the allotments with a mosaic of 

habitats. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The allotments illustrate the provision of public land for cultivation by numerous 

small lessees  as a means of meeting the needs for feeding an urban population. This is a 

particularly early example of the allotment movement as public philanthropy. 

Aesthetics: The allotments and nature reserves provide an attractive outlook from surrounding 

housing as green open space. 

Communal: The allotments bring together an active community of allotmenteers, as well as the 

more recent groups of conservation volunteers who help to manage the nature reserve. Both 

groups contribute to the development of community cohesion. 

 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

233



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: The allotments have existed for in excess of 110 years ad preserve an lement of the open 

landscape that has been replaced by the densely packed streets of the suburb’s houses and other 

buildings many of which it pre-dates. As such it is considered to be an early element of the 

landscape. 

Oxford’s identity: The allotment forms on e of a series of green spaces that surround the East 

Oxford Suburb and separate it from adjacent areas such as Cowley Marsh and Florence Park, 

contributing to its identity as a distinct neighbourhood, with a well defined character provided by 

the extent of Victorian and Edwardian development.  

234



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Welcome to the nominations form for the Oxford Heritage Assets Register 
What the form is for 

The nomination form asks you to demonstrate how your candidate asset meets the criteria 

for inclusion on the Oxford Heritage Assets Register (the criteria are set out on the next 

page). The criteria ensure registration as a heritage asset is the most appropriate means to 

manage your valued feature of the environment. 

Registration does not mean an asset will be preserved in its current state in perpetuity. 

Planning policy allows change to heritage assets that conserves or better reveals their 

significance or, where change requires their loss, replaces the benefit to the public that they 

provide. The information provided in support of your nomination will help determine what 

forms of change might be acceptable. Saying “it’s important and must never change” won’t 

tell us what we need to know to manage your heritage asset in the future. 

Tick or rank? 

In answers to Questions 2 – 4 you can rank the interests, values and significance your 

candidate asset provides to show which you consider the most and least important to its 

significance; i.e. 1st  (most important) – 4th (least important). 

Alternatives 

If your candidate asset does not have significance that merits inclusion on the register but 

does contribute to the valued character of the local environment, consider preparing a 

character statement for the area using the Oxford Character Assessment Toolkit.  This 

identifies features that contribute positively to local character and opportunities for 

enhancement. It may help to identify other ways that change can contribute to the quality of 

the local environment and its sense of place. 

Where the use of land, buildings or places now or in the recent past, furthers the social 

wellbeing or social interests of the local community (and this is not an ancillary use), it may 

be considered to be an asset of community value (community asset), for which the 

government has made provision in the Localism Act 2011.  Regulations give communities the 

opportunity to identify assets of community value and have them listed and, when they are 

put up for sale, more time to raise finance and prepare to bid for them. The Council is 

maintaining a list of community assets. Nevertheless, there may be examples where land is 

considered to both qualify as a community asset and heritage asset, in which case it will be 

necessary to distinguish which features of their value and significance are relevant to each 

designation.  

Sites and buildings in conservation areas 

Conservation Areas are ‘designated heritage assets’ as defined by the government’s planning 

policy and receive a higher level of protection than locally registered heritage assets, 

including legal restrictions on demolition and some permitted development rights. 

Nevertheless, they are designated locally and reflect the local value of these areas as heritage 

assets. Features of the historic landscape within conservation areas that would be 

considered to have a significance meriting consideration in planning decisions would be 

235



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

considered to contribute to the significance of a conservation area and therefore are 

considered to be part of a designated heritage asset.  As such, we will not consider them for 

inclusion on the Oxford Heritage Assets Register. 

What happens next? 

We will prepare a list of candidate heritage assets, which will be presented to the public 

(including the owners of candidate heritage assets) for consultation. Any responses received 

from the public will be placed with the nomination form and will be included in the report 

made to the review panel. 

A panel of councillors, council officers and local experts will review the candidate assets 

nominated to ensure they meet the criteria. The information you provide in answering the 

questions will be essential for the panel’s consideration of your candidate’s significance. If 

they are uncertain, you may be asked to provide further information. Where the panel 

consider that a candidate has met the criteria they will recommend that the Council include 

them on the Oxford Heritage Asset Register.  

In some instances the review panel may decide that the candidate does not meet the criteria 

to be included as a heritage asset but might be appropriate for consideration as a community 

asset. If this is the case, you will be asked to consider making an application for the inclusion 

of your asset on the Council’s list of community assets, which may require additional or 

different information. 

236



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Criteria: 

Registered Heritage Assets must meet all of the four following criteria: 

Criterion 1. They must be capable of meeting the government’s definition of a 

heritage asset.   

Demonstrate that your candidate is able to fall within the government’s definition of a 

heritage asset; i.e. a building, monument, site, place, area or landscape.  

Criterion 2. They must possess heritage interest that can be conserved and 

enjoyed.  

Identify the properties of your candidate asset that need to be cared for as heritage – this is 

its heritage interest.  This might include physical things like its appearance and materials, as 

well as associations with past people or events. Consider whether the physical features of 

the candidate asset help to illustrate its associations. The four types of heritage interest 

listed are recognised in national planning policy.  

Criterion 3. They must have a value as heritage for the character and identity of 

the city, neighbourhood or community because of their heritage interest beyond 

personal or family connections, or the interest of individual property owners. 

Tell us why or how the heritage interest you identified in your answer to Question 2 is of 

local value - this is its heritage value. The types of heritage value suggested on the nomination 

form are based on national guidance by English Heritage. 

Criterion 4. They must have a level of significance that is greater than the 

general positive identified character of the local area.  

Tell us what raises your candidate’s heritage value to a level that merits its consideration in 

planning. Many features of the historic environment are a valued part of local character that 

should be managed through policies relating to townscape character in the local plan. 

Registered heritage assets should stand out as of greater significance than these features for 

their heritage value. The suggested options listed on the nominations form are based on 

national best practice. If you think your candidate asset has special local significance for 

another reason please state what it is. 

 

Criteria adopted By Oxford City Council 17.12.12 

237



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Aston’s Eyot, Jackdaw Lane 

 
 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings  

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space) y 

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

y 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: This land has been recorded since the 15
th
 century when the king took it from 

Abingdon Abbey’s property and granted it to the newly founded All Soul’s College. The college let it 
out to various local landowners up to the late 19

th
 century as a mixture of water-meadow and 

market gardens. In 1884 The Cherwell New Cut separated the northern part of the eyot (where the 
University boat clubs landing stages and boathouses now stand) from the rrest of the island to the 
south).  Christ Church bought the land in 1891, completing their control of the belt of green space 
that would lie across the Cherwell from their famous meadow. During the early 20

th
 century the land 

was used as the city’s rubbish dump.  It was used as a military training ground during the Second 
World War and as a pig run afterwards, as well as having a short life as a rugby pitch. It has 
gradually generated scrub cover during the later 20

th
 century. In the 1970s and ‘80s, Christ Church 

238



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

granted a non-exclusive license to the City Council to use the Eyot as public open space.   

 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and Illustration:  As semi-natural green space the eyot helps to illustrate the 

meadowland and green spaces into which the East Oxford suburb expanded in the late 19th 

century and which the colleges (particularly Christ Church) sought to retain as part of the 

attractive surroundings to their property. 

Aesthetics and Communal value:  The eyot has been returned to an attractive semi-natural 

appearance, whilst the management regime includes a commitment to return areas to wildflower 

rich grassland.  As publicly accessible land this attractive environment is enjoyed by the people of 

the suburb and forms a part of the countryside setting of Oxford as one of a series of meadows 

alongside the many channels of the rivers Thames and Cherwell that thread their way around the 

city. The community have been able to access the eyot (with the permission of the College) since 

the 1970s and it is now a resource that contributes to community cohesion through its 

management by the Friends of Aston Eyot. 

The green space also provides part of the attractive green setting to the river experienced by 

many rowers. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: Aston’s Eyot along with several other green spaces lining the riverbanks, provides a surviving 

(or in this case reconstructed) element of the landscape of the river valley that has existed since, 

at least the later middle ages, with the river winding through numerous backwaters between green 

meadows, as well as the main channel. The public access to the Aston’s Eyot allows an 

appreciation of this landscape for the people of East Oxford. 

Group value and Oxford’s identity: Aston’s Eyot forms part of the group of meadows that 

line the river banks and together form part of the distinctive character of Oxford as the city 

amidst the willow lined banks of the streams of The Rivers Thames and Cherwell, that have 

inspired authors, poets and artists and contributed to the city’s identity. 

 

239



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

 

240



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Kidneys, Meadow Lane 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings  

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space) y 

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The kidneys (original the great and lesser kidneys) were small islands on the 

edge of the River Thames used as open grazing land that survived relatively unaltered from the 

middle ages into the 19
th
 century. During the mid 20

th
 century they were used by the city council as 

a municipal rubbish tip, with deliver of waste by barge.  However they have subsequently been 

returned to a natural state and now form a nature park on the edge of the East Oxford suburb with 

views of the river. The very southern tip of land in the Kidneys is a Site of Special Scientific Interest 

as a surviving area of lowland water meadow supporting a colony of Snake’s Head Fritillaries. 

Groups of pollarded willows and alders run along the banks of the Cherwell. 

 

241



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and Illustration:  Due to the restoration of the former islands as semi-natural 

meadowland the Kidneys provide an illustration of the riverside meadows into which the East 

Oxford suburb expanded during the later 19th century. Oxford’s watercourses, with their willow-

lined banks have inspired numerous writers and artists. 

Aesthetics and Communal value: The area provides an attractive riverside green space that 

has now been used by the public as accessible land for recreation for over thirty years.  The green 

space also provides part of the attractive green setting to the river experienced by many rowers. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: The Kidneys along with several other green spaces lining the riverbanks, provides a surviving 

(or in this case reconstructed element of the landscape of the river valley that has existed since, at 

least the later middle ages, with the river winding through numerous backwaters between green 

meadows, as well as the main channel. The public access to the Kidneys allows an appreciation of 

this landscape for the people of East Oxford. 

Group value and Oxford’s identity: The Kidneys form part of the group of meadows that line 

the river banks and together form part of the distinctive character of Oxford as the city amidst the 

willow lined banks of the streams of The Rivers Thames and Cherwell, that have inspired authors, 

poets and artists and contributed to the city’s identity. 

 

242



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Ss  Mary and John’s School Field, Meadow Lane 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings  

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space) y 

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

y 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The school playing field, located south of the building complex, preserves the 

outline of a field recorded on the first edition of the Ordnance Survey Map, which formed the 

southern tip of the medieval Long Meadow in the open fields of Cowley St John. The field 

boundaries of green hedgerows are likely to date from the enclosure of the fields of Cowley in 1853, 

if not earlier. Indeed, where they follow the Shire Lake Ditch they even mark the old boundary 

between Oxfordshire and Berkshire. 

 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally Tick / Rank 

243



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

for any of the following reasons? 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The meadow provides a very visible illustration of the farmland of meadows into 

which the suburb expanded in the late 19
th
 century and early 20

th
 century. 

Aesthetics: This field, including its surrounding hedgerows, forms part of the green setting of the 

Iffley Fields Neighbourhood and provides attractive green foreground in views west from Bedford 
Street and Meadow Lane. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: The playing field preserves an element of the medieval meadows that ran alongside the many 

streams of the Rivers Thames and Cherwell over which the East Oxford Suburb was developed 

and, as such provides a surviving element of an early part of the landscape. The Shire Lake ditch in 

particular, forms an important historic landmark defining the boundary between the Counties of 

Oxfordshire and Berkshire that last from the 11th to the 20th century. 

Group value: This field forms part of the string of green spaces that run along the western edge 

of the suburb and together provide a green setting to the area. 

 

 

244



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Long Meadow, Jackdaw Lane 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings  

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space) y 

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: Long Meadow is one of the series of meadows running alongside the River 

Cherwell as it passes through Oxford. It was part of the medieval common fields of Cowley 

although the meadowlands had been subdivided by 1777, when Long Mead was the largest 

remaining piece. Christ Church was one of the largest beneficiaries of the enclosure of the Cowley 

Open Fields in 1853 acquiring Long Mead and a large part of Compass Field to protect the green 

views out from Christ Church Meadow, as well as the view on approaching Oxford along Iffley 

Road (see Salmon. 2010, Beyond Magdalen Bridge, 35). Despite the later development of Compas 

Field for sports fields and bulildin gs Long Mead has remained undeveloped and came to be know 

as Rink Field by students, presumably as it is prone to floodingand frweezing over in winter .  

Recently the new bridge crossing the River Cherwell from Christ Church Meadow to provide 

access fro students to the College sports facilities has also provided access to the meadow. 

 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The meadow illustrates the medieval rural setting of the city, into which the East 

Oxford suburb expanded during the 19th century. It also illustrates the concern of the colleges to 

preserve the green setting of the city at this time.    

Aesthetics and Association: The meadow provides part of the green setting to the river 

Cherwell, with willow lined banks that are have been explored by generations of students by punt 

and rowing boat and that have inspired many artists and writers.  

Communal value: The field has been enjoyed by generations of Christ College students (many 

of whom used the old ‘static’ (chained) punt to cross from Christ Church Meadow to reach the 

college sports ground.. 

245



Nominate a Heritage Asset 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age and Integrity:  The meadow preserves a part of the medieval setting of the city, where as 

surrounding green space has been developed for sports pitches, or less auspiciously was used as 

rubbish dumps in the 19th and early 20th century, only being restored to a semi-natural state in the 

later 20th century. As such it represents an early part of the landscape and is well preserved. 

Group value and Oxford’s identity: This is one of a series of riverside meadows that preserve 

the character of the tree lined streams and backwaters that run through the city and together 

make an important contribution to the character of the city which has inspired writers and artists 

for many centuries.  

 

246



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The former Cantay Depository, 37-39 Park End Street  

 
Photographs © Oxfordshire Buildings Record 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y2 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y1 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Architectural interest: this large building was designed by the architects Tollit and Lee and 

consists of two Dutch-gabled pavilions either side of a three bay range with Dutch gabled dormers, 

built in red brick with stone dressings.  The western pavilion has retained its ornate Edwardian 

shopfront including glazed brickwork, elaborate shopwindows and an engraved glass window with 

the company name for the historic office. The first and second floors retain unusual round-headed 

windows with large mullions and transoms in the western pavilion and small pediments to window 

heads in the east pavilion. At ground floor level, some shops retain original ceramic tiles, mosaic 

floor designs and iron columns cast at the Lucy Ironworks. The former offices have (OBR, 2006) 

Historic interest: The building was constructed in 1894-1909 by Archer, Crowley and Company 

as a depository or storage for the city’s middle classes. 

 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y2 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area y1 

 7 

mosaic floor designs and iron Lucy columns. The former offices have an engraved glass 

window with the company name. 

 

Summary of importance: The offices and depository of Archer, Cowley and Co, designed 

by H J Tollit/Tollit and Lee and built 1894-1909. Henry James Tollit (1835-1904) was a 

pupil of William Wilkinson, and after his death, his partner Lee seems to have taken over 

the business. The office building at the west end is particularly important due to the glass, 

tiles and floor mosaic, as well as the dramatic architectural details. 

 

  
Cantay Depository (2006)    Office window detail (2006) 

 

Name:  Christ Church Old Buildings 

 

Address:  The Hamel/Osney Lane 

 

Description:  a Peabody-type mass housing development of three blocks around a 

central drying ground/childrenís playground.  

 

Summary of importance: Built in 1866-8 by E G Bruton, and originally called ëModel 

Buildingsí, this is a remarkable survival. It is highly worthy of listing. The block opposite 

(1-7 The Hamel) is probably also by Bruton of around the same date.  

 
Christ Church Old Buildings (2001) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

247



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

either by design or fortuitously 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Aesthetics: The building is designed to be impressive and eye-catching with a wealth of 

architectural detailing that makes it stand out in the streetscene, retaining much of its historic 

design. This in turn reveals the intention of its designers to attract wealthy customers, by creating 

an attractive frontage.  The building contributes to the Victorian and Edwardian character of Park 

End Street. 

Illustration: The building helps to illustrate the development of Park End Street in the late 19th 

and early 20th century as part of an area of specialised commercial uses requiring large footprint 

sites and replacing older industrial uses or courts of cramped housing. 

  
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Integrity: The building is well preserved, including high quality historic shopfront details and 

architectural ornament that makes an important contribution to the postive character of Park End 

Street as a street of late 19th and early 20th century commercial development 

Group value Oxford’s identity: The building forms part of the group of late Victorian and 

Edwardian brick buildings that lie along the south side of Park End Street including Frank Cooper’s 

Marmalade Factory, the former Castle Hotel and the ‘Christ Church buildings’, which share a 

common palette of materials, scale, and use of architectural ornament and help to provide a strong 

sense of place as a area of contemporary development to this entrance to the city. 

 

 

 

248



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Osney Lane Footbridge 

 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: the footbridge reunited the two ends of the medieval route of Osney Lane, 

which were divided by the construction of the GWR railway line. It crossed the tracks of the 

railway line as well as the large area of sidings that formed a goods yard next to Becket Street.  

Architectural interest: The bridge piers and steps appear to be a part of the original GWR 

bridge with cast iron columns supporting the modern footbridge, with subtle decoration as 

classical columns. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and Illustration: The footbridge illustrates the impact of the construction of the 

railway on the historic street pattern of the suburb, turning the area to the west into a remote 

part of the suburb, whilst the presence of the good’s yard made an important contribution to the 

development of the city and the industrial character of its western suburb. 

Aesthetics: The decorative detail of the columns helps to illustrate the Victorian love of 

decoration and pride in workmanship, even on structures that would now be considered very 

functional. 

Communal: The footbridge provides an important link to the city centre for the community of 

New Osney, avoiding the busier route via Botley Road. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

249



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age and Rarity: The structure is one of relatively few that relate to the early development of the 

railway line, providing a connection with its origins in the 1840s. 

 

 

250



251



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Ovada, 14a Osney Lane (Former Underhills Hide and Skin Market) 

 

 
Photographs by Liz Woolley 
 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

252



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: Built in 1928 by Underhills of 148 Edmund Street, Birmingham, as a Hide and 

Skin Market . Its location was convenient for the cattle market that was established just to the 

west in 1932. During World War II it became the depot of the South Eastern Wholesale Meat 

Supply Association Ltd1 and by 1954 The Meat Transport Organisation Ltd and AE Robson Ltd, 

meat cartage manufacturers, were also occupying the building. (Source: L. Woolley, 2012).   

Architectural interest: The architect was JR Wilkins of 4 Magdalen Street, Oxford; the builder 

E Organ & Sons. The building is a single-storey, brick built warehouse with a plain industrial 

character.  
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration and Aesthetics: The building helps to illustrate the industrial past of the area, which 

is now generally given over to residential and educational uses. The industrial character of the 

building (whilst not beautifual) nevertheless contributes an alternative aesthetic to the area as a 

building that represents the utilitarian character of the area’s development in the early 20th 

century. 

Association: The building has an association with the wider development of the cattle market 

south of Osney Lane in the early 20th century, providing a connection between Oxford and its 

rural hinterland, as well as forming one of the impacts of the development of the railways and 

goods yards to the west. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or  

                                                        
1 Kelly’s Directory of Oxford 1943 

253



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

communal association? 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Rarity and Oxford’s identity: This is one of a small number of buildings in the neighbourhood that 

retain a purely industrial character and that help to demonstrate the role of Oxford as a market 

town serving a wider agricultural hinterland.   

 

 

254



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Oxpens Road Bridge 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: This bridge was built in the early 1920s as part of the programme of 

developing a ring road around Oxford City Centre, as well as opening up the land at Oxpens for 

new development.  However, progress of the new road eastward was delayed by the need to clear 

areas of housing in St Ebbe’s, which did not take place until the 1960s. 

Architectural interest: The bridge is of ferro-concrete construction and must be one of the 

first in the city designed for motor traffic. its simple detailing, including the plat band to the 

parapet, lozenge shaped refuges, with deep chamfered arrow slits  have an almost Art Deco 

character. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally Tick / Rank 

255



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

for any of the following reasons? 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The bridge illustrates the early progress of the abandoned scheme to develop a ring 

road around the city centre, crossing Christ Church Meadow to reach the Plain on the other side 

of Magdalen Bridge (named the Christ Church Mall). Whilst the development of Oxpens Road has 

not otherwise retained an early 20th century character the bridge provides evidence of its date of 

construction. 

Aesthetic value: the bridge has been designed with ornamental detailing above the pure needs fo 

utilitarian function and  as such makes a positive contribution to the appearance of the area. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age and integrity: The bridge has maintained its historic appearance which provides evidence of 

its early 20th century origin, which, in turn represents a significant phase in the development of 

Oxpens Road as a new route that opened up this part of the suburb for new uses.  

 

 

256



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Site of the Franciscan Priory, Old Greyfriars Street 

Left: Turn Again Lane lies on the 

site of the Greyfriars Priory of which several walls survives as the garden wall of Nos. 

8-10 (© Bill Nichols reproduced under Creative Commons License) 

Below: the garden of the St Ebbe’s Rectory at Paradise Square marks part of the 

former area of the Paradise Garden, which became part of the Greyfriars Priory land 

after the Friars of the Sac were supressed in the early 14th century. 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings  

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

y 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

257



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

y 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: By the end of the 13th century Priories of the Friars of the Sac and the 

Franciscans (Greyfriars) occupied sites directly south of and crossing the line of the city walls, west 

of Littlegate and north of the Trill Mill Stream.  

The order first came to England in 1224 and a centre in Oxford (the country’s academic capital) 

was established in the same year in St Ebbe’s parish.  Between the 1220s and 40s they developed 

the land between the city walls and Church Street. Land south of the former line of the city walls 

was added in 1244-5 when it had become successful in attracting patronage and scholars from 

across Europe. The church at this time included ten separate chapels and a highly unusual teaching 

or ‘preaching nave’. The Friars of the Sack were suppressed in the late 13th century and their land 

taken up by Greyfriars Priory resulting in development of a large enclosed garden or ‘paradisus’ in 

the north west of the area, giving the origin of the modern names Paradise Street and Paradise 

Square. Within the church numerous worthies were buried within the Priory including Agnellus 

and Roger Bacon, but also Richard Plantagenet, 1st Earl of Cornwall and King of the Romans 

(Germans).   

Archaeological interest:  The Priories would have been substantial complexes of buildings, 

including chapels, cloisters, sleeping, dining and working accommodation for the Friars, as well as 

buildings to support the economy of these institutions and school buildings (that at Greyfriars is 

recorded as the largest of the orders’ in the 13th century). Greyfriars Priory, for example, is 

known to have incorporated two libraries and is thought to have been a rare double-cloistered 

priory. Subsidiary buildings may have included farm or garden buildings, mills or industrial 

workshops as well as housing for tenants. 

In addition this area covers a part of the medieval city walls (including standing remains that are 

designated as scheduled monuments) and has the potential for remains of the boundary ditches of 

the Saxon and later medieval town.  These provide the opportunity for waterlogged remains 

preserving organic material. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

y 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and Communal value: The establishment of the Greyfriars is of particular 

importance for its association with the first Franciscan mission to the country and is considered to 

have national and even international significance for its role as the most important teaching centre 

(‘Studium Generale’) of the order in England in the medieval period and as one of their two most 

important centres in Europe in the 13th century. The associative value of the site includes its 

associations with some of the most significant scholars and scientists of the Middle Ages, including 

Robert Grosseteste (c. 1175-1253, first chancellor of the university and the foremost scholar of 

258



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

his time), Roger Bacon (c. 1214-1294), John Duns Scotus (c. 1266-1308) and William of Ockham 

(c. 1287-1347), who helped to make Oxford an international centre of learning.  As such, the site, 

which is marked by a commemorative plaque recording the life of Roger Bacon, is considered to 

have considerable Communal value for the scholars of the University as the site of one of the 

founding institutions that secured its prestigious status.  

Evidence: Surviving archaeological remains of the Priory have the potential to supply information 

about its historic development, organisation and the daily lives of these famous medieval scholars, 

which would inform our understanding of the origins of the University and its character from the 

13th century until the Dissolution. 

Remains of the city walls, including evidence of earlier boundaries and ditches provide potential 

sources of information to learn about the development of the early medieval ‘burh’ of Oxford.  

The potential for survival of waterlogged remains raises a high potential for the survival or organic 

material that provides a wealth of information about the environment and living conditions of the 

Saxon or medieval town. During the 1970s the finds of remains of medieval alembics (equipment 

used by alchemists in distilling) at St Ebbe’s suggested that remains associated with the scientific 

researches of the Priories scholars could be uncovered. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age and integrity: The site is very considerable age and having suffered the ravages of the 

Dissolution and the subsequent development of the area as one of the most populous districts of 

the city is it surprising that any remains of it are to be found. Nevertheless archaeological 

investigation has revealed significant elements of the plan of the Priory Church and at least one of 

its cloisters suggesting there is a high potential for the survival of further remains in the 

surrounding area, which makes this an are with a high potential integrity. The Priory would be 

regarded as dating from the earliest years of the University and represents an institution that 

played a very significant role in its development during the Middle Ages. 

Rarity and Oxford’s identity: The Greyfriars Priory was the most significant teaching centre for the 

Franciscan Order in Mmedieval England and ranked only second to the scholar generale in Paris. 

The evidence of well preserved remains makes it a very site (the Grefriars Priory in Cambridge 

was completely demolished to building Trinity College in the 1776th century and its site later 

redeveloped for Sidney Sussex College). The development of the Franciscan Priory in Oxford 

(with the near contemporary Domincan Priory) propelled Oxford into an international status as a 

centre of learning in the 13th century, from which the University has grown to this day, making a 

very significant contribution to the identity of the city. 

 

 

259



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

 

The Roger Bacon memorial plaque 

  

260



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

 

Map showing 

the 

approximate 

area of 

Greyfriars 

Priory and the 

Paradise 

Gardens 

(formerly the 

Priory of the 

Friars of the 

Sacrament) 

 

A plan of the Greyfriars priory church, including the unusual teaching nave 
based on excavations undertaken in 1968-73 (from Hassal, et. al., 1974, 
Excavations at oxford 1973-4, Oxoniensia XXXIX) 

261



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Name and location of your candidate heritage asset (please provide a photograph and a 

map showing its location): The Wharf House, Butterwyke Place  

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

262



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: Built c. 1830 and possibly originally used as the offices of the neighbouring 

Friars Wharf on the River Thames (developed later for the gas works) and would have stood near 

its entrance from Speedwell Street. It was later converted for use as a public house by Hall’s 

Oxford Brewery and served the residential suburb that grew rapidly in this are during the mid 19th 

century. 

Architectural interest: The building is typical of the manager’s houses built for early 19th 

century industrial complexes, reflecting the style of suburban villas of the time with a double 

fronted plan and impressive central door within a rusticated door case and high quality ashlar 

frontage, giving way to lesser quality rubblestone for the flank walls, as well as a low pitched 

hipped roof of Welsh slate. The building nevertheless projects an image of robust construction 

representing the authority of the wharf manager, with smaller window openings than would be 

expected on a more purely residential structure. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

y 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association: The building provides a connection with the historic riverside activity of wharves and 

transport that are important themes of the history of the western suburbs of Oxford. 

Illustration and Evidence: The building illustrates the development of the wharves as part of the 

progress of development of St Ebbe’s suburb in the early 19th century, which expanded rapidly 

soon after. 

Aesthetics: The building is one of very few on Thames Street for Speedwell Street that would be 

regarded as contributing to the historical aesthetic of the suburb. Its design provides an indication 

of the former Georgian character of development in this part of the city and has been preserved 

despite a number of different uses. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a y 

263



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

particular part of it? 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age and Rarity: The build dates from the period of the suburb’s rapid development and 

probably represents an early stage in this process through the development of the riverside. It is 

one of very few surviving 19th century buildings of what was an extensive suburb and so help’s to 

illustrate an element of the area’s history that has otherwise virtually disappeared. 

Integrity: The building retains its historic character well , including evidence of a number of 

different uses. 

Oxford’s identity: The building contributes to the identity of St Ebbe’s suburb as an area that 

has a long history of development and occupation. It also contributes to the identity of Oxford as 

a town that had an important history of trade and industry. 

 

 

264



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Victoria Buildings Park End Street 

 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

Y2 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

Y1 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Architectural interest: These are late Victorian three-storey buildings in red brick with stone 

dressings in the Queen Anne Revival style and form the south side of Frideswide Square. Details 

include stone banding to the frontages, stone lintels and mullions to windows and ornamental 

ridge tiles. 

Historic interest:  These buildings were constructed as part of a wider phase development of 

the south side of Park End Street at the end of the 19th century by Christ Church. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or  

265



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

character of the area 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The buildings illustrate the influence of ownership by the colleges of large areas of 

land in the city on its development and character. They also help to illustrate the impact of 

growing use of the railways on the town, with these buildings constructed to take advantage of the 

proximity of both of Oxford’s main railway stations just across the road. 

Aesthetics: The buildings are well-preserved above ground floor level, retaining much of their 

architectural design, including their architectural ornament which makes a positive contribution to 

the street scene as well as helping to form its late Victorian architectural character. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age and integrity:  The builders represent the first phase of built development of this land, 

which had formerly been market gardens, illustrating the expansion of the city outward along Park 

End Street as a fundamental change in the character of the suburb. As such it is considered to 

represent a significant phase of development. The buildings preserve their architectural character 

well and are readily recognisable as structures built in the 1880s-90s, which therefore make an 

important contribution to the wider group of historic buildings that form two sides of Frideswide 

Square. 

Oxford’s identity: These buildings form an important part of the approach to Oxford city 

centre, heralding the change in character from the residential suburban areas along Botley Road to 

the west, to a more commercial character with larger, city-scale building in suburb between the 

railway and the Oxford Canal. It also forms part of the space of Frideswide Square, which acts as 

the entrance to the city from the railway station.  As such the building provides an important 

element of the Victorian architectural character of the western suburb as an area that has an 

important historical relationship with the transport routes that developed in the 18th and 19th 

centuries. 

 

 

266



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Former Castle Hotel, Park End Street 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: Built as a hotel in the 1880s as part of the development of the former market 

gardens on land owned by Christ Church to the north of St Thomas’ Church opposite Oxford’s 

two main railway stations (those of the competing GWR and LMS railways, 

Architectural interest: The Castle Hotel was designed by E G Cobb in 1888 and stands out in 

the streetscene for a French baroque design with a pavilion roofed tower capped with ornamental 

267



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

ironwork and decorated across its frontage with stonework including string courses and 

cartoushes, keystones and jambs to windows and the cetrnal front door and aprons to the eaves.  

The high level of ornament would have helped the building to stand out in the streetscene 

contributing to its function as a hotel. 

 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration and Association: The building illustrates the development of the area as an arrival 

point for the city catering form travellers through provision of hotels and, as such, has associations 

with the importance of the transport networks in this part of the city. 

Aesthetics: The building was designed to form an attractive element of the street scene with 

eye-catching features that have remained intact. It contributes to the wider Victorian and 

Edwardian character of Park End Street and the historic character of the south and west sides of 

Frideswide Square. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: The building represents the first built development of this land, illustrating the growth of the 

suburb as an extension of the commercial area of the city centre in response to the increasing 

importance of the railways and passenger traffic to Oxford. As such it represents an important 

phase in the area’s development. T 

Integrity: The building has retained its Victorian character well, including its historic joinery and 

detailing which makes an important contribution to the aeasthetic quality and historic character of 

the frontage of Park End Street, as well as of understanding of its historic role.  

Group value and Oxford’s identity: the building forms part of the southern frtonage of OPark 

End Street, which has a strongly expressed late Victorian and Edwardian architectural character 

using a limited pallete of redrick with stone dressings. These buildings together help to illustrate 

the development of this route ion the late 19th and early 20th century as an important route into 

the 20th century acting as a new commercial area in response to the growing importance of this 

route and the importance of the railway stations in particular, making this the most important 

entrance to the city centre (replacing the roads from London) for visitors. 

 

 

268



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Nos. 24-28 Park End Street 

 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use  

269



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: These buildings were built either at the very end of the 19th century or in the 

first few years of the 20th century as development of former market gardens  belonging to Christ 

Church and facing Oxford’s two main railway stations. Providing a commercial frontage   

Architectural interest: The buildings are well detailed late Victorian or Edwardian townhouses 

in the Queen Anne Revival style popular in Oxford in the 1880s and 90s, with ground floor shops, 

of which the frontage of No. 28’s is well preserved.  They retain architectural detailings including 

stone banding, stone mullions and lintels and ornamental ridge tiles. A notable feature is the 

different treatment of each of the gables in the row. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: This group of buildings helps to illustrate the development of Park End Street at the 

turn of the 19th century to form an extension to the commercial area of the city centre by Christ 

Church as an important institutional landowner in the city. This reflects the development of the 

area in response to the growing importance of the railways as a means for visitors to reach 

Oxford, changing the orientation of the city from the London Roads in the east railway stations to 

the west. 

Aesthetics: The buildings have retained their architectural detailing, including some remains of 

their historic shopfronts. As such they contribute to the positive appearance of the street scene as 

well as the wider Victorian and Edwardian character of Park End Street and Frideswide Square. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value? 

Age: These building represent the first period of built development of this land forming part of the 

expansion of Oxford along Park End Street towards the railway stations in the late 19th century. 

As such, they represent an important date for the development of the area. 

Integrity: The buildings are well preserved, retaining their historic architectural character. 

Group value and Oxford’s identity: As part of the group of contemporary buildings on the south 

side of Park End Street these building contribute to the identity of the street and of Frideswide 

Square as the late Victorian entrance to the city from the railway stations that continues to form a 

high quality built environment at an important entrance to the city both by road and rail.  

 

270



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Royal Oxford Hotel Hollybush Row 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: Built in 1935 as the GWR hotel and remaining in use as an hotel to the 

present. 

Architectural interest: Designed by J.C. Leeds in a Neo-Georgian style using Temple Guiting 

Stone with strong frontages to three streets. The materials and designs draw associations with the 

landscape and country houses of the Cotswolds to the west, which were popular with travellers in 

the 1930s, whilst creating the impression of a high class environment for patrons. They include 

transom and mullion windows and a central pediment and balustrade above, as well as decorative 

doorcases.  
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally Tick / Rank 

271



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

for any of the following reasons? 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and Illustration: The building has a strong association with the development of the 

land surrounding the present Frideswide Square with Oxford’s two main railway stations and the 

development of the area as an important entrance to the city for traveller, causing a reorientation 

of the city from the London roads in the east to the stations in the west in the late 19th and early 

20th century.  

Aesthetics:  The hotel’s materials contrast strongly with those of other historic buildings around 

Frideswide Square, drawing attention to the building as an important commercial structure, 

intended to be eye-catching. It retains its architectural detailing, including window and door 

detailings aside from the addition of the large central entrance. The 1930s architecture contributes 

to the late 19th and early 20th century character of the area as a part of  Oxford that was very 

successful at this period. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Integrity: The building is well-preserved, retaining mauch of its historic appearance and 

architectural detailing, contributing to a strong sense of place for the surrounding area. 

Group value and Oxford’s identity: The building contributes to the value of a wider group of 

Inter-War buildings extending along the north side of Park End Street including the Neo-Georgian 

and Art Deco buildings of the former King’s Motors and Hartwell’s Garage. As part of the group 

of historic buildings surrounding Frideswide Square, including a second hotel, the building also 

contributes to the character of the area as the late 19th and early 20th century entrance to the city 

from the railway station with attractive buildings designed to draw in custom from visitors arriving 

in the city by train.  

 

 

 

272



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Marroon (formerly the The Chequers), Hollybush Row 

 8 

Name:  Former CrËche and Invalid Kitchen 

 

Address: Woodbine Place 

 

Description:  On the corner of the 

plot bounded by Woodbine Place 

and Osney Lane, this employs the 

same materials and general 

architecture as the surrounding 

houses. The doorway to Woodbine 

Place is particularly distinctive, in 

ashlar with small windows to 

either side. 

 
Former crËche (2006) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Summary of importance: the crËche was established in 1893 by Miss Mary Jephson of 

Gunfield, Norham Gardens, probably through a legacy after her death. She was noted for 

her philanthropic work in the area, and the building stands as a memorial to this, which 

could be enhanced by the addition of a Blue Plaque to the benefactress. 

 

Name:  Chequers public house 

 

Address: Hollybush Row 

 

Description: A long 

building comprising 

two pavilions either 

side of a central block 

with a recessed first 

floor, on which the 

name of the pub is 

displayed. 

 
The Chequers 

 

Summary of 

importance: Although 

no doubt ëmodernisedí 

internally, this seems to 

be substantially the 1913 pub by Wilkins and Jeeves. It is worthy of listing. 

 

 
(Photograph © Oxfordshire Building Record) 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: Built in 1913 as a public house. 

Architectural interest: Designed By Wilkins and Jeeves (JR Wilkins was an architect working 

for breweries in late Edwardian and Inter-War Oxford). The building has two ‘pavilions’ either side 

of a recessed central range creating a long street frontage that retains much of the historic 

detailing of the pub front, including the glazed brick dado and stone fronted ground floor above, 

including segmental arched door hoods, and a painted render upper floor, with hipped tiled roofs 

with broad overshooting bracketed eaves. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

273



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association, Illustration and Communal value:  The public his an early example of the 

improved public house built by the larger breweries, mainly in the period between the world wars 

as part of a move to raise the profiles of public houses as places of entertainment at a time of 

increasing completion and changing social attitudes amongst the working classes in particular 

towards the beer houses.  These tended to draw on traditional images of coaching inns of the 17th 

century to portray the local pub as a part of an historic tradition associated with the utopian 

archetype of ‘Merrie Olde England’. Public houses have traditionally provided important social 

venues within housing areas such as St Thomas’ suburb and contribute to their sense of identity as 

communities. 

Aesthetics: The building is of an interesting design and has retained many of its early 20th century 

architectural details, providing variety to the otherwise rather austere frontage of this part of 

Hollybush Row. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Integrity: The building is well preserved and is now over a century old, with detailing that 

contributes to the aesthetic value of the area. 

Oxford’s identity: The building’s age and role as a public house contribute to the identity of St 

Thomas’ as an historic residential suburb with important facilities including the public house as 

social venue, alongside other historic buildings that include schools, church and buildings for the 

health or welfare of the community. 

 

 

274



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

No. 1 Woodbine Place (The former Creche and Invalid Kitchen) 

 8 

Name:  Former CrËche and Invalid Kitchen 

 

Address: Woodbine Place 

 

Description:  On the corner of the 

plot bounded by Woodbine Place 

and Osney Lane, this employs the 

same materials and general 

architecture as the surrounding 

houses. The doorway to Woodbine 

Place is particularly distinctive, in 

ashlar with small windows to 

either side. 

 
Former crËche (2006) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Summary of importance: the crËche was established in 1893 by Miss Mary Jephson of 

Gunfield, Norham Gardens, probably through a legacy after her death. She was noted for 

her philanthropic work in the area, and the building stands as a memorial to this, which 

could be enhanced by the addition of a Blue Plaque to the benefactress. 

 

Name:  Chequers public house 

 

Address: Hollybush Row 

 

Description: A long 

building comprising 

two pavilions either 

side of a central block 

with a recessed first 

floor, on which the 

name of the pub is 

displayed. 

 
The Chequers 

 

Summary of 

importance: Although 

no doubt ëmodernisedí 

internally, this seems to 

be substantially the 1913 pub by Wilkins and Jeeves. It is worthy of listing. 

 

 
(Photograph © Oxfordshire Building Record 2006) 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The crèche and soup kitchen was established in 1893 by Miss Mary Jephson (a 

resident of Norham Gardens), allowing women of the parish to work and providing food for those 

unable to work due to ill health and infirmity. Mary Jephson had established a reputation for her 

charitable work ion St Thomas’ 

Architectural interest: The building has a longer frontage to Osney Lane than the neighbouring 

houses but otherwise retains the character of many of the nearby houses, built in red brick with a 

platband and simple cornice to the eaves and low brick arches to the window heads.  The timber 

framed sash windows are of an unusual four-over-four pattern. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally Tick / Rank 

275



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

for any of the following reasons? 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and Illustration: The building has an association with a notable local philanthropist who 

undertook work in the area.  It also helps to illustrate the conditions prevalent in St Thomas’ at 

the end of the 19th century. Even with improving sanitation and housing, this was still one of the 

poorest districts in the city requiring mothers to work and housing many who’s means were 

insufficient to support themselves during ill health or old age. 

Communal: The building provides an important memory of the area’s character in the past. 

Aesthetics: The building contributes to the wider Victorian character of the area, using consistent 

materials and detailing that complement those of the surrounding housing. 

 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Integrity, Group value and Oxford’s identity:  The building retains an appearance that 

reflects its late Victorian date, a well as standing out as a of a different function from the 

surrounding housing. It has some group value with the Christ Church Old Buildings, just to the 

east, as building constructed in order to overcome the pressing social and environmental 

conditions of St Thomas’ in the later 19th century, and with St Thomas’ School as buildings 

constructed to provide services for the public.  

Rarity: This is the only example of a purpose built Victorian ‘soup kitchen and creche’ in the city 

and stands out as an unusual building type generally, with a high historical value in spite of a 

relatively unassuming appearance. 

 

 

276



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Wareham Stream 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings  

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space) y 

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

y 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest and Archaeological interest: The Wareham stream follows a sinuous 

course from the Castle Mill Stream just north of Hythe Bridge Street to just south of Paradise 

Street where it re-joins it. It was divided from the straighter course of the Castle Mill Stream by 

the ‘Waram bank’ recorded in the 13th century and probably represents the earlier course of a 

stream of the River Thames that was channelled for the castle’s mill in the 11th century or an 

earlier Saxon town mill. It was , in turn use as a mill race, including turning a wheel that was part 

of the Morrell Brewery and offshoots feeding several former breweries along its course by the late 

277



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

19th century.  However, it is likely it was also an unhealthy element of the suburb’s environment, 

becoming one of the sources of disease during the cholera outbreaks of the early and mid 19th 

century. As a long-lived feature of the suburb’s landscape it is likely to have developed over time, 

including the movement and reinforcement of banks, whilst it is also likely to have been a focus of 

activity for much of the past millennium.  The waterlogged environment of the streamsides is also 

an area with a high potential for the survival of archaeological remains, including organic remains 

that are not well preserved otherwise and can provide a high level of information. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

y 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and illustration: The Wareham Stream has associations with the origin of many of 

the industries and activities that have contributed to the development of the West Oxford suburb, 

particularly as the early focus of industry in the city.  Its narrow course now helps to illustrate 

how uses ran right up to the edge of and exploited the watercourse in the past, with examples 

including the former Lion Brewery built up against the stream, which powered its waterwheel.  

Evidence: The potential to learn more about how the Wareham Stream and Castle Mill Stream 

were formed could reveal significant information about the origins of the town of Oxford and its 

castle, as well as the associated water engineering that helped to form Osney Island and create the 

distinctive suburb to the west of the town in the Middle Ages. 

Aesthetics: The narrow watercourse is now an attractive feature of the area providing many 

properties with an outlook onto the watercourse as a natural feature within the otherwise hard, 

urban environment of the West Oxford. 

 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: The Wareham Stream is probably the oldest landscape feature within the present study area, 

potentially even pre-dating the Castle Mill Stream as a natural stream of the River Thames. 

Oxford’s identity: The watercourses running through West oxford have had a considerable 

influence on its development over the past millennium, allowing the development of mills in the 

Middle Ages, supply a brewing industry that had begun to develop in the 17th century and providing 

the water for canal transport in the 18th. Moreover, they contribute to the identity of Oxford as 

the city set amidst the many streams and backwaters of the River Thames, which have inspired 

artists, writers and poets for several centuries. The Wareham stream is one of the oldest of these 

278



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

channels and through careful study has the potential to reveal more of the story of the city.  

 

 

279



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Name and location of your candidate heritage asset (please provide a photograph and a 

map showing its location):  

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city  

280



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 
 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The bridge was built in 1886 from a dedicated spur on the GWR railway line 

to deliver coal to the gas works, removing the need to carry it by wagon from the goods station at  

Becket Street, which was congesting the city’s roads.  

Architectural interest: The bridge was designed by the eminent civil engineer Thomas 

Hawksley and was designed to include a cart road as well as a single track of rails, as well as a 

granite stone footway for workers.. The bridge is supported on two cylindrical piers with ogee 

caps and has lattice work sides. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and illustration: The bridge helps to illustrate the industrial uses of the riverside 

area prior to their redevelopment during the 1970s as well as having an association with the role 

of West Oxford as a hub for the history of transportation in the city and different forms of power 

generation (water power, gas and electricity). 

Aesthetics: The bridge is now an attractive element of the river scene, retaining details that were 

included in its design to be attractive rather than purely utilitarian. 

Communal: The bridge now links the area of Grandpont to the city centre and the St Ebbe’s 

area to the green riverside, contributing to the identity and cohesion of both groups as part of the 

wider community of the city with a sense of ownership of their surroundings. 

 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

281



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: The bridge provides evidence of the industrial development of the riverside in the late 19th 

century that preceded the development of housing in the later 20th century and, as such is 

considered an early element of the landscape representing its industrial use as an impiortant phase 

in its history.   

Rarity: The bridge is one of the few structures remaining from the 19th century gas works that 

was an important element of the riverside. 

Integrity: The bridge is largely intact retaining much of its historic character including the 

decorative detailing that is an important element of Victorian architecture. 

 

 

282



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Former Gas Works Pipe Bridge, Marlborough Road 

 
 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The pipe bridge was built as part of the infrastructure of the gas works by 

Head Wrighton & Co. Ltd., engineers of Thornaby-on-Tess in 1927 and illustrates the needs 

generated by the expansion of the Gas Works to the south side of the river. 

Architectural interest: This is a truss bridge structure of utilitarian design representing the 

industrial history of the area. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or  

283



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

character of the area 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The bridge helps to illustrate the industrial past of the riverside prior to its 

redevelopment for housing in the 1970s. 

Aesthetics: The bridge retains an industrial aesthetic that provides a contrast with the domestic 

architecture of the housing to either side and emphasises the industrial past of the riverside. 

Communal: The bridge now links the area of Grandpont to the city centre and the St Ebbe’s 

area to the green riverside, contributing to the identity and cohesion of both groups as part of the 

wider community of the city with a sense of ownership of their surroundings. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: This structure was created late in the period of industrial use of the riverside helping to 

illustrate the long history of this use, contrasting with the earlier railway bridge to the south. 

Rarity: The bridge is a rare surviving element of the industrial landscape of the riverside, which 

whas otherwise been largely cleared for the housing development of the later 20th century. 

Integrity: The bridge retains its industrial character and evidence of its age and function.  

 

 

284



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Sheepwash Channel 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings  

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space) y 

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

y 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The Sheepwash Channel is a man-made channel that connect the River 

Thames and Castle Mill Stream and acts as a transit route for boats from the Oxford Canal at Isis 

Lock to the Thames. It was probably created for this purpose in the in around 1790 and as such 

would have formed part of the first inland waterway to connect London with Birmingham and 

beyond to Manchester and Liverpool by linking waterways.  

Archaeological interest: The channel marks the northern limits of Rewley Abbey and will have 

undergone various phases of development over the past two centuries, which will have left there 

remains. In addition to the use of the waterway it has been crossed by various bridges of the 

GWR and LMS railways, including the scheduled swing bridge, which will also have left traces. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

y 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The channel illustrates the late 18th century development of the waterways crossing 

England, on which Oxford played an important role as a major inland port. The continuing 

importance of the waterways as a transport route into the 19th century is reflected in the design of 

the swingbridge, in which railway engineers were forced to accommodate the needs of those on 

the waterway. 

Evidence: The banks of the channel provide potential for information its date of construction and 

any antecedents, including the water engineering for Rewley Abbey.  

Communal: The waterway is used by many modern boaters and forms an important landmark in 

the inland waterways network as a transition between the river route of the Thames and the  man 

made waterway of the Oxford canal. For the modern community of boat dwellers in Oxford this 

is like the entrance to a distinct neighbourhood of the city. 
 

285



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Oxford’s identity: The Sheepwash Channel provides the entrance to the Oxford canal, which 

played an important role in the development of West Oxford as the industrial suburb of the city in 

the late 18th and 19th centuries. It continues to contribute to the identity of this part of the city as 

the neighbourhood most associated with the waterway dwelling community, as well as forming 

part of the route that visitors to Oxford by water are most likely to use and see the city by, 

recreating an experience that is now over two hundred years old. 

 

 

 

286



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Site of Osney Abbey 

 
 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings  

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

y 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

y 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

287



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: This is the site of Osney Abbey as suggested by map data produced in the 16th 

century and later, as well as the archaeological recording of the Abbey Church and remains of the 

Abbey Mill.  The abbey was established in 1129 as a Priory of Augustinian canons, becoming an 

abbey later in 1154. It was founded by Robert d’Oyly and his wife Edith  Forne (formerly the 

mistress of Henry I) and was one of the great Augustinian houses of Britian in the Middle Ages, 

helping to found numerous others.  The redirection of the Thames to its present course, is likely 

to have been undertaken for the abbey to power the mill. In 1539 the abbey, being regarded as the 

finest ecclesiastical building in the city, was made the Cathedral of the new See of Oxford, whilst 

the abbot became its bishop.  

Archaeological interest: Observation of the remains of the abbey church and mill have 

demonstrated the potential for the survival of remains of the buildings and spaces of the abbey.  

The low lying situation provides potential for survival of waterlogged deposits that could be a rich 

source of information about life within the medieval abbey and its environment.  
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

y 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Evidential: Archaeological remains of the abbey provide an important potential resource for 

study of the development of the religious community from the early 12th century until the 

dissolution, and its subsequent quarrying for building materials by Christ Church. 

Association: The site provides an association with the early history of the West Oxford suburb 

as largely the property of this institution, who played an important role in laying out the first 

streets and developing the industrial potential of its waterways, as well as making it an important 

part of Oxford’s religious landscape.  The site also provides an association with the impact of the 

Dissolution on the landscape of Oxford and its religious communities. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: The abbey is considered to be an early element of the development of the west Oxford 

suburb, which had a considerable influence on the subsequent development of the area.  

Oxford’s identity: The Abbey is one of the early religious institutions that formed centres for 

learning and contributed to the development of Oxford as a University city. It also has an 

association with the development of Oxford as the centre of an episcopal see, although this 

proved to be short-lived. The abbey also played an important role in the development of West 

288



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Oxford’s historical character as the city’s industrial suburb, which had a considerable influence on 

its later history and development. 

 

289



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Old Power Station, Arthur Street 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The power station was built at Cannon Wharf in 1892 for the Oxford Electric 

Company Ltd. They were designed by Thomas Parker (of Elwell and Parker and later the Electric 

Construction Company Ltd.), a renowned electrical engineer of the late Victorian period. The 

system of transporting electrify across the city devised by Parker became known as the ‘Oxford 

System’. Whilst the river would have provided a convenient location for transportation of coal for 

the power station, its position would also have been important for the supply of water for cooling. 

The same relationship is seen at Parker’s earlier power station at Commercial Road 

Wolverhampton (a Grade II listed building), built in 1884, next to the Birmingham Canal. By 1895 

all the colleges had converted to using electric lighting, along with many university buildings and 

businesses, with 7,000 electric lamps installed in the first year of the station’s operation. The 

290



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

power station continued in operation as the city’s main source of electricity until 1969. For local 

people the station was a  cause for complaint, including the smuts emitted from the chimney falling 

on washing! However the station also provided benefits including warm water for swimming , 

whilst spilled coal supplemented many domestic fuel supplies.  Whilst power stations might be 

thought of as rather utilitarian buildings today, in the late 19th century this would have been an 

exciting building representing the introduction of the latest achievement in science and technology 

in Oxford and heralding a cleaner and safer source of light (in addition to its other uses) than the 

more dangerous town gas. 

Architectural interest: The buildings were designed by the architect A. Brevitt, who also 

designed the Wolverhampton Power Station with Parker.  On its river frontage it is an attractive 

building with polychrome brickwork forming false arcading with an Italianate character. The Oriel 

window in the left hand bay appears to mark a manager’s office, presumably allowing views of the 

barges along the river to allow management of the wharf Above this the building is constructed of 

plainer material, whilst the elevation facing the yard at Arthur street also has a plainer industrial 

character with tall steel-framed windows framed by engaged pilasters rising to a deep, stepped 

cornice.  The windows in the southernmost range retain semi-circular arched heads 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: The building illustrates the development of West Oxford as an industrial suburb 

with large industrial building set amongst the narrow streets of housing that continued to be built 

up to the end of the 19th century. IT also illustrates the development of new technologies on 

Oxford and the introduction of electricity as part of the development of modernity in Oxford, 

whilst the buildings architecture reveals how the builders of industrial works in the city continued 

to maintain a commitment to achieving a positive aesthetic impact alongside achieving the 

utilitarian function of their buildings. 

Association: The building has an important association with the historical development of the 

rivers as transport routes that have influenced the development of industrial landuses in West 

Oxford. 

Aesthetic value: The retention of the ornamental architectural detailing of the building, 

contributes to the attractiveness of the riverside, whilst the building’s industrial character has its 

own aesthetic quality that provides a foil to the lower scale housing development around it that 

maintains the Victorian character of the area but provides variety and drama in the streetscene. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

 

291



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: The building is an early structure relating to the introduction of electricity as a power source 

for the city and as such represents a period when this was still viewed as an exciting and cutting 

edge technology. It also relates to a period when the river continued to act as an industrial 

waterway and when West Oxford’s industries were still developing as an important part of its 

character. As such it dates from an important phase in the area’s development. 

Rarity: This is a unique asset within the city.  

Integrity: The building survives to a high level of integrity and is recognisable for its former 

industrial function, whilst it also retains part of the internal fixtures and fittings that illustrate its 

historic use. 

 

 

292



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The River Hotel, Botley Road 

 

 
Photo © Betty Longbottom reproduced under Creative Commons License 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: Built by 1878, this was originally called Bridge House  and was probably home 

of the builder George Jones who leased a builders’ yard to the rear and built houses on Botley 

Road and Mill Street. Soon after 1881 it became the home of the successful building company 

owner T.H. Kingerlee who’s company built many houses in West Oxford, including houses on 

Cripley Road and Abbey Road just across Botley Road and further west along Botley Road where 

Helen Road and Henry Road are named after family members. The building company’s yard was 

also located just to the north at Abbey Road with access to the wharfs on the river.  Kingerlee 

also built many of Oxford’s a landmark buildings, particularly in the west of the city (including the 

293



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Old Fire Station, the Jam Factory and the New Theatre.  He was elected Mayor of Oxford in 1895 

at which time he was a Liberal Councillor, and again in 1911. He was made an Alderman in 1906. 

The firm of Kingerlee still continues to be an important company in Oxford today. 

Architectural interest: This is a large and imposing late Victorian building standing next to 

Botley Road which is now one of the main routes into the city centre. It is significantly larger than 

surrounding houses and occupies the conspicuous position next to the river.  The building retains 

architectural detailing, including its timber framed sash windows, some of which are embellished 

with gothic arched heads.  
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association: The building has a strong association with an influential business man and politician 

who played a role in the civic and commercial life of the city in the late 19th and early 20th century 

including the building of the West Oxford suburb. 

Illustration: The building illustrates the wealth generated by speculative building of new housing 

in Oxford in the later 19th century (a time of considerable expansion of the city). Nevertheless the 

house is located in what was generally a suburb of artisans with a strong industrial character and 

near to the owners’ own builders’ yards. 

Aesthetics: This is a striking building that has retained much of its late Victorian character, as a 

restrained version of the Gothic Revival housing being built in Oxford’s more affluent suburbs at 

this time. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age and integrity: The building has retained its historic character well, revealing its age as part 

of the wider development of New Osney but of a markedly different scale and status as the home 

of a wealthy businessman who was a prominent member of the city’s community. 

Oxford’s identity: The building has a strong association with the founder of a company who are 

now a well recognised Oxford name (equivalent for example to Cooper’s Marmalade, Blackwells 

Bookshop or Oxford Bus Company). 

  

 

 

294



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The One, No. 2 Botley Road (formerly the White House public House and the Botley 

Road Turnpike Tollhouse) 

 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest and Architectural interest: Built in 1850 by the GWR to replace the earlier 

turnpike tollhouse of the Botley and Newland Turnpike Trust and very generously proportioned 

with two large bay windows. It served this function for just 18 years until it was replaced by a 

tollhouse near Binsey Lane. Thereafter it was used as a public house (named the Old Gate House 

PH). The building was extended to the east in 1902 with a structure by the Oxford architect J.R. 

Wilkins (see also The Chequers Public House and Underhills Hide and Skin Market) that, 

surprisingly, looks more like a mid 19th century tollhouse than the original structure but also using 

prominent bays for the entrances to echo the architecture of the original structure.  
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

295



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and Illustration: The building has associations with the Great Western Railway 

Company, as well as the development of the turnpike Roads, whilst it helps illustrate the historic 

role and development of Botley Road as an important route into Oxford from the west. 

Aesthetics: The building contributes to the Victorian character of the area of New Osney, as 

well as making a notable contribution to the attractive quality of the streetscene through its 

architectural detailing. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age and integrity: The building pre-dates the construction of the surrounding residential streets 

and, as such, would be regarded as an early feature of this area. The building has retained much of 

its historic architectural character,whilst the extension added in 1900 has added to its 

architectural interest without concealing earlier features or details. 

Rarity: This is one of a small number of toll houses in Oxford (one other is located at Folly 

Bridge). 

Group value: This is one of a small number of tollhouses in Oxford and on local road routes (it 

might for example be considered as part of a group with the listed tollgate house at Swinford 

Bridge. 

Oxford’s identity: The toll gate house marks what was once considered to be an entrance to 

the city and forms part of its identity as a gateway feature that greats many travellers. 

 

 

296



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Kite Public House, Mill Street 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Architectural interest 

This public house was rebuilt in 1900 over an earlier pub established in 1882, taking its  name from 

the earlier name of Mill Street It is a particularly attractive late Victorian building with elaborate 

architectural detailing, including baroque parapet gables, Venetian windows to the first and second 

floors and stone bays rising to the first floor to the left and ground floor on the right. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

 

297



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Illustration: In the past Mill Street contained a number of different shops and public houses but 

the Kite is the last of these to survive, illustrating the past character of the street as an area of 

more mixed use that had a more vibrant character. 

Aesthetics: The building stands out in the streetscene for its attractive detailing, which was 

clearly designed to draw attention and make the building appealing to customers. The surrounding 

housing is relatively restrained in the use of decorative features providing a strong contrast that 

helps to highlight the public house as a key feature in the street scene. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

The building is ell preserved externally helping to sustain its historic character as a public house 

and the contribution of its Victorian architecture to the character of Mill Street as an area of late 

19th century development 

 

 

298



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The River Thames and Towpath from Osney Brdige to Four Streams Junction 

(Sheepwash Channel Junction) 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

299



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

a building or group of buildings  

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space) y 

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

y 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: This stretch of the river forms a part of the inland waterway network that 

developed in the late 18th century connecting with the Sheepwash Channel and Oxford Canal. 

However, it has an older history as part of the navigable waterway of the River Thames, which was 

an important transport network throughout the Middle Ages and possibly into the region’s 

prehistory (historically the River Thames was navigable as far as Cricklade 40 kilometres to the 

west). Osney Bridge was referred to as Hythe Bridge when it was constructed in the Middle Ages, 

suggesting the area was already being used for wharves or hythes. The riverside was again used for 

wharves in the 19th century, when land at Abbey Road was developed for a timber yard next to 

the Thames, which was later the builder’s yard for Kingerlee. 

Archaeological interest: The straight course of this section of the river suggests it was 

engineered to improve its navigation but potentially also its use as a source of waterpower for the 

Osney Abbey mill. This would suggest at least some of the improvement was undertaken during 

the Middle Ages (engineering of rivers is a commonly seen feature of medieval monastic sties). 

This suggests that the river is a feature of archaeological interest, whilst its banks should preserve 

evidence of the works undertaken to create this channel and of the riverside activity that appears 

to have taken place here since the Middle Ages. 

 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

y 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association: The river channel has an important association with the history of West Oxford as 

a focus of transport connections that connected the city to its rural hinterlands as well as to more 

distant markets. 

Illustration: The river and tow path illustrate the importance of the waterways as industrial 

transport routes that enabled the development of West Oxford as an industrial suburb to the city, 

including the development of a regionally notable brewing industry. During the late 18th century 

this became part of the first inland waterway between London and the manufactories of 

Birmingham and the West Midlands with connections  beyond to Liverpool and Manchester, 

300



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

making Oxford an important inland port. 

Evidence: The potential survival of archaeological remains relating to the engineering and use of 

the river channel would provide significant information on the nature of water engineering in 

medieval and early post-medieval Oxford as well as the potential involvement to f the monastic 

institutions or the town’s corporation. 

Aesthetics and Communal value: The river channel is now an important element of the local 

landscape, providing an escape from the urban surroundings for many local residents and workers, 

with attractive green surroundings and views over the water to the allotments or the uniform 

Victorian housing on Abbey Road. the view from the northern end of the channel is often 

reproduced by photographers and is particularly attractive in the late afternoon in autumn when 

low-angled sunlight floods across the water at the large pool formed by the junction with the 

Sheepwash Channel. 

 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: The channel appears to have been created in the Middle Ages as part of the reengineering 

the River Thames cutting through Osney Island to power the Abbey Mill and possibly to improve 

the navigation of the river. As such it provides n early element of the landscape, forming a part of 

the landscape of monasteries that developed around medieval Oxford and pre-dating the 

development of the suburb. 

Oxford’s identity: The river forms part of the character of West oxford as the focus of the 

city’s early industries and transport connections. It also contributes to the identity of Oxford as 

the city set amidst the many streams of the Thames and Cherwell Rivers that has inspired artists, 

writers and poets since the 17th century. 

 

 

301



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

No. 29 Abbey Road, Oxford  (formerly St. Frideswide’s Curate’s House) 

 
 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest and Architectural interest: Built in 1886-7 to designs by Clapton Crabbe 

Rolfe as a curate’s house for the nearby church of St Frideswide on Botley Road.  Built in red brick 

with plain tile catslide roof with ornamental ridge tiles and tall chimney stacks. Windows include 

stone tracery, providing an ecclesiastical character. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

302



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and Illustration: The building provides a good example of the work of the locally 

architect C.C. Rolfe who was one of Oxford’ more inventive architects of the late 19th century. 

His style generally includes high quality detailing, including use of the Victorian Gothic Revival style 

and can be seen as an Oxford based contribution to the development of the Arts and Crafts style. 

The building also illustrates the wealth of the church in the late 19th century, even within less 

affluent communities like West Oxford. It is noted as of interest by Pevsner and Sherwood in 

Buidlings of England (Oxford),  

Aesthetics: The building contributes to the Victorian character of the area of New Osney, as 

well as making a notable contribution to the attractive quality of the streetscene through its 

architectural detailing. The contrast with surrounding buff brick buildings makes it stand out as 

particularly notable. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? Y 4 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

Y 1 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? Y 3 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

Y 1 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Group value and Rarity: This is one of a small number of buildings by C.C. Rolfe within Oxford 

forming a corpus of highly competent work that is notable for its highly original and thought 

provoking style, including attention to detail and materials. The building would be considered to 

form a part of this small group of buildings which also includes the vicarage of St Thomas’ church 

just a few streets to the south east and the two rows of highly distinctive artisans’ cottages at 

Kingston Road. 

Integrity: The building is well preserved, retaining much of its historic architectural detail and 

character as a detached curate’s house set within its own grounds.  

Age: The building forms a contemporary structure to the surrounding housing development, 

illustrating its development in the late 19th century. 

 

 

 

303



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Name and location of your candidate heritage asset (please provide a photograph and a 

map showing its location): 

Hollybush public house, Bridge Street, Osney Island 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings x 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

x 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest? 

 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

x 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

x 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

x 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

x 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage? 

 

 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area?  

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

x 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? x 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

x 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value? x 

How does this contribute to its value? 

304



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Welcome to the nominations form for the Oxford Heritage Assets Register 
What the form is for 

The nomination form asks you to demonstrate how your candidate asset meets the criteria 

for inclusion on the Oxford Heritage Assets Register (the criteria are set out on the next 

page). The criteria ensure registration as a heritage asset is the most appropriate means to 

manage your valued feature of the environment. 

Registration does not mean an asset will be preserved in its current state in perpetuity. 

Planning policy allows change to heritage assets that conserves or better reveals their 

significance or, where change requires their loss, replaces the benefit to the public that they 

provide. The information provided in support of your nomination will help determine what 

forms of change might be acceptable. Saying “it’s important and must never change” won’t 

tell us what we need to know to manage your heritage asset in the future. 

Tick or rank? 

In answers to Questions 2 – 4 you can rank the interests, values and significance your 

candidate asset provides to show which you consider the most and least important to its 

significance; i.e. 1st  (most important) – 4th (least important). 

Alternatives 

If your candidate asset does not have significance that merits inclusion on the register but 

does contribute to the valued character of the local environment, consider preparing a 

character statement for the area using the Oxford Character Assessment Toolkit.  This 

identifies features that contribute positively to local character and opportunities for 

enhancement. It may help to identify other ways that change can contribute to the quality of 

the local environment and its sense of place. 

Where the use of land, buildings or places now or in the recent past, furthers the social 

wellbeing or social interests of the local community (and this is not an ancillary use), it may 

be considered to be an asset of community value (community asset), for which the 

government has made provision in the Localism Act 2011.  Regulations give communities the 

opportunity to identify assets of community value and have them listed and, when they are 

put up for sale, more time to raise finance and prepare to bid for them. The Council is 

maintaining a list of community assets. Nevertheless, there may be examples where land is 

considered to both qualify as a community asset and heritage asset, in which case it will be 

necessary to distinguish which features of their value and significance are relevant to each 

designation.  

Sites and buildings in conservation areas 

Conservation Areas are ‘designated heritage assets’ as defined by the government’s planning 

policy and receive a higher level of protection than locally registered heritage assets, 

including legal restrictions on demolition and some permitted development rights. 

Nevertheless, they are designated locally and reflect the local value of these areas as heritage 

assets. Features of the historic landscape within conservation areas that would be 

considered to have a significance meriting consideration in planning decisions would be 

305



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

considered to contribute to the significance of a conservation area and therefore are 

considered to be part of a designated heritage asset.  As such, we will not consider them for 

inclusion on the Oxford Heritage Assets Register. 

What happens next? 

We will prepare a list of candidate heritage assets, which will be presented to the public 

(including the owners of candidate heritage assets) for consultation. Any responses received 

from the public will be placed with the nomination form and will be included in the report 

made to the review panel. 

A panel of councillors, council officers and local experts will review the candidate assets 

nominated to ensure they meet the criteria. The information you provide in answering the 

questions will be essential for the panel’s consideration of your candidate’s significance. If 

they are uncertain, you may be asked to provide further information. Where the panel 

consider that a candidate has met the criteria they will recommend that the Council include 

them on the Oxford Heritage Asset Register.  

In some instances the review panel may decide that the candidate does not meet the criteria 

to be included as a heritage asset but might be appropriate for consideration as a community 

asset. If this is the case, you will be asked to consider making an application for the inclusion 

of your asset on the Council’s list of community assets, which may require additional or 

different information. 

306



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

The Criteria: 

Registered Heritage Assets must meet all of the four following criteria: 

Criterion 1. They must be capable of meeting the government’s definition of a 

heritage asset.   

Demonstrate that your candidate is able to fall within the government’s definition of a 

heritage asset; i.e. a building, monument, site, place, area or landscape.  

Criterion 2. They must possess heritage interest that can be conserved and 

enjoyed.  

Identify the properties of your candidate asset that need to be cared for as heritage – this is 

its heritage interest.  This might include physical things like its appearance and materials, as 

well as associations with past people or events. Consider whether the physical features of 

the candidate asset help to illustrate its associations. The four types of heritage interest 

listed are recognised in national planning policy.  

Criterion 3. They must have a value as heritage for the character and identity of 

the city, neighbourhood or community because of their heritage interest beyond 

personal or family connections, or the interest of individual property owners. 

Tell us why or how the heritage interest you identified in your answer to Question 2 is of 

local value - this is its heritage value. The types of heritage value suggested on the nomination 

form are based on national guidance by English Heritage. 

Criterion 4. They must have a level of significance that is greater than the 

general positive identified character of the local area.  

Tell us what raises your candidate’s heritage value to a level that merits its consideration in 

planning. Many features of the historic environment are a valued part of local character that 

should be managed through policies relating to townscape character in the local plan. 

Registered heritage assets should stand out as of greater significance than these features for 

their heritage value. The suggested options listed on the nominations form are based on 

national best practice. If you think your candidate asset has special local significance for 

another reason please state what it is. 

 

Criteria adopted By Oxford City Council 17.12.12 

307



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Bangkok House (Former Boatmen’s Mission Chapel) Hythe Bridge Street 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings y 

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space)  

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

y 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: Built c. 1868 to replace the former floating chapel at Fisher Row, serving the 

community of boatmen and their families on the Oxford Canal, many of whom also lived at Fisher 

Row. It also served as a day school for infants and a night school for men.  

Architectural interest: The single storey brick building has the appearance of a small chapel, 

retaining a pointed gothic-arched door from the street and similar arched window with a steeply 

pitched roof of clay plain tile. 
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or y 

308



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

character of the area 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and Illustration: The building has a special association with the community of 

boatpeople who made the Oxford Canal and Fissher Row their home in the 19th century.  The 

presence of the small chapel helps to illustrate the distinct identity this group of people maintained 

as a separate community from the parish of St Thomas’, as well as the perceived need to 

‘Christianise ‘ them. 

Aesthetic value: The small chapel building is designed to convey the impression of a religious 

building, using familiar ‘chirch building motifs’ such as the gothic arched doors and windows to 

convey understanding of its purpose. It stands out within the streetscene as different from the 

residential and commercial buildings around it, although the materials and detailing form a part of 

the Victorian character of the area. 
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

y 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition? y 

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: The building dates from the mid 19th century and retains sufficient of its appearance to be 

recognised as a mid-Victorian structure that dates from considerably earlier then the 20th century 

building which form large parts of Hythe Bridge Street. As such it represents an early phase oif 

development of the street  

Rarity and Integrity: The building is sufficiently well preserved to be recognised both in terms of its 

age and purpose, whilst it is unique in the city as a religious building constructed for a community 

defined by their trade. 

Oxford’s identity:  The building plays an important role in the identity of the area by providing a 

memory of the community of boatpeople who worked on the Oxford canal and the city’s 

waterways who have now gone but were once an integral element of the character of West 

Oxford. Indeed, this community may have had its origins in the medieval period, based on the 

hythes that surrounded Osney Island, only dying out with the end of the use of the canals for 

freight and the demolition of the buildings of Fisher Row in the mid 20th century. As such it also 

reflects the importance of the theme of transport and industry to the history and character of 

West Oxford. 

 

 

309



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

Castle Mill Stream and Fisher Row 

 
 

1. WHAT IS IT? Is it one of the following?  Tick 

a building or group of buildings  

a monument or site (an area of archaeological remains or a structure 

other than a building) 

 

a place (e.g. a street, park, garden or natural space) y 

a landscape (an area defined by visual features or character, e.g. a city 

centre, village, suburb or field system) 

 

 

2. WHY IS IT INTERESTING? Is it interesting in any of the following ways?   Tick / Rank 

Historic interest – a well documented association with a person, event, episode 

of history, or local industry 

y 

Archaeological interest – firm evidence of potential to reveal more about the 

human past through further study 

y 

Architectural interest – an example of an architectural style, a building of 

particular use, a technique of building, or use of materials 

 

Artistic interest – It includes artistic endeavour to communicate meaning or use 

of design (including landscape design) to enhance appearance 

 

What is it about the asset that provides this interest?  

Historic interest: The river and area of Fisher Row are closely linked.  Fisher Row occupies the 

Wareham (sometimes Waram) Bank, which was first recorded in the 13th century but is likely to 

be of at least 11th century origin and was used as hythes or wharves for landing river craft. The 

bank created a separate channel from the Wareham Stream, just to the west, which, with a more 

sinuous course is likely to represent the older channel of the river. The Castle Mill Stream as the 

name implies was managed to provide source of waterpower for the mill associated with the 

castle. The control of the main town mill by a baronial lord was one of the means used to extract 

tolls from the populous of the town. The engineering of the river to provide waterpower is the 

earliest evidence of industrial processes in the West Oxford suburb. By the 16th century Fisher 

Row had become associated with a distinct community who made their living on the city’s 

310



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

waterways and who would in later years work on the canals in the late 18th and 19th centuries.  

 

Archaeological interest: The stream and its banks in particular have potential for the survival of 

archaeological remains of the contrstruction of the channel, and associated activity along its banks, 

including water engineering and use of the banks by river craft, as well as waterlogged remains of 

activity near the waterway both before and after its construction. Fisher Row or Wareham Baknk 

could provide remains of buildings or other occupation evidence dating from Middle Ages and 

post-medieval period up until the clearance of houses from this area in the later 20th century.  
 

3. WHY IS IT LOCALLY VALUED? Is the interest of the asset valued locally 

for any of the following reasons? 

Tick / Rank 

Association: It connects us to people and events that shaped the identity or 

character of the area 

y 

Illustration: It illustrates an aspect of the area’s past that makes an important 

contribution to its identity or character 

y 

Evidence: It is an important resource for understanding and learning about the 

area’s history 

y 

Aesthetics: It makes an important contribution to the positive look of the area 

either by design or fortuitously 

y 

Communal: It is important to the identity, cohesion, spiritual life or memory of all 

or part of the community 

y 

How is the asset locally valued as heritage?  

Association and illustration: The mill stream and Fisher Row illustrate the management of 

watercourses in West Oxford as a source of waterpower, as well as a transport network since 

the Middle Ages. It also provides an association with the historic community of river people for 

whom Fisher Row was  an important focus (see Mary Prior, 1982, Fisher Row: Fishermen, 

Bargemen and Canal Boatmen in Oxford 1500 – 1900 (Oxford Historical Monographs)). 

Evidence: The potential for survival of archaeological remains of the development of the mill 

stream, and occupation of Fisher Row provides a high evidential value for better understanding the 

development of West Oxford as the industrial suburb of the city, as well as the development of 

the waterways and wharfs or hythes that made this part of the city a hub fro the transport system 

from an early date. 

Aesthetics: The stream is now an attractive element of the suburb’s landscape with tree lined 

banks and crossed by numerous bridge, whilst Fisher Row provides a tranquil area during the day 

(although it is reported to be affected negatively by overflow from the city’s nightclubs late at 

night) with views over the water often to historic buildings including views of Oxford Castle that 

have inspired artists since the 18th century. 

Communal: The area of Fisher Row remains the home of a small residential enclave within the city.  
 

4. WHAT MAKES ITS LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE SPECIAL? Do any of the 

following features make the heritage significance of the asset stand out above the 

surrounding environment?   

Tick 

Age … Is it particularly old, or of a date that is significant to the local area? y 

Rarity … Is it unusual in the area or a rare survival of something that was once 

common? 

 

Integrity … Is it largely complete or in a near to original condition?  

Group value … Is it part of a group that have a close historic, aesthetic or 

communal association? 

y 

Oxford’s identity … Is it important to the identity or character of the city or a 

particular part of it? 

y 

Other … Is there another way you think it has special local value?  

How does this contribute to its value?  

Age: The Castle Mill Stream and Wareham Bank/Fisher Row have existed since, at least, the 13th 

century but are probably two centuries older or more.  As such they represent a particularly old 

element of the suburb’s landscape. 

Group value and Oxford’s identity: This is part of a network of waterways that run through the 

311



Nominate a Heritage Asset 

city and that give Oxford its distinct character as the city set amidst the streams of the Rivers 

Thames and Cherwell. Indeed the use of ‘rush punts on the waterways of Oxford, which became 

popular as leisure craft, can be traced to Fisher Row in the mid 9th century. 

 

 

Abel Beesley’s Rush punts at Fisher Row in the 1860s looking from Hythe Bridge towards 

Park End Street. note the cobbled wharf at Fisher Row set near the waterlevel (© English 

Heritage) 

312



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
To:  City Executive Board  
 
Date: 2 April 2015    

 
Report of:  Head of Law and Governance 
 
Title of Report: Appointmentsto Outside Bodies2015/16 
 

 
Summary and Recommendations 

 
Purpose of report:  To agree nominations to outside and other bodies for the 
2015/2016 Council Year. 
          
Key decision: No 
 
Executive lead member: Cllr Bob Price, Executive Board member for 
Corporate Strategy, Economic Development and Planning 
 
Policy Framework: None 
 
Recommendations: That the City Executive Board: 
 
1. Does not re-appoint to the Mortimer Hall Management Committee, Forest 
of Oxford and the Susan Kidd Charity 
 
2. Does not re-appoint to the Oxfordshire Partnershipbecause the group is 
now less relevant to city issues. 
 
3. Reduce the number of representatives on the Alice Smith Trust and Sarah 
Nowell Educational Foundation to one. 
 
4. Approve appointments to outside bodies as shown in Appendix 3. 
 
5. Agree thatany appointments which need to be made during the course of 
the Council year 2015/16 shall be made by the Leader of the Council in 
consultation with other Group Leaders. 
 
6. Note that guidance for representatives on Outside Bodies will be provided 
by theHead of Law and Governance.  

 

 

313

Agenda Item 10



Appendices 
Appendix 1 – Council Grants breakdown 2015/16 
Appendix 2 – Member comments on bodies served on in 2014/15 
Appendix 3 – Appointments to Outside Bodies for 2015/16 
Appendix 4 – Risk assessment 
 
Background 
 
1. The Council has representatives on 55outside bodies and 11 

charities.These range from local community associationsto national 
organisations such as the Local Government Association General 
Assembly. The majority of representatives are either current members or 
former members of the City Council.  

 
2. Most of Council’s representatives sit on the committee of the body to 

which they have been appointed, with many acting in a non-voting 
advisory role or simply being invited to attend meetings.  All the charity 
representatives are trustees of the respective charities. 
 

3. Each year;- 
 

• Outside bodies are asked to review the information they provide to us 
and outline their expectations from councillor involvement.  Many 
bodies have replied favourably to Council involvement, welcoming the 
knowledge and insight that Councillors are able to offer, in particular 
around Council procedures and policies. 
 

• Council representatives are asked to provide feedback on the bodies to 
which they have been appointed so that the Council can monitor 
progress, and determine whether representation on a body is a good 
investment of Councillors’ time. 

 
4. In 2015/16, the Council gave grantstotalling£590,451 to 12of the outside 

bodies / charities to which we appoint representatives.  In total the Council 
gave £980,443 in grants to 43organisations.  A breakdown is attached as 
Appendix 1. 

 
5. On occasions a change in representation is required during the year which 

can only be facilitated through the City Executive Board.  The Board is 
asked to agree thatin future these in year changesare delegated to the 
Leader of the Council in consultation with other group leaders.  This will 
enable the Council to be more responsive to issues as they arise. 

 
6. New guidance to assist Council representatives on outside bodies will be 

provided to all representatives upon appointment. 
 
 
Feedback from Councillorsand Outside Bodies 2014 
 

314



7. All council representatives appointed to a body for 2014/15 were asked to 
comment on the organisationscontribution to the local community and the 
Council’s Corporate Objectives and whether they felt it was valuable 
having Council representation on the body.   53out of 110feedback forms 
were returned. 

 
8. A summary of representatives’ comments is attached as Appendix 2.Most 

supported the work their body was doing in the community, and were in 
favour of having Council representation on the body. 

 
Update on concerns raised in 2014 
 
9. East Oxford Community Association 

Last year,concerns were raised about the management of theEast Oxford 
Community Association(EOCA). The Communities and Neighbourhood 
(CAN) team were involved in developing an action plan for the governance 
and management of the centre, and subsequently the association was 
given notice to quit the centre by1 September 2015. From that time, the 
City Council will manage the building directly. 

 
10. Forest of Oxford 

For several years officers have not managed to make contact with the 
Forest of Oxford. In 2014, the Board resolved “Not to re-appoint to the 
Forest of Oxford until Cllrs Lygo and Fooks determine whether it is still 
operating.” Cllr Fooks and Lygo have not received any notification, but Cllr 
Pressel has been informed that although the group is still active, it does all 
its correspondence by email and does not require Council representation. 
It is recommended that the Board does not re-appoint to this body. 

 
Councillors Feedback 2015: 
 
11. Northway Community Association 

Concern has been raised about the management of the Northway 
Community Association. The Council representative on the Northway 
Community Association considers that it is not properly catering for the 
needs of the community and has no strategy and limited accountability.  
Greensquare has begun the new building (Jan 2015) and will supplement 
the efforts of our CAN team to develop the association to better meet the 
needs of the community.  

 
12. CAN have been working with Greensquare to support Northway 

Community Association over the last 12 months. As Greensquare will be 
their new landlord, they have taken the lead working with them with 
regards to managing the new facility currently under construction, and will 
be responsible for ensuring that the association meet the performance 
measures that the City Council will agree with Greensquare from 
December 2015. 

 
13. Neither Council representative on Northway Community Association have 

received notice or been invited to any meetings throughout the year and 

315



the body has not contacted officers supporting outside body nominations. 
It is recommended that the Board re-appoint representatives to this body 
and that those representatives continue to work closely with the CAN team 
and Greensquare to improve the situation. 

 
14. Mortimer Hall Management Committee 

Neither Council representative has been notified or attended any meetings 
of this body. The body is responsible for the upkeep of Mortimer Hall for 
the use of the local community. It is recommended that the Board does not 
re-appoint to this body. 

 
15. Susan Kidd Charity 

Cllr Upton, council representative on the Susan Kidd charity commented 
that she did not feel there was value in having councillor representation on 
this charity. The charity meets annually to disperse a small amount of 
grant money to assist people with play group fees. The Council currently 
has two representatives on this body, Cllr Upton and Catherine Hilliard. 
Catherine Hilliard was appointed as secretary of this body in November 
2014.  It is recommended that the Board does not re-appoint to this 
charity, which will mean that Catherine Hilliard will continue her role on the 
charity but not as aCouncil representative. 

 
Feedback from Outside Bodies: 
 
16. The Alice Smith Trust and Sarah Nowell Educational Foundation currently 

hastwoCouncil representatives but has requested only one in the future.  
The charity “provides education support for young people under the age of 
25 andassistance to those in need in Cowley, Iffley, Blackbird Leys and 
Littlemore”. 

 
Inactive bodies 
17. The Oxfordshire Partnerships body has disbanded and no longer requires 

representation.  
 
Financial, Legal or Environmental Implications 
18. This report has no financial, legal or environmental implications for the 

Council.  
 

Name and contact details of author:- 
 
Name Sarah Claridge 
Job title: Committee and Member Services Officer 
Service Area: Law and Governance 
Tel:  01865 252402  e-mail: sclaridge@oxford.gov.uk 
 

List of background papers: None 
 

316



APPENDIX 1 

CouncilGrants awarded for the Community and Voluntary Organisations 2015/16 
 

 Total 2015/16 

Total Community and Voluntary 
Organisations Grants 

£878, 459 

Annual Open Bidding £101, 984 

Total Grants awarded 2015/16 £980,443 

Total Grants to Outside Bodies £590,451 

 
Outside Bodies highlighted in bold 
 
Community Safety 
 

Organisation & project description Grants 
awarded 
2015/16 

The Children’s Society 
 

£8,000 

A2 Dominion Housing Group 
 

£35,082 

Oxford Sexual Abuse & Rape Crisis Centre 
 

£15,000 

Oxford Friend 
 

£3,000 

Community Safety Theme Total £61,082 

 
Inclusive Play & Leisure for Children & Young People with Disabilities 
 

Organisation & project description Grants 
awarded 
2015/16 

Parasol Project 
 

£15,000 

Inclusive Play & Leisure or Disabled C&YP 
Theme Total 

£15,000 

 
Community & Voluntary Organisations Infrastructure 
 

Organisation & project description Grants 
awarded 
2015/16 

Oxfordshire Community & Voluntary Action 
(OCVA) 
 

£48,736 

CVO Infrastructure Theme Total £48,736 

 
 
 
 
 
  

317



APPENDIX 1 

Advice & Money Management Commissioning 
 

Organisation & project description Grants 
awarded 
2015/16 

Blackbird Leys Neighbourhood Support 
Services  

 

£85,290 

Oxford Citizens Advice Bureau 
 

£200,000 

Oxford Community Work Agency (OCWA) 
 

£122,611 

Rose Hill &Donnington Advice Centre £90,478 

Advice & Money Management Theme Total £518,379 
 
Arts &Culture Commissioning 
 

Organisation & project description Grants for 
2015/16 

Fusion Arts 
 

£28,128 

Modern Art Oxford 
 

£70,000  

Oxford Contemporary Music 
 

£10,000 

Film Oxford 
 

£25,000 

Experience Oxfordshire 
 

£2,000 

Oxford International Link (OIL) 
 

£6,000 

Oxford Playhouse 
 

£24,000 

Arts at the Old Fire Station 
 

£32,134 

Pegasus Theatre 
 

£25,000 

OVADA 
 

£5,000 

Ark T Centre 
 

£5,000 

Oxford Philomusica 
 

£3,000 

Culture Team 
 

£20,000  

Arts & Culture Theme Total £255,262 

 
  

318



APPENDIX 1 

 
Annual Open Bidding programme 
 

Organisation & project description Grants 
awarded  
2015/16 

Archway Foundation 
 

£5,000 

Ark T Centre 
. 

£6,811 

Asylum Welcome 
 

£7,500 

Blackbird Leys Adventure Playground 
 

£7,500 

Community Emergency Food bank 
 

£5,000 

Cutteslowe Community Association £2,500* 

Cutteslowe Seniors 
 

£1,000 

Donnington Doorstep Family Centre 
 

£5,000 

Dovecote Voluntary Parent Committee 
 

£2,750 

Innovista – Thrive Mentoring Project 
 

£6,000 

The Leys Community Market 
 

£3,500 

Leys Community Development Initiative – 
Clockhouse Project. 
 

£7,500 

Leys News (Oxford Community Media) 
 

£10,000 

Open Door 
 

£4,465 

Oxfordshire Cruse Bereavement Care  £1,700 

Oxfordshire Play Association £2,500 

Restore – Elder Stubbs Festival 
 

£3,819 

South Oxford Adventure Playground 
 

£7,500 

WEA - Oxford Community Branch £4,939 

Wood Farm Youth Centre £7,000 

Total £101,984 
 
* exact amount to be reviewed by officers following CEB decision February 2015. 

319



This page is intentionally left blank



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
Bullingdon 
Community 
Association 

Cllr Kennedy Yes No 12 10 The Association lets the building for a 
wide range of community activities. It lets 
to a Black evangelical church, a Muslim 
play group, the 7 0’clock club for people 
with learning disabilities, martial arts, 
theatre and music rehearsals, and 
parties. The Association also serves 
Wood Farm where there is a lack of 
community facilities. There is also active 
youth football team and the space is 
used by the City Council for youth 
activities in half term. It aims to build a 
stronger community but is aware that it 
needs to do more for the elderly 
population and is exploring possibilities 
with Phil Jones the locality officer. 

 
Orinoco, the recycling group is 
established there too and this fits with 
green policies of the Council  

 
It is a useful group but is aware that it 
needs to attract more people to the 
Trustees. 
 

It is useful to have City 
council representation 
to take issues back to 
officials and follow up 
queries. 
There is also the 
possibility of 
improvements to the 
building so councillors 
can play an 
intermediary role in 
passing on the broader 
objectives of the 
Council and making 
sure that they are 
accommodated in the 
design. 
 
A major issue if the 
future governance of 
community centres 
which is a concern to 
the Community 
Association 

Citizen's 
Advice Bureau 
 
 

Cllr Kennedy Yes No 7 5 I assess the value of this group highly as 
it is critical in helping people with debt, 
housing, immigration and employment 
issues throughout the City.  It works 
closely with the Council and contributes 
to the Council’s corporate objectives 
towards disadvantaged groups. 

The CAB and Council 
advice centres work 
closely together and 
Council representation 
helps to underline the 
joint action taken in 
helping the 
disadvantaged. 
 
The 75 Anniversary 

Celebrations of the CAB 

321



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
will be held in the Town 
Hall on 21 July and the 
venue was chosen to 
reflect the close support 
and co-operation 

 

Council of 
Ruskin 
College 
 

Cllr Kennedy Yes No 2 1 
(Decem
ber 
meeting 
deferred 
till 
March 

The Council is a large body which 
represents many diverse groups. 
 
Ruskin aims to reach out to 
disadvantaged groups who have not 
reached their potential in the compulsory 
school sector: that fits with several of the  
Council’s objectives. 
 

To emphasise the 
support of the City 
Council in Ruskin’s 
educational objectives 
 

East Oxford 
Community 
Association 

Cllr Clack Yes No 9 6 This year has seen significant changes 
in the organisation of the community 
association. The year started with a new 
board that at times struggled to deal 
with the problems surrounding the Old 
School Bar that had dogged the 
previous board and that at the time of 
writing are still be resolved. It should be 
noted that the old bar was disbanded 
during the year, and, as of the AGM in 
November 2014, a new trustees board 
came into effect.  
 
The new, smaller board has sought to 
bring new energy to running the center. 
Meetings are now conducted in a much 
more business-like and civil manner. 
While this is promising, I continue to 
have concerns about the extent to which 
trustees are able to meet the 
increasingly stringent demands 

Yes. The community 
center is vital to the life 
of East Oxford, and it is 
important that, not least 
because of the recent 
history, the council 
provide support to 
ensure that it is able to 
meet its objectives. 
 

322



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
regarding the nuts and bolts of running 
a center. This is particularly significant 
in the case of EOCC, as the building is 
in desperate need of significant 
updating. As such, much of the board’s 
time is spent discussing maintenance 
rather than the kind of activities that 
would enable to the center to flourish as 
a focal point for the community. My 
sense is that the council needs to 
provide more support for managing a 
center like this, and I hope that the 
council will continue to work with 
members of the community in order to 
come up with more effective ways of 
managing the center in order to use 
more effectively the local knowledge of 
volunteers in order to enable the center 
to meet the needs of the community it is 
intended to serve. 

English 
Heritage SE - 
Heritage 
Champion 
 

Cllr Cook Yes No 3 3 I receive regular emails from English 
Heritage keeping me informed of the 
work they are doing. 
 
I would assess the value of English 
Heritage as high.  They have supported 
many local projects and initiatives 
through Heritage Lottery grants which 
otherwise would not have come to pass.  
 
The Council’s Corporate objectives are: 
A vibrant and sustainable economy 
Meeting housing needs 
Strong and active communities 
Cleaner greener Oxford  
An efficient and effective council 

They have supported 
many local projects and 
initiatives through 
Heritage Lottery grants 
which otherwise would 
not have come to pass. 

323



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 

  

 
English Heritage has four aims 
underpinned by a fifth relating to 
excellence. 
 
Understanding:  Identify and protect our 
most important heritage 
 
Valuing: Champion England's heritage  
Caring: Support owners, local authorities 
and voluntary organisations to look after 
England's heritage 
Enjoying: Help people appreciate and 
enjoy England's national story 
Excellence: Achieve excellence, 
openness and efficiency in all we do  
 
Further information on the work of 
English Heritage is available at: 
 
http://www.english-heritage.org.uk/ 
 
From 1st April 2015, English Heritage is 
separating into two organisations: a new 
charity that will retain the name English 
Heritage and a non-departmental public 
body, Historic England. 
 
The governing board, will retain direct 
responsibility for the work of Historic 
England and will delegate to the English 
Heritage charity responsibility for running 
the National Heritage Collection.  
 

324



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
Fusion Arts 
 

Cllr Clack Yes No 4 3 This is an extremely well-run local 
organisation that has over the last year 
delivered a range of project - varying 
from support for Cowley Road Carnival to 
loneliness projects.  

 
Meetings are a model of efficiency and 
the board has worked hard this year to 
address the increasing tight fiscal 
situation for small organisations such as 
this. 

 
The board has actively sought to meet 
the council’s corporate aim of inclusion in 
arts activities through a range of projects 
that include activities for young people 
and for older members of society. 
 

Yes - I have been able 
to support Fusion Arts 
through facilitating 
meetings between the 
board and council 
officers - especially in 
order to ensure that 
upkeep on their 
accommodation in 
buildings that 
desperately need 
updating is maintained. 
 

Gatehouse 
 
 

Cllr Upton Yes Yes 5 4 The Gatehouse exists to provide an 
evening meal and a safe place to sit and 
eat for anyone in need.  As well as 
attending management committee mtgs I 
have also spent two evenings washing 
up and talking to their guests.  This is an 
incredibly valuable service for vulnerable 
people on the fringes of society.  In 
addition, it also helps a small number of 
people to really get back on their feet as 
they employ (or allow to volunteer) some 
of their former guests.  This return to 
normal society is very important for these 
individuals.  Their neighbours at the Old 
Parsonage Hotel have made complaints 
about noise and I have attended a 
meeting with representatives of the OPH, 
Gatehouse, Police and council ASB team 

Yes –The Gatehouse is 
in my ward and this has 
given me the 
opportunity to meet 
with people who may or 
may not live n my ward, 
but spend some time 
here.  Nay of them are 
homeless, are not 
represented by anyone 
else.  I also feel that 
Ihave been useful to 
the Gatehouse team as 
a point of liaison when 
they have needed 
something from the City 
Council 
 

325



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
members to try and address these. 
The Gatehouse got a new Director in 
November – she is a great success.  She 
has the organisational skills and people 
skills necessary to run a large team of 
volunteers and deal with potentially 
difficult situations. 

This is a successful 
charity that involves 
many citizens of Oxford 
in a variety of different 
ways (they take cakes, 
the make soup, they 
give books and clothes, 
they serve food and 
wash up dishes).  
There is a wonderful 
atmosphere there – the 
people who volunteer 
get as much benefit as 
the guests they are 
feeding. 

Headington 
Action 

Cllr Clarkson Yes No 4 3 The group is valuable for co-ordinating 
and supporting community projects in 
Headington Festival, Farmers Market 
and live advert.  It contributes towards 
the City Council’s corporate objectives of 
building a broad economy through 
support for local businesses, and through 
building strong communities. 

It is useful to have City 
Council representation 
to ensure a co-
ordinated approach 
between the community 
and Council on events 
and on policy.  
Councillors have 
contributed towards 
projects from their ward 
budget. 

Headington 
Action 

Cllr Sinclair Yes Yes* 6 4 A forum for local groups and 
organisations.  Group is active in setting 
up new ventures such as Headington 
Festival and the Farmers’ market.  
Meetings are well attended and chaired, 
very pro-active focusing on what is 
achievable in the Headington area. 
*Assisting with setting up the Headington 
Neighbourhood forum creating a 
neighbourhood plan 

Local Cllrs can offer 
help and information. 
Important when forum 
is deciding on priorities 
Also able to assist with 
links to Council 
expertise. 

326



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
Headington 
Community 
Association 

Cllr Sinclair Yes Yes* 6 4 An excellent well run and managed 
centre providing activities for the local 
and wider community, including 
affordable early years provision.  Would 
be keen to offer activities for young 
people – but little space in their busy 
schedule. 
Issues with a poorly insulated building 
leading to noise complaints – a priority to 
sort. 
 
*Committee are keen to provide activities 
for young people, so we are working 
together to place a table tennis table in 
Margaret Road recreation park 

Cllrs are able to make 
the link between the 
City Council and the 
delivery of excellent 
services delivered 
throughout community 
centres by volunteers. 

Headington 
Community 
Association 

Cllr 
Munkonge 

Yes No 4 0 My colleague Cllr Sinclair attends the 
meetings for this organisation as the 
meetings are held during the day time 
(morning) when am at work.  Discussions 
are taking place so that they move the 
meetings in the afternoon or early 
evenings so that I can attend. 

Having a Council 
representative makes 
the organisation to 
work effectively 
because they know that 
they are being 
monitored. 

Health and 
Well-Being 
Board, health 
Improvement 
Board 

Cllr Turner Yes No 4 each = 
8 

8 Health and Well-Being Board: This is a 
statutory board involving the relevant 
stakeholders from County Council, 
Clinical Commissioning Group, other 
health organisations, and district 
councils(I represent district councils).  
Agendas have been particularly focused 
upon health matters (notably the Better 
Care Fund) rather than the board’s wider 
agenda (e.g. on children and young 
People, and Public Health).  This is in 
some ways regrettable but probably 
inevitable.  Clearly I have raised issues 
for services in Oxford City, and also 

Yes – important issues 
for Oxford and that we 
are represented. 

327



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
concerns about inequalities, at 
appropriate junctures. 
 
Health Improvement Board:  has 
functioned well, and has kept pressure 
upon various authorities where public 
health performance indicators are not as 
they should have been,  It is a useful 
forum in which to raise concerns about 
health inequalities affecting people in 
Oxford. 

Jericho St 
Barnabas 
Community 
Association 
Management 
Cttee 

Cllr Cook Yes No 12 10 I was involved in the Jericho Street fair 
last year, which is organised by the 
Community Association, at which I 
assisted with the sale of raffle tickets, 
supervision of the Bouncy Castle and the 
Sumo Wrestling.  I also lent the 
community association my gazebo but 
unfortunately someone drove into one of 
the legs and broke it.  I will be a bit wary 
of lending it this year but will be helping 
out with this year’s street fair which is 
probably on Saturday the 13th June.  
 
I would assess the value of the Jericho 
St Barnabas Community Association as 
high. 
 
The Council’s Corporate objectives are: 
 
A vibrant and sustainable economy 
Meeting housing needs 
Strong and active communities 
Cleaner greener Oxford  
An efficient and effective council 
The aims of the Jericho Community 

Because it improves 
understanding between 
both parties. 

328



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
Association are: 
To administer the Jericho Community 
Centre 
To build a new community centre on the 
canalside site 
To represent Jericho residents on local 
issues such as planning  
To organize local events such as the 
annual Street Fair  
To keep residents aware of local 
concerns, for example through publishing 
the Jericho Echo and providing a 
community association website. 
 
Further information on the excellent work 
of the Community Association is 
available on their fantastic website at: 
 
http://www.jerichocentre.org.uk/ 
 

Jericho St 
Barnabas 
Community 
Association 
Management 
Cttee 

Cllr Pressel Yes Planning 
for a new 
centre, 
the 
Street 
fair, 
various 
other 
local 
events 

10 9 This is a fantastic community association 
and it contributes a lot 

Yes – I learn a lot and 
contribute to their work 

Littlemore 
Community 
Assocation 

Cllr Tanner Yes No 8 6 The Community Association runs the 
Littlemore Community Centre. We are 
always short of willing and capable 
volunteers. Cheryl Snudden from the City 
Council has made a hugely beneficial 
contribution to the centre.  

As a local Councillor I 
am able to encourage 
the association to 
develop in the right 
direction, better 
assess the needs of 

329



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
Without the association the centre would 
have to be run by paid staff or closed, 
neither of which is an appealing 
prospect. The centre employs an 
administrator/cleaner who makes sure 
the centre is well used and pays their 
rent on time. Use of the centre is 
increasing.    
 
The centre is well respected by the local 
community, used by a wide range of 
people and of considerable benefit to a 
very deprived area. 

the local community 
and act as a political 
link with the City 
Council. 

 

Local 
Government 
Information 
Unit 

Cllr Darke Yes No 6 0 LGIU remain an important 
communication hub for LG matters and 
duties both in supporter to other LG 
lobbies (Such as LGA) and as a critical, 
independent voice.  Their on-line 
services and reports are exceedingly 
good, Ed Turner is another City Council 
attendee my attendance at LGIU events 
is not good largely because of diary 
clashes. 

Yes 

Modern Art 
Oxford 

Cllr 
Hollingsworth 

Yes No 2 1 As a world-leading venue for modern art, 
MOA contributes hugely to the city and to 
the City Council’s objectives in promoting 
cultural tourism to Oxford, and the 
engagement of the entire community in 
high quality, challenging and exciting 
exhibitions. 

Absolutely – it’s one of 
the most important 
cultural organisations in 
the City and the 
Council should be 
working extremely 
closely with it. 

Mortimer Hall 
Management 
Committee 

Cllr Dark No No 0 0 No contact with the body since 
appointment 

To ensure link to City 
Council communities 
development strategy 

Mortimer Hall 
Management 
Committee 

Cllr Upton No No 0 0 I have not been contacted by the 
management committee so I have no 
experience of them at all. I believe it is a 

Yes – as long as they 
are invited to 
meetings! 

330



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
well-used venue, hosting playgroups and 
various clubs. It does house the Old 
Marston library which is much loved by 
the people who use it, and it provides a 
meeting space for the Parish Council. 
 

Why?           
I don’t know how static 
the membership of the 
Committee is, but a 
councillor’s 
perspective might be 
useful. In addition, if 
they are receiving 
public funds I think it is 
important that there is 
some oversight of how 
they are spending that 
money – so it would 
be good to have a 
local councillor 
attending their 
meetings. 

 

North Oxford 
Association 

Cllr Fry Yes No 4 2 It’s important to support the local 
community association, especially since 
the immediate area will be developed 
soon. 
 
Meetings are at an inconvenient time 
also the average age of those who 
attend the meetings is well into pension 
age and it is worrying that young people 
do not seem keen to join 

Yes as a community 
association 

Northway 
Association 

Cllr Darke No No None None Councillor Simm is aware of my views 
about NCA.  In my opinion it is a 
dysfunctional body which does not 
properly cater for local communal needs 
and is very poorly managed and run.  It 
has no strategy or proper accountability 
relying on a small % of Northway (and 
other) users. 

Yes Because at 
present it fails to deliver 
a proper community 
focus in Northway and 
has no plan to change 
this woeful record. 

331



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
Greensquare has begun the new building 
(Jan 2015) and will supplement the 
effects of our C&N team to bring forward 
a body which needs to dramatically raise 
its game. 

Northway 
Community 
Association 

Cllr Anwar No  None None Since I have been elected as a 
Councillor for HH and Northway ward in 
May 2014 never received or got any 
invitation for meetings or any other event 
from above Organisation. Therefore I 
have no comments to make. 

 

Oxford 
Homeless 
Pathways  

Cllr 
Hollingsworth 

Yes No 1 1 As well as the single formal meeting I 
have had informal meetings with Oxford 
Homeless Pathways. It is an 
organisation that is critical to the delivery 
of the City Council’s objectives when it 
comes to providing shelter and support 
to some of the most vulnerable members 
of our city’s community, and it does that 
job extremely effectively in very difficult 
financial circumstances.  
 

The City Council and 
the organisation need 
to work very closely 
together to each 
achieve their strategic 
and operation aims, 
and have the board 
representation helps 
with that, in particular 
the former. While 
operationally of course 
the main contact must 
be between the staff of 
Oxford Homeless 
Pathways and the 
relevant officers, having 
the member contact at 
the strategic level 
enables a strong two 
way flow of information 
that clearly helps with 
medium and long term 
objectives. 
 
 

332



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
Oxford Leon 
Trust 

Cllr Tanner Yes No 10 6 The trust runs the town twinning 
between Oxford and Leon in Nicaragua. 
I raises funds for projects in and around 
Leon and seeks to build links with the 
municipality and civil society in Leon. 
 
Highlights of each year are the Swim for 
Leon at Hinksey Park to raise funds for 
clean water projects and the 
MisaCampesina (Rural Mass), a 
musical event, which celebrates the 
lively culture of Nicaragua.    
 
The trust strengthens Oxford’s 
international outlook and the city’s 
commitment to tackle poverty here and 
overseas. Oxford-Leon is the city’s only 
Third World twin.   

 

The involvement of 
councillors is essential 
to demonstrate the City 
Council’s involvement 
with the official twin city 
of Leon. Both Cllr Mike 
Rowley and I have 
visited Leon recently.    
 

Oxford 
Playhouse 

Cllr Clarkson Yes No 3 3 I have attended three meetings 
discussed finances, planned productions 
and grants.  The Oxford Playhouse Trust 
contributes to the City’s vibrant economy 
and its place as a cultural and tourist 
centre.  

Yes- important because 
of the City Council’s 
cultural brief and 
concern with outreach 
to groups who might 
not otherwise 
participate in the arts. 

Oxford 
Preservation 
Trust 

Cllr Cook Yes Yes  
A visit to 
Trust 
Land and 
property 
at North 
Hinksey 
and New 
Botley 
Hosting 

12 10 I have attended the Preservation Trust’s 
Environmental Awards evening where 
various City Council projects were up for 
awards. 
 
I would assess the value of the Oxford 
Preservation Trust, (OPT), as high. 
The Council’s Corporate objectives are: 
 
A vibrant and sustainable economy 

Because it improves 
understanding between 
both parties. 

333



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
an Open 
Doors 
visit to 
the Sir 
William 
Dunn 
School at 
Patholog
y 

Meeting housing needs 
Strong and active communities 
Cleaner greener Oxford  
An efficient and effective council 

The Oxford Preservation Trust (OPT) 
objectives are: 

To preserve and enhance for the benefit 
of the public the amenities of the City of 
Oxford and its surroundings, and  
To promote and encourage public 
interest in and knowledge of the history 
of the City of Oxford and its 
surroundings.  
 
The Trust is active in five main policy 
areas: 
 
Strategic Ownership of Land & Property 
Special Projects 
Involvement in Planning Policy and 
Issues at a National, Regional and 
Strategic level 
Fostering Membership 
Education 
 
Further information on the work of the 
Trust is available at: 
http://www.oxfordpreservation.org.uk/ind
ex.php 

Oxford 
Preservation 
Trust 

Cllr Darke Yes  14 10 OPT provides an important focus for 
conservation/heritage production and 
enhancement in the City.  This is closely 
linked to the City’s corporate objectives 

For reasons above of 
maintaining a 
partnership towards 
common objectives. 

334



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
in a place of international importance for 
history, architecture, culture. 
The activities such as Open Doors and 
the animal awards for development are 
exemplary. 
 

Oxford 
Preservation 
Trust 

Cllr Fry Yes Yes  
Oxford 
Open 
Doors 

7 
including 
special 
mtg 
Open 
Doors 

4 OPT is a valuable organisation and 
through its activities (such as open 
doors) and ownership of important open 
space near the city has a major role to 
play 

Yes for reasons 
opposite 

Oxfordshire 
County 
Council 
School 
Organisation 
Stakeholder 
Group 

Cllr Kennedy Yes No 1 2  The problems of educational attainment, 
ethnic diversity and social deprivation are 
very different in Oxford City from many 
areas in the ‘shire’ element of the 
County. It is important that this is 
expressed in this committee to explain 
the City Council’s objectives 

Yes – See opposite 
 
There was a delay in 
letting the Committee 
Secretary know so I 
was not invited to a 
meeting in the mid-
summer although I has 
been nominated in May 
 

Oxford Safer 
Communities 
Partnership 

Cllr Sinclair Yes No 3 2 In the light of the introduction of the 
Police and Crime Commissioners and 
Police and Crime Panels – it is timely for 
this body to be reviewed as to whether it 
adds value.  The business group (officer 
level) meets more regularly (6 times a 
year) County wide action plan decided to 
manage and mitigate risk is reviewed at 
member level 

It is important to have 
city representation on 
any community 
association partnership. 

Oxfordshire 
Environmental 
Partnership 

Cllr Tanner Yes No 2 2 The Oxfordshire Environment 
Partnership is a sad and impoverished 
shadow of its former self as the 
Oxfordshire Recycling Partnership. The 
former body was funded by the County 

The City Council is able 
to raise key issues 
about low carbon and 
recycling, criticise the 
policies and practices 

335



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
Council and the 5 districts and had its 
own staff. The new body is a quarterly 
gathering of the 6 cabinet (or board) 
members responsible for recycling, 
environmental issues and low carbon. 
 
It is essential in maintaining the links 
between the County which disposes of 
rubbish and the districts which collect the 
rubbish. It is useful as a political forum to 
support and challenge each other about 
the various environmental services each 
local authority delivers to the public in 
Oxfordshire. 

of other local councils, 
and gain support from 
fellow district councils 
about how to improve 
our own environmental 
policies and practices. 

OXSRAD Cllr Upton Yes  8 7 OXSRAD is a sports facility specifically 
catering for both disabled and able-
bodied people.  For its disabled clients it 
can be a vital lifeline, both in terms of 
getting some exercise but also getting 
some social interaction. There is a coffee 
bar and seating area for people to use.  
Over the last few years they have been 
very successful in attracting funding from 
outside sources, though this year their 
income has substantially dropped and 
they are very actively looking for new 
avenues now.  For example, the 
manager has just managed to get 
funding from the Generation  Games to 
enable them to continue their 
Neurodisability gym sessions for the MS 
Society 
My involvement: I have shaken a tin for 
them on one of their charitable collection 
days.  I have put them in touch with a 
choir to give a performance.  I have 

Yes I can be a direct 
line form them to the 
Council which means 
that I have been able to 
sort out a few things for 
them.  I also have 
some awareness of 
funding sources that I 
can share with them. 
 
The management 
Team are a very 
dedicated group and 
we should support 
them in any way we 
can.  E.g. could we 
increase their council 
tax discount to 100% if 
things do not improve 
financially for them? 

336



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
liaised with council officers about getting 
outside lights mended, and finding out 
about plans for the car park and adjacent 
buildings. 
 

Police and 
Crime Panel 

Cllr Sinclair Yes No 6 5 Panel holds a scrutiny and constructive 
critical friend role.  Panel has adopted a 
themed approach to meetings eg, F.G.M. 
Rural Crime Sub-Committees work on 
task and finish method on such items as 
the budget (PCC).  The PCC and 
(usually) the Chief Constable attend to 
answer questions posed by panel 
members. Public can also ask questions 
– only one has so far this year. 

Important that the city 
has a representation 
and can ask questions 
and challenge on City 
police and community 
safety issues. 

Risinghurst 
Community 
Centre 

Cllr Sinclair Yes No 12 10 Small but active trustee group, 
endeavouring to deliver activities for the 
local community.  Financially sound and 
well run, but limited capacity of this small 
group to deliver activities they would like 
to. Some valued activities including a 
recently re-started Toddler Group 

It is important for the 
Association to have the 
support and help from 
local Councillors  

Risinghurst 
Community 
Centre 

Cllr 
Munkonge 

Yes No 5 4 I have had a very good experience with 
the organisation as a new Councillor this 
organisation is valuable to the 
community, for example it is involved in 
the letting out of the community centre a 
functions or positive contribution.  As a 
new Councillor I am still learning about 
other activities that the organisation 
provide. 

Yes – They work 
effectively knowing that 
a representative from 
the Council is available 
to monitor the activities. 

337



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
South Oxford 
Adventure 
Playground 

Cllr Price Yes Yes* 12 10 SOAP is a hugely valuable resource for 
St Ebbes and South Oxford in particular, 
but children come to it from every part of 
the city during the summer playscheme 
period. It provides a safe and well 
managed environment with a variety of 
play equipment, games areas and a  
large indoors area for use during poor 
weather or for arts and crafts activities. It 
meets the Council’s corporate objectives 
in terms of tackling deprivation, providing 
creative play and active leisure 
opportunities, and strengthening 
community cohesion. It attracts a large 
number of children from the Redbridge 
Traveller site, as well as minority 
community children from the St Ebbes 
and South Oxford area.  
 
*We have run two big projects over the 
past year. One was funded by the Big 
Lottery, involving creative play sessions 
at SOAP after school during the spring 
and summer terms; the other involved 
evening sessions for 11-15 year olds, 
with a variety of self generated ‘chill out’ 
activities. We also organised for the first 
time a very successful Fireworks Night 
event with Lake St Playgroup 
 

Yes – to ensure close 
links with the Council’s 
work and our officer 
structures. 

South Oxford 
Community 
Association 

Cllr Price Yes Yes * 11 4 The Community Association is central to 
the community life of South Oxford. It 
provides a very varied programme of 
activities, spanning, dance, music, older 
people, Woodcraft Folk, martial arts, a 
community farmers market, dog training 

Yes to ensure close 
links with the Council’s 
work and our officer 
structures. 

338



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
and an art club. 
 
The Committee is well run and the 
Association is financially very strong. 
The Chair, in particular, acts as a key 
focal point for local community matters. 
The CA publishes three newsletters a 
year. 
 
*The CA organises the South Oxford 
Community Forum three times a year; 
these meetings are very well attended 
and provide an excellent way of getting 
issues of local concern discussed and 
resolved – often via the Council. 
The CA is working on a major project to 
develop part of the building into a 
community café and games area with 
toilets and a shower. Members are 
working closely with the Committee to 
achieve that and this involves close 
working with Assets and with Leisure. 
The CA was integral during the year to a 
project to establish information boards in 
Hinksey Park initiated and managed by 
local historian Liz Woolley; she worked 
together with Caroline Chanides from 
Parks. Very successful! 
 

South Oxford 
Community 
Assoc 
Management 
Cttees 

Cllr Van 
Nooijen 

Yes No 10 6 South Oxford Community Association is 
ahighly valued and highly effective 
organisation,  It is run and administered 
very carefully by a group of local 
volunteers, and it delivers huge value to 
the South Oxford and wider city 
communities, as well as securing 

Yes 

339



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
community centre provision and aligning 
its work with the Council’s corporate 
objectives.  During the next municipal 
year the Council needs to do everything 
in its power to support the Association in 
its aspirations to develop the centre’s 
facilities to provide, amongst other 
things, a community café.  The Council 
ought also to expedite the process of 
concluding acceptable lease agreements 
with this and other centres. 

West Oxford 
Community 
Association 

Cllr Cook Yes No 8 7 I would assess the value of the West 
Oxford Community Association, (WOCA), 
as high. 
 
The Council’s Corporate objectives are: 
 

A vibrant and sustainable economy 
Meeting housing needs 
Strong and active communities 
Cleaner greener Oxford  
An efficient and effective council 

The West Oxford Community Association 
(WOCA) is a small local charity 
concerned with the well-being of people 
living in the community of West Oxford, 
and provides awide range of 
recreational, welfare, and educational 
opportunities.  

WOCA offers financial support to help 
new and valued community initiatives at 
the community centre. 

Yes 
Why? Because it 
improves 
understanding between 
both parties. 
 

340



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 

 
 
 

Charities        

City of Oxford 
Charity 

Cllr Fooks Yes No 12 10 This charity is essential as offering grants 
to Oxford residents who have no other 
means of getting the items and support 
they need.  The education grants support 
school trips for disadvantaged children 
and bus passes and school uniform for 
those unable to pay for themselves.  
 
The relief in need grants are helping to fill 
a gap in welfare provision – [people who 

Yes – sometimes it 
reveals a gap in 
Council provision and it 
is useful to know how 
the Council works when 
discussing cases. 

WOCA’s main activity is running the 
West Oxford Community Centre, a 
vibrant community hub with a packed 
programme of activities situated on the 
Botley Road, surrounded by parks and 
play areas.  

WOCA also runs a number of community 
events through the year, including a Fun 
Day in July and a Harvest Supper in 
October.  

Further information on the excellent work 
of the West Oxford Community 
Association is available at: 
http://www.woca.org.uk/ 

West Oxford 
Community 
Association 

Cllr Pressel Yes Yes* 10 8 This is a fantastic community association 
and it contributes such a lot 
 
*Working towards a lease (!), the Fun 
Day and various other events 

Yes I learn a lot and 
can help them in 
various ways too 

341



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
have nothing, ill-health, totally 
inadequate income for their basic needs.  
We grant funds to replace or provide 
white goods, beds and carpets which 
otherwise the people concerned would 
not be able to afford. 
 
Referrals come from advice centres, 
health visitors, CAB, City Council 
officers, social workers. 

Headington 
Parish Charity 

Cllr Clarkson Yes No 1 1 The group is useful for distributing money 
at Christmas to elderly and poor 
members of the Headington Community.  
It contributes to the City Council’s 
objective of building strong, active 
communities through its support for older 
people 

Yes – Councillors are 
often in a good position 
to identify individual 
who would benefit from 
the charity. 

Headington 
Parish Charity 

Cllr 
Wilkinson 

Yes No 1 0 I cannot complete this section – the date 
for the annual meeting was set months in 
advance, and I booked it into my diary, 
but the meeting was cancelled at short 
notice and rescheduled for a date I could 
not make 

 
The charity trustees agree the number of 
beneficiaries and level of gifts to be 
made from charitable trust funds each 
Christmas 

Yes – to provide 
contacts and monitor 
charitable work in the 
Community 

Katherine 
Rawson Trust 

Cllr Goddard Yes No 1 0 I was unable to attend the annual 
meeting of the Katherine Rawson Trust 
in December due to unavoidable work 
commitments.  I was given good notice of 
the meetings, and was able to give my 
apologies well in advance.  I therefore 
have little to say, from my own personal 
experience, on the value of the group; 

For reasons given 
above, I don’t feel able 
to comment. 

342



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
apart from that I know its work over the 
years has been invaluable. 

Katherine 
Rawson Trust 

Cllr Gotch Yes No 4 1 Not of high value – the trust has not 
much funding, and talks about old 
projects a lot 

No 

Old Marston 
Charities 
Trust 

Cllr 
Clarkson 

Yes No 1 1 I have attended a meeting with other 
community representatives to identify 
suitable recipients of gifts from the 
charity.  It supports the City Council’s 
corporate objectives of supporting elderly 
people in the community. 

Yes – Local Councillors 
are often in a good 
position to identify 
elderly and poor 
residents who would 
benefit from the charity. 

Old Marston 
Charities 
Trust 

Cllr Haines Yes Yes – 
deciding 
how to 
spend the 
money 

1 1 I have attended one meeting where we 
discussed how the Christmas money is 
given to local elderly.  I feel I was able 
help identify those in the most need due 
to my local knowledge. 

Yes because it adds a 
fresh set of opinions. 

Parochial 
Charities of St 
Clements 

Cllr Clack Yes No 2 1 This is a well organised charity 
administered by the parish church of St. 
Clements, distributing support for heating 
bills for elderly resident of the historic 
parish.  It is well run, meetings being a 
model of efficiency and transparency. 
 
I was able to attend the first meeting that 
set out the parameters for funding for the 
year.  Work commitments meant that I 
was unable to attend the meeting 
agreeing distribution of funds, but my 
fellow councillor Tom Hayes was able to 
attend.   

Yes I think it is 
important for the 
council to be 
represented on this 
body.  This is an 
historic body that 
reminds us of the 
commitment to elderly 
residents and also of 
the church’s historic 
role in meeting the 
needs of its residents. 

St Aldate's 
Parish Charity 

Cllr 
Kennedy 

Yes* Yes  6 5 It contributes to the Community by 
providing student accommodation in 
Pembroke Street for students from 
overseas. It has been recently 
refurbished and offers accommodation 

Yes – In the context of 
current welfare 
changes, I am able to 
explain the Council’s 
work with the groups 

343



Name of 
Organisation 

Councillor Notice 
of 
Mtgs 

Special 
projects 
involve
ment? 

Mtgs 
Invited 

Mtgs 
attended 

Report of experience throughout year Value of having  
council representative 
on body 

 
to married students in a central location. 
 
The charity also gives support to 
discharged prisoners, crisis loans and 
financial grants to small local charities 
particularly those based in South and 
Central Oxford. 
 
*On a sub-committee that allocates 
funds to charitable organisations, any of 
which are located in my area of the city 
so I am able to offer local knowledge 

that this charity assists. 
 
I have local knowledge 
which helps in 
assessing grant 
applications from small 
local charities. 

St. Mary 
Magdalen 
Parish 
Charities 

Cllr Brown Yes No 4 4 The aims of the charities are to support 
young people from Oxford in 
apprenticeships and studying and relief 
of the poor. Both of these are core to the 
Council’s corporate objectives. The 
charity tries hard to reach out to make it 
known that it is able to offer some 
assistance, including contacting schools, 
Age UK etc. As a local councillor I have 
been a useful conduit of information from 
and to the charity. 

See Opposite 

Susan Kidd Cllr Upton Yes No 1 1 The Susan Kidd charity is a very small 
charity – it dispenses small amounts 
(total around £2000), but does some very 
valuable things like help with paygroup 
fees for poor families.  The trustees meet 
once a year to decide which applications 
to accept.  There were only 4 this year, 
so the meeting did not take long. 

Not particularly, though 
in terms of 
accountability it is a 
good idea. Why? It is 
useful for them to have 
another trustee, but I 
don’t think being a 
councillor adds much.  I 
am happy to continue 
though as it is not 
onerous (1 meeting a 
year) 

 

344



Appendix 3 Nominations to Outside Bodies 2015/16 

Name of Organisation  Current Appointment Length Number to 
appoint 

Nominee for 2015/16 

150 (City of Oxford) Squadron Air 
Cadets 

Cllr Humberstone Annually 1 Cllr Humberstone 

Association Public Service Excellence 
(APSE) 

Cllr Coulter Annually 1 Cllr Coulter 

Barton Community Association 
Management Committee 

Cllr Coulter Annually 1 Cllr Coulter 

Blackbird Leys Neighbourhood 
Support Scheme Ltd 

Cllr Seamons Annually 1 Cllr Seamons 

Bullingdon Community Association Cllr Kennedy, Cllr Lloyd-Shogbesan Annually 2 Cllr Kennedy, Cllr 
Lloyd-Shogbesan 

Citizen's Advice Bureau 
 

Cllr Kennedy, Cllr Tarver Annually  2 Cllr Kennedy, Cllr 
Tarver 

Council of Ruskin College 
 

Cllr Kennedy, Cllr Coulter, Steve 
Curran 

Annually 3 Cllr Kennedy, Cllr 
Coulter, Cllr Paule 

Cutteslowe Community Association Cllr Fooks , Cllr Gant Annually 2 Cllr Fooks , Cllr Gant 

District Council's Network Association Cllr Coulter Annually 1 Cllr Coulter 

Donnington Community Centre Cllr Tanner, Cllr Tarver Annually 2 Cllr Tanner, Cllr 
Tarver 

Donnington Doorstep Management 
Committee 

Cllr Tarver, vacancy Annually 2 Cllr Tarver, vacancy 

East Oxford Community Association Cllr Clack, Cllr Hayes Annually 2 Cllr Clack, Cllr Hayes 

English Heritage SE - Heritage 
Champion 
 

Cllr Cook Annually 1 Cllr Cook 

Florence Park Community Association Cllr Simm, Bryan Keen Annually 2 Cllr Simm, Cllr 
Henwood 

Forest of Oxford 2 vacancies Annually 2 DELETE 

Fusion Arts 
 

Cllr Clack, Cllr Coulter Annually 2 Cllr Clack, Cllr 
Coulter 

Gatehouse 
 

Cllr Upton Annually 1 Cllr Upton 

Headington Action Cllr Clarkson, Cllr Sinclair Annually 2 Cllr Clarkson, Cllr 

345



Appendix 3 Nominations to Outside Bodies 2015/16 

Sinclair 

Headington Community Association Cllr Munkonge, Cllr Sinclair Annually 2 Cllr Munkonge, Cllr 
Sinclair 

Health and Wellbeing Board Cllr Turner Annually 1 Cllr Turner 

Jericho St Barnabas Community 
Association Management Cttee 

Cllr Cook, Cllr Pressel Annually 2 Cllr Cook, Cllr 
Pressel 

Littlemore Community Association Cllr Tanner Annually 1 Cllr Tanner 

LGA General Assembly Cllr Coulter Annually 1 Cllr Price 

Local Government Information Unit Cllr Darke Annually 1 Cllr Coulter 

Modern Art Oxford Cllr Coulter, Cllr Hollingsworth Annually 2 Cllr Smith, Cllr 
Hollingsworth 

Mortimer Hall Management Committee Cllr Darke, Cllr Upton Annually 2 DELETE 

North Oxford Association Cllr Fry, Nigel Chapman Annually 2 Cllr Fry, Nigel 
Chapman 

Northway Community Association Cllr Anwar, Cllr Darke Annually  Cllr Anwar, Cllr Darke 

Oxford Airport Consultative Committee Cllr Lloyd-Shogbesan Annually 1 Cllr Lloyd-Shogbesan 

Oxford Asian Cultural Association Cllr Hayes, County Cllr Jamila Azad Annually 2 Cllr Hayes, County 
Cllr Jamila Azad 

Oxford and District Sports and 
Recreation Association for the 
Disabled (OXSRAD) 

Cllr Upton Annually 1 Cllr Upton 

Oxford Homeless Pathways Cllr Hollingsworth, Cllr Seamons Annually 2 Cllr Hollingsworth, 
Cllr Seamons 

Oxford HUB Cllr Paule Annually 1 Cllr Hayes 

Oxford In Bloom Bryan Keen Annually 1 Bryan Keen 

Oxford Playhouse Cllr Clarkson Annually 1 Cllr Clarkson 

Oxford Poverty Action Trust Cllr Lygo Annually  1 Cllr Taylor 

Oxford Preservation Trust Cllr Cook, Cllr Darke, Cllr Fry Annually 3 Cllr Cook, Cllr Darke, 
Cllr Fry 

Oxford Sports Council Cllr Lygo, Cllr Rowley Annually 2 Cllr Lygo, Cllr Rowley 

Oxfordshire Community and Voluntary 
Action 

Cllr Simm Annually 1 Cllr Simm 

Oxfordshire County Council School Cllr Kennedy Annually 1 Cllr Kennedy 

346



Appendix 3 Nominations to Outside Bodies 2015/16 

Charities     

Alice Smith Trust and Sarah Nowell 
Educational Organisation 

Bryan Keen 2017 0  

Steve Curran 2018 

City of Oxford Charity Cllr Fooks 2018 0  

Cllr Sanders 2016 

Graham Jones 2017 

Catherine Hilliard 2016 

Cllr Coulter 2016 

Organisation Stakeholder Group 

Oxfordshire Ethnic Minorities 
Enterprise 

Cllr Lloyd-Shogbesan Annually 1 Cllr Lloyd-Shogbesan 

Oxfordshire Environmental 
Partnership 

Cllr Tanner  Annually 1 Cllr Tanner 

Oxfordshire Museums Council Cllr Pressel Annually 1 Cllr Pressel 

Oxford Safer Communities Partnership Cllr Sinclair Annually 1 Cllr Sinclair 

Pegasus Theatre Cllr Lygo Annually 1 Cllr Lygo 

Police and Crime Panel Cllr Sinclair Annually 1 Cllr Sinclair 

Regal Community Centre Cllr Abbasi, County Cllr Jamila Azad Annually 2 Cllr Abbasi, County 
Cllr Jamila Azad 

Risinghurst Community Centre Cllr Munkonge, Cllr Sinclair Annually 2 Cllr Munkonge, Cllr 
Sinclair 

Rose Hill Community Association Cllr Paule Annually 1 Cllr Paule 

Rose Hill &Donnington Advice Centre Cllr Paule, Cllr Sanders Annually 2 Cllr Paule, Cllr 
Sanders 

South East Reserve Forces and 
Cadets 

Cllr Humberstone Annually 1 Cllr Humberstone 

South Oxford Adventure Playground 
Executive Committee 

Cllr Price Annually 1 Cllr Price 

South Oxford Community Association 
Management Committee 

Cllr Van Nooijen, Cllr Price Annually 2 Cllr Van Nooijen, Cllr 
Price 

The Porch Steppin Stones Centre Cllr Wolff Annually  1 Cllr Wolff 

West Oxford Community Association Cllr Cook, Cllr Pressel Annually 2 Cllr Cook, Cllr 
Pressel 

347



Appendix 3 Nominations to Outside Bodies 2015/16 

Steve Curran 2016 

Elder Stubbs Charity Cllr Abassi 2017 1 Judith Harley 

Cllr Benjamin 2018 

Cllr Simm 2018 

Cllr Tarver 2018 

Judith Harley 2015 

Bryan Keen 2016 

Headington Parish Charity Cllr Clarkson 2015 2 Cllr Clarkson 

Cllr Wilkinson 2015 Cllr Wilkinson 

Katherine Rawson Trust 
 

Cllr Gotch 2016 0  

Cllr Goddard 2018  

Margaret Broadbent 2016  

Oxford Leon Trust Cllr Tanner 2015 1 Cllr Tanner 

Cllr Rowley 2018 

Old Marston Charities Trust Cllr Clarkson 2016 0  

Cllr Haines 2016 

Parochial Charities of St Clements Cllr Clack 2016 0  

Cllr Hayes 2018 

St Aldate's Parish Charity Cllr Kennedy 2016 1 Cllr Hollingsworth 

Vacancy 2015 

Charities of  St Mary’s Magdalen Cllr Brown 2016 0  

Cllr Rowley 2018  

Susan Kidd Cllr Upton 2018 DELETE DELETE 

Catherine Hilliard 2015 DELETE 

 
Changes in representative from 2014/15 are in bold 

348



Title Risk description Opp/ threat Cause Consequence I P I P I P Control description Due date Status Progress 
% Action Owner

Not appointing to 
Body

Risk of not 
appointing to 
Outside Body

Theat Records are not 
maintained, or 
nominations not 
coming forward

Councillors no 
longer aware of the 
needs/ work of that 
body

26/2/2015 Head of Law and 
Governance

2 2 2 2 2 2 Annually update  records 
and request feedback from 
OB and Cllrs.

May 
2016

on-going Sarah Claridge

Unnecessary 
appointment to 
Body.

Risk of  appointing 
to Outside Body 
when appointment is 
unnecessary

Theat Overambition Reputation of 
Council is 
threatened

26/2/2015 Head of Law and 
Governance

2 2 2 2 2 2 Annually update  records 
and request feedback from 
OB and Cllrs.

May 
2016

on-going Sarah Claridge

Role and 
responsibilities of 
appointees 

Appointees do not 
understand their role 
or responsibilities on 
body.

Threat Adequate guidance 
and support not given 
by Council officers or 
Outside Body

Appointees not able 
to fulfil their role on 
the body.  

26/2/2015 Head of Law and 
Governance

2 2 2 2 2 2 Guidance note on the 
roles and responsibilities 
of members on Outside 
Bodies to be circulated to 
all members upon 
appointment

May 
2016

on-going Sarah Claridge

Non-attendance of 
appointee.

Appointees do not 
attend Outside Body 
meetings.

Threat Appointees not 
informed of meetings 
or unable to attend 
meetings.

Appointees not able 
to fulfil their role on 
the body.  
Reputation of 
Council is 
threatened

26/2/2015 Head of Law and 
Governance

2 4 2 4 2 4 Encourage members and 
Outside Bodies to inform 
the Council if there are 
issues with  attendance.

May 
2016

on-going Sarah Claridge

Owner Gross Current Residual Comments Controls

Appendix 4- Risk Register for Appointment to Outside Bodies

Date Raised

349



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
To:  City Executive Board  
 
Date: 2 April 2015    

 
Report of:  Head of Leisure, Parks & Communities 
 
Title of Report: Grant Allocation to South Oxford Adventure 

Playground 
 

 
Summary and Recommendations 

 
Purpose of report:  For the City Executive Board to agree an increase of 
£2,500 to the 2015/2016 community and voluntary organisations (CVO’s) 
grant programme.  
          
Key decision?No 
 

Executive lead member: Councillor Rowley, Board Member for Leisure 
Contract and Community Partnership Grants 
 

Policy Framework: Oxford City CouncilCorporate Plan& Oxford Sustainable 
Community Strategy 
 

Recommendation: That The City Executive Board approve an additional 
allocation of £2,500 to the CVO’s grant programme to increase the grant 
awarded to South Oxford Adventure Playground. 
 
 

Introduction 
1. At its meeting on the 12th February 2015 the City Executive Board 
approved grant allocations to community and voluntary groups for 
2015/2016.   

 
2. The grants budget is set out below:- 
 

Table 1 

 

2015/16 

Budget 

(£) 

 Advice & Money Management commissioning theme 518,379 

Homelessness commissioning theme  442,279 

Inclusive arts & culture commissioning theme 255,262 

 

351

Agenda Item 11



Community Safety commissioning theme  61,082 

Community & voluntary sector infrastructure 

commissioning theme  

48,736 

Inclusive leisure & play for disabled children and young 

people commissioning theme 

15,000 

Open Bidding (increased by £2,500) 104,484 

Small grants programme to run during the year.  10,732 

                                       Total £1,455,954 

 
Allocation for South Oxford Adventure Playground (SOAP) 
3. The report that was presented to the Board on the 12th February 2015 
included a recommendation of £7,500 for SOAP.   
 

4. At the City Executive Board meeting on the 12th March 2015 the 
amount awarded to SOAP was questioned by the Board Member and 
asked that the board reconsider the allocation and increase the award 
by £2,500. 

 
5. The report presented to the Board in February allocated the full budget 
for the grants programme so it was not possible to amend the 
recommendation under the minutes.  

 
6. This report is asking the City Executive Board to approve an increase 
of £2,500 to the open bidding grants programme to accommodate the 
increase for SOAP.  This additional funding will increase the overall 
award to £10,000 for the organisation.  

 
Climate Change / Environmental Impact 
7. There is no climate change or environmental implication. 

 
Equalities Impact 
8. There are no equalities implications. 

 
Financial Impact 
9. The additional £2,500 will be funded from the 2015/2016 CVO’s grants 
programme by reducing the budget allocated for the small grants 
programme. 

 
Legal Impact 
10. There are no legal implications 

 

Name and contact details of author:- 
Name:                                    Julia Tomkins 
Job title:                                Grants & External Funding Officer 

Service Area / Department: Leisure, Parks & Communities 

Tel:  01865 252685  e-mail:  jtomkins@oxford.gov.uk 

 

List of background papers:  none 

352



CITY EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 

Thursday 12 March 2015 
 
COUNCILLORS PRESENT: Councillors Price (Chair), Turner (Deputy Leader), 
Sinclair, Simm, Brown, Kennedy, Lygo, Rowley, Seamons and Tanner.  
 
 
OTHER MEMBERS PRESENT: Councillor Craig Simmons (Chair of Scrutiny 
Committee) and Councillor Jean Fooks 
 
OFFICERS PRESENT: Peter Sloman (Chief Executive), Tim Sadler (Executive 
Director Community Services), Jackie Yates (Executive Director Organisational 
Development and Corporate Services), Peter McQuitty (Head of Policy, Culture 
and Communications), Shaibur Rahman (Housing and Communities), Lindsay 
Cane (Law and Governance) and Sarah Claridge (Committee Services Officer) 
 
 
142. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies were received from Nigel Kennedy, Head of Finance. 
 
 
143. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
No declarations of interest were made. 
 
 
144. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 
Full written questions with answers were distributed as a supplement before the 
meeting.  
 
The City Executive Board noted the public questions. 
 
 
145. SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 
The following Scrutiny Committee reports were discussed during the agenda 
item. 
 
Discretionary Housing Payment Policy (minute 148) 
Approval of the Culture Strategy 2015-18 (minute 152) 
 
 
146. SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT_OXFORD LIVING WAGE 
 
The Scrutiny Officer submitted a report (previously circulated, now appended) 
which detailed comments from the Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Cllr Price updated the Board on the further response to recommendation 2. 
Which read: 
 

353

Agenda Item 12



 

The Council motion which committed us to the LW, proposed a £7 OLW against 
the £7.20 LLW, taking account of the work undertaken by the original research 
by Loughborough University and the Mayor of London and using Oxford housing 
and transport data. That relationship was subsequently translated into a 95% 
figure, in order to ensure that the OLW was maintained in line with a fifure for the 
LLW that was well researched and supported by time series evidence. This 
percentage link makes the administration of the OLW straightforward and avoids 
the need for complex research to be undertaken locally at regular intervals.  
 
The City Executive Board resolved to AGREE 
 
1. That the City Council surveys all suppliers to measure compliance with paying 
the Oxford Living Wage. 
 
2. That the City Council reviews whether the Oxford Living Wage should 
continue to be set at 95% of the London Living Wage. 
 
3. That the City Council seeks to increase apprentice pay in the next budget 
round. 
 
4. That the City Council actively explores the merits of incentivising businesses 
to pay the Oxford Living Wage through offering business rate discounts. 
 
5. That the City Council seeks to be more pro-active in engaging with employers 
and encouraging them to pay the Oxford Living Wage.  This could also involve 
raising the profile of the Oxford Living Wage on the City Council website and 
listing employers that have committed to paying it.   
  
 
 
147. COUNCILLOR ADDRESSES ON ANY ITEM FOR DECISION ON THE 

BOARD'S AGENDA 
 
Cllr Fooks addressed the Board on the following items: 
Item 6: Discretionary Housing Payment Policy (minutes 148) 
Item 7: Homelessness Grants Allocation (minute 150) 
Item 10: Integrated Performance Report Quarter 3 2014/15 (minute 154) 
 
Her comments were addressed during the discussion of each item. 
 
 
148. DISCRETIONARY HOUSING PAYMENT POLICY 
 
The Head of Customer Services has submitted a report (previously circulated, 
now appended) which detailed the revised Discretionary Housing Payment 
(DHP) Policy 
 
Cllr Brown, Board Member for Customer Services and Social Inclusion 
presented the report. She explained that the Council had received fewer 
applications for DHP as fewer people were able to afford to live in Oxford. This 
was a failure of the national policy which didn’t vary the amount of grant 
available depending on local housing prices. 
 

354



 

The government’s DHP grant had reduced significantly which meant the Council 
had introduced conditionality to its policy to prioritise need. The effects of this 
policy change will be monitored and an update report will be presented to the 
Board in 6 months. 
 
Cllr Fooks noted that the Council had returned DHP grant money to the 
government in both the previous two years because it had not spend it. She 
disagreed with the policy change and the argument that prioritisation of need 
was needed to discourage welfare dependency. She felt that if the money was 
available the Council should spend it to help people. 
 
Cllr Turner agreed that the Council shouldn’t have excess money in 
contingencies; he believed that all Councillors agreed with the policy  and it was 
the amount of funds allocated to DHP payments which was causing 
disagreement. It was the government’s decoupling of rents from money available 
in housing allowance which was at fault. 
 
The Chief Executive explained that officers had been very proactive in helping 
people through the welfare reform programmes. If there is a need, the council 
will meet it from the homelessness contingency budget.  
 
Cllr Simmons said the Scrutiny Committee had requested a review report in a 
few months’ time. He reminded the Board that the government allowed the 
Council to spend up to 2.5 times the government grant - to top up its DHP grant. 
 
Cllr Brown said the Council had to be cautious as we don’t know the amount the 
government grant will be in the future. 
 
The City Executive Board resolved to  

1. APPROVE the revised Discretionary Housing Payment Policy at Appendix 
1 
 

2. AGREE that an update report be presented to the Board at the end of 
quarter 2 (if not sooner) reviewing the Council’s Discretionary Housing 
Payment Policy and its impact on the people of Oxford. 

 
 
149. SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT_ DISCRETIONARY HOUSING 

PAYMENTS POLICY 
 
The Scrutiny Officer submitted a report (previously circulated, now appended) 
which detailed comments from the Scrutiny Committee on the Discretionary 
Housing Payment Policy 
 
Cllr Simmons, Chair of Scrutiny Committee presented the report. He explained 
the reason for the minority view on the amount allocated in the budget for DHP. 
Council had allocated more money to DHP payments in the draft budget, (before 
the government had announced its reduction in the DHP grant) than had been 
agreed in the final budget. A minority of the Scrutiny Committee felt that the extra 
money should be reinstated. 
 
Cllr Price said the DHP policy would be continually monitored and if more 
support was needed than there was money available in the homelessness 
contingency grant. 

355



 

  
The City Executive Board resolved to APPROVE the revised Discretionary 
Housing Payment Policy. 
 
 
150. HOMELESSNESS GRANTS ALLOCATION 
 
The Head of Housing and Property submitted a report (previously circulated, 
now appended) which detailed the allocation of homelessness prevention funds 
with the purpose of meeting the objectives of the homelessness strategy. 
 
Cllr Seamons, Board member for Housing and Estate Regeneration presented 
the report. He explained that the report was proposing ring fencing funds for 
single person homelessness (which is a non-statutory responsibility of the 
Council) to protect these vulnerable people. 
 
The Rough Sleeping and Single Homelessness Manager explained that 
Oxfordshire County Council (the statutory authority responsible for single person 
homelessness) was planning to take full responsibility for the funding of pathway 
and the No Second Night Out (NSNO) hub from 2016/17. This will mean the City 
Council will no longer be asked to part fund these programmes. 
The Board was concerned with the County’s proposal as the County’s housing 
related support grant was not ring-fenced to address single person 
homelessness.  
 
Cllr Fooks welcomed the proposed funding for the prevention of eviction of 
young people. The money is available to keep under 25s in accommodation by 
paying their rent or arrears when necessary. 
 
The City Executive Board resolved to: 
   
1. ALLOCATE the full sum of the funds associated with 'Preventing 
Homelessness Grant' to the Homelessness budget, the majority of which shall 
commission services to prevent homelessness. 
 
2. AGREE the allocation of the Homelessness Grant Budget for 2015/16 as 
detailed in paragraph 23.  
 
3. DELEGATE AUTHORITY to the Head of Housing and Property Services in 
consultation with the Board member for Housing and Estate Regeneration to 
allocate the balance of the Preventing Homelessness Funds. 
 
 
 
151. AWARD OF A SINGLE HOMELESSNESS AND OUTREACH SERVICE 
 
The Head of Housing and Property submitted a report (previously circulated now 
appended) which sought authorisation to award a contract to deliver the 
Council’s single homeless outreach and assessment service. 
 
Cllr Seamons, Board member for Housing and Estate Regeneration presented 
the report. 
 

356



 

The City Executive Board resolved to AWARD the Single Homeless Outreach 
and Assessment Service to St Mungo’s Broadway for a period of 3 years initially 
with the possibility of an extension for up to 2 years. 
 
 
152. APPROVAL OF THE CULTURE STRATEGY 2015-18 
 
The Head of Policy, Culture and Communication has submitted a report 
(previously circulated, now appended) which detailed the development of the 
draft Culture Strategy 2015 – 18. 
  
Cllr Simms, Board member for Culture and Communications presented the 
report. 
 
Cllr Sinclair asked if the encouraging words from Oxford University had resulted 
in any of the colleges making their open spaces available to cultural groups. The 
Head of Policy, Culture and Communication explained that 6 colleges had 
agreed to allow cultural groups to use their open spaces free of charges through 
the University Open Spaces initiative.  
  
The City Executive Board resolved to 
 
1. APPROVE the amended draft Culture Strategy 2015 – 2018 as set out at 

Appendix 1. 
 
2. RECOMMEND to Council the amended Culture Strategy 2015-2018 for 

approval. 
 
 
153. SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT_ CULTURE STRATEGY 2015-18 
 
The Scrutiny Officer submitted a report (previously circulated, now appended) 
which detailed comments from the Scrutiny Committee on the Culture Strategy 
2015-2018 
 
Cllr Simmons, Chair of Scrutiny Committee presented the report. He elaborated 
on recommendation 1, the Scrutiny Committee felt the Culture Policy should 
encourage people from excluded groups to be involved in cultural events as 
artists as well as the audience. 
 
Cllr Simm, Board member for Culture and Communities agreed to amend the 
Culture Strategy to include Scrutiny’s recommendation 1. 
 
The City Executive Board resolved to APPROVE:  
 
1. That there is an objective to extend cultural opportunities to included 
communities under priority for culture 2. 
 
2. That the City Council asks Experience Oxfordshire to convene a seminar with 
elected members. 
 
 
 
 

357



 

154. INTEGRATED PERFORMANCE REPORT QUARTER 3 2014/15 
 
The Heads of Finance and Business Improvement and Technology submitted a 
report (previously circulated, now appended) which detailed the Council’s 
finances, risk and performance as at the end of quarter 3, 31 December 2014 
 
Cllr Turner, Board member for Finance, Asset Management and Public Health 
presented the report. The Council had done better than expected in trading 
services; he thanked the staff involved for the work done. 
 
In terms of the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) there was a slippage in the 
building of new council homes, the grant for this would be carried forward. 
 
The Capital Programme was also facing slippages, it was a difficult climate for 
construction and an undersupply of materials was making it harder to get 
projects completed within budget and on-time. The Rose Hill Community Centre 
was one project that had taken longer than anticipated to begin. 
 
Cllr Turner explained the proposal to create a property investment fund which 
would enable the Council to turn one off resources into revenue.  There is a 
range of options of  how property should be selected: 
- does it have a social use? 
- Liquidity 
-Degree of return 
 
Council’s performance for the quarter was good. Council’s CO2 emissions will 
improve in the next quarter with the change in swimming pools. 
 
Cllr Fooks said she supported the property portfolio proposal. 
 
She asked how much of the £500,000 equity loan scheme had been taken up? 
The Executive Director for Community Services explained that the scheme 
needed to seek approval to allow existing teachers in Oxford schools to apply. 
Schools would prefer to retain junior teachers rather than encourage teachers 
from outside the city. Funding could be used to help teachers pay a deposit for 
their first home. 
 
Cllr Fooks noted that the lack of affordable homes being built was disappointing. 
This was due to the economic downturn. 
 
She asked how the corporate lease renewals/rent reviews were progressing. 
The Chief Executive explained that the Council was in the process of negotiating 
rent reviews. It had deliberately missed the deadline in the hope of securing 
higher rents. Any rents would be backdated. 
 
Cllr Fooks asked why the total value of work as a result of Environmental 
Development intervention was 20% below target. 
Cllr Tanner, Board Member for Cleaner, Greener Oxford, Climate Change and 
Transport said he would provide a written response outside of the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 

358



 

The City Executive Board resolved to: 
 
1. NOTE the projected outturn for finance (showing a favourable General Fund 

position of £1.267 million, a favourable Housing Revenue Account position of 
£2.565 million and a favourable Capital Position of £3.890 million) and 
performance as well as the associated risk position as at December 2014; 

 
2. RECOMMEND to Council a supplementary capital budget £200,000 for 

welfare facilities at Cowley Marsh depot as detailed in paragraph 5; 
 
3. NOTE the risks and potential financial penalties relating to Homes and 

Communities Agency Grant Funding as outlined in paragraphs 6 and 7; and 
 
4. RECOMMEND to Council that all end of year revenue surpluses from 

2014/15 be transferred into a property investment reserve, subject to c) 
above, in order that the funds can be invested to provide future income 
streams or to further policy objectives including the allocation of £550,000 in 
relation to the purchase of the freehold of St.Aldate’s Chambers. 

 
 
155. MINUTES 
 
The Board resolved to APPROVE the minutes of the meeting held on 12 
February 2015 as a true and accurate record. 
 
 
 
The meeting started at 5.00 pm and ended at 5.55 pm 
 

359



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Universal Credit Delivery Partnership Agreement
	Appendix 1_ Risk Register
	Risks


	7 Fusion Lifestyle - Annual Service Plan 2015/16
	Appendix 1_Fusion Lifestyle Annual Service Plan 2014-15 (summary & public leaflet)
	Appendices 2 and 3_ Fusion Lifestyle

	8 Heritage Plan Framework
	Appendix 1_Heritage Plan Framework
	INTRODUCTION
	VISION AND OBJECTIVES
	SCOPING ASSESSMENT SUMMARY
	INTEGRATING THE POSITIVE MANAGEMENT OF HERITAGE WITH OTHER STATEGIES (INTEGRATION FRAMEWORK)
	COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY
	PRIORITIES AND PRINCIPLES
	ACTION PLAN
	MONITORING FRAMEWORK
	 Is built on an understanding the needs of Oxford’s Heritage;

	APPENDIX 1: CONSULTATION RESULTS

	Appendix 2 - Risk Register
	Blank Risk Register  


	9 Nominations for the Oxford Heritage Asset Register in the East and West Oxford pilot areas
	Appendix 1 - OHAR Process
	Appendix 2 - Risk Register
	Blank Risk Register  

	Appendix 3 EqIA - (OHAR)
	Appendix 4_East Oxford Nominations
	E001 Rectory Road Halls of Residence (Formerly Nazareth House)
	E002 East Oxford Community Centre Princes Street
	E003 The Corridor Public House 119 Cowley Road
	E004 The Cowley Retreat Cowley road
	E005 Former Co-operative Hall Nos. 190-194 Cowley Road (O2 Academy)
	E006 Nos. 211 - 215 Cowley Road
	E007 The Old Vicarage 276 Cowley Road
	E008 The City Arms Cowley Road
	E009 No. 118 Cowley Road
	E010 No. 49 Cowley Road (Vietnamese Temple Mural)
	E012 Jeune Hall Jeune Street
	E013 The Temple Lounge 21 Temple Street
	E014 Garden Wall, 40 Stockmore Street
	E015 No.4 Marston Street (Former dispensary and church)
	E016 Nos 9 and 10 Marston Street
	E017 Oxford Blue, 32 Marston Street
	E018 Jingle Cottage, No. 49 Marston Street
	E019 Nos. 50 and 51 Marston Street
	E020 Nos. 55 - 63 Marston Street
	E021 Sundial at No. 35 Marston Street
	E022 James Street Tavern
	E023 The Black Swan No.11 Crown Street
	E024 Former Boot Repairing Department
	E025 Green Street Bookbinders
	E026 Old Furniture Factory No. 55 Randolph Street
	E027 Craft building and store at St John’s Home St Mary's Road
	E029 Oxford Central Mosque
	E030 Asian Cultural Centre, Manzil Way
	E031 Magdalen Road Church 49a Magdalen Road
	E032 Shopfront No. 39 Magdalen Road
	E033 The Rusty Bicycle Public House, 28 Magdalen Road
	E034 Nos. 109 - 115 Magdalen Road
	E035 The Mission House, No. 14 Magdalen Road
	E037 No. 147-151 Howard Street, Donnington Arms Public House
	E038 Old Church Hall and No. 60 Percy Street
	E039 St Alban's Church
	E040 No. 91 – 97 Howard Street (odds)
	E041 6a Charles Street (Former Prince of Wales Public House)
	E042 Convent of the Incarnation Parker Street
	E043 Old Builders Merchant's Workshop at No. 60 Warwick Street
	E044 The Motz House No. 16 Bedford Street
	E045 Chester Arms, Chester Street
	E046 Roger Bannister Running Track
	E047 No. 46 Hill Top Road
	E048 No. 8 Hill Top Road
	E049 Divinity Walk
	E050 Hill Top Road Heritage
	E051 Upper Morrell Avenue
	E052 SS Mary and John Churchyard
	E053 East Ward Allotments
	E054 Aston's Eyot
	E055 The Kidneys
	E056 SS Mary and John's School Field, Meadow Lane
	E057 Long Meadow

	Appendix 5_West Oxford Nominations
	1. Former Cantay Depository, 37-39 Park End Street
	12. Osney Lane Footbridge
	13. Oxpens Meadow
	14. Ovada (Former Underhills Hide and Skin Market)
	15. Oxpens Road Bridge
	16. The site of the Franciscan (Greyfriars) Priory including the 'Paradise'
	18. The Wharf House, Butterwyke Place
	2. Victoria Buildings, Park End Street
	3. Former Castle Hotel, Park End Street
	4. Nos. 24-28 Park End Street
	5. The Royal Oxford Hotel, Holly Bush Row
	6. The Maroon (formerly The Chequers) Public House, St Thomas St
	7.  1 Woodbine Place
	9. Wareham Stream
	19. Former Gas Works Rail Bridge, Dale Close
	20. Former Gas Works Pipe Bridge, Marlborough Road
	10. Sheepwash Channel
	11. Site of Osney Abbey 
	21. The Old Power Station, Arthur Street
	22. The Riverside Hotel, Botley Road
	23. The One (former turnpike tollhouse and PH), Botley Road
	24. The Kite PH, Mill Street
	25. The towpath and sheepwash chanel junction
	26.  No  29 Abbey Road (former St Frideswide's Vicarage
	27. Hollybush Inn Pub, Bridge Street
	8. Former Boatman's Chapel, Hythe Bridge Street
	The Castle Mill Stream and Fisher Row


	10 Appointment to Outside Bodies 2015/16
	Appendix 1_ Grants awarded 2015.16
	Appendix 2 Councillors Feedback 2015
	Appendix 3_Appointment to Outside Bodies 2015-16
	Appendix 4_ Risk Register
	Blank Risk Register  


	11 Grant Allocation to South Oxford Adventure Playground
	12 Minutes



